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We are confident that we will continue to 

lead the home appliance retail industry in 

China, and we will do our utmost to help 

improve the quality of people’s lives.

Complete Our Mission Together
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GOME at a Glance

HigHligHt
•	All	businesses	achieved	healthy	and	sustainable	growth,	and	the	plans	made	in	the	beginning	of	
the	year	were	well	implemented

•	Due	 to	 the	global	financial	crisis	and	 the	strategic	 reduction	 in	 the	number	of	 stores	during	 the	
year,	revenue	for	the	year	amounted	to	RMB42,668	million

•	Consolidated	gross	profit	margin	rose	from	16.94%	to	17.32%

•	Profit	 attributable	 to	 owners	 of	 the	parent	 company	 increased	 from	RMB1,048	million	 to	
RMB1,409	million	representing	a	year-on-year	increase	of	34.45%

•	The	basic	earnings	per	share	were	RMB0.103,	up	25.61%	from	RMB0.082	last	year.

GOME	 is	a	 leading	chain-store	 retailer	of	home	appliances	and	consumer	
electronic	products	 in	China.	We	provide	 the	 industry’s	 leading	consumers	
experience,	embracing	 the	most	extensive	 range	of	products,	delivered	at	 the	
most	competitive	prices.	We	offer	our	suppliers	a	channel	platform	that	creates	
optimum	economies	of	scale	and	efficiency.

Revenue (RMB million)
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Consolidated gross profit margin*
Profit attributable to owners of the parent company

(RMB million)
Basic earnings per share

(RMB)

*	 Consolidated	gross	profit	margin	=	(gross	profit	+	other	income	and	gain)/revenue
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Year ended

31 December

2009

Year	ended

31	December

2008

Year	ended

31	December

2007

Year	ended

31	December

2006

Year	ended

31	December

2005

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue 42,667,572 45,889,257 42,478,523 24,729,192 17,959,258

Profit	attributable	to	

	 owners	of	the	parent 1,409,288 1,048,160 1,127,307 819,167 498,596

Total	assets 35,763,180 27,495,104 29,837,493 21,176,229 9,367,894

Total	liabilities 23,960,715 18,795,069 19,444,825 15,935,840 7,496,600

Minority	interests – 140,201 89,689 88,783 360,408

Net	assets 11,802,465 8,700,035 10,392,668 5,240,389 1,871,294

Five Year Financial Summary
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Financial and Operational Highlights

Total sales area at year end (sq.m)

Weighted average sales area (sq.m) Number of stores at year end

Revenue (RMB million)
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Profit from operating activities (RMB million) Profit for the year (RMB million)

Total assets (RMB million) Net assets (RMB million)
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Building business success requires wise and pre-
emptive insight, similar to playing a chessboard 
game, where the winner ought to outsmart his 
counter part constantly.  As a winning player, 
we’ll keep abreast o f  t h e  chang i ng 
industry landscape at every step and 
move forward with a clear strategic 
vision. 

Crafting a pre-emptive and 
commercially-savvy strategy to grow 
our presence
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Chairman’s Statement

Despite	the	impact	this	severe	corporate	crisis	had	on	
GOME,	we	moved	on	and	passed	the	test	with	flying	
colors,	ending	up	with	a	stronger,	more	professional	
and	united	management	team.	

Chen	Xiao
Chairman	and	President
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Dear	Shareholders,

2009	 witnessed	 the	 most	 difficult	
pe r i od	 f o r 	 GOME	 E l e c t r i ca l	
Appliances	 Holding	 Limited	 (the	
“Company” )	 toge ther	 wi th	 i t s	
subsidiaries	 (collectively	 known	 as	
the	 “Group”	 or	 “GOME	 “)	 to	 date	
since	 its	 initial	 listing.	 Amid	 the	
contraction	 of	 China’s	 economy	
and	 the	 shattering	 of	 consumer	
conf idence	 dur ing	 the	 g lobal	
economic	 crisis,	 an	 unfavorable	
event	 involving	 the	 founder	 of	 the	
Company	unfolded	as	we	marched	
into	 2009.	 GOME	 was	 put	 to	
the	 test	 in	 the	 harshest	 of	 ways	
and	 had	 to	 prove	 whether	 the	
Company	 could	 survive	 and	 grow	
again.	 A	 year	 later,	 I	 am	 glad	 to	
say	 that	 GOME	 triumphed	 over	
this	adversity	and	set	out	on	a	path	
of	 healthy	 development.	 Despite	
the	 impact	 this	 severe	 corporate	
crisis	 had	 on	 our	 Company,	 we	
moved	 on	 and	 passed	 the	 test	
with	 flying	 colors,	 ending	 up	 with	
a	 stronger,	 more	 professional	 and	
uni ted	 management	 team.	 We	
also	 realized	 how	 many	 diligent	
and	 commi t ted	 s ta f f 	 members	
we	 had	 in	 our	 midst,	 staff	 who	
worked	 with	 great	 integri ty	 to	
forge	 and	 deepen	 relationships	
w i t h 	 o u r 	 b u s i n e s s 	 pa r t n e r s .	
I n 	 re sponse	 to	 t he	 chang ing	

market	 conditions	 and	 evolving	
consumers ’	 needs,	 the	 Group	
adopted	 a	 transformation	 strategy	
and	 achieved	 initial	 success.	 In	
the	 course	 of	 solving	 the	 crisis,	
the	Company	 successfully	 raised	a	
total	 of	 more	 than	 RMB5.3	 billion	
from	 new	 strategic	 investors	 as	
well	 as	 from	 the	 issuance	 of	 new	
shares	 and	 convertible	 bonds,	 the	
combination	of	which	provided	the	
company	 with	 sufficient	 working	
cap i t a l 	 a nd 	 an 	 app rop r i a t e	
capital	 structure.	 GOME	 not	 only	
s t r eng thened	 i t s 	 f undamen ta l	
capabi l i t ies	 and	 improved	 i t s	
operat ing	 ef f ic iency,	 but	 a lso	
maintained	 its	 leading	 position	 in	
the	 home	 appliance	 retail	 industry	
in	 China,	 with	 a	 34.45%	 growth	
in	 profit	 attributable	 to	 owners	
of	 the	 parent	 over	 the	 previous	
year.	 The	 Company	 has	 already	
weathered	 the	 impact	 of	 these	
crises	 and	 is	 now	 well-positioned	
to	 enter	 a	phase	of	 consistent	 and	
healthy	development.

2009 BUSiNESS 
PERFORMANCE
In	 response	 to	 the	 change	 in	
m a c r o e c o n om i c 	 c o n d i t i o n s	
a nd 	 demand , 	 t h e 	 Company	
fu l ly	 implemented	 i t s	 s t ra tegy	
of	 t ransformation,	 focusing	 on	
n e two r k 	 r a t i o na l i z a t i o n 	 a nd	



Chairman’s Statement

10

i n d i v i d ua l 	 s t o r e 	 p r o f i t ab i l i t y	
imp r o v emen t . 	 T h e 	 Company	
ensured	 that	 large-scale	 stores	
were	opened	 in	premium	 locations	
to	 accommodate	 large	 inf lows	
of	 customers,	 while	 we	 closed	
down 	 189	 u nde r p e r f o rm i n g	
s t o r e s . 	 A s 	 a 	 r e s u l t 	 o f 	 t h i s	
rationalization,	 the	 revenue	 of	 the	
Company	 for	 the	 reporting	 year	
dropped	 approximately	 7.02%	
as	 compared	 to	 that	 of	 2008.	
At	 the	 same	 time,	 however,	 we	
are	 pleased	 to	 note	 that	 the	 532	
compa rab l e 	 s t o r e s 	 r e co rded	
same	 store	 sales	 of	 RMB34,816	
million,	 an	 increase	 of	 2.81%	 as	
compared	 to	 RMB33,864	 million	
of	last	year.

Through	 a	 ser ies	 of	 measures	
t o 	 e n hance 	 t h e 	 p r o f i t ab i l i t y	
of	 individual	 s tores,	 including	
d i f f e r e n t i a t e d 	 p r o d u c t	
management,	 and	 provision	 of	
value-added	services	 like	extended	
warranty	 service	 and	 after-sales	
service,	 our	 consolidated	 gross	
profit	margin	 increased	 to	17.32%	
from	16.94%	last	year.

In	 2009,	 the	 Group	 recorded	 a	
12.35%	 decrease	 in	 operating	
prof i t	 f rom	 RMB1,944	 mi l l ion	
in	 2008	 to	 RMB1,704	 million.	
H ow e v e r, 	 t h e 	 d e c r e a s e 	 i n	
o p e r a t i n g 	 p r o f i t 	 n a r r o w e d	
and	 improved	 on	 a	 quar te r ly	
b a s i s 	 t h a n k s 	 t o 	 t h e 	 s e t t i n g	
and	 achievement	 of	 precis ion	
management	 targets.	 Profit	 for	 the	

year	 attributable	 to	 owners	 of	 the	
parent	 amounted	 to	 approximately	
RMB1,409	 million,	 a	 sharp	 rise	
of	 34.45%	 compared	 to	 that	 of	
last	 year.	 The	 Basic	 earnings	 per	
share	 (“EPS”)	 were	 RMB0.103,	 a	
rise	 of	 25.61%	 as	 compared	 to	
RMB0.082	last	year.

A s 	 o f 	 31 	 Decembe r 	 2009 ,	
c a s h 	 a n d 	 c a s h 	 e q u i v a l e n t s	
were	 RMB6,029	 mi l l ion.	 This	
sat is factor y	 cash	 posi t ion	 and	
sound	 capi tal	 s t ructure	 laid	 a	
solid	 foundation	 for	 our	 future	
development.	 However,	 in	 May	
2010,	 t he	 redempt ion	 r igh t s	
of	 the	 0%	 coupon	 conver t ible	
bonds	 due	 in	 2014	 (the	 “Old	
2014	 Conver tible	 Bonds”)	 wil l	
become	 exercisable.	 We	 also	
need	 to	 prepare	 for	 potent ia l	
requirements	 for	capital	 to	develop	
second	 t ier	 markets	 and	 rural	
areas	 and	 to	 upgrade	 our	 internal	
information	 systems.	 Therefore,	
we	 r ecommended	 t he	 boa rd	
o f	 d i rec to r s	 o f 	 t he	 Company	
(the	 “Board”)	 not	 to	 pay	 a	 final	
dividend	for	2009.

G O M E  s h i f t e d 

i t s  f o c u s  a n d 

d e v e l o p m e n t 

toward merchandise 

management.
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DEVElOPMENt 
StRAtEgiES
2009	 marked	 a	 new	 stage	 of	
real ignment	 in	 the	 Company’s	
history.	 Previously,	 during	 rapid	
economic	 growth	we	 focused	 only	
on	 aggressive	 territorial	 expansion	
and	 our	 business	 depended	 on	
cons ignment	 f rom	 vendors.	 In	
2009,	 GOME	 shifted	 its	 internal	
focus	 and	 development	 toward	
m e r c h a n d i s e 	 m a n a g e m e n t ,	
to	 be	 al igned	 with	 the	 t rends	
w e 	 o b s e r v e d 	 i n 	 c o n s u m e r	
demand.	 Due	 to	 measures	 taken	
in	 accordance	 wi th	 ou r	 new	
growth	 model,	 including	 network	
rationalization	 and	 differentiated	
p r oduc t 	 managemen t , 	 ma jo r	
ope ra t i ng	 ind ica to r s 	 such	 as	
consolidated	 gross	 profit	 margin,	
ope ra t i ng	 p ro f i t 	 ma rg i n 	 and	
ne t	 p ro f i t 	 marg in	 a l l 	 showed	
satisfactory	performance.

Dur ing	 the	 previous	 year,	 we	
repos i t ioned	 our	 re la t ionsh ips	
wi th	 supp l ie r s 	 and	 g radua l l y	
moved	 from	 maximizing	 benefits	
to	 ourselves,	 which	 had	 been	
our	 mode	 of	 operat ion	 in	 the	
preliminary	 development	 stage	 of	
the	 industry,	 to	a	model	of	win-win	
cooperation,	 using	 the	 integrated	
service	platform	and	economies	of	
scale	 of	 GOME	 to	 operate	 jointly	
for	 mutual	 benefit.	We	 appreciate	
our	suppliers	for	the	understanding,	

trust	 and	 support	 they	 offered	 us	
during	 the	 crisis.	 When	 the	 crisis	
subsided,	the	cooperation	between	
GOME	and	 its	 suppliers	 increased	
to	unprecedented	high	levels.

CORPORAtE 
gOVERNANCE
I n 	 2009,	 as	 a	 resu l t 	 o f 	 ou r	
corporate	crisis	and	the	welcoming	
of	 new	 strategic	 investors	 to	 the	
company,	 there	 was	 a	 change	 in	
the	 composition	 of	 the	 Board	 of	
GOME.	Now	 the	Company	has	a	
total	 of	 11	 directors,	 including	 5	
executive	 directors,	 3	 independent	
non-executive	 directors	 as	 well	 as	
3	non-executive	directors	from	Bain	
Capital.	When	 the	 crisis	 unfolded	
and	 the	 trading	 of	 our	 shares	was	
suspended,	 the	 incumbent	 and	
exis t ing	 independent	 di rectors	
made	 s igni f icant	 cont r ibu t ions	
t owa rd 	 m i n im i z i ng 	 t h e 	 r i s k s	
faced	 by	 the	 new	 leadersh ip	
and	 protecting	 the	 interests	 of	
minority	 shareholders.	 On	 behalf	
of	 the	 Board,	 I	 hereby	 express	my	
sincere	 gratitude	 to	 them.	 I	 would	
also	 like	 to	 take	 this	 opportunity	
to	 formally	 welcome	 the	 3	 non-
execu t ive	 d i rec tors	 f rom	 Bain	
Capital.	 Together	 we	 will	 strive	
to	 implement	 best	 practices	 for	
openness	 and	 transparency	 in	 the	
Board	 room	 and	 in	 the	 Board’s	
decision-making	processes.
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PROSPECtS
GOME	 will	 continue	 to	 benefit	
f rom	 the	 state’s	 f iscal	 policies	
to	 boost	 domestic	 consumption	
on	 a	 long-term	 basis.	 We	 will	
seize	 the	 opportunity	 of	 market	
g row th	 d r i ven	 by	 t he	 po l i cy	
of	 “exchange	 old	 for	 new”.	 In	
add i t i on , 	 a s 	 demand	 i n 	 ou r	
f i r s t - t ie r	 marke t	 i s	 d ivers i f ied,	
the	 Company	 wil l	 cont inue	 to	
implement	 network	 rationalization	
aligning	 with	 consumer	 demand	
trends	 by	 establishing	 “new-model	
stores”	 and	 rolling	 out	 “Xin	 Huo	
Guan”	 across	 the	 country.	 In	 the	
meantime,	 we	 will	 make	 intensive	
efforts	 in	markets	with	 fresh	growth	
potent ial,	 namely,	 second	 t ier	
markets	and	rural	areas,	where	we	
will	 deepen	 our	 network	 coverage	
to	 capture	 growth	 opportunities	
that	 make	 commercial	 sense	 in	
these	areas.

Dur ing	 the	 year,	 GOME	 was	
named	 an	 authorized	 retailer	 by	
the	 World	 Expo	 Shanghai	 2010	
f ranch i sed	 p roduc t 	 ope ra t ion	
o f f i ce ,	 thanks	 to	 i t s 	 e f f i c ien t	
network	 channels,	 strict	 product	
control	 system	 and	 high-quality	
service.	 This	 designation	 allows	
GOME,	 along	 with	 other	 retails	
brands	 the	 Group	 is	 operating	
l i k e 	 C h i n a 	 P a r a d i s e 	 a n d	
Dazhong,	 to	 sell	 licensed	 home	
e lec t r ica l 	 app l iances.	 GOME	

will	 also	 be	 entitled	 to	 contract	
with	 manufacturers	 to	 produce	
licensed	 products	 if	 necessary.	 As	
a	 retailer,	 GOME	 being	 granted	
the	 authorization	 by	 World	 Expo	
Shanghai	 2010	 to	 manufacture	
licensed	 products	 is	 proof	 that	
GOME’s	 quality	 control	 capability	
is	highly	appreciated.

In	 addition,	 the	 management	 has	
noted	 the	 recent	 emergence	 and	
development	 of	 online	 shopping,	
which	 will	 undoubtedly	 broaden	
the	competitive	 landscape.	GOME	
is	 now	 conducting	 an	 in-depth	
research	 s tudy	 of	 th i s	 marke t	
segment	 in	 China,	 and	 we	 will	
announce	our	business	plans	to	the	
public	in	due	course.

We	 will	 continue	 to	 push	 forward	
a	 win-win	 strategy	 with	 suppliers	
to	 fully	 utilize	 GOME’s	 integrated	
s e r v i c e 	 p l a t f o r m , 	 a c h i e v i n g	
harmonious,	 mutually	 beneficial	
and	 sustainable	 development	 for	
both	 retailers	 and	 suppliers.	 We	
wi l l	 a lso	 help	 in t roduce	 more	
energy -saving	 products	 to	 the	
market	 in	 response	 to	 China’s	
c omm i tmen t 	 t o 	 s a v e 	 e n e r g y	
and	 reduce	 emissions.	 We	 are	
confident	 that	 we	 will	 continue	 to	
lead	 the	 home	 appliance	 retail	
industry	 in	 China,	 and	 we	 will	
do	 our	 utmost	 to	 help	 improve	 the	
quality	of	people’s	lives.





Doing the right thing based on thorough comprehension 
of market dynamics. In the ancient battle in Zhuolu, 
the Emperor Huang Di captured his enemy Chi You 
by relying on his compass to guide him in the 
right direction. Store network rationalization and 
development is a conscious 
direction we’ve taken in 
response to the evolving 
market environment. It will 
solidify our basis for 
future growth and 
prepare us well 
for the inevitable 
market rebound.

Optimizing and developing our channel 
network in response to the evolving 
market environment
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GOME	will	continue	its	 transformation	strategy	
on	 the	 basis	 of	 progress	made	 in	 2009,	
to	adapt	 to	 the	changing	macro	economic	
environment	and	capitalize	on	the	rapid	growth	
of	electrical	home	appliance	retailing	industry.

Management
Discussion and Analysis

OVERViEw
The	 Chinese	 economy	 stablized	
and	 recovered	 in	 2009.	 With	
favorable	 state	 macroeconomic	
p o l i c i e s 	 a n d 	 w i t h 	 t h e	
implementat ion	 of	 a	 ser ies	 of	
measures	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	
Group’s	 transformation	 strategy,	
such	 as	 performance	 optimization	
and	 ne two r k 	 ra t i ona l i za t i on ,	
as	 well	 as	 the	 introduction	 of	
a 	 s t r a t eg i c 	 i n v e s t o r, 	 GOME	
weathered	 the	 storm	 and	 moved	
forward	with	 exciting	 development	
momentum.	

We	 are	 pleased	 to	 see	 that	 the	
strategic	targets	set	for	2009	were	
successfully	met.	The	Group	scaled	
back	 expansion,	 and	 closed	 a	
great	 number	 of	 underperforming	
stores,	 hence	 its	 total	 number	 of	
stores	 reduced	 to	 726	 as	 of	 the	
end	 of	 2009	 from	 859	 a	 year	
ago.	 As	 a	 result,	 the	 operational	

ef f ic iency	 of	 indiv idual	 s tores	
improved,	 as	 demonstrated	 by	
2.81%	growth	in	same	store	sales.	
Despite	reduction	in	store	numbers,	
net	 profit	 significantly	 increased	 in	
2009.

During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	
Group	 recorded	 sales	 revenue	
of	 approximate ly	 RMB42,668	
million,	 down	 7.02%	 compared	
w i t h 	 RMB45 ,889	 m i l l i o n 	 i n	
the	 prev ious	 year.	 The	 pro f i t	
a t t r ibu tab le	 to	 owners	 o f	 the	
pa r e n t 	 r o s e 	 s ub s t a n t i a l l y 	 t o	
approximately	 RMB1,409	 million,	
of	34.45%	over	the	previous	year’s	
RMB1,048	million.

During	 the	 year,	 Bain	 Capital	
Glor y	 L imi ted	 (“Bain	 Capital”)	
s u b s c r i b e d 	 t o 	 5 % 	 c o u p o n	
convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2016	
(the	 “2016	 Convertible	 Bonds”)	

issued	by	 the	Company	 for	a	 total	
consideration	 of	 approximately	
RMB1,590	 million.	 The	 Company	
f u r t h e r 	 r a i s ed	 app rox ima t e l y	
RMB1,361	 mi l l ion	 through	 an	
open	offer	of	approximately	2,296	
million	 shares,	 on	 the	 basis	 of	
18	 new	 shares	 for	 every	 100	
existing	 shares	 held.	 In	 addition,	
the	 Company	 issued	 3%	 coupon	
convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2014	
( the	 “New	 2014	 Conver t ib le	
Bond s ” ) , 	 r ea l i z i ng 	 p r oceed s	
o f 	 app rox ima te l y 	 RMB2,357	
m i l l i o n . 	 I n 	 t o t a l , 	 t h e 	 G roup	
raised	 approximately	 RMB5,308	
million	 cash	 via	 the	 above	 three	
financing	 arrangements.	 This	 also	
demons t ra ted	 t he	 con f idence	
among	 the	 investment	 communities	
in	 the	Group	 as	well	 as	 the	 belief	
in	 the	 future	 prospects	 for	 China’s	
home	appliance	industry.
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The	capital	raised	will	be	sufficient	
for	 working	 capital	 and	 to	 settle	
t he	 redemp t ion	 r igh t s 	 o f 	 t he	
Old	 2014	 Conver t ible	 Bonds.	
During	 the	 year,	 the	 Company	
r e p u r c ha s ed 	 t h e 	 O l d 	 2014	
Convertible	 Bonds	 in	 the	 principal	
amount	 of	 RMB1,824.7	 million,	
wi th	 the	 outs tanding	 principal	
amount	 of	 RMB2,775.3	 million.	
Th ree	 non -execu t i ve	 d i rec to r s	
nominated	 by	 Bain	 Capital	 were	
officially	 appointed	 to	 the	 Board.	
T he i r 	 e x t e n s i v e 	 r e t a i l 	 s e c t o r	
experience	 and	 capital	 markets	
expertise	 will	 be	 most	 valuable	
to	 the	 Company	 in	 its	 business	
operations,	 internal	 controls	 and	
corporate	governance.

The	 management	 believes	 that	
Gome,	 as	 the	 industr y	 leader,	
s hou l d 	 con t i n ue 	 t o 	 emb race	
i nnova t ion	 and	 we lcome	 t he	
change	brought	about	by	 strategic	
adjus tment .	 At	 the	 same	 t ime	
it	 should	 continuously	 enhance	
its	 core	 competences.	 Thus,	 the	
Group	 decided	 to	 undertake	 a	
strategic	 transformation	 beginning	
in	 ear ly	 2009.	 Since	 then,	 i t	
has	 gained	 strong	 support	 and	
recognition	 from	 its	 suppliers	 for	
reshaping	 its	 profi t	 distr ibution	
model	 to	 establish	 a	more	 rational	
resource	 al location	 mechanism	
among	 the	 players	 in	 the	 supply	
chain.	 We	 also	 made	 significant	
i m p r o v e m e n t 	 i n 	 i n d i v i d u a l	
s tores’	 per formance	 through	 a	
series	 of	 network	 rationalization	
measures	 including	 the	 closure	

of	 underper forming	 stores	 and	
introduction	 of	 renovated	 stores	
with	 fresh	 lay-out.	 In	 addition,	
the	 Group	 successfully	 rebuilt	 its	
brand	 image	 via	 programs	 driven	
by	 customer	 needs,	 not	 only	 in	
product	 mix	 and	 product	 display,	
but	 also	 in	 pricing	 strategy	 and	
promotional	plans.

BUSiNESS 
ENViRONMENt AND 
MARkEt POtENtiAl
From	 the	 la t te r	 ha l f	 o f	 2008	
through	 to	 the	 end	 of	 2009,	
the	 Chinese	 economy	 gradually	
recovered	 from	 the	 impact	 of	 the	
global	 financial	 crisis.	 According	
to	 publ ished	 2009	 data	 f rom	
the	 National	 Bureau	 of	 Statistics,	
China’s	 GDP	 grew	 8.7%,	 and	
consumer	spending	on	retail	goods	
rose	to	approximately	RMB12,530	
bil l ion.	 Of	 that	 total,	 the	 total	
consumption	 of	 home	 appliances	
and	AV	equipment	was	RMB315.4	
b i l l i o n . 	 D u r i n g 	 2 0 0 9 , 	 t h e	
Chinese	 government	 implemented	
proactive	 fiscal	 policy,	 moderate	
monetary	 policy,	 and	 programs	
to	 s t imulate	 domest ic	 demand	
and	 propel	 economic	 growth.	
The	 RMB4,000	 billion	 financial	
stimulus	 plan	 including	 “go	 rural”,	
“exchange	 o ld	 fo r	 new”	 and	
“energy-saving	 subsidy”	 policies	
created	 substantial	 demand	 for	
home	 appliances	 and	 effectively	
c o n t r i b u t e d 	 t o 	 t h e 	 n a t i o n a l	
economic	rebound.
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I n 	 l i g h t 	 o f 	 t h e 	 f a v o r a b l e	
macroeconomic	 stimulus	 policies	
and	 the	 enormous	 potential	 and	
speed	 of	 growth	 in	 the	 electrical	
app l iances	 marke t 	 i n	 Ch ina,		
management	is	committed	to	adopt	
a	 sound	 business	 and	 economic	
model	 to	 achieve	 sus ta inable	
growth,	 leveraging	 the	 strength	 of	

its	 retail	 brands	 and	 unparalleled	
sales	and	service	network.

ANAlYSiS OF 
OPERAtiNg 
ADVANtAgE
SUCCESSFUl iNDUStRY 
iNtEgRAtiON
Thanks	 to	 a	 series	 of	 successful	
mergers	 and	 acqu is i t ions ,	 as	
well	 as	 post-merger	 integrations	
in	 recent	 years,	 the	 Group	 has	
es tab l i shed	 the	 la rges t 	 re ta i l	
store	 network	 in	 the	 country,	 with	
extensive	 coverage	 in	 al l	 t ier	
one	 and	 two	 markets	 across	 the	
mainland	with	a	collection	of	retail	
brands	 including	 GOME,	 China	
Paradise,	 Dazhong	 and	 Cellstar,	
effectively	 enhancing	 our	 leading	
position	in	the	industry.

With the goal of continuing 
to be a f i r s t -c lass  home 
electrical appliance retailer 
in China, we will continue to 
focus on value creation for 
customers, and strengthen 
our  ab i l i t y  to  g row the 
business in many incremental 
ways.

F r o m 	 a 	 r e g i o n a l 	 m a r k e t	
pe r spec t i ve , 	 home	 app l iance	
chained	 stores	 currently	 dominate	
first-tier	 markets.	 With	 the	 growth	
in	 population	 and	 the	 increase	 in	
disposable	 income,	 there	 remains	
ample	 room	 to	 deepen	 the	 first-
t ier	 markets,	 particularly	 in	 the	
segment	 of	 high-end	 products.	
Continuous	 network	 optimization	
and	 the	 roll-out	of	 renovated	stores	
are	 instrumental	 to	 our	 market	
share	 expansion.	 The	 increasing	
penetration	 in	 second	 tier	 markets	
and	 rural	 areas	 created	 emerging	
demands,	which	the	Group	is	keen	
to	 meet	 by	 extending	 its	 network,	
its	 logistics	 system	 and	 delivery	
services.

Commun ica t ions , 	 d ig i ta l 	 and	
computer	 products	 (“3C”)	 enjoyed	
higher	 growth	 in	 the	 Group’s	
existing	 markets;	 nevertheless	 their	
penetration	 rates	 are	 relatively	
low	 compared	 wi t h 	 t hose	 i n	
developed	countries.	Therefore,	the	
prospect	 of	 3C	 products	 remains	
promising.	 Demand	 for	 traditional	
home	 appliance	 in	 rural	 areas	
will	 be	 dominated	 by	 the	 product	
penetrat ion	 cycle,	 whi le	 those	
in	 first-	 and	 second-tier	 markets	
will	 be	 driven	 by	 new	 generation	
product	 replacement,	 representing	
good	 potential.	 Meanwhile,	 the	
addition	 of	 new	 product	 series,	
extended	 lines	 and	 value-added	
services,	 with	 innovations	 made	
by	 chain	 retailers,	 will	 also	 help	
steadily	build	up	the	market	size	of	
the	home	appliance	industry.

M a n a g em e n t 	 b e l i e v e s 	 t h a t	
the	 Group	 has	 a	 compet i t i ve	
advan tage	 in	 i t s 	 r e ta i l 	 s to re	
n e t w o r k 	 w h i c h 	 i s 	 h a r d 	 f o r	
international	 and	 domestic	 peers	
to	 replicate.	 I t	 has	 helped	 the	
Group	 ach ieve	 economies	 o f	
scale	 in	 procurement	 and	 sales	
and	 enabled	 all	 home	 electrical	
appliance	 manufacturers	 to	 easily	
promote	 and	 sell	 their	 products	
through	 the	Group’s	 store	 network.	
The	 Group	 is	 confident	 that	 with	
its	 solid	 industr y	 foundation	 of	
over	 20	 years,	 it	 will	 continue	 to	
maintain	 its	 leading	position	 in	 the	
domestic	 home	 appliance	 retail	
chain	industry.

tHE MOSt iNFlUENtiAl 
BRAND
At	 the	 end	 of	 2009,	 the	 GOME	
brand	 was	 named	 “ the	 mos t	
valuable	 brand”	 in	 China’s	 retail	
industry	 for	 the	 third	 consecutive	
t ime 	 i n 	 “ T he 	 Mos t 	 Va l uab l e	
Chinese	 Brands”	 by	 R	 &	 F	Global	
Ranking,	 with	 the	 brand	 value	
reaching	RMB55.3	billion.	GOME	
was	 also	 the	 only	 home	 electrical	
appliance	 retailer	 in	 the	 ranking,	
reflecting	how	well	 recognized	 the	
GOME	brand	is	among	consumers	
and	within	the	industry.

Throughout	 the	 Group’s	 history,	
i t 	 h a s 	 a lway s 	 comm i t t ed 	 t o	
providing	 innovative	 services	 to	
best	 serve	 consumers’	 interests.	
With	 a	 comprehensive	 ser vice	
value	 system	 in	 place	 that	 values	
h igh	 e f f i c i ency	 and	 supe r io r	
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standards,	 we	 can	 now	 satisfy	 all	
types	 of	 needs	 of	 our	 consumers.	
As	 a	 “Wor ld	 Expo	 Shanghai	
2010”	 authorized	 retailer	 to	 offer	
electrical	 appliances,	 the	 Group	
wil l	 take	 ful l	 advantage	 of	 i ts	
brand	 power	 and	 further	 secure	
consumers’	loyalty.

The	 Group	 will	 continue	 building	
i ts	 brand	 value.	 Together	 with	
suppliers	 and	 consumers	 and	 with	
the	 goal	 of	 “creating	 consumer	
value”,	 we	 will	 promote	 a	 fair,	
open	 and	 transparent	 business	
env i ronmen t	 so	 as	 to	 pro tec t	
consumers’	rights.

HigHlY EFFiCiENt REtAil 
StORE NEtwORk
Dur ing	 t he	 repo r t i ng	 pe r iod ,	
the	 Group	 swiftly	 mapped	 and	
redeployed	 its	 network	 of	 stores,	
wh ich	 were	 fu r t he r 	 improved	
and	 op t im ized	 based	 on	 the	
strategy	 of	 “opening	 high	 quality	
mega	 stores”.	 In	 2009,	 in	 an	
effort	 to	 consolidate	 stores	 with	
weak	 sales,	 loss	 making,	 low-
p ro f i t ab i l i t y, 	 o r 	 i n 	 non - i dea l	
locations,	 the	Group	 closed	 down	
189	 such	 stores	 and	 opened	 56	
new	 ones	 at	 strategic	 locations.	
At	 the	 same	 time,	 after	 carefully	
s tudying	 leading	 in ternat ional	
electrical	 home	 appliance	 retail	
chains,	 the	 Group	 remodeled	 27	
existing	stores	(including	stores	that	
were	 a	 part	 of	 Beijing	 Dazhong	
Home	 Appliances	 Retail	 Co.,	 Ltd	
(“Dazhong	 Appliances”)).	 These	

“ new -mode l 	 s t o r e s ” 	 f ea t u r ed	
i m p r o v e d 	 p r o d u c t 	 d i s p l a y,	
increased	 product	 varieties,	 better	
shopping	 environment	 and	 in-store	
service,	 substantially	 enhancing	
customers’	 shopping	 experience	
and	 boost ing	 revenue	 growth.	
In	 a	 pilot	 program	 designed	 to	
maximize	 customer	 satisfaction	
and	 enhance	 store	 operational	
efficiency,	 the	 Group	 opened	 3	
super	 flagship	 stores	 (including	
Dazhong	 Appliances)	 called	 “Xin	
Huo	 Guan”	 (“新活館”)	 stores	 in	
Beijing,	 Shanghai	 and	 Tianjin.	
Be s i de s 	 i n t r oduc i ng 	 a 	 l a rge	
n umbe r 	 o f 	 sma l l 	 app l i a nce s	
and	 3C	 products	 and	 related	
accessories,	 Xin	 Huo	 Guan	 also	
displayed	various	lifestyle	electrical	
appliances,	 such	 as	 treadmills,	
b eau t y 	 eq u i pmen t , 	 l i g h t i n g ,	
k i t chenware	 and	 t imep ieces ,	
w i t h 	 t h e 	 n umbe r 	 o f 	 p r oduc t	
series	 increased	 from	 the	 original	
20,000	to	over	50,000.

The	 Group’s	 opera t ion	 model	
gradually	 shifted	 from	a	“shopping	
mall	 model”	 to	 a	 “retai l	 shop	
merchandise	 management	 model”	
which	 pu t	 more	 emphas is	 on	
p r oduc t 	 m i x , 	 i n - s t o r e 	 l a you t	
and	 product	 display,	 so	 as	 to	
successfully	 create	 a	 new	 “value-
based”	 operational	 model.	 During	
the	 reporting	 period,	 the	 “new-
model	 stores”	 and	 super	 flagship	
“Xin	 Huo	 Guan”	 stores	 drew	 in	
significant	 customer	 traffic.	 As	 a	
result,	the	Group’s	same	store	sales	
increased.

By	 the	 end	 of	 2009,	 the	 Group	
had	726	outlets	 in	198	 large-and-
medium-sized	 cities	 around	 the	
country,	466	of	which	were	in	first	
tier	 markets	 with	 strong	 consumer	
spending	power.

In	addition,	counting	the	364	outlets	
of	 the	 Non-listed	 GOME	 Group	
(excluding	 stores	 in	 Hong	 Kong	
and	 Macau)	 and	 51	 outlets	 under	
Dazhong	 Appliances,	 the	 Group’s	
total	 number	 of	 stores	 reached	
1,141	and	spanned	329	large-and-
medium-sized	cities.

By	 the	 end	 of	 2009,	 the	 total	
sales	 area	 of	 the	 726	 stores	 was	
2,675,000m2,	 a	 14.26%	 decrease	
compared	 with	 3,120,000m2	 in	
2008.	 Nevertheless	 the	 average	
sales	 area	 per	 store	 was	 3,685m2,	
a	 1.46%	 increase	 compared	 with	
3,632m2	in	2008.

The	 management	 believes	 that		
the	 home	 elect r ical	 appl iance	
retail	 industry	 will	 see	 a	 transition	
from	 increasing	 the	 number	 of	
stores	 to	 enhancing	 same	 store	
efficiency.	 Over-crowded	 outlets	
and	 overlapping	 store	 locations	
wil l	 inevitably	 cause	 a	 vicious	
cycle	 in	 peer	 competition	 and	will	
weaken	 overall	 profitability.	 The	
future	 profit -generating	 avenues	
of	 the	 electrical	 home	 appliance	
re tai l	 indus t r y	 depend	 on	 the	
opt imizat ion	 of	 s to re	 ne twork	
mapping	and	the	increase	of	same	
store	efficiency.
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Counting	 the	364	outlets	 of	

the	Non-listed	GOME	Group	

and	51	outlets	under	Dazhong	

Appliances,	 the	 total	number	

of	stores	 reached	1,141	and	

spanned	 329	 large-	 and	

medium-sized	cities.
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Nationwide Retail Network of the Group
As	at	31	December	2009

Development of Network:

group 

total gOME

China 

Paradise CellStar

Flagship	stores 76 59 17 –

Standard	stores 625 517 108 –

Specialized	stores 25 4 1 20

Total 726 580 126 20

Among	them:	

	 First-tier	cities 466 351 98 17

	 Second-tier	cities 260 229 28 3

Net	decrease	in	

	 store	number 133 77 52 4

Number	of	

	 stores	closed 189 125 59 5

Among	them:	

	 First-tier	cities 121 72 44 5

	 Second-tier	cities 68 53 15 –

Number	of	

	 cities	accessed 198 169 24 6

Among	them:	

	 First-tier	cities 26 21 9 1

	 Second-tier	cities 172 148 15 5

List of stores:

Region

Flagship 

stores

Standard 

stores

Specialized 

stores total

Beijing 9 37 1 47

Shanghai 11 45 1 57

Tianjin 7 26 – 33

Chengdu 4 45 – 49

Chongqing 5 29 – 34

Xian 2 23 20 45

Shenyang 4 20 – 24

Qingdao 3 26 – 29

Jinan 2 9 – 11

Shenzhen 3 62 – 65

Guangzhou 3 89 2 94

Wuhan 2 22 1 25

Kunming 3 14 – 17

Fuzhou 3 26 – 29

Xiamen 1 30 – 31

Hangzhou – 9 – 9

Zhengzhou 1 25 – 26

Nanjing 1 24 – 25

Wuxi 2 3 – 5

Changzhou 1 10 – 11

Suzhou 3 12 – 15

Hefei 1 7 – 8

Xuzhou 1 8 – 9

Tangshan – 12 – 12

Lanzhou 3 8 – 11

Wenzhou 1 4 – 5

total 76 625 25 726
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SECOND-tiER MARkEt 
NEtwORk EXtENSiON
Rapid	 urbanization,	 development	

of	 the	 real	 estate	 market	 and	 the	

increas ing	 disposable	 income	

o f 	 r u ra l 	 r e s i den t s 	 i n 	 Ch i na ,	

together	 have	 been	 driving	 up	

the	 penetration	 rate	 of	 electrical	

a p p l i a n c e s 	 a n d 	 e l e c t r o n i c	

products	 in	 second-tier	 markets.	

There	 are	 many	 distinctive	 cost	

advantages,	 that	 can	 be	 reaped	

in	 developing	 	 the	 second-t ier	

market,	 for	 instance,	 lower	 rental,	

advertising	 and	 salary	 costs.	 It	

is	 also	 relatively	 less	 transparent	

and	 competition	 remains	 minimal,	

hence	 creating	 enormous	 business	

opportunities.

By	 t he	 end	 o f 	 t he	 repo r t i ng	

period,	 the	 Group	 entered	 172	

cities	 	 in	 second-tier	 markets,	 with	

260	 store,	 representing	 35.81%	

of	 the	 to ta l	 number	 of	 s tores	

and	 contributing	 an	 aggregate	

of	 RMB10,352	 million	 in	 sales	

income,	accounting	 for	24.26%	of	

total	revenue.

Capi ta l iz ing	 on	 the	 favorable	

macroeconomic	 policies	 of	 the	

state	including	its	“go	rural”	policy,	

the	 Group	 focused	 on	 operational	

c apab i l i t y 	 e n ha n c emen t s 	 i n	

product	 provisioning	 and	 logistic	

services	 across	 all	 parts	 of	 the	

supply	 chain.	 In	 the	 mean	 time,	

we	 a re	 op t im iz ing	 ou r 	 s to re	

coverage	 in	 this	 market	 segment,	

which	will	 form	 the	basis	 for	 future	

development	into	rural	areas.

StABlE RENtAl
As	 of	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	

period,	 692	 stores	 are	 currently	

unde r 	 l ease	 ag reemen t s 	 and	

34	 are	 located	 in	 proper t ies	

owned	 by	 the	 Group.	 Leasing	

ag reemen t s , 	 a s 	 a	 p reva i l i ng	

practice,	 generally	 do	 not	 require	

u p - f r o n t 	 c ap i t a l 	 i n v e s tm e n t ,	

and	 at	 the	 same	 time	 offer	 the	

flexibility	of	 terminating	the	lease	if	

required.	 On	 the	 other	 hand,	 self-

owned	 properties	 are	 ideal	 for	

building	 sample	 stores	 where	 we	

want	 to	 implement	 standardized	

services	 and	 branding	 initiatives,	

as	 well	 as	 improve	 efficiency	 of	

individual	 stores.	 A	 fine	 balance	

o f 	 t he 	 two	 above -men t i oned	

methods	 of	 property	 acquisition	 is	

critical	 in	 managing	 the	 Group’s	

long	 term	 business	 viability.	 Self-

owned	 properties	 were	 purchased	

for	 commercial	 use	 at	 relatively	

inexpensive	 prices	 in	 the	 early	

days	 fo l lowing	 the	 incep t ion	

of	 the	 Group,	 and	 their	 good	

geographica l	 loca t ions,	 gave	

the	 Group	 significant	 first	 mover	

advantages.
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During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	

Group’s	 s tore	 lease	 payments	

were	 equivalent	 to	 4.67%	 of	 total	

sales	 income,	 almost	 the	 same	 as	

last	 year’s	 4.36%.	 The	 average	

remaining	 lease	period	of	 the	692	

leased	 stores	 was	 approximately	

5.04	 years.	 The	 number	 of	 stores	

whose	 lease	agreement	will	expire	

in	 2010,	 2011	 and	 2012	 was	

59,	52	and	65	respectively.

Accoun t ing	 fo r	 8.00%	 of	 the	

Group’s	 to ta l 	 f loor	 a rea,	 the	

combined	 area	 of	 se l f -owned	

p rope r t i e s	 reached	 214,000	

square	 meters,	 and	 are	 located	

mostly	 on	 the	 high	 street	 of	 the	

municipali t ies	 l ike	 Beij ing	 and	

Shanghai.

FURtHER StRENgtHENED 
SUPPliER RElAtiONSHiPS
T h e 	 G r o u p 	 a t t a c h e s 	 g r e a t	

impor tance	 to	 maintaining	 and	

improving	 good	 relations	 with	 its	

suppliers.	 In	 2009,	 the	 Group	

undertook	 a	 series	 of	 innovative	

measures	 to	 refine	 the	 terms	 of	

procurement	 contracts,	 including	

standardizing	 charges	 	 to	 the	

s upp l i e r s 	 o u t s i d e 	 t h e 	 s cope	

of	 contracts	 and	 speeding	 up	

the	 regular	 reconci l ia t ion	 and	

se t t lemen t	 processes	 wi th	 the	

suppliers.	 These	 initiatives	 aiming	

to	 establish	 a	 win-win	 pattern	 of	

collaboration	 were	 well	 received	

and	supported	by	suppliers.

The	 Group	 worked	 closely	 with	

s upp l i e r s 	 on 	 mu l t i p l e 	 f r on t s ,	

including	 analysis	 and	 research	 of		

market	 demand,	 product	 research	

and	 deve lopmen t , 	 ma r ke t i ng	

and	 promotional	 programs.	 We	

deepened	 our	 collaboration	 in	

forming	 service	 standards	 which	

allow	 both	 par ties	 a	 basis	 for	

fa i r 	 d i s t r ibu t ion	 o f	 pro f i t s . 	 In	

addition,	 operational	 ef ficiency	

was	 enhanced	 through	 seamless	

integration	of	the	management	and	

logistics	 systems	of	 the	Group	with	

those	of	its	suppliers.

Du r i ng	 t he	 repo r t i ng	 pe r iod ,	

purchases	 from	 i ts	 f ive	 largest	



GOME	Electrical	Appliances	Holding	Limited

Annual	Report	200927

brand	 name	 suppliers	 accounted	

for	31.57%	of	total	procurement.

M a n a g em e n t 	 b e l i e v e s 	 t h a t	

an	 a l l iance	 based	 on	 p ro f i t -

sharing	 will	 incentivize	 additional	

suppl iers	 to	 use	 GOME	 as	 a	

main	 distribution	 channel	 to	 end	

users.	 This	will	 further	 increase	our	

product	 offering	 and	 will	 induce	

more	 purchases	 at	 our	 s tores,	

improving	 cost	 effectiveness	 per	

square	 me te r 	 and	 inc reas ing	

indiv idual	 s tores’	 prof i tabi l i ty.	

Stronger	 in-store	sales	performance	

will	 generate	 higher	 profitability	

for	 suppliers	 who	 will	 then	 be	

further	 motivated	 to	 invest	 in	 sales	

promotions	 in	 which	 consumers	

will	be	 the	end	beneficiaries.	Such	

a	 virtuous	 cycle	 among	 suppliers,	

retailers	and	consumers	will	 create	

an	all-win	situation.

ClOSE COOPERAtiON 
witH BANkS
S i n ce 	 i t s 	 e s t ab l i s hmen t , 	 t h e	

Group	 has	 formed	 long-term	 and	

solid	 partnerships	 with	 all	 major	

domes t i c 	 bank s 	 and	 se ve ra l	

in te rnat ional	 banks	 in	 China,	

based	 on	 mutual	 t rus t.	 During	

the	 reporting	 period,	 the	 Group	

entered	 into	 a	 number	 of	 strategic	

cooperation	agreements	with	major	

nat ional	 banks	 in	 China	 who	

provided	 the	Group	with	 extensive	

financial	 services	 including	 credit	

l ines,	 sett lements	 and	 personal	

f inance.	 To	 accommodate	 our	

unique	 business	 model,	 they	 have	

also	 tailored	 integrated	 financial	

solutions	 to	 provide	 high	 quality	

financial	 services	 for	 the	 Group	

across	borders.

RAPiD iNFORMAtiON 
SYStEM DEVElOPMENt
To 	 a c c e l e r a t e 	 o u r 	 b u s i n e s s	

t r a n s f o r m a t i o n , 	 t h e 	 G r o u p	

u p g r a d e d 	 i t s 	 s o f t w a r e 	 a n d	

hardware	 applicat ions,	 and	 i t	

re-engineered	 its	 inventory	 and	

logistics	processes	and	procedures	

within	 the	 IT	 system.	 That	 has	

helped	 in format ion	 exchanges	

among	 the	 Group,	 suppliers	 and	

consumers,	 so	 that	 we	 could	 meet	

consumers’	 needs	 based	 on	 real	

time	 and	 empirical	 knowledge,	

systematical ly	 s tepping	 up	 our	

service	quality.

The	 Group’s	 IT	 system	 is	 primarily	

comprised	of	four	key	modules,	i.e.	

Enterprise	Resource	Planning	 (ERP),	

E-Commerce	 Information,	Customer	

Relationship	 Management	 (CRM)	

and	 enterprise	 daily	 management.	

The	 Group	 uses	 these	 modules	

to	 perform	 its	 daily	 operations,	

inc lud ing	 procurement ,	 sa les ,	

delivery,	 after-sales	 service	 and	

pricing	 control.	 The	 IT	 system	

p ro v i de s 	 t h e 	 manage r s 	 w i t h	

market	 intel l igence	 and	 instant	

m a n a g em e n t 	 d a t a ; 	 i t 	 a l s o	

efficiently	 bridges	 manufacturers	

and	customers.

To 	 k e ep 	 u p 	 w i t h 	 t h e 	 r a p i d	

de ve l opmen t 	 o f 	 t h e 	 i n t e r n e t	

and	 meet	 increasingly	 complex	

opera t iona l	 requ i remen t s ,	 the	

Group	 will	 fur ther	 invest	 in	 i ts	

I T 	 s y s t em	 so	 a s 	 t o 	 i nc rease	

operational	 efficiency,	 lower	 	 its	

opera t ing	 cos t s	 and	 enhance	

customer	service	quality.
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PREMiER CUStOMER 
SERViCE AND AFtER-
SAlES SERViCE SYStEM

1) logistics system

Over	 the	 past	 few	 years,	 the	

G roup	 ha s 	 been 	 f o cu s i ng	

o n 	 t h e 	 de ve l opmen t 	 o f 	 a	

modernized	logistics	system	and	

establishing	 regional	 logistics	

centers	 and	 warehouses	 that	

support	 our	 retail	 network.	 The	

system	 provided	 consumers	 and	

suppliers	 with	 timely,	 efficient	

a n d 	 c o n v e n i e n t 	 l o g i s t i c s	

se r v i ces , 	 and	 as	 a	 re su l t ,	

significantly	 increased	 product	

delivery	 efficiency,	 lowered	 the	

rate	 of	 defective	 merchandise	

and	 logistics	 costs,	 improved	

inventory	 and	 working	 capital	

turnover.

As	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	

period,	 the	 Group	 had	 128	

delivery	centers,	including	36	in	

first-tier	cities	and	92	in	second-

tier	 cities.	 They	 jointly	 cover	 a	

total	 area	 of	 599,000	 square	

meters	nationwide.

2) After-sales service system

In	 2009,	 the	 Group	 fur ther	

expanded	 its	 after-sales	 service	

network	 by	 increasing	 “Home	

Appliance	 Clinics”	 from	 44	 in	

2008	 to	 48.	 In	 order	 to	 better	

serve	 our	 customers,	 the	 Group	

ha s 	 de s i gna t ed 	 a 	 numbe r	

of	 professional	 maintenance	

providers	 in	 first-	 and	 second-

tier	 cities.	 As	 of	 the	 end	 of	

t h e 	 r epo r t i n g 	 pe r i od , 	 t h e	

number	 of	 maintenance	 outlets	

owned	 and	 designated	 by	 the	

Group	 reached	 2,354.	 This	

extensive	 coverage	 provided	

a	 good	 foundation	 for	 after-

sales	 service	 and	 	 enabled	 us	

to	 effectively	 respond	 to	 repair	

requirements.	 The	Group’s	 after-

sales	 service	 greatly	 enhanced	

its	 brand	 image	 and	 customer	

satisfaction,	 and	 thus	 cultivated	

and	 s t reng thened	 cus tomer	

loyalty.	 The	Group	will	 continue	

t o 	 imp r o v e 	 i t s 	 a f t e r - s a l e s	
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service,	which	can	contribute	 to	

revenue	 in	 addition	 to	 servicing	

customers,	 thereby	 achieving	 a	

win-win	 situation	 for	 both	 the	

Group	and	its	customers.

In	 a	 long	 term	 perspective,	 a	

strong	 delivery	 and	 after-sales	

service	 network	 are	 essential	

t o 	 b o t h 	 e - c omme r c e 	 a n d	

online	 shopping	 business.	 The	

Group’s	 logistics	 and	 after-sales	

systems	 will	 be	 able	 to	 lay	 the	

groundwork	for	the	development	

o f 	 e - commerce	 and	 on l i ne	

shopping.

3) Membership system

During	 the	 reporting	period,	 the	

Group	upgraded	its	membership	

system.	 Through	 standardized	

and	 transparent	 systems	such	as	

“reward	 points	 and	 redeeming	

cash,”	 customers	 can	 use	 the	

reward	 points	 earned	 to	 make	

purchases.	The	new	membership	

system	also	 introduced	a	 rebate	

sys tem	 by	 home	 appl iance	

manufacturers	 which	 brought	

tangible	benefits	to	consumers.

In	 2009,	 members	 increased	

significantly	 from	 22,000,000	

in	the	last	year	to	26,420,000.	

P u r c h a s e s 	 b y 	 m e m b e r s	

accounted	 for	 66.36%	 of	 total	

purchases,	 and	 43.66%	 of	

members	 re tu rned	 for	 more	

purchases.

4) Extended warranty 

service

In	 2009,	 through	 cooperation	

with	 top	 international	 extended	

warran ty	 ser v ice	 prov iders,	

al l	 brands	 under	 the	 Group	

continued	 to	 promote	 extended	

warranty	 ser v ices	 for	 home	

app l i a n ce s 	 t o 	 c on s ume r s ,	

which	 was	 an	 extension	 of	 the	

value-added	 service	 of	 home	

appliance	 retailers.	 It	 helped	

increase	 the	 competi t iveness	

of	 modern	 home	 appl iance	

r e t a i l e r s 	 a n d 	 r e l i e v e 	 t h e	

burden	 on	 home	 appl iance	

manufacturers	 for	 af ter -sales	

ser v ices.	 This	 led	 to	 a	 al l -

win	 si tuation	 for	 consumers,	

manufacturers	and	retailers.

By	 wo r k i ng	 w i t h 	 domes t i c	

and	 international	 professional	

ex tended	 war ran t y	 se r v i ce	

c o m p a n i e s , 	 t h e 	 G r o u p	

expanded	 the	 scope	 of	 i t s	

service	 while	 creating	 a	 new	

profi t	 growth	 avenue.	 Gross	

p ro f i t 	 ma rg in 	 fo r 	 p roduc t s	

with	 extended	 warranty	 sales	

reached	52%,	 and	 the	 average	

n a t i o n - w i d e 	 m e r c h a n d i s e	
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wa r r an t y 	 r a t e 	 wa s 	 n ea r l y	

5.13%.	 Management	 believes	

that	 there	 is	 enormous	 room	 for	

growth	 for	 extended	 warranty	

service	 given	 the	 continuously	

inc reas ing	 spending	 power	

of	 the	 general	 public	 and	 the	

popularity	 of	 high	 quality	 home	

appliance.

5) Call centers

The	 Group’s	 call	 centers	 are	

staffed	 by	 500	 representatives.	

This	 is	 current ly	 the	 largest	

and	 one	 of	 the	 most	 advanced	

i n t e r a c t i v e 	 i n f o r m a t i o n a l	

se r v ice	 sys tems	 in	 Ch ina ’s	

home	 appliance	 retail	 industry.	

In	 parallel	 with	 the	 Group’s	

imp lemen ta t ion	 o f 	 a	 mu l t i -

b r a n d 	 o p e r a t i o n s 	 m o d e l	

i n c l u d i n g 	 GOME , 	 C h i n a	

Paradise	 and	 Dazhong,	 our	

ca l l 	 cen te r 	 was	 a	 p ioneer	

in	 establishing	 three	 ser vice	

supervising	 hotlines	 (GOME:	

4 0 0 8 - 1 1 - 3 3 3 3 , 	 C h i n a	

Pa rad i s e : 	 4008 -11 -3336 ,	

Dazhong:	 4008-11 -3339) .	

I n 	 a d d i t i o n , 	 t h e 	 G r o u p	

established	 an	 online	 mailbox	

(4008@gome.com.cn ) 	 and	

online	 enquiry	 service	 targeting	

young	 customers.	 These	 have	

helped	 us	 to	 meet	 the	 service	

demands	 of	 customers	 across	

many	demographics.

The	 Group’s	 call	 centers	 have	

been	 adhering	 to	 the	 principle	

of	 “cus tomer -cent r ic	 ser v ice	

with	 care”	 and	 view	 “customer	

satisfaction	 through	 competitive	

services”	 as	 their	 No.	 1	 goal.	

By	 providing	 customers	 with	

efficient	and	 timely	services,	 the	

Group	 has	 not	 only	 enhanced	

i t s 	 b rand	 image,	 bu t 	 a l so	

suppor ted	 its	 retail	 network,	

both	 of	 which	 wil l	 help	 the	

Group	 achieve	 i ts	 long- term	

strategic	goals.

CONSCiOUS 
iMPROVEMENt 
iN CORPORAtE 
gOVERNANCE
Shortly	 after	 the	 detention	 of	 Mr.	

Wong	Kwong	Yu,	 the	ex-chairman,	

was	 confirmed,	 the	 Board	 formed	

a	 Special	 Action	 Committee,	 over	

seeing	 the	 interests	 of	 minority	

shareholders	 throughout	 the	 period	

of	 suspension.	 This	 Commit tee	

remained	 active	 until	 the	 situation	

was	 stabilized	 as	 the	 result	 of	 the	

entry	 of	 a	 strategic	 investor	 and	

the	 complet ion	 of	 ref inancing.	

Dur ing	 the	 course	 o f	 t rad ing	

suspension,	 the	 Board	managed	 to	

announce	 its	 decisions	 on	 issues	

of	material	 significance	as	 soon	as	

practicable,	 in	 an	 effort	 to	 keep	

communications	 channels	 open.	 In	

addition,	 the	 Board	 also	 engaged	

an	 independent	 advisor	 to	 report	

on	 and	 suggest	 improvements	

to	 its	 internal	 controls	 and	 risk	

management	system.

Following	 the	 resignation	 of	 Mr.	

Sun	 Qiang	 Chang,	 Mr.	 Mark	

Christopher	 Greaves	 and	 Mr.	 Yu	

Tung	 Ho	 from	 the	 Board,	 three	

non-executive	 directors	 nominated	

by	 new	 strategic	 investor,	 Bain	

Capital,	were	officially	appointed.	

The	 Board	 would	 like	 to	 extend	

its	 sincere	 gratitude	 to	 Messrs.	

Sun,	 Greaves	 and	 Yu	 for	 their	

d i l igence, 	 i n	 pa r t i cu la r 	 t he i r	

valuable	advice	amid	 the	crisis.	At	

the	 same	 time,	 the	 Board	 extends	

i ts	 warm	 welcome	 to	 the	 new	

directors	who	will	 contribute	 to	 the	

Group’s	continuous	 improvement	 in	

corporate	 governance,	 in	 addition	

to	 sharing	 their	 extensive	 retail	

experience	 and	 capital	 market	

expertise.

DEEPENiNg OUR 
CORPORAtE CUltURE
In	 the	 course	 of	 two	 decades:	

GOME	 has	 evolved	 to	 become	

a	 f u l l - f l edged	 sec to r 	 l eade r.	

Building	 and	 deepening	 corporate	

culture,	 which	 is	 well-aligned	 with	

our	 business	 strategy,	 has	 been	

the	 backbone	 of	 our	 corporate	

success.
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Over	 more	 than	 20	 years,	 the	

Group	 has 	 been	 pu r s u i ng	 a	

mission	 of	 “Perfecting	 the	 Quality	

of	 Life”	and	 following	 the	principle	

o f 	 “H igh	 Vo lume,	 Exce l l ence	

C u s t om e r - L ow 	 Ma r g i n , 	 a n d	

Services”.	 The	 Group	 has	 built	 a	

well-recognized	 public	 image	 by	

paying	 great	 attention	 to	 these	

details.

Through	 both	 classroom	 and	 on-

the-job	 training,	 we	 are	 pleased	

to	see	 that	all	our	staff	have		been	

consistently	 perform	 trained	 to	 in	

ways	 that	 are	 aligned	 with	 our	

corporate	 values	 and	 code	 of	

conduct.	 To	 meet	 the	 growing	

expectat ions	 f rom	 communi t ies	

and	 consumers	 as	 we	 develop,	

t h e 	 G r o u p 	 i s 	 c omm i t t e d 	 t o	

deepening	 our	 corporate	 culture	

for	 the	 purpose	 of	 building	 a	 first	

class,	 widely	 respected	 Chinese	

enterprise.

tAlENt MANAgEMENt
The	 Group	 has	 been	 attaching	

g r e a t 	 i mpo r t a n c e 	 t o 	 h uman	

r e s o u r c e 	 m a n a g em e n t 	 a n d	

development	 to	 meet	 the	 needs	 of	

dedicated	management	amid	high-

scale	 growth.	 The	 total	 number	 of	

employees	 of	 the	 Group	 reached	

42,368	 by	 the	 end	 of	 2009.	

The	 Group	 launched	 4	 programs	

designed	 to	 provide	 to	 all	 levels	

360°	 development	 and	 training	

and	 help	 staf f	 resolve	 real - l i fe	

challenges.	 These	 include	 (1)	 a	

senior	 management	 club	 and	 the	

Executive	 Development	 Program	

(EDP),	 in	collaboration	with	Beijing	

Guanghua	School	of	Management,	

designed	 for	 the	 top	 100	 senior	

management;	 (2)	 “GOME	Seminar	

Ser ies”	 p rov ided	 fo r	 20,000	

middle	 to	 senior	 management;	 (3)	

“GOME	 Retail	 Training	 School”	

open	 to	 the	 200,000	 front-line	

sales	 force,	 and	 lastly	 “GOME	 E	

College”	 open	 to	 all	 220,000	

staff	 of	 the	Group.	Our	 continuous	

education	 system,	 underpinned	 by	

the	 above	 four	 training	 programs,	

sets	 the	 largest	 and	 most	 forward-

th inking	 example	 of	 top-notch	

human	resources	in	our	industry.

The	Group	invested	resources	in	its	

succession	 planning	 and	 retained	

a	 talented	 pool	 of	 people	 with	

retail	 industry-specific	 skill	 sets.	

Launched	in	2002,	our	“Reservoir”	

talent	 nurturing	 project	 attracted	

a	 total	 of	 6,300	 quality	 university	

graduates	 from	 all	 fields	 of	 study.	

In	 2009,	 the	 Group	 established	

13	 “college	 graduate	 internship	

base	 camps ” 	 t h roughou t 	 t he	

nation.	 These	 measures	 helped	

provide	 recruitment	 opportunities,	

and	 80%	 o f 	 t hose	 un i ve r s i t y	

graduates	 in	 terms	 joined	 Gome	

and	 have	 added	 to	 the	 core	 of	

our	 business	 managers,	 a	 pool	

of	 outstanding	 individuals	 ready	

f o r 	 b u s i n e s s 	 e xpan s i o n 	 and	

management	enhancement.
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FiNANCiAl REViEw
REVENUE
During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 with	

net	 close	 down	 of	 133	 under-

per forming	 stores,	 the	 Group’s	

revenue	 was	 RMB42,668	 million,	

approximately	 down	 7.02%	 from	

RMB45,889	 mi l l ion	 in	 2008.	

Du r i ng	 t he	 repo r t i ng	 pe r iod ,	

the	 Group’s	 weighted	 average	

sales	 area	 was	 approximately	

2 , 810 , 000 	 s q u a r e 	 m e t e r s ,	

c ompa r ed 	 t o 	 app r o x ima t e l y	

2,960,000	 square	 me te r s	 in	

2008,	 representing	 a	 decrease	

of	 approximately	 5.07%.	 Sales	

revenue	 per	 square	 meter	 was	

app r o x ima t e l y 	 RMB15 ,184 ,	

down	 2.06%	 as	 compared	 to	

RMB15,503	 in	 the	 corresponding	

period	 of	 2008.	 Comparing	 to	

the	 decrease	 of	 9.87%	 in	 sales	

revenue	 per	 square	 meter	 for	 the	

period	 from	 2007	 to	 2008,	 the	

decreasing	 trend	 was	 narrowed	

and	under	control	this	year.

A g g r e g a t e 	 s a l e s 	 o f 	 5 3 2	

comparable	 stores	 recorded	 a	

revenue	 of	 RMB34,816	 million	 in	

2009,	up	2.81%	from	RMB33,864	

mil l ion	 in	 2008.	 Revenue	 mix	

by	 region	 remained	 largely	 the	

same	 as	 last	 year.	 Sales	 revenue	

from	 four	 regions	 of	 Shanghai,	

Beijing,	 Guangzhou	 and	 Shenzhen	

amounted	 to	 RMB19,341	 million,	

accounting	 for	 45.33%	 of	 the	 total	

sales	revenue.

Sales	revenue	of	the	Group	by	region:

39%

14%11%10%
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6%
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38%

15%11%10%
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	 AV		 Air-conditioner		 Refrigerator	and		 Telecommunication		 Small	white		 IT		 Digital
	 	 	 washing	machine		 	 appliances

Proportion	of	revenue	from	each	product	category	over	total	revenue:

COSt OF SAlES AND 
gROSS PROFit
Cost	 of	 sales	 of	 the	 Group	 was	

a p p r o x i m a t e l y 	 RMB38 , 4 08	

million	 in	 the	 reporting	 period,	

r ep r e s en t i ng 	 a 	 dec r ea se 	 by	

7.18%	 as	 compared	 with	 that	

of	 RMB41,381	 mi l l ion	 in	 the	

corresponding	 period	 of	 2008.	

Total	gross	profit	recorded	in	2009	

was	 approximately	 RMB4,260	

million	 with	 gross	 profit	 margin	

of	 9.98%	 as	 compared	 to	 that	

o f 	 app rox ima te l y 	 RMB4,508	

million	 with	 gross	 profit	 margin	

of	 9.82%	 in	 last	 year.	 A	 rise	

in	 gross	 profit	 margin	 was	 the	

result	 of	 dif ferentiation	 strategy	

i m p l e m e n t a t i o n 	 i n 	 p r o d u c t	

managemen t 	 and	 t he	 	 good	

cooperation	with	the	suppliers.

30.16

13.82 13.33

18.51 18.26

13.60 13.21 13.19 11.71

5.70 5.20 5.86
8.13

29.32

2009 2008



Management Discussion and Analysis

34

	 AV		 Air-conditioner		 Refrigerator	and		 Telecommunication		 Small	white		 IT		 Digital
	 	 	 washing	machine		 	 appliances

Gross	profit	margin	of	the	Group	by	product	category:

OtHER iNCOME AND 
gAiN
During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	

Group	 recorded	 other	 income	

and	 gain	 of	 RMB3,132	 million,	

representing	 a	 slight	 decrease	 of	

4.10%	 over	 that	 of	 RMB3,266	

million	in	2008.	Other	income	and	

gain	 as	 a	 percentage	 of	 the	 sales	

revenue	represented	a	rise	of	0.22	

percentage	 points	 from	 7.12%	 in	

2008	to	7.34%	in	2009.

Other	income	and	gain	comprised	the	following:

2009 2008

As	a	percentage	of	revenue

Income	from	suppliers 5.21% 5.49%
Management	fees	from	the	Non-listed
	 GOME	Group 0.55% 0.54%
Management	fees	for	air-conditioner	
	 installation 0.23% 0.21%
Government	grants 0.22% 0.11%
Rental	income 0.30% 0.26%
Extended	warranty	income 0.24% 0.21%
Management	fees	from	Dazhong	
	 Appliances 0.06% 0.05%
Others 0.53% 0.25%

Total 7.34% 7.12%

10.59
9.54 9.48

10.48 10.43

7.73 7.55

13.37 13.24

5.92 5.80

7.71 7.53

10.65

2009 2008
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CONSOliDAtED gROSS 

PROFit MARgiN

Dur ing	 the	 repor t ing	 per iod,	

the	 Group’s	 consolidated	 gross	

profit	 margin	 reached	 17.32%,	

representing	 an	 increase	 of	 0.38	

percentage	 points	 as	 compared	

to 	 16.94%	 fo r 	 t he	 p rev iou s	

year.	 	 (Consolidated	 gross	 profit	

margin	 =	 (gross	 profit	 +	 other	

income	 and	 gain)/revenue).	 As	

mentioned	 in	 the	previous	 section,	

increase	 in	 gross	 profit	 margin	

and	 percentage	 of	 other	 income	

and	 gain	 to	 total	 revenue	 have	

contributed	to	the	Group’s	year-on-

year	 increase	 in	 its	 consolidated	

gross	profit	margin.

OPERAtiNg EXPENSES

During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	 Group’s	 total	 operating	 expenses	

(including	selling	and	distribution	costs,	administrative	expenses	and	other	

expenses)	were	RMB5,688	million,	representing	13.33%	of	the	total	sales	

revenue.	 It	 is	 slightly	 decreased	 by	 2.45%	 as	 compared	 to	 RMB5,831	

million	in	the	corresponding	period	of	2008.	

2009 2008

As	a	percentage	of	revenue

Selling	and	distribution	costs 10.20% 9.78%

Administrative	expenses 1.98% 1.80%

Other	expenses 1.15% 1.12%

Total 13.33% 12.70%

2009 2008

As	a	percentage	of	revenue

Rental 4.67% 4.36%

Salaries 2.38% 2.37%

Utility	charges 0.86% 0.90%

Advertising	expenses 0.71% 0.64%

Delivery	expenses 0.43% 0.51%

Others 1.15% 1.00%

Total 10.20% 9.78%

The	following	table	sets	out	a	summary	of	operating	expenses:

SElliNg AND DiStRiBUtiON COStS
During	 the	 reporting	period,	 the	Group’s	 total	 selling	and	distribution	 costs	

amounted	 to	RMB4,352	million,	a	slight	decrease	by	3.01%	as	compared	

to	RMB4,487	million	in	2008.

The	following	table	sets	out	a	summary	of	selling	and	distribution	costs:
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ADMiNiStRAtiVE 
EXPENSES
During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	
Group’s	 administrative	 expenses	
of	 RMB845	 million	 were	 slightly	
higher	than	that	of	RMB828	million	
in	 2008	 by	 2.05%.	 However,	 by	
excluding	 the	 amortisation	 cost	
of	 RMB70.53	 million	 related	 to	
employee	 share	 options	 granted	
during	 the	 year,	 the	 administrative	
expenses	 would	 be	 approximately	
RMB774.47	 million,	 representing	
1.82%	 of	 the	 revenue,	 a	 slight	
decrease	as	compared	to	last	year.	
It	 was	 maintained	 at	 a	 relatively	
low	 level	 due	 to	 stronger	 control	
over	administrative	expenses.

OtHER EXPENSES
Other	 expenses	 of	 the	 Group	
mainly	 comprised	 business	 tax,	
ba n k 	 c ha r g e s , 	 p r o v i s i o n 	 o f	
bad	 debts	 and	 fair	 value	 loss	
on	 transfer	 of	 owner	 occupied	
p r o p e r t i e s 	 t o 	 i n v e s t m e n t	
properties.	 Other	 expenses	 were	
approximately	 RMB490	 mil l ion	
du r i ng	 t he	 repo r t i ng	 pe r iod ,	
representing	 1.15%	 of	 the	 sales	
revenue,	which	was	 slightly	 higher	
than	 1.12%	 in	 2008.	 This	 was	
mainly	due	 to	 the	 increase	of	 	 fair	
value	 loss	 on	 transfer	 of	 owner	
occupied	 properties	 to	 investment	
proper ties	 during	 the	 repor ting	
period.

PROFit FROM 
OPERAtiNg ACtiVitiES
As	 a	 result	 of	 reducing	 number	
of	 s tores	 during	 the	 year,	 the	
revenue	 and	 gross	 profi t	 were	

decreased	 and	 one-off	 termination	
expenses	 were	 incurred,	 the	 profit	
f rom	 opera t ing	 ac t iv i t ies	 was	
then	 decreased	 from	 RMB1,944	
million	 last	 year	 by	 12.35%	 to	
RMB1,704	 million	 this	 year.	 After	
the	 implementation	 of	 precision	
m a n a g e m e n t 	 a n d 	 n e t w o r k	
rationalization	 at	 the	 beginning	
o f 	 t h e 	 yea r, 	 t h e 	 p ro f i t 	 f r om	
operating	 activities	 showed	 great	
improvement	on	a	quarterly	basis.

NEt FiNANCE lOSS
During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	
Group’s	 net	 f inance	 loss	 was	
RMB8	million,	as	 compared	 to	 the	
net	 finance	 income	 of	 RMB229	
million	in	2008.	A	decrease	of	net	
finance	 income	was	mainly	due	 to	
rise	 in	 the	 interest	 expenses	 from	
convertible	 bonds	 issued	 during	
the	year	and	 lower	deposit	 interest	
rates.

PROFit BEFORE tAX
During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	
Group’s	 prof i t	 before	 tax	 was	
approximately	 RMB1,833	 million,	
accoun t ing	 fo r	 approx imate ly	
4.30%	 o f	 the	 sa les	 revenue,	
representing	 a	 19.49%	 increase	
as	 compared	 wi th	 RMB1,534	
million	 in	 2008	 and	 representing	
an	 increase	 of	 0.96	 percentage	
points	 as	 compared	 to	 3.34%	 in	
its	percentage	to	sales	revenue.

iNCOME tAX EXPENSE
During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	
Group’s	 income	 tax	 expense	 for	
the	 year	 was	 RMB406	 million,	
representing	 a	 slight	 decrease	 as	
compared	 with	 RMB435	 million	
i n 	 2008 . 	 T h e 	 ma nag eme n t	
considers	 the	 tax	 rate	 applied	 to	
the	Group	 for	 the	 reporting	period	
is	reasonable.

PROFit FOR tHE YEAR 
AND EARNiNgS PER 
SHARE
Dur ing	 t he	 repo r t i ng	 pe r iod ,	
the	 Group	 recorded	 a	 profit	 for	
the	 year	 attributable	 to	 owners	
of	 the	 parent	 of	 approximately	
RMB1,409	 million,	 representing	
a	 drastic	 increase	 of	 34.45%	 as	
compared	 with	 RMB1,048	 million	
in	 2008.	Also,	 the	 basic	 earnings	
pe r	 share	 inc reased	 25.61%	
to	 RMB0.103	 as	 compared	 to	
RMB0.082	last	year.

CASH AND CASH 
EQUiVAlENtS
At	 the	end	of	 the	 reporting	period,	
t h e 	 G roup ’s 	 ca s h 	 and 	 ca s h	
equivalents	 were	 approximately	
RMB6,029	 million,	 representing	
an	 increase	of	nearly	 two	 times	as	
compared	 with	 RMB3,051	 million	
at	 the	 end	 of	 2008,	 which	 was	
mainly	 attributable	 to	 financing	
activities	 that	 raised	 RMB5,308	
million	in	2009.

iNVENtORY
At	 the	end	of	 the	 reporting	period,	
the	Group’s	 inventory	 amounted	 to	
approximately	 RMB6,532	 million,	
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representing	 a	 substantial	 increase	
as	 compared	 to	 RMB	 5,473	
million	 in	 2008.	 The	 inventory	
turnover	period	was	approximately	
57	 days	 in	 the	 reporting	 period,	
as	 compared	 with	 approximately	
48	days	in	2008.	This	was	mainly	
a t t r ibu tab le	 to	 t he	 i nc reased	
inventory	 level	at	 the	end	of	2009	
to	 prepare	 for	 the	 upcoming	New	
Year	 and	 the	 Lunar	 New	 Year	
holidays.	 However,	 semi-annual	
weighted	 inventory	 turnover	 days	
was	 stabilized	 at	 approximately	
48	 days	 for	 both	 year	 2008	 and	
2009.

PREPAYMENt, DEPOSitS 
AND OtHER RECEiVABlES
At	 the	end	of	 the	 reporting	period,	
prepayment	 and	 other	 receivables	
o f 	 t h e 	 G r o u p 	 amo u n t e d 	 t o	
approximately	 RMB1,702	 million,	
up	 22.98%	 from	 approximately	
RMB1,384	 million	 at	 the	 end	 of	
2008.	 This	 increase	 was	 mainly	
attributable	 to	 the	 participation	
in	 the	 “exchange	 old	 for	 new”	
program	 and	 increase	 in	 the	
receivables	from	the	program.

tRADE AND BillS 
PAYABlE
At	 the	end	of	 the	 reporting	period,	
trade	 and	 bills	 payable	 of	 the	
Group	 amounted	 to	 approximately	
RMB15,815	million,	up	22.43%	in	

line	with	 the	 increase	 in	 inventory,	
from	 approximately	 RMB12,918	
million	 at	 the	 end	 of	 2008.	 Trade	
and	 bills	 payable	 turnover	 days	
were	 137	 days,	 increased	 by	 20	
days	from	117	days	in	2008.

CAPitAl EXPENDitURE
During	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	
capital	expenditure	 incurred	by	 the	
Group	 amounted	 to	 approximately	
RMB332	 million,	 representing	 a	
significant	 decrease	 as	 compared	
with	 approximately	 RMB1,776	
mi l l i on	 i n	 2008.	 The	 Group	
reduced	 the	 	 acquisition	 of	 new	
properties	in	2009.

CASH FlOw
Dur ing	 t he	 repo r t i ng	 pe r iod ,	
at t r ibutable	 to	 the	 increase	 in	
inventory	 and	 pledged	 deposits	
the	 Group’s	 net	 cash	 outflow	 from	
operating	 activities	 amounted	 to	
approximately	RMB175	million.

As	 the	 Group	 reduced	 investment	
a c t i v i t i e s 	 f o r 	 t h e 	 c u r r e n t	
period,	 net	 cash	 outf low	 from	
investing	 activities	 amounted	 to	
approximately	 RMB294	 million,	
representing	a	significant	decrease	
as	 compared	 wi th	 ou t f low	 of	
RMB4,515	million	in	2008.

Net	 cash	 from	 financing	 activities	
amo u n t e d 	 t o 	 a pp r o x ima t e l y	

R M B 3 , 4 6 7 	 m i l l i o n , 	 a s	
compared	 to	 a	 net	 cash	 outflow	
f r om 	 f i n a n c i n g 	 a c t i v i t i e s 	 o f	
approximately	 RMB2,214	 million	
in	 2008.	 This	 was	 mainly	 due	 to	
inflow	of	RMB5,308	million	from	3	
financing	activities	during	the	year.

DEClARAtiON OF 
DiViDEND AND DiViDEND 
POliCY
The	 Board	 does	 not	 recommend	
the	 payment	 of	 final	 dividend	 so	
as	 to	 preserve	 for	 funding	 needs	
for	 future	 development.	 Currently,	
the	 Board	 ant ic ipate	 that	 the	
dividend	 payout	 rat io	 wi l l	 be	
maintained	 at	 not	 more	 than	 30%	
of	 the	 Group’s	 distributable	 profit	
of	 the	 relevant	 f inancial	 year.	
However	 the	actual	payout	ratio	in	
a	financial	year	will	be	determined	
at	 the	 Board’s	 fu l l	 d iscre t ion,	
after	 taking	 into	 account,	 among	
other	 considerat ions,	 bus iness	
environment	 and	 availabili ty	 of	
investment	opportunities.

CONtiNgENt liABilitiES 
AND CAPitAl 
COMMitMENt
There	 were	 no	 material	 contingent	
liabilities	 as	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	
reporting	 period.	 However,	 the	
Group	 had	 capital	 commitment	 of	
approximately	 RMB119	 million	 at	
the	end	of	the	reporting	period.
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FOREigN CURRENCiES 
AND tREASURY POliCY
All	 the	 Group’s	 income	 and	 a	
major i ty	 of	 i t s	 expenses	 were	
denominated	 in	 Renminbi.	 The	
Group	 has	 not	 hedged	 its	 foreign	
exchange	 exposu re 	 bu t 	 may	
consider	 doing	 so	 in	 future.	 The	
Group’s	 treasury	 policy	 is	 that	 it	
will	 only	 manage	 such	 exposure	
(if	 any)	 when	 it	 posts	 significant	
potential	 financial	 impact	 on	 the	
Group.

The	 management	 of	 the	 Group	
estimates	 that	 less	 than	 10%	 of	
the	 Group’s	 current	 purchases	

are	 imported	 products,	 which	 are	
sourced	 indirectly	 from	 distributors	
in	the	PRC	and	the	transactions	are	
denominated	in	Renminbi.

FiNANCiAl RESOURCES 
AND gEARiNg RAtiO
Dur ing	 t he	 repo r t i ng	 pe r iod ,	
the	 Group’s	 work ing	 capi ta l ,	
capital	 expenditure	 and	 cash	 for	
investments	were	 funded	 from	cash	
on	 hand,	 cash	 generated	 from	
operations,	bank	loans,	convertible	
bonds	and	issue	of	new	shares.

As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	
total	 borrowings	 of	 the	 Group,	

b e i n g 	 i n t e r e s t - b ea r i n g 	 ban k	
borrowings	and	convertible	bonds,	
amounting	 to	 about	 RMB5,705	
million.	 Of	 the	 total	 borrowings,	
44.35%	 wi l l	 be	 repayable	 in	
2010,	 55.65%	 will	 be	 repayable	
be yond 	 2010 . 	 T he 	 G roup ’s	
financing	 activities	 continue	 to	 be	
supported	by	its	bankers.

As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	
debt	 to	 total	 equity	 ratio,	 which	
e x p r e s s e d 	 a 	 p e r c e n t a g e 	 o f	
total	 borrowings	 amounting	 to	
RMB5,705	million	over	total	equity	
amounting	 to	 RMB11,802	million,	
increased	to	48.34%	from	42.99%	
as	 at	 31	 December	 2008.	 Such	
increase	 was	 mainly	 due	 to	 the	
issue	 of	 2	 convertible	 bonds	 in	
2009.

CHARgE ON gROUP 
ASSEtS
As	 a t	 the	 end	 o f	 2009,	 the	
Group’s	 bank	 acceptance	 credit,	
bills	 payable	 and	 PRC	 bank	 loans	
were	 secured	 by	 the	 Group’s	
t i m e 	 d epo s i t s 	 amoun t i n g 	 t o	
RMB6,190	 mill ion,	 the	 amount	
in	 Hong	 Kong	 dollar	 equivalent	
to	 RMB2,606	 million	 and	 certain	
inventories	 with	 the	 carrying	 value	
of	RMB500	million	and	the	pledge	
of	certain	buildings	and	self-owned	
properties	 of	 the	 Group	 with	 the	
car r y ing	 va lue	 o f	 RMB2,236	
million.	As	at	31	December	2009,	
the	 Group’s	 bil ls	 payable	 and	
PRC	 bank	 loans	 amount ing	 to	
RMB12,006	million.
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OUtlOOk AND 
PROSPECtS
The	 G roup	 w i l l 	 con t i n ue 	 i t s	
t ransformat ion	 s t rategy	 on	 the	
basis	 of	 progress	 made	 in	 2009,	
to	 adapt	 to	 the	 changing	 macro	
e c o n om i c 	 e n v i r o nm e n t 	 a n d	
capitalize	 on	 the	 rapid	 growth	
of	 the	 electrical	 home	 appliance	
retailing	 industry.	 With	 the	 goal	
of	 continuing	 to	 be	 a	 first-class		
electrical	 home	 appliance	 retailer	
in	China,	we	will	continue	to	focus	
on	 value	 creation	 for	 customers,	
and	 strengthen	 our	 ability	 to	 grow	
the	 business	 in	 many	 incremental	
ways.

CAPitAliziNg ON 
CHiNA’S StiMUlUS 
POliCiES
I n	 2009,	 Ch ina	 success i ve ly	
i n t r o d u c e d 	 f i s c a l 	 s t i m u l u s	
pol icies	 aiming	 at	 “increasing	
domestic	 demand	 and	 boosting	
consumpt ion”.	 E lect r ical	 home	
appliances	 was	 named	 as	 one	 of	
the	 key	 target	 industries	 to	 benefit	
f rom	 cer tain	 s t imulus	 pol ic ies.	
In	 2010,	 these	 policies	 are	 still	
in	 place	 and	 are	 expected	 to	
increase	in	depth	and	breadth.	For	
example,	 additional	 cities	 were	
enti t led	 to	 join	 the	 “exchange	
o l d 	 f o r 	 n ew” 	 p r og r am	 w i t h	
expanded	 lines	 of	 products,	 and	
most	 importantly,	 the	 exchange	
process	 was	 simpl i f ied.	 These	
f i sca l	 pol ic ies	 wi l l 	 e f fec t ive ly	
expedite	 the	 replacement	 cycle	 of	

home	appliances	across	all	market	
segments ,	 becoming	 cata lys t s	
driving	our	rapid	growth.

StRENgtHENiNg StORE 
OPERAtiNg EFFiCiENCY 
– “OPEN QUAlitY MEgA 
StORES”
The	 Group	 will	 continue	 to	 open	
quality	 “mega-stores”,	 particularly	
in	 impor tant	 regional	 centers.	
Selected	 existing	 stores	 will	 be	
conver ted	 into	 the	 “new-model	
stores”	 and	 some	 will	 be	 turned	
into	the	flagship	model	of	“Xin	Huo	
Guan”.

D e s i g n e d 	 w i t h 	 p r e v a i l i n g	
international	 examples	 in	 mind,	
both	 of	 the	 above	 models	 were	
p r o v e n 	 s u c c e s s f u l 	 when 	 we	
remodeled	 some	 of	 our	 stores	 in	
2009.	We	 now	 plan	 to	 gradually	
roll	out	 the	new	models	 throughout	
the	network.

iMPlEMENtiNg 
DiFFERENtiAtiON 
StRAtEgY
The	 Group	 has	 adhered	 to	 the	
sales	 and	 marketing	 strategy	 of	
produc t	 d i f fe ren t ia t ion,	 which	
requires	 speedy	 introduction	of	 the	
latest	 and	 most	 popular	 models	
and	 se r ies	 and	 a	 d ive r s i f ied	
assor tment	 o f	 produc ts	 which	
a t t rac t	 consumers	 by	 meet ing	
their	 evolving	 needs.	 As	 a	 result,	
we	 will	 achieve	 dominant	 market	
position	 and	 raise	 our	 gross	 profit	
margin.

The	 Group	 will	 continue	 to	 carry	
out	 the	 product	 di f ferent iat ion	
strategy	 through	 various	 paths,	
inc luding	 in tens ive	 promot ion,	
exclusive	 sale,	 custom-tailoring,	
OEM	 and	 ODM.	 We	 will	 carry	
more	 exc lu s i ve	 p roduc t s 	 and	
accessories	 that	 deliver	 higher	
gross	 profit	 margin.	 At	 the	 same	
time,	 value-added	 businesses	 such	
as	 extended	 warranty	 service	 and	
dif ferentiated	 ser vices	 such	 as	
remote	 device	 installation,	 will	 be	
well	 developed	 to	 improve	 our	
overall	profitability.

StRENgtHENiNg 3C 
BUSiNESS

3C	 p roduc t s 	 r e fe r 	 t o	 d ig i ta l	
p roduc t s 	 such	 as	 compu te r s ,	
came ra s 	 and	 commun i ca t i on	
equipment.	 They	 typically	 have	
enormous	 market	 demand	 and	
have	 shor t	 product	 l i fe	 cycles,	
and	 thus	 become	 one	 of	 the	 focal	
lines	 promoted	 by	 home	 electrical	
appliance	retailers.

3C	 products,	 as	 a	 key	 product	
categor y,	 wi l l	 also	 fol low	 the	
differentiation	strategy	so	as	to	ensure	
incremental	 increases	 in	 profitability.	
We	 will	 establish	 professional	 3C	
outlets	 to	 deepen	 the	 cooperation	
with	 3C	 product	 manufacturers	 and	
operators	 and	 consequently	 improve	
our	 product	 lines	 to	 attract	 more	
customers.	We	 will	 also	 improve	 the	
logistics	 operation	 of	 3C	 products	
by	 carrying	 out	 daily	 inventory	
replenishment	 to	 effectively	 enhance	
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the	 inventory	 turnover	 rate	 and	
lower	 the	 proportion	 of	 slow-moving	
products.	 This	 series	 of	 measures	
will	 help	 attract	 customers	 to	 spend	
more	 time	 touring	 our	 stores	 and	will	
improve	margins	and	profitability.

ENHANCiNg 3g 
BUSiNESS
I n 	 2009 , 	 t h e 	 t h r ee 	 t e l e com	
opera to r s	 in	 Ch ina	 launched	
their	 respective	 “third	 generation”	
(“3G”)	 products	 and	 ser vices.	
According	 to	 official	 statistics,	 the	
current	 number	 of	 3G	 users	 has	
already	 exceeded	 10	 million	 and	
is	 expected	 to	 reach	 60	 million	
by	 2010	 and	 over	 100	 million	
by	 2011.	 3G	 products	 will	 be	

the	 next	 hot	 spot	 in	 consumer	
spending.

On	 the	 back	 of	 3G	 campaigns	
driven	 by	 the	 government	 and	
opera to r s , 	 we	 deepened	 ou r	
cooperat ion	 wi th	 operators	 to	
become	 the	 major	 channel	 for	 the	
sale	 of	 3G	 products.	 We	 will	 set	
dedicated	 areas	 for	 the	 operators	
to	 promote	 their	 3G	 products	 and	
areas	 for	 customers	 to	 take	part	 in	
free-trials	and	experiments.

EXPANDiNg SECOND-
tiER MARkEtS
Given	 that	 the	 second-tier	 markets	
are	 maturing	 and	 that	 the	 nation’s	
“go	 rural”	 policy	 will	 continue	 for	

at	 least	 another	 five	 years,	 there	
is	 huge	potential	 in	 the	 second-tier	
markets.	To	 this	end,	 the	Company	
s e t 	 up 	 a 	 s econd - t i e r 	 ma r ke t	
business	 management	 center	 to	
oversee	 its	 retail	 network	 in	 the	
designated	markets.

T h e 	 G roup 	 w i l l 	 c o n t i n u e 	 t o	
enhance	 the	 e f fec t i veness 	 o f	
network	 coverage	 by	 increasing	
the	 number	 of	 stores	 in	 second-tier	
markets	and	by	optimizing	its	store	
network.	 Meanwhile,	 the	 Group	
will	 establish	 additional	 logistics	
centers	 in	 second-t ier	 markets,	
comp lemen t i ng	 t he	 ex t ended	
coverage,	 so	 as	 to	 ef fect ively	
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boost	 our	 market	 share	 in	 this	
segment	 and	 maintain	 advantages	
in	each	regional	market.

iMPROViNg 
RElAtiONSHiPS witH 
SUPPliERS
The	 in te res t s	 o f	 re ta i le r s	 and	
suppliers	 are	 positively	 correlated	
with	 the	 supply	 chain.	 In	 2009,	
we	made	a	series	of	adjustments	to	
optimize	 our	 network	 and	 improve	
individual	store	efficiency,	changes	
which	also	benefit	our	suppliers.	

As	 a	 leading	 home	 appliance	
re ta i le r 	 in	 Ch ina,	 the	 Group	
wi l l	 cont inue	 to	 advocate	 for	
change	 and	 innovat ion	 wi thin	
the	 sec tor.	 Being	 des i rous	 o f		
sustainable	 profitability	 for	 both	
retailers	 and	 suppliers,	 we	 will	
focus	 on	 improving	 the	 quality	 of	
individual	 stores	 and	 facilitating	
t h e 	 s u s t a i nab l e 	 and	 hea l t h y	
development	of	the	whole	industry.

ENHANCiNg tHE 
ECONOMiES OF SCAlE 
BY “CENtRAlizED 
PROCUREMENt”
The	 Group	 has	 gained	 significant	
bargaining	 power	 in	 purchasing	
due	 to	 the	 economies	 of	 scale	
a c h i e v e d 	 b y 	 a 	 c e n t r a l i z e d	
p rocu remen t 	 and	 d i s t r i bu t i on	
system.	The	Group	will	continue	 to	
leverage	its	extensive	retail	network	
to	 fur ther	 enhance	 central ized	

procurement	and	delivery.	We	will	
try	 to	accelerate	 inventory	 turnover	
and	 improve	 working	 capi ta l ,	
while	 at	 the	 same	 time	 reducing	
ope r a t i n g 	 a nd 	 managemen t	
expenses.

DEVElOPMENt OF 
E–COMMERCE
According	 to	 market	 forecasts,	
the	 value	 of	 online	 shopping	 will	
reach	 RMB1	 trillion	 by	 2014.	 In	
terms	 of	 3C	 products	 in	 the	 home	
electrical	 appliance	 industry,	 it	 is	
expected	 that	 online	 sales	 of	 3C	
goods	 will	 account	 for	 10-15%	 of	
the	 overall	 3C	 market	 in	 the	 next	
5	 years.	 Therefore,	 e-commerce	
poses	 significant	 growth	 potential	
and	 business	 opportunities	 for	 the		
electrical	home	appliance	industry.

To 	 s a t i s f y 	 c u s t ome r s ’ 	 n e ed s	
f o r 	 m u l t i - c h a n n e l 	 s h o p p i n g	
exper iences,	 we	 wi l l 	 p rov ide	
online	 virtual	 shopping	 option	 to	
complement	 our	 existing	 physical	
stores,	 maintaining	 our	 leading	
position	in	the	market	place.

ADOPtiNg NEw 
iNFORMAtiON SYStEM
Our	 s tore	 network	 across	 the	
coun t r y 	 i s 	 a 	 na t u r a l 	 s o u r c e	
o f	 marke t	 in te l l igence,	 which	
could	 be	 uti l ized	 ef fectively	 in	
operations,	 should	 a	 systematic	
app roach	 on	 co l l e c t i ng 	 and	
managing	data	be	put	in	place.

As	 such,	 the	 Group	 p lans	 to	
speed	 up	 the	 implementation	 of	 a	
new	 ERP	 system	 in	 2010,	 which	
will	 help	 improve	 the	 timeliness	
and	 accuracy	 of	 management	
information,	 enhance	 the	 overall	
management	 capability	 and	 lower	

operating	costs.



42

January 2010
•	GOME	 has	 signed	 a	 franchise	
l i cense	 agreemen t 	 wi th	 the	
2010	 Shanghai	 World	 Expo	 to	
become	 the	 authorized	 retailer	
of	 World	 Expo	 related	 home	
appliances.	 Both	 parties	 have	
set	 the	 sales	 target	 over	 RMB	
billion	dollars.

December 2009
•	China	 Foundation	 of	 Consumer	
Protect ion	 nominated	 GOME	
to	 be	 a	 “3.15	 Consumer	 Pay	
Credible	Company	for	protecting	
consumers’	 rights	 and	 interests”	
P r o t e c t i n g 	 T h e 	 R i g h t s 	 a nd	
Interests	 of	 The	Consumers	 (保護
消費者權益3.15信用單位)”.

•	T he 	 “2009	 Mos t 	 Va l uab l e	
Chinese	 Brands	 Eva lua t ion”	
sponsored	 by	 R	 &	 F	 Global	
Ranking	was	announced	in	New	
York,	 in	 which	 the	 brand	 value	
of	 GOME	 reached	 RMB55.3	
bill ion	 and	 became	 the	 most	
valuable	 brand	 in	 the	 PRC	 retail	

industry	 for	 three	 consecutive	
years.

•	GOME’s	 fund	 raising	 plan	 was	
awarded	 the	 “China	 Best	 Deal”	
in	 Country	 Awards	 2009	North	
Asia	by	The	Asset	Magazine.

November

•	Mr.	Chen	Xiao,	Chairman	of	 the	
Group,	 who	 named	 one	 of	 the	
“100	 Influential	 Persons	 of	 the	
World’s	 Chinese	 Entrepreneurs	
of	 2009	 (2009年全球華商影響
力100强)”	 selected	 by	 World	
Eminence	 Ch inese	 Bus iness	
Association.

•	GOME	was	 accredited	 with	 the	
title	 of	 “The	 Most	 Competitive	
Ser v ice	 Trademark	 of	 2009	
(2009最具競爭力服務商標)”	
in	 the	 Third	 China	 Trademark	
Fair	 (中 國 商 標 節)	 (2009)	
sponsored	by	Chinese	Trademark	
Association	 (中華商標協會)	 and	
Qingdao	Municipal	Government	
with	 the	 authorization	 of	 State	

Administration	 for	 Industry	 and	
Commerce.

•	GOME	 E-stores	 was	 awarded	
“Top	 50	 China	 Online	 Retail	
Mall	 Brand	 of	 2009	 (2009中
國網上零售商城品牌50强)”	 and	
“Top	 100	 Consumer	 Favorite	
Websi tes	 of	 2009	 (2009消
費 者 喜 愛 網 站TOP100)”	 in	
“the	 Fourth	 Annual	 Meeting	 for	
Online	 Retail	 Industry	 of	 China	
(中國第四届網上零售年會)”.

October

•	GOME	 ranked	 the	
f i r s t 	 i n 	 “ 1 0 	 B e s t	
B r a nd s 	 i n 	 t h e 	 60	
Years	 of	 New	 China	
(新中國60年十大品
牌 ) ”	 promoted	 and	
selected	by	Sina.

•	G O M E 	 w a s	
r e cogn i zed	 a s 	 an	
“Credit	 Management	
T e c h n i c a l	
S p e c i f i c a t i o n 	 f o r	
Commercial	Enterprise	
Experiment	 Unit”	 by	
Chinese	 Academy	 of	
In te rna t iona l	 Trade	
and	 Economic	 Cooperation	 of	
the	Ministry	of	Commerce.

Milestones
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September

•	GOME 	 w a s	
a w a r d e d	
“ N o . 	 1	
Chinese	 Retail	
E n t e r p r i s e ”	
i n 	 “ T o p	
5 0 0 	 R e t a i l	
Enterprises	 in	
A s i a - P a c i f i c	
R e g i o n 	 o f	
2009	 (2009
年亞太地區零
售500强).”

•	The	Company	 issued	 convertible	
bonds 	 due	 2014	 w i t h 	 3%	
coupon	 for	 a	 total	 consideration	
of	RMB2,357	million.

July 

•	The	 Company	 launched	 an	
open	 offer	 on	 the	 basis	 of	 18	
open	offer	 shares	 for	 every	100	
existing	 shares	 held	 and	 raised	
RMB1,361	million.

•	GOME	won	“National	Company	
of	 Special	 Dedication	 for	 After-
Sale	 Service	 (全國售後服務特
殊 貢 獻 單 位)”	 and	 “National	
Best	 10	 Companies	 of	 After-
Sale	 Services	 (全國售後服務十
佳單位)”	 in	 the	“Fourth	After-Sale	
Service	 Evaluation	Campaign	 of	
National	 Product	 (第四届全國商

品售後服務評價活動)”	sponsored	
by	 var ious	 par t ies	 including	
China	 Genera l	 Chamber	 of	
Commerce.

June 

•	GOME	 was	 accredi ted	 with	
the	 award	 of	 the	 “Best	 Mobile	
Channel	 of	 2009”	 (2009年度
最佳手機渠道商獎)	 by	 Southern	
Weekly	《南方周末》.

•	The	 Group	 en te red	 in to	 an	
investment	 agreement	 with	 Bain	
Capi ta l , 	 pu r suan t 	 to	 wh ich	
Bain	 Capital	 had	 subsequently	
in	 Augus t	 2009	 subscr ibed	
t o 	 c o n v e r t i b l e 	 b o nd s 	 d u e	
2016	 with	 5%	 coupon	 issued	
by	 the	 Company	 for	 a	 total	
cons idera t ion	 of	 RMB1,590	
million.

March

•	GOME	 ranked	 the	 first	 for	 the	
third	 consecutive	 year	 in	 “Top	
100	 Chinese	 Chain	 Stores	 of	
2008	 (2008年中國連鎖百强)”	
announced	 by	 China	 Chain	
Store	&	Franchise	Association.

February 

•	G O M E 	 c o m m e n c e d 	 t h e	
imp lemen ta t ion	 o f 	 s t ra teg ic	
t ransformation	 by	 opt imizing	
networks,	 improving	 efficiency	
and	 focusing	 on	 the	 profitability	
e nhancemen t 	 o f 	 i nd i v i d ua l	
store,	 and	 pioneered	 the	 new	
ope r a t i o n 	 mode l 	 o f 	 s u p e r	
flagship	 store	 named	 as	 “Xin	
Huo	 Guan	 (新 活 館)”	 in	 the	
industry.

•	GOME	 held	 its	 sixth	 Employee	
Annua l 	 Mee t i ng	 i n 	 Be i j i ng	
wi th	 the	 theme	 o f	 “Pass ing	
through	 2009	 with	 succession,	
transformation	and	confidence”.

January 

•	GOME	 was	 accredited	 as	 the	
“Best	 Enterpr ise	 of	 National	
Customer	 Satisfaction	 (全 國 顧
客最佳滿意企業)”	 and	 the	 “Best	
Brand	 of	 National	 Customer	
Satisfaction	 (全國顧客最佳滿
意 品 牌)”	 by	 China	 General	
Chamber	of	Commerce.





A	 corbel	 arch	 is	 at	 the	 center	 of	 much	 traditional	
Chinese	wooden	architecture.	 It	 integrates	 the	 roof	
with	 suppor t ing	 pi l lars,	 while	 disseminating	 the	
weight,	and	its	 tenon-mortise	joint	provides	integral	
s t reng th 	 in 	 res i s t ing	 ear thquakes. 	We	 be l ieve	
that	 sound	 corporate	 governance	 is	 to	 a	 lasting	
business	 what	 the	 corbel	 arch	 is	 to	 the	 building.	
At	GOME,	we	 look	 to	 best	 practices	 in	 corporate	
governance,	 and	 our	 experienced	 management	
team	 suppor ts	 the	 corporation	 against	

disruptive	external	forces.

A united management team and
sound corporate governance knit us 
together as a strong family
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The	brilliant	management	 team	of	GOME	has	

attracted	many	elites.

Directors and Senior 
Management Profile

EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS

Mr. CHEN Xiao,	 aged	 51,	 is	 the	 Chairman,	 the	 President	 and	 an	

executive	 Director	 of	 the	 Group.	 Mr.	 Chen	 has	 been	 the	 President	 of	 the	

Group	since	30	November	2006	and	an	executive	Director	since	22	May	

2007,	 and	was	 appointed	 as	 the	Chairman	 of	 the	Group	 on	 16	 January	

2009	 shortly	 after	 being	 appointed	 as	 the	Acting	Chairman	 of	 the	Group	

on	27	November	2008.	Mr.	Chen	 is	 a	 director	 of	 various	 subsidiaries	 of	

the	Company.	Mr.	 Chen	 has	 over	 20	 years	 of	 experience	 in	 the	 business	

management	and	electrical	appliances	 retail	 industry	 in	China.	As	early	as	

in	September	1996,	Mr.	Chen,	as	one	of	the	founders,	set	up	the	group	of	

Yongle	 (China)	 Electronics	 Retail	 Company	 Limited	 (永樂（中國）電器銷售

有限公司),	one	of	 the	 leading	electrical	appliances	 retailers	 in	China,	and	

previously	 listed	 as	 the	 group	 of	 China	 Paradise	 Electronics	 Retail	 Limited	

on	Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange.	 Before	 joining	 the	Group,	Mr.	Chen	was	

the	 president,	 the	 chairman	 and	 an	 executive	 director	 of	 China	 Paradise	

Electronics	 Retail	 Limited	 since	 October	 2005	 when	 it	 was	 listed	 on	 The	

Stock	 Exchange	of	Hong	Kong	 Limited	 (the	 “Hong	Kong	Stock	 Exchange”)	

until	it	became	a	non-listed	wholly	owned	subsidiary	group	of	the	Company	

upon	 its	delisting	 in	 January	2007.	Mr.	Chen	 is	 the	president	of	Shanghai	

Electrical	 Products	 and	 Appliances	 Industry	 Association	 and	 the	 vice	

president	of	China	Chain	Store	&	Franchise	Association.
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Mr. wANg Jun zhou,	aged	48,	has	been	the	Executive	Vice	President	

of	the	Group	since	November	2006	and	was	re-appointed	as	an	executive	

Director	 of	 the	 Company	 with	 effect	 from	 23	 December	 2008	 after	 his	

appointment	 as	 an	 executive	 Director	 with	 effect	 from	 1	 September	 2008	

was	discovered	by	the	Board	to	be	invalid	due	to	a	technical	defect.	He	is	

also	 a	 director	 of	 various	 subsidiaries	 of	 the	 Company.	Mr.	Wang	 assists	

the	 President	 of	 the	Group	 in	 the	 overall	management	 of	 daily	 operations,	

including	 the	 formulation	 of	 the	 Group’s	 medium	 and	 long-term	 strategic	

plans	 and	 annual	 budgets	 as	 well	 as	 standardisation	 of	 various	 systems,	

processes	 and	 authorisations	 for	 the	 Group.	 Mr.	 Wang	 also	 assists	 in	

providing	 guidance	 and	 supervision	 as	 to	 the	 daily	 operations	 in	 each	

major	 region	and	each	division	of	 the	Group	as	well	as	 the	appraisal	and	

review	for	business	management	teams	at	all	levels.	Mr.	Wang	has	over	10	

years	 of	 experience	 in	 the	 sale	 and	management	 of	 electrical	 appliances.	

Mr.	 Wang	 joined	 the	 Group	 in	 2001	 and	 previously	 held	 positions	 as	

general	manager	of	the	operations	centre,	general	manager	of	the	Southern	

China	Region	and	general	manager	of	the	strategic	and	cooperation	centre	

of	 the	Group.	Mr.	Wang	 is	a	director	of	Sanlian	Commercial	Co.,	 Ltd.,	a	

company	listed	on	the	Shanghai	Stock	Exchange.

Ms. wEi Qiu li,	 aged	 42,	 has	 been	 the	 Vice	 President	 of	 the	 Group	

since	November	 2006	 and	was	 re-appointed	 as	 an	 executive	 Director	 of	

the	Company	with	 effect	 from	 16	 January	 2009	 after	 her	 appointment	 as	

an	 executive	Director	with	 effect	 from	1	 September	 2008	was	 discovered	

by	the	Board	to	be	invalid	due	to	a	technical	defect.	She	is	also	a	director	

of	 various	 subsidiaries	 of	 the	 Company.	 Ms.	 Wei	 is	 mainly	 responsible	

for	 the	 medium-to-long	 term	 strategic	 planning,	 preparation	 of	 annual	

budget,	 standardisation	 of	 various	 policies,	 systems	 and	 authorisations,	

organisational	 planning	 and	 human	 resources	 training	 of	 the	 Group.	

Ms.	 Wei	 has	 over	 10	 years	 of	 experience	 in	 human	 resources	 and	

administrative	management.	Ms.	Wei	 joined	 the	Group	 in	2000	and	 had	

previously	 held	positions	as	director	of	 the	management	 centre,	director	of	

the	 pricing	 centre,	 director	 of	 the	 human	 resources	 centre	 and	 director	 of	

the	administration	centre	of	 the	Group.	Ms.	Wei	was	a	director	of	Beijing	

Centergate	Technologies	(Holding)	Co.	Ltd.	(北京中關村科技發展（控股）股

份有限公司),	a	company	 listed	on	 the	Shenzhen	Stock	Exchange,	between	

11	January	2007	and	15	January	2009.
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Mr. Ng kin wah,	 aged	 50,	 has	 been	 an	 executive	 Director	 of	 the	

Company	 since	 September	 2000.	 Mr.	 Ng	 also	 serves	 as	 a	 director	

of	 various	 subsidiaries	 of	 the	 Company.	 Mr.	 Ng	 has	 over	 20	 years	 of	

experience	 in	 securities	 investment	and	 is	well-versed	 in	corporate	 finance.	

Mr.	Ng	 is	a	 fellow	member	of	 the	Hong	Kong	 Institute	of	Directors	 Limited.	

With	effect	 from	13	July	2009,	Mr.	Ng	was	appointed	 to	be	a	director	of	

Shinning	Crown	Holdings	 Inc.	and	Shine	Group	Limited,	both	of	which	are	

wholly	 owned	 by	 Mr.	Wong	 Kwong	 Yu,	 a	 substantial	 shareholder	 of	 the	

Company.

Mr. SUN Yi Ding,	 aged	42,	 has	been	 the	Vice	 President	 of	 the	Group	

since	 November	 2006	 and	 an	 executive	 Director	 of	 the	 Company	 since	

June	2009.	Mr.	Sun	is	responsible	for	the	business	operations	of	the	Group,	

including	store	operations,	store	locations	and	furnishing,	logistics	and	after-

sale	 service.	He	 is	also	a	director	of	 various	 subsidiaries	of	 the	Company.	

He	 has	15	 years	 of	 sales	 experience.	Mr.	 Sun	 joined	 the	Group	 in	1999	

and	had	previously	held	positions	such	as	manager	of	 the	business	division	

of	 a	 Tianjin	 subsidiary,	 general	 manager	 of	 a	 Henan	 subsidiary,	 general	

manager	 of	 the	 telecommunication	 subsidiary,	 general	manager	 of	 a	 Jinan	

subsidiary,	 deputy	 general	manager	 of	 region	A,	 deputy	 general	manager	

of	 the	 sale	 and	 procurement	 centre,	 general	 manager	 of	 the	 operations	

centre,	 director	 of	 the	 chain	 development	 centre	 and	 general	 manager	 of	

the	Northern	China	region	of	the	Group.	Mr.	Sun	was	named	as	one	of	the	

“100	Influential	Persons	of	Mobile	Phone	 Industry	 in	China	 for	Year	2007”	

(2007年度中國手機界影響力100人),	 and	 was	 awarded	 the	 Silver	 Award	

for	 Outstanding	 Achievement	 by	 the	 Group	 and	 the	 “Best	 Sales	 Leader	

Award”	 by	 Sony	 Ericsson.	 Mr.	 Sun	 is	 a	 director	 of	 Sanlian	 Commercial	

Co.,	Ltd.,	a	company	listed	on	the	Shanghai	Stock	Exchange.
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NON-EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS

Mr. zHU Jia,	 aged	 47,	 has	 been	 a	 non-executive	 Director	 of	 the	

Company	 since	 August	 2009.	Mr.	 Zhu	 is	 a	 Juris	 Doctorate	 degree	 holder	

from	 Cornell	 Law	 School	 and	 is	 currently	 a	 managing	 director	 of	 Bain	

Capital	Asia,	 LLC.	Mr.	Zhu	has	 solid	and	extensive	experience	 in	a	broad	

range	of	cross	border	mergers	and	acquisitions	as	well	as	internal	financing	

transactions	 involving	 Chinese	 companies.	 Before	 joining	 Bain	 Capital	

Asia,	 LLC	 in	2006,	he	was	a	managing	director	of	 the	 investment	banking	

division	of	and	 the	chief	executive	officer	of	 the	China	business	of	Morgan	

Stanley	 Asia	 Limited.	 He	 is	 also	 a	 non-executive	 director	 of	 Sinomedia	

Holding	Limited,	a	company	listed	on	Hong	Kong	Stock	Exchange.

Mr. ian Andrew REYNOlDS,	 aged	 37,	 has	 been	 a	 non-executive	

Director	 of	 the	 Company	 since	 August	 2009.	 Mr.	 Reynolds	 is	 currently	

a	 managing	 director	 of	 Bain	 Capital	 Asia,	 LLC.	 During	 his	 14	 years	 in	

the	 private	 equity	 industry,	 Mr.	 Reynolds	 has	 worked	 with	 companies	

in	 a	 variety	 of	 industries	 in	 the	 United	 States,	 Europe	 and	 Asia.	 Prior	

to	 Bain	 Capital	 Asia,	 LLC,	 Mr.	 Reynolds	 was	 a	 consultant	 at	 Bain	 &	

Company,	 where	 he	 worked	 extensively	 in	 the	 technology	 and	 consumer	

products	 industries.	 Mr.	 Reynolds	 obtained	 a	 Master	 Degree	 in	 Business	

Administration	 from	 Harvard	 Business	 School	 where	 he	 was	 a	 Baker	

Scholar	 and	 graduated	 cum	 laude	 with	 a	 Bachelor	 Degree	 in	 Arts	 from	

Yale	College.

Ms. wANg li Hong,	 aged	 42,	 has	 been	 a	 non-executive	 Director	 of	

the	 Company	 since	 August	 2009.	 Ms.	 Wang	 is	 currently	 a	 principal	 of	

Bain	Capital	Asia,	 LLC.	Ms.	Wang	has	more	 than	18	years	of	experience	

in	 the	 banking	 and	 finance	 industry	 in	 the	United	 States	 and	Asia.	 Before	

joining	Bain	Capital	Asia,	 LLC	 in	 July	2006,	Ms.	Wang	was	an	executive	

director	 at	Morgan	 Stanley	 from	 April	 2005	 to	 July	 2006,	worked	 at	 J.P.	

Morgan	Securities	Asia	Pacific	Limited	from	October	2001	to	March	2005	

and	 Credit	 Suisse	 First	 Boston	 (U.S.)	 from	 September	 1999	 to	 September	

2001.	 Ms.	 Wang	 obtained	 a	 Master	 Degree	 in	 Business	 Administration	

from	Columbia	Business	School	and	was	a	graduate	from	Fudan	University.
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iNDEPENDENt NON-EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS

Mr. SzE tsai Ping,	 Michael,	 aged	 64,	 has	 been	 an	 independent	

non-executive	 Director	 of	 the	 Company	 since	 31	October	 2002.	Mr.	 Sze	

has	 over	 30	 years	 of	 experience	 in	 the	 financial	 and	 securities	 field.	 He	

graduated	 with	 a	Master	 of	 Laws	 (LLM)	 degree	 at	 the	 University	 of	 Hong	

Kong.	 He	 is	 currently	 a	 member	 of	 the	 Securities	 and	 Futures	 Appeals	

Tribunal	 in	 Hong	 Kong.	 Mr.	 Sze	 was	 a	 former	 Council	 Member,	 member	

of	 the	Main	 Board	 Listing	Committee,	member	 of	 the	Disciplinary	Appeals	

Committee	 of	 the	 Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange	 and	 member	 of	 the	 Cash	

Market	Consultative	Panel	of	Hong	Kong	Exchange	and	Clearing	Limited	in	

Hong	Kong.	Mr.	Sze	has	been	a	non-executive	director	of	Burwill	Holdings	

Limited	 since	 June	 2000	 and	 an	 independent	 non-executive	 director	 of	

Greentown	 China	 Holdings	 Limited	 since	 June	 2006,	 Harbour	 Centre	

Development	 Limited	 and	 Walker	 Group	 Holdings	 Limited	 since	 May	

2007,	all	of	which	are	 listed	on	 the	Hong	Kong	Stock	Exchange.	Mr.	Sze	

resigned,	on	23	January	2008	and	3	November	2009	respectively,	as	an	

independent	non-executive	director	of	T	S	Telecom	Technologies	Limited	and	

C	Y	Foundation	Group	Limited,	both	of	which	are	 listed	on	the	Hong	Kong	

Stock	Exchange.	He	 is	a	 fellow	of	 the	 Institute	of	Chartered	Accountants	 in	

England	and	Wales,	the	Hong	Kong	Institute	of	Certified	Public	Accountants	

and	 the	 Association	 of	Chartered	Certified	 Accountants	 and	 also	 a	 fellow	

of	the	Hong	Kong	Institute	of	Directors	Limited.

Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang,	 aged	 64,	 has	 been	 an	 independent	 non-

executive	 Director	 of	 the	 Company	 since	 20	 May	 2004.	 Mr.	 Chan	 has	

more	 than	 30	 years	 of	 experience	 in	 the	 banking	 and	 finance	 industry.	

Mr.	 Chan	 was	 the	 chairman	 of	 Century	 Legend	 (Holdings)	 Limited	 from	

September	 1999	 to	 July	 2002	 and	 a	 director	 of	 Hong	 Kong	 Building	 &	

Loan	 Agency	 Ltd.	 from	 1993	 to	 1995,	 both	 being	 companies	 listed	 on	

Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange.	Mr.	Chan	was	 a	 senior	 general	 manager	 of	

a	 local	 bank	and	an	 executive	director	 of	 a	 joint	Chinese	 foreign	bank	 in	

Shenzhen.	Mr.	 Chan	 is	 currently	 an	 independent	 non-executive	 director	 of	

Four	 Seas	 Mercantile	 Holdings	 Limited,	 a	 company	 listed	 on	 Hong	 Kong	

Stock	Exchange.
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Mr. thomas Joseph MANNiNg,	aged	54,	has	been	an	independent	

non-executive	Director	of	 the	Company	since	22	May	2007.	Mr.	Manning	

is	 the	 chief	 executive	 officer	 of	 Indachin	 Limited,	 a	 business	 design	 firm	

focused	 on	 custom-building	 information	 service	 companies	 in	 India	 and	

China.	He	is	also	the	founder	of	China	Board	Directors	Limited,	a	company	

comprising	 influential	 senior	 executives	 providing	 board	 leadership	 to	

companies	 in	 China.	 Earlier	 in	 his	 career,	 Mr.	 Manning	 held	 leadership	

positions	with	McKinsey	&	Company,	CSC	Index	and	Buddy	Systems,	 Inc.,	

a	 technology	 venture.	 He	 had	 previously	 served	 as	 a	 director	 of	 Bain	 &	

Company	and	 the	chief	executive	officer	of	Ernst	&	Young	Consulting	Asia,	

the	 chief	 executive	 officer	 of	 Capgemini	 Asia	 and	 the	 global	 managing	

director	of	Strategy	&	Technology	Consulting	Business	of	Cap	Gemini	Ernst	

&	 Young.	 Mr.	 Manning	 has	 worked	 with	 numerous	 retailers	 across	 the	

United	States	of	America,	Europe	and	 Japan	on	operational,	 strategic	and	

franchising	issues.	Mr.	Manning	is	an	independent	non-executive	director	of	

Bank	of	Communications	Co.,	 Ltd.,	a	company	 listed	on	Hong	Kong	Stock	

Exchange	and	an	independent	director	of	AsiaInfo,	Inc.,	a	company	based	

in	Beijing	and	listed	on	The	Nasdaq	Stock	Market,	Inc.	He	is	also	a	board	

member	of	several	private	companies	in	China	and	India.

Except	as	disclosed	above,	none	of	the	Directors	is	related	to	each	other	or	

to	any	substantial	shareholder	of	the	Company.
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SENiOR MANAgEMENt

Mr. FANg wei,	aged	38,	was	appointed	as	the	Acting	Chief	Financial	Officer	of	the	Group	with	effect	from	27	

November	2008	and	 is	a	member	of	 the	decision-making	committee	of	 the	Group.	Mr.	Fang	 is	 responsible	 for	 the	

overall	planning	and	 implementation	of	 the	Group’s	 internal	budget	as	well	as	 the	accounting	and	auditing	system.	

Mr.	 Fang	also	participates	 in	major	 decision	making	 in	 relation	 to	 the	 investment,	 financing	and	operations	 of	 the	

Group.	Mr.	Fang	is	a	graduate	of	 the	accounting	faculty	of	Central	University	of	Finance	and	Economics	 (中央財經

大學會計系)	 and	a	holder	of	a	Master	degree	 in	Management.	He	 is	qualified	as	a	 senior	accountant	and	 senior	

economist	 in	China.	Mr.	 Fang	has	extensive	and	 solid	experience	 in	 finance	management,	 internal	control,	budget	

control	and	capital	management	 in	China.	Since	1994,	Mr.	Fang	had	held	senior	management	positions	 in	China	

National	Electronics	Import	&	Export	Corporation	(中國電子進出口公司),	KPMG	Huanzhen	and	北京朝歌寬頻數碼科

技有限公司.	He	 joined	 the	Group	 in	 January	2005	and	had	previously	held	positions	as	assistant	director	and	 the	

director	 of	 the	 finance	 centre	 and	member	 of	 the	 execution	 committee	 of	 the	Group.	Mr.	 Fang	was	 named	as	 the	

“Talented	Youth	of	Retail	Sector	in	China	for	Year	2008”	(2008年度中國零售業青年英才)	by	China	Business	Herald	

(中國商報)	and	linkshop.com.cn	(聯商網)	jointly.

Mr. li Jun tao,	 aged	44,	 is	 the	Vice	 President	 of	 the	Group,	and	 is	mainly	 responsible	 for	 the	 home	electrical	

appliances	 business	 centre	 and	 the	 daily	 home	 electrical	 appliances	 centre	 of	 the	 Group.	 He	 is	 also	 a	 director	

of	 various	 subsidiaries	 of	 the	 Company.	 He	 is	 one	 of	 the	 important	 decision	 makers	 in	 relation	 to	 the	 business	

operations	and	development	strategies	of	the	Group.	Mr.	Li	has	over	20	years	of	experience	in	electrical	appliances	

retail	 business,	 chain	 store	 operations	 and	 management	 as	 well	 as	 market	 analysis.	 Mr.	 Li	 joined	 the	 Group	 in	

1988,	had	previously	 held	positions	as	a	member	of	 the	decision-making	committee,	general	manager	of	 the	 sale	

and	 procurement	 centre,	 director	 of	 the	 strategic	 cooperation	 centre	 and	 general	 manager	 of	 the	Northern	China	

Region	of	 the	Group	and	had	also	been	responsible	for	 the	home	electrical	appliances	for	rural	areas	centre	of	 the	

Group.	Mr.	Li	was	named	as	one	of	the	“Ten	High-Profile	Persons	of	Electrical	Appliances	Industry	in	China	for	Year	

2002”	 (2002年度中國家電十大風雲人物)	 by	 China	 Electronics	 News	 (中國電子報)	 and	 SINA	 (新浪網)	 jointly	 in	

February	2003	and	was	 granted	 the	Gold	Contribution	Award	 by	 the	Group	 in	 February	2005.	 In	 addition,	Mr.	

Li	has	been	granted	 the	“Special	Contribution	Award”	and	“Outstanding	Leader	Award”	on	numerous	occasions	by	

the	Group.
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Mr. HE Yang Qing,	aged	46,	 is	 the	Vice	President	of	 the	Group,	mainly	responsible	 for	 the	brand	management	

centre,	 the	 store	 re-modelling	 and	 refurnishing	 centre	 as	 well	 as	 the	 customer	 service	 centre	 of	 the	 Group.	 Mr.	

He	 joined	 the	 Group	 in	 2003	 and	 had	 previously	 held	 positions	 as	 member	 of	 Decision-making	 Committee	 and	

assistant	 director	 of	 the	 sales	 centre	 of	 the	 Group.	 Mr.	 He	 has	 25	 years	 of	 extensive	 and	 solid	 experience	 in	

the	 industries	 of	 retail	 sale	 and	 manufacture	 of	 home	 electrical	 appliances,	 and	 was	 awarded	 one	 of	 the	 “Top	

Ten	 Persons	 of	 Brand	 Building	 in	 China	 for	 Year	 2005”	 (2005年中國品牌建設十大人物)	 and	 one	 of	 the	 “Ten	

Outstanding	 Brand	 Managers	 in	 China	 for	 Year	 2007”	 (2007年中國十大傑出品牌經理人).	 Mr.	 He	 was	 also	 a	

torcher	for	the	Year	2004	and	Year	2008	Olympic	Games.

Mr. MU gui Xian,	aged	38,	is	the	Vice	President	of	the	Group.	He	is	responsible	for	the	Group’s	communication	

equipment,	IT	equipment	and	office	equipment	business.	He	has	over	10	years	of	experience	in	sales	and	marketing	

of	 retail	business.	He	 is	also	a	director	of	various	subsidiaries	of	 the	Company.	Mr.	Mu	 joined	 the	Group	 in	2001	

and	 had	 previously	 held	 positions	 as	 assistant	 director	 of	 the	 management	 centre,	 general	 manager	 of	 the	 store	

management	 centre,	general	manager	of	 Region	1	of	 the	Northern	China	Region,	general	manager	of	 the	Beijing	

Area,	general	manager	of	Northern	China	and	general	manager	of	the	telecommunication	subsidiary	of	the	Group.	

Mr.	Mu	was	 named	as	one	of	 the	 “100	 Influential	 Persons	of	 the	Mobile	 Phone	 Industry	 in	China	 for	 Year	2008”	

(2008年度中國手機界影響力100人).



54

Report of the Directors
The	 board	 of	 directors	 (the	 “Directors”)	 of	 the	 Company	 (the	 “Board”)	 have	 pleasure	 in	 submitting	 their	 report	

and	 the	 audited	 financial	 statements	 of	 GOME	 Electrical	 Appliances	 Holding	 Limited	 (the	 “Company“)	 and	 its	

subsidiaries	(collectively,	the	“Group”)	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2009.

PRiNCiPAl ACtiVitiES
The	 Group	 is	 principally	 engaged	 in	 the	 retailing	 of	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronic	 products	 in	

China.	 The	 Group’s	 revenue	 is	 mainly	 derived	 from	 business	 activities	 in	 Mainland	 China.	 An	 analysis	 of	 the	

Group’s	income	for	the	year	is	set	out	in	note	5	to	the	financial	statements	on	page	133.

FiNANCiAl StAtEMENtS
The	 results	 of	 the	 Group	 for	 the	 year	 are	 set	 out	 in	 the	 Consolidated	 Income	 Statement	 on	 page	 91	 and	

Consolidated	Statement	of	Comprehensive	Income	on	page	92.

The	 state	 of	 affairs	 of	 the	Group	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 is	 set	 out	 in	 the	Consolidated	 Statement	 of	 Financial	

Position	on	pages	93	and	94.

The	cash	 flows	of	 the	Group	 for	 the	year	are	set	out	 in	 the	Consolidated	Statement	of	Cash	Flows	on	pages	96	 to	

97.

SHARE CAPitAl
Details	of	the	movement	in	share	capital	of	the	Company	are	set	out	in	note	33	to	the	financial	statements	on	page	

184.

DiViDENDS
The	Board	does	not	recommend	the	payment	of	a	final	dividend	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2009.

RESERVES
The	amounts	and	particulars	of	material	 transfers	to	and	from	reserves	of	the	Company	and	of	the	Group	during	the	

year	are	 set	out	 in	note	35	 to	 the	 financial	 statements	on	pages	188	 to	190	and	 in	 the	consolidated	statement	of	

changes	in	equity.

As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	 Company’s	 reserve	 available	 for	 distribution	 amounted	 to	 negative	 RMB173.80	

million	(2008:	RMB53.20	million)	of	which	RMB	nil	has	been	proposed	as	a	final	dividend	for	the	year.

PROPERtY, PlANt AND EQUiPMENt
The	movements	 in	property,	plant	and	equipment	during	 the	year	are	 set	out	 in	note	12	 to	 the	 financial	 statements	

on	pages	147	and	149.
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MAJOR SUPPliERS
The	percentages	of	purchases	for	the	year	attributable	to	the	Group’s	major	suppliers	are	as	follows:

PURCHASES
–	the	largest	supplier 9.57%

–	five	largest	suppliers	combined 31.57%

None	of	the	Directors,	their	associates	or	any	shareholder	of	the	Company	(which	to	the	knowledge	of	the	Directors	

owns	more	than	5%	of	the	Company’s	issued	share	capital)	had	an	interest	in	the	major	suppliers	noted	above.

DONAtiONS
During	 the	 year,	 the	Group	has	made	charitable	and	other	donations	 in	Hong	Kong	and	China	 totaling	RMB2.32	

million.

DiRECtORS
The	Directors	who	held	office	during	the	year	and	up	to	the	date	of	this	report	were:

EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS
Mr.	CHEN	Xiao

Mr.	NG	Kin	Wah

Mr.	WANG	Jun	Zhou

Ms.	WEI	Qiu	Li (re-appointed	with	effect	from	16	January	2009)*

Mr.	SUN	Yi	Ding (appointed	with	effect	from	30	June	2009)

Mr.	WONG	Kwong	Yu (resigned	on	16	January	2009)

NON-EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS
Mr.	ZHU	Jia (appointed	with	effect	from	3	August	2009)

Mr.	Ian	Andrew	REYNOLDS (appointed	with	effect	from	3	August	2009)

Ms.	WANG	Li	Hong (appointed	with	effect	from	3	August	2009)

Mr.	SUN	Qiang	Chang (resigned	on	23	July	2009)

iNDEPENDENt NON-EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS
Mr.	SZE	Tsai	Ping,	Michael

Mr.	CHAN	Yuk	Sang

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	MANNING

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	GREAVES (resigned	on	30	July	2009)

Dr.	LIU	Peng	Hui (retired	on	30	June	2009)

Mr.	YU	Tung	Ho (resigned	on	30	July	2009)
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*	 Ms.	Wei	Qiu	 Li	was	 re-appointed	 as	 an	 executive	 Director	 on	 16	 January	 2009	 after	 her	 appointment	 as	 an	 executive	
Director	 with	 effect	 from	 1	 September	 2008	 was	 discovered	 by	 the	 Board	 to	 be	 invalid	 due	 to	 a	 technical	 defect.	 As	
disclosed	in	the	Company’s	announcement	dated	24	December	2008,	according	to	the	Bye-laws	of	the	Company,	all	acts	
bona	fide	done	by	any	meeting	of	the	Board	or	by	any	committee	or	any	person	acting	as	a	Director	before	the	discovery	
of	 the	 invalid	appointments	of	 the	Directors	would	be	valid.	Ms.	Wei	has	not	acted	 in	 the	capacity	as	Director	 since	 the	
discovery	by	the	Board	of	her	invalid	appointment	as	an	executive	Director.

DiRECtORS’ SERViCE CONtRACtS
None	of	 the	Directors	who	are	proposed	for	 re-election	at	 the	forthcoming	annual	general	meeting	of	 the	Company	

has	 a	 service	 contract	 with	 the	 Company	 which	 is	 not	 determinable	 by	 the	 Company	 within	 one	 year	 without	

payment	of	compensation	(other	than	statutory	compensation).

DiRECtORS’ iNtEREStS iN CONtRACtS
Apart	 from	 the	 transactions	which	are	disclosed	 in	notes	21,	27	and	38	 to	 the	 financial	 statements	on	page	159,	

page	170,	and	pages	193	 to	196	respectively	and	 in	 the	section	headed	“Connected	Transactions”	hereinbelow,	

there	 were	 no	 other	 contracts	 of	 significance	 in	 relation	 to	 the	 Group’s	 business,	 to	 which	 any	 member	 of	 the	

Group	was	a	party	and	 in	which	a	Director	of	 the	Company	had	a	material	 interest,	whether	directly	or	 indirectly,	

subsisting	at	the	end	of	the	year	or	at	any	time	during	the	year.

DiRECtORS’ iNtEREStS iN COMPEtiNg BUSiNESSES
With	 the	 resignation	 of	 Mr.	 Wong	 Kwong	 Yu	 as	 a	 Director	 of	 the	 Company	 on	 16	 January	 2009,	 as	 at	 31	

December	 2009,	 no	 Director	 is	 interested	 in	 any	 business	 (other	 than	 those	 businesses	 where	 the	 Directors	 were	

appointed	 as	 directors	 to	 represent	 the	 interests	 of	 the	 Company	 and/or	 any	 member	 of	 the	 Group)	 which	 are	

considered	to	compete	or	are	likely	to	compete,	whether	directly	or	indirectly,	with	the	businesses	of	the	Group.

During	the	year,	both	Mr.	Wong	Kwong	Yu	(“Mr.	Wong”)	and	Ms.	Du	Juan	(“Ms.	Du”),	who	resigned	as	Directors	of	

the	Company	on	16	 January	2009	and	23	December	2008,	 respectively,	 have	beneficial	 interest	 in	an	electrical	

appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronics	 products	 retail	 network	 under	 the	 brand	 name	 “GOME”	 and	 operated	 in	

different	cities	in	China	by	companies	in	which	Mr.	Wong	and	Ms.	Du	have	interest	(the	“Parent	Group”).

Mr.	Wong	and	the	Company	entered	into	the	Non-competition	Undertaking	on	29	July	2004	pursuant	to	which	Mr.	
Wong	undertook	 to	 the	Company	 that	he	would	not	and	would	procure	 that	 the	Parent	Group	would	not,	amongst	
other	 things,	engage	in	retail	sales	of	electrical	appliances	and/or	consumer	electronic	products	in	places	in	China	
where	 the	Company	had	established	any	 retail	outlet	 for	 the	sale	of	electrical	appliances	and	consumer	electronics	
products	 under	 the	 “GOME	 Electrical	 Appliances”	 trademark,	 provided	 that	Mr.	Wong	 remains	 as	 the	 controlling	
shareholder	of	 the	Company.	The	Company	undertook	to	Mr.	Wong	not	 to	directly	or	indirectly	engage	in	the	retail	
sales	of	electrical	appliances	or	consumer	electronic	products	in	any	of	the	locations	in	China	in	which	any	member	
of	 the	 Parent	 Group	 had	 established,	 or	 was	 as	 at	 3	 June	 2004	 in	 the	 course	 of	 establishing,	 any	 retail	 outlet	
for	 the	 sale	 of	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronic	 products	 under	 the	 “GOME	 Electrical	 Appliances”	
trademark.



Annual	Report	200957

GOME	Electrical	Appliances	Holding	Limited

DiRECtORS’ BENEFitS FROM RigHtS tO ACQUiRE SHARES OR DEBENtURES
At	 the	 annual	 general	 meeting	 of	 the	 Company	 held	 on	 15	 April	 2005,	 the	 Company	 adopted	 a	 share	 option	

scheme	 (the	 “Share	 Option	 Scheme”)	 pursuant	 to	 which	 the	 Board	 may	 grant	 share	 option	 to	 subscribe	 for	 the	

shares	of	 the	Company	 (the	 “Share(s)”)	 to	employees,	executives	and	officers	of	 the	Group	and	such	other	persons	

as	 referred	 to	 in	 the	 Share	 Option	 Scheme	 whom	 the	 Board	 considers	 will	 contribute	 or	 have	 contributed	 to	 the	

Group	 (the	 “Participants”)	 to	 provide	 them	with	 incentives	 and	 rewards	 for	 their	 contribution	 to	 the	Group	 (Note).	

During	 the	year	ended	31	December	2009,	share	options	 to	subscribe	 for	an	aggregate	of	383,000,000	Shares	

had	been	granted	pursuant	 to	 the	Share	Option	Scheme.	Save	for	 the	Share	Option	Scheme,	 the	Company	has	no	

other	share	option	scheme.

At	no	time	during	the	year	was	the	Company,	any	of	its	holding	companies	or	any	of	its	subsidiaries	a	party	to	any	

arrangements	 to	enable	 the	Directors	 to	acquire	benefits	by	means	of	acquisition	of	shares	 in,	or	debentures	of,	 the	

Company	or	any	other	body	corporate.	

Note:	 As	at	7	April	2010,	a	maximum	number	of	Shares	available	for	issue	under	the	Share	Option	Scheme	was	656,979,032	
Shares,	representing	approximately	4.36%	of	the	issued	share	capital	of	the	Company	as	at	7	April	2010.

The	number	of	Shares	 in	 respect	of	which	options	may	be	granted	pursuant	 to	 the	Share	Option	Scheme	 (the	“Option(s)”)	
shall	not	exceed	10%	of	the	Shares	in	issue	on	date	of	adoption	of	the	Share	Option	Scheme.	Unless	otherwise	approved	
by	 the	 shareholders	 of	 the	 Company	 in	 general	 meeting,	 the	 number	 of	 Shares	 in	 respect	 of	 which	 Options	 may	 be	
granted	 to	each	Participant	 in	any	12-month	period	shall	not	exceed	1%	 (except	 for	any	grant	 to	substantial	 shareholders	
as	 defined	 in	 the	 Rules	 Governing	 the	 Listing	 of	 Securities	 on	 the	 Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange	 (the	 “Listing	 Rules”),	 or	
an	 independent	 non-executive	 Director	 or	 any	 of	 their	 respective	 associates	 as	 defined	 in	 the	 Listing	 Rules,	 must	 not	 in	
aggregate	exceed	0.1%)	of	the	issued	share	capital	of	the	Company	from	time	to	time.

There	 is	 no	 requirement	as	 to	 the	minimum	period	during	which	 the	Option	 shall	be	held	before	 it	 can	be	exercised	and	
the	Option	granted	shall	be	exercised	during	the	period	as	may	be	determined	by	the	Board	provided	that	no	Option	may	
be	exercised	more	than	10	years	after	it	has	been	granted.

The	 exercise	 price	 of	 the	 Option	 shall	 not	 be	 less	 than	 the	 highest	 of	 (a)	 the	 closing	 price	 of	 the	 Shares	 as	 stated	 in	
the	 daily	 quotations	 sheet	 of	 the	Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange	 on	 the	 date	 of	 grant;	 (b)	 average	 of	 the	 closing	 prices	 of	
the	 Shares	 as	 stated	 in	 the	 Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange’s	 daily	 quotations	 sheet	 for	 the	 five	 business	 days	 immediately	
preceding	the	date	of	grant;	and	(c)	the	nominal	value	of	a	Share.

Consideration	of	HK$1.00	is	payable	on	the	grant	of	the	Option	by	each	grantee.

The	Share	Option	Scheme	shall	be	valid	and	effective	for	a	period	of	10	years	after	the	date	of	its	adoption	(i.e.	15	April	
2005).
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DiRECtORS’ iNtEREStS AND SHORt POSitiONS iN SHARES, UNDERlYiNg 
SHARES AND DEBENtURE
As	 at	 31	December	 2009,	 the	 interests	 and	 short	 positions	 of	 the	Directors	 and	 chief	 executives	 of	 the	Company	

in	 the	 shares,	 underlying	 shares	 and	 debentures	 of	 the	Company	 or	 any	 of	 its	 associated	 corporations	 (within	 the	

meaning	of	Part	XV	of	 the	Securities	and	Futures	Ordinance	 (the	 “SFO”))	as	 recorded	 in	 the	 register	 required	 to	be	

kept	under	Section	352	of	 the	SFO,	or	as	otherwise	notified	 to	 the	Company	and	 the	Hong	Kong	Stock	Exchange	

pursuant	 to	 the	Model	 Code	 for	 Securities	 Transactions	 by	 Directors	 of	 Listed	 Issuers	 (the	 “Model	 Code”)	were	 as	

follows:

lONg POSitiONS iN tHE SHARES, tHE UNDERlYiNg SHARES AND DEBENtURES OF 
tHE COMPANY

Name of Director

Personal

interest

interest

of spouse

Corporate

interest trustee total

Approximate %

shareholding

Chen	Xiao 22,000,000 – 198,682,228 – 220,682,228 1.47

(Note 1) (Note 2)

Wang	Jun	Zhou 20,000,000 – – – 20,000,000 0.13

(Note 1)

Wei	Qiu	Li 18,000,000 – – – 18,000,000 0.12

(Note 1)

Sun	Yi	Ding 13,000,000 – – – 13,000,000 0.09

(Note 1)

Ng	Kin	Wah 10,000,000 – – – 10,000,000 0.07

(Note 1)

Zhu	Jia 1,168,920 – – – 1,168,920 0.01

Notes:

1.	 The	 relevant	 interests	 represent	 the	 number	 of	 Shares	 issuable	 upon	 exercise	 of	 the	 Options	 granted	 to	 these	 Directors	
pursuant	 to	the	Share	Option	Scheme	as	was	particularly	described	in	the	section	headed	“Share	Option	Scheme”	below.	
These	Options	were	held	by	these	Directors	beneficially.

2.	 These	Shares	were	held	by	Retail	Management	Company	Limited,	a	company	which	is	controlled	by	Mr.	Chen	Xiao.
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SHORt POSitiONS iN tHE SHARES, tHE UNDERlYiNg SHARES AND DEBENtURES OF 
tHE COMPANY

Number of Shares held

Name of Director

Personal

interest

interest of

spouse

Corporate

interest trustee total

Approximate %

shareholding

Chen	Xiao – – 20,000,000 – 20,000,000 0.13

(Note)

Note:	 These	interests	were	held	by	Retail	Management	Company	Limited,	a	company	which	is	controlled	by	Mr.	Chen	Xiao.

Save	 as	 disclosed	 above,	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 none	 of	 the	 Directors,	 chief	 executives	 of	 the	 Company	 or	

their	 respective	associates	had	any	other	 interests	or	 short	positions	 in	 the	Shares,	underlying	Shares	or	debentures	

of	the	Company	or	any	of	its	associated	corporations	(within	the	meaning	of	Part	XV	of	the	SFO)	as	recorded	in	the	

register	 required	 to	be	kept	under	Section	352	of	 the	SFO	or	as	otherwise	notified	 to	 the	Company	and	 the	Hong	

Kong	Stock	Exchange	pursuant	to	the	Model	Code.
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SHARE OPtiON SCHEME
As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 Options	 to	 subscribe	 for	 an	 aggregate	 of	 383,000,000	 Shares	 of	 the	 Company	

granted	pursuant	to	the	Share	Option	Scheme	were	outstanding.	Details	of	which	were	as	follows:

Number of Options

Name of grantee Date of grant

Exercise 

price

per Share

As at 

1 January

2009

granted 

during

the year

Exercised 

during 

the year

lapsed

during

the year

As at 

31 December 

2009

HK$ (Note 1)

Directors

Chen	Xiao 7	July	2009 1.90 – 22,000,000 – – 22,000,000

Wang	Jun	Zhou 7	July	2009 1.90 – 20,000,000 – – 20,000,000

Wei	Qiu	Li 7	July	2009 1.90 – 18,000,000 – – 18,000,000

Sun	Yi	Ding 7	July	2009 1.90 – 13,000,000 – – 13,000,000

Ng	Kin	Wah 7	July	2009 1.90 – 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000

Senior	management

Fang	Wei 7	July	2009 1.90 – 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000

Li	Jun	Tao 7	July	2009 1.90 – 18,000,000 – – 18,000,000

He	Yang	Qing 7	July	2009 1.90 – 10,000,000 – – 10,000,000

Mu	Gui	Xian 7	July	2009 1.90 – 13,000,000 – – 13,000,000

Other	employees	

	 (Note 2)

7	July	2009 1.90 – 249,000,000 – (8,300,000)

(Note 5)

240,700,000

Total 383,000,000 – (8,300,000) 374,700,000

The	closing	price	of	the	Company’s	Shares	immediately	before	7	July	2009,	being	the	date	of	grant	of	the	Options,	

was	HK$1.76	per	Share.

Notes:

1.	 Each	Option	has	a	10-year	exercise	period	and	may	be	exercised	after	 the	expiry	of	 twelve	months	 from	 the	date	of	 the	
grant	of	options.

	 Each	grantee	may	exercise	up	 to	25%,	50%,	75%	and	100%	of	 the	Options	granted	commencing	 from	 the	 first,	 second,	
third	and	fourth	anniversaries,	respectively,	of	the	date	of	the	grant	of	the	Options.
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2.	 96	 employees	 have	 been	 granted	Options	 under	 the	 Share	Option	 Scheme	 to	 acquire	 an	 aggregate	 of	 249,000,000	
Shares	at	HK$1.90	per	Share.

3.	 The	 fair	 value	 of	 Options	 granted	 on	 7	 July	 2009	 under	 the	 Share	 Option	 Scheme,	 determined	 by	 using	 the	 Binomial	
Model	value	model,	was	approximately	RMB296.45	million.	The	significant	 inputs	 into	 the	model	were	 the	exercise	price	
of	 HK$1.90,	 expected	 volatility	 and	 historical	 volatility	 of	 63%,	 expected	 dividend	 yield	 rate	 of	 1.2%	 and	 annual	 risk-
free	interest	rate	is	2.565%.	The	expected	volatility	reflects	the	assumption	that	the	historical	volatility	is	indicative	of	future	
trends,	which	may	also	not	necessarily	be	the	actual	outcome.

4.	 The	 vesting	 period	 of	 these	Options	 is	 from	 the	 date	 of	 grant	 until	 the	 commencement	 of	 the	 exercise	 period	mentioned	
above.

5.	 8,300,000	Options	had	been	cancelled	during	the	year	ended	31	December	2009.

iNtEREStS AND SHORt POSitiONS OF SUBStANtiAl SHAREHOlDERS
So	 far	 as	 is	 known	 to	 any	Director	 or	 chief	 executive	 of	 the	Company,	 as	 at	 31	December	2009,	 other	 than	 the	

Directors	 or	 the	 chief	 executive	 of	 the	 Company	 as	 disclosed	 above,	 the	 following	 persons	 had	 interests	 or	 short	

positions	 in	 the	Shares	or	underlying	Shares	which	would	 fall	 to	be	disclosed	 to	 the	Company	under	 the	provisions	

of	Divisions	2	and	3	of	Part	XV	of	the	SFO	or	which	were	recorded	in	the	register	required	to	be	kept	under	Section	

336	of	the	SFO	or	were	otherwise	notified	to	the	Company	and	the	Hong	Kong	Stock	Exchange:

Name of Shareholder Nature

Number of 

ordinary 

Shares held

Approximate % 

of shareholding

Mr.	Wong	Kwong	Yu	(Note 1) Long	position 5,116,439,490 33.98

Shinning	Crown	Holdings	Inc.	(Note 2) Long	position 4,249,000,000 28.22

Bain	Capital	Investors,	LLC	(Note 3) Long	position 1,627,924,595 10.81

JPMorgan	Chase	&	Co	(Note 4) Long	position 1,467,219,454 9.75

Short	position 64,926,000 0.43

Lending	pool 1,006,318,745 6.68

Morgan	Stanley	(Note 5) Long	position 1,111,263,939 7.38

Short	position 253,923,653 1.69

Notes:

(1)	 Of	 these	 5,116,439,490	 Shares,	 4,249,000,000	 Shares	 were	 held	 by	 Shinning	 Crown	 Holdings	 Inc.	 and	
624,453,890	Shares	were	held	by	Shine	Group	 Limited	 (both	 companies	are	100%	beneficially	owned	by	Mr.	Wong),	
and	 237,321,600	 Shares	 were	 held	 by	 Smart	 Captain	 Holdings	 Limited	 and	 5,664,000	 Shares	 were	 held	 by	Wan	
Sheng	 Yuan	 Asset	 Management	 Company	 Limited	 (both	 companies	 are	 100%	 beneficially	 owned	 by	 Ms.	 Du	 Juan,	 the	
spouse	of	Mr.	Wong).

(2)	 Shinning	Crown	Holdings	Inc.	is	100%	beneficially	owned	by	Mr.	Wong.
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(3)	 These	Shares	represent	unlisted	derivatives	held	by	Bain	Capital	 Investors,	LLC	(which	will	be	physically	settled)	 through	its	
interests	in	controlled	corporations.

(4)	 JPMorgan	 Chase	 &	 Co.	 held	 long	 position	 in	 167,357,029	 Shares	 and	 short	 positions	 in	 64,926,000	 Shares	 in	 its	
capacity	 as	 beneficial	 owner,	 long	 position	 in	 293,543,680	 Shares	 in	 its	 capacity	 as	 investment	 manager,	 and	 long	
position	 in	1,006,318,745	Shares	 in	 the	 lending	pool	 in	 its	capacity	as	custodian	corporation/approved	 lending	agent.	
Of	these	Shares,	92,507,649	Shares	are	listed	derivatives	which	will	be	physically	settled.

(5)	 Morgan	Stanley	was	interested	in	these	Shares	through	its	interests	in	controlled	corporations.

SUBSiDiARiES
Details	 of	 the	 Company’s	 principal	 subsidiaries	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 are	 set	 out	 in	 note	 22	 to	 the	 financial	

statements	on	pages	160	to	166.

CONNECtED tRANSACtiONS
During	 the	 year,	 the	 Group	 entered	 into	 the	 following	 transactions	 and	 arrangements	 with	 connected	 persons	 (as	

defined	in	the	Listing	Rules)	of	the	Company:

(1)	 The	 Group	 sold	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronic	 products	 to	北京國美電器有限公司	 (Beijing	

GOME	 Electrical	 Appliance	 Co.,	 Ltd.)	 (“Beijing	 GOME”),	 a	 company	 beneficially	 owned	 by	 Mr.	 Wong	

Kwong	Yu	and	 thus,	 a	 connected	person	 of	 the	Company,	 from	 time	 to	 time	on	an	at-cost	 basis	 for	 a	 term	

of	 three	 financial	 years	 ended	 31	 December	 2007,	 subject	 to	 the	 annual	 caps	 of	 HK$400.00	 million	

(excluding	 value	 added	 tax),	 HK$500.00	 million	 (excluding	 value	 added	 tax)	 and	 HK$550.00	 million	

(excluding	 value	 added	 tax)	 for	 each	 of	 the	 three	 financial	 years	 ending	 31	December	 2007	 respectively,	

pursuant	 to	 a	 conditional	 supply	 agreement	 (the	 “Master	 Supply	 Agreement”)	 entered	 into	 between	國美電

器有限公司	 (GOME	Appliance	Company	 Limited)	 (“GOME	Appliance”),	 a	wholly	 owned	 subsidiary	 of	 the	

Company,	 and	 Beijing	GOME	on	17	March	2005.	On	21	December	2007,	 Beijing	GOME	entered	 into	

a	 supplemental	agreement	 to	 the	Master	Supply	Agreement	 (“Master	Supply	Supplemental	Agreement”)	with	

GOME	 Appliance,	 pursuant	 to	 which	 the	 Master	 Supply	 Agreement	 was	 supplemented	 by	 the	 following:	

(a)	 during	 the	 term	 of	 the	Master	 Supply	 Agreement	 (as	 supplemented	 by	 the	Master	 Supply	 Supplemental	

Agreement),	 GOME	 Appliance	 shall	 (i)	 supply	 the	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronics	 products	

to	 Beijing	 GOME	 at	 the	 request	 of	 Beijing	 GOME	 from	 time	 to	 time	 on	 an	 at-cost	 basis	 or	 (ii)	 procure	

its	 nominee	 (being	 a	 member	 of	 the	 Group)	 to	 supply	 the	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronics	

products	to	Beijing	GOME	from	time	to	time	on	an	at-cost	basis;	(b)	the	term	of	the	Master	Supply	Agreement	

(as	 supplemented	 by	 the	Master	 Supply	 Supplemental	 Agreement)	 is	 extended	 from	31	December	 2007	 to	

31	 December	 2010	 unless	 and	 until	 terminated	 by	GOME	 Appliance	 giving	 not	 less	 than	 60	 days’	 prior	

notice	to	Beijing	GOME;	(c)	Beijing	GOME	shall	provide	the	records	of	Beijing	GOME	or	its	subsidiaries	 to	

the	auditors	of	GOME	Appliance	or	its	nominee	for	inspection;	and	(d)	the	maximum	amounts	to	be	received	
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by	 GOME	 Appliance	 or	 any	 member	 of	 the	 Group	 from	 Beijing	 GOME	 for	 the	 electrical	 appliances	 and	

consumer	 electronics	 products	 sold	 under	 the	 Master	 Supply	 Agreement	 (as	 supplemented	 by	 the	 Master	

Supply	 Supplemental	Agreement)	 for	 the	 three	 financial	 years	 ending	31	December	2010	 shall	 not	 exceed	

RMB500.00	 million	 (excluding	 value	 added	 tax),	 RMB550.00	 million	 (excluding	 value	 added	 tax)	 and	

RMB600.00	 million	 (excluding	 value	 added	 tax)	 respectively.	 During	 the	 year,	 the	 total	 amount	 of	 sales	

made	under	the	aforesaid	agreement	was	approximately	RMB360.13	million.

(2)	 The	 Group	 purchased	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronic	 products	 from	 Beijing	 GOME	 from	

time	 to	 time	 on	 an	 at-cost	 basis	 for	 a	 term	 of	 three	 financial	 years	 ending	 31	December	 2007,	 subject	 to	

the	 annual	 caps	 of	 HK$400.00	million	 (excluding	 value	 added	 tax),	 HK$500.00	million	 (excluding	 value	

added	tax)	and	HK$550.00	million	(excluding	value	added	tax)	for	each	of	the	three	financial	years	ending	

31	 December	 2007	 respectively,	 pursuant	 to	 a	 conditional	 purchase	 agreement	 (the	 “Master	 Purchase	

Agreement”)	 entered	 into	 between	 GOME	 Appliance	 and	 Beijing	 GOME	 on	 17	 March	 2005.	 On	 21	

December	2007,	Beijing	GOME	entered	 into	a	 supplemental	agreement	 to	 the	Master	Purchase	Agreement	

(“Master	Purchase	Supplemental	Agreement”)	with	GOME	Appliance,	pursuant	 to	which	 the	Master	Purchase	

Agreement	 was	 supplemented	 by	 the	 following:	 (a)	 Beijing	 GOME	 shall	 supply	 the	 electrical	 appliances	

and	 consumer	 electronics	 products	 to	GOME	Appliance	 or	 its	 nominee	 (being	 a	member	 of	 the	Group)	 at	

the	 request	of	GOME	Appliance	or	 its	 nominee	 from	 time	 to	 time	on	an	at-cost	basis	during	 the	 term	of	 the	

Master	Purchase	Agreement	(as	supplemented	by	the	Master	Purchase	Supplemental	Agreement);	(b)	 the	term	

of	 the	 Master	 Purchase	 Agreement	 (as	 supplemented	 by	 the	 Master	 Purchase	 Supplemental	 Agreement)	 is	

extended	from	31	December	2007	to	31	December	2010	unless	and	until	 terminated	by	GOME	Appliance	

giving	not	 less	 than	60	days’	prior	notice	 to	Beijing	GOME;	 (c)	Beijing	GOME	shall	provide	 the	 records	of	

Beijing	GOME	or	 its	 subsidiaries	 to	 the	auditors	of	GOME	Appliance	or	 its	nominee	 for	 inspection;	and	 (d)	

the	maximum	amounts	to	be	received	by	Beijing	GOME	from	GOME	Appliance	or	any	member	of	the	Group	

for	 the	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronics	 products	 sold	 under	 the	Master	 Purchase	 Agreement	

(as	 supplemented	by	 the	Master	 Purchase	Supplemental	Agreement)	 for	 the	 three	 financial	 years	 ending	31	

December	 2010	 shall	 not	 exceed	 RMB500.00	 million	 (excluding	 value	 added	 tax),	 RMB550.00	 million	

(excluding	 value	 added	 tax)	 and	 RMB600.00	million	 (excluding	 value	 added	 tax),	 respectively.	 During	 the	

year,	 the	 total	 amount	 of	 purchases	 made	 under	 the	 aforesaid	 agreement	 was	 approximately	 RMB92.53	

million.

(3)	 The	 Group	 negotiated	 with	 various	 suppliers	 for	 both	 the	 Group	 and	 the	 Parent	 Group,	 being	 connected	

persons	 of	 the	Company,	 on	 a	 centralized	 basis	 to	 benefit	 from	 the	 volume	 purchases	 and	 to	 secure	more	

favourable	 terms	 from	 suppliers.	 The	 Group	 provided	 purchasing	 services	 to	 the	 Parent	 Group	 (other	 than	

GOME	 Home	 Appliances	 (H.K.)	 Limited	 (“Hong	 Kong	 GOME”),	 and	 charged	 the	 Parent	 Group	 a	 fee	

at	 the	 rate	 of	 0.9%	 of	 the	 revenue	 generated	 from	 the	 sales	 of	 the	 Parent	 Group	 (other	 than	 Hong	 Kong	

GOME)	which	was	 determined	with	 reference	 to	 the	 gross	 profit	margin	 of	 the	 Parent	Group	pursuant	 to	 a	

purchasing	service	agreement	 (the	 “2004	Purchasing	Service	Agreement”)	dated	29	 July	2004	entered	 into	
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between	天津國美物流有限公司	 (Tianjin	Gome	 Logistics	Company	 Limited)	 (“Tianjin	 Logistics”),	 a	 subsidiary	

of	 the	Company,	and	Beijing	GOME.	On	4	December	2006,	 Tianjin	 Logistics	 entered	 into	a	 supplemental	

agreement	 to	 the	 2004	 Purchasing	 Service	 Agreement	 with	 Beijing	GOME	 (the	 “2006	 Purchasing	 Service	

Agreement”),	pursuant	to	which	the	2004	Purchasing	Service	Agreement	was	supplemented	by	the	following:	

(i)	 Tianjin	 Logistics	 may	 nominate	 any	 member	 of	 the	 Group	 to	 provide	 the	 purchasing	 service	 and/or	

receive	the	fees	payable	under	the	2006	Purchasing	Service	Agreement;	(ii)	the	term	of	the	2006	Purchasing	

Service	Agreement	 is	 extended	 to	31	December	2009	unless	and	until	 being	 terminated	by	either	party	by	

giving	prior	written	notice	of	not	 less	 than	60	days	 to	 the	other;	and	(iii)	 the	maximum	fees	 to	be	receivable	

by	Tianjin	 Logistics	or	 its	 nominee	 from	Beijing	GOME	under	 the	2006	Purchasing	Service	Agreement	 shall	

not	exceed	RMB150	million	 (excluding	value	added	 tax)	 in	each	 financial	year.	The	purchasing	service	 fees	

charged	during	the	year	were	approximately	RMB138.33	million.

In	 addition,	 on	 22	 June	 2009,	 昆明恒達物流有限公司 (Kunming	 Hengda	 Logistics	 Company	 Limited)	

(“Kunming	Hengda”),	 another	 indirect	 wholly-owned	 subsidiary	 of	 the	Company,	 entered	 into	 a	 purchasing	

service	agreement	 (the	“2010	Purchasing	Service	Agreement”)	with	國美電器零售有限公司	 (Gome	Electrical	

Appliances	Retail	Co.	Ltd.)	 (“Gome	Retail”),	a	subsidiary	of	Beijing	GOME	and	thus,	a	connected	person	of	

the	Company,	pursuant	to	which	Kunming	Hengda	will	provide	and	will	procure	other	members	of	the	Group	

to	provide	purchasing	 services	 to	 the	Parent	Group	 for	a	period	of	 three	years	 from	1	 January	2010	 to	31	

December	2012.	The	 terms	of	 the	2010	Purchasing	Service	Agreement	are	 the	same	as	 those	 in	 the	2006	

Purchasing	 Service	 Agreement.	 The	 maximum	 fees	 to	 be	 receivable	 by	 Kunming	 Hengda	 or	 its	 nominee	

from	 the	 Parent	Group	 under	 the	 2010	 Purchasing	 Service	 Agreement	 shall	 not	 exceed	 RMB150.0	million	

(excluding	value	added	tax)	in	each	financial	year.

(4)	 The	 Parent	Group	 is	managed	 by	 the	 same	management	 team	of	 the	Group	 for	 systematic	 brand	 building,	

enhancing	 market	 information	 exchange	 and	 optimizing	 the	 use	 of	 resources	 in	 China	 and	 Hong	 Kong.	

The	Group	 will	 charge	 the	 Parent	 Group	 at	 the	 rate	 of	 0.75%	 of	 the	 total	 revenue	 of	 the	 Parent	 Group	 if	

the	 revenue	 is	 equal	 to	 or	 less	 than	 RMB5.0	billion	 or	 at	 the	 rate	 of	0.6%	 if	 the	 revenue	 exceeds	 RMB5.0	

billion,	 which	 is	 determined	 with	 reference	 to	 the	 expected	 expenses	 to	 be	 allocated	 to	 the	 Parent	 Group	

by	 the	 head	 office	 of	 the	 Company	 and	 the	 expected	 revenue	 to	 be	 generated	 from	 the	 Parent	 Group	

based	 on	 the	 anticipated	 business	 growth,	 pursuant	 to	 a	management	 agreement	 (the	 “2004	Management	

Agreement”)	 dated	 29	 July	 2004	 entered	 into	 between	 天津國美商業管理咨詢有限公司	 (Tianjin	 Gome	

Commercial	 Consultancy	 Company	 Limited)	 (“Tianjin	 Consultancy”),	 a	 subsidiary	 of	 the	 Company,	 and	

Beijing	GOME.	On	4	December	 2006,	 Tianjin	Consultancy	 entered	 into	 a	 supplemental	 agreement	 to	 the	

2004	 Management	 Agreement	 with	 Beijing	 GOME	 (the	 “2006	 Management	 Agreement”),	 pursuant	 to	

which	 the	 2004	Management	 Agreement	 was	 supplemented	 by	 the	 following:	 (i)	 Tianjin	 Consultancy	 may	

nominate	 any	 member	 of	 the	 Group	 to	 provide	 the	 management	 service	 and/or	 receive	 the	 fees	 payable	

under	 the	2006	Management	Agreement;	 (ii)	 the	 term	of	 the	2006	Management	Agreement	 is	 extended	 to	

31	December	 2009	 unless	 and	 until	 being	 terminated	 by	 either	 party	 by	 giving	 prior	written	 notice	 of	 not	
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less	 than	 60	 days	 to	 the	 other;	 and	 (iii)	 the	 maximum	 fees	 to	 be	 receivable	 by	 Tianjin	 Consultancy	 or	 its	

nominee	from	Beijing	GOME	under	the	2006	Management	Agreement	shall	not	exceed	RMB100.00	million	

(excluding	 value	 added	 tax)	 in	 each	 financial	 year.	 The	 management	 fees	 charged	 during	 the	 year	 were	

approximately	RMB95.21	million.

In	 addition,	 on	 22	 June	 2009,	濟南萬盛源經濟諮詢有限公司	 (Jinan	Wansheng	 Yuan	 Economic	 Consulting	

Company	 Limited)	 (“Jinan	Wansheng”),	 another	 indirect	 wholly-owned	 subsidiary	 of	 the	 Company,	 entered	

into	 a	management	 agreement	 (the	 “2010	Management	 Agreement”)	 with	Gome	 Retail,	 pursuant	 to	which	

Jinan	Wansheng	will	provide	and	will	procure	other	members	of	 the	Group	 to	provide	management	services	

to	 the	 Parent	 Group	 for	 a	 period	 of	 three	 years	 from	 1	 January	 2010	 to	 31	 December	 2012.	 The	 terms	

of	 the	 2010	 Management	 Agreement	 are	 the	 same	 as	 those	 in	 the	 2006	 Management	 Agreement.	 The	

maximum	 fees	 to	 be	 receivable	 by	 Jinan	Wansheng	 or	 its	 nominee	 from	 the	 Parent	Group	 under	 the	2010	

Management	Agreement	 shall	 not	 exceed	 RMB100.0	million	 (excluding	 value	 added	 tax)	 in	 each	 financial	

year.

(5)	 On	 28	 August	 2008,	 北京國美恒信商貿有限公司,	 a	 wholly-owned	 subsidiary	 of	 the	 Company	 (the	

“Purchaser”)	 entered	 into	 five	 conditional	 sale	 and	 purchase	 agreements	 with	Mr.	 Chen	 Xiao	 (“Mr.	 Chen”)	

(an	executive	Director	and	 thus,	a	connected	person	of	 the	Company),	Ms.	Shu	Wei,	Mr.	 Liu	Hui,	Mr.	Yuan	

Yashi	and	Shanghai	Hegui	Property	Management	Co.,	Ltd.	(上海和貴物業管理有限公司)	(“Shanghai	Hegui”),	

(collectively,	 the	 “Vendors”)	 pursuant	 to	 which	 the	 Purchaser	 agreed	 to	 acquire	 and	 the	 Vendors	 agreed	 to	

sell,	 in	aggregate,	10%	in	 the	 registered	share	capital	of	Yongle	 (China)	Electronics	Retail	Company	Limited	

(永樂（中國）電器銷售有限公司)	(“Yongle	(China)”)	for	a	total	sum	of	RMB811,080,800.	Mr.	Chen,	Ms.	Shu	

Wei,	Mr.	 Liu	Hui,	Mr.	Yuan	Yashi	and	Shanghai	Hegui	were	 interested,	 immediately	before	 this	 transaction,	

approximately	 7.25%,	 1.31%,	 0.98%,	 0.45%	 and	 0.01%	 respectively	 in	 registered	 capital	 of	 Yongle	

(China).

In	 addition,	 on	28	August	 2008,	 the	 Purchaser	 and	 the	 Vendors	 entered	 into	 certain	 control	 arrangements,	

pursuant	 to	 which	 (i)	 the	 Purchaser	 agreed	 to	 provide	 loans	 in	 the	 total	 amount	 of	 RMB653,423,000	 to	

the	Vendors	 (other	 than	Shanghai	Hegui)	 pursuant	 to	 the	 four	 loan	agreements	 dated	28	August	2008	and	

entered	 into	 between	 the	 Purchaser	 and	 each	 of	 the	 Vendors	 (other	 than	 Shanghai	 Hegui),	 which	 were	

secured	by	 the	equity	pledge	under	 the	 five	equity	pledge	agreements	dated	28	August	2008	and	entered	

into	 between	 the	 Vendors	 and	 the	 Purchaser	 and	 a	 personal	 guarantee	 from	 Mr.	 Chen;	 (ii)	 the	 Vendors	

agreed	 to	exercise	 the	 voting	 rights	attaching	 to	 their	10%	 interests	 in	Yongle	 (China)	as	 the	 Purchaser	may	

direct	 and	 account	 to	 the	 Purchaser	 all	 their	 entitlements	 to	 the	 dividends	 and	 other	 distributions	 declared	

by	 Yongle	 (China)	 pursuant	 to	 the	 terms	 of	 the	 five	 entrustment	 agreements	 dated	 28	 August	 2008	 and	

entered	 into	between	 the	 Purchaser	and	 the	Vendors;	and	 (iii)	 the	Vendors	also	granted	 to	 the	 Purchaser	an	

exclusive	option	 to	acquire	all	or	any	part	of	 the	10%	in	 the	 registered	share	capital	of	Yongle	 (China)	 from	

the	Vendors	 for	 RMB811,080,800	or	 a	proportional	 sum	of	 RMB811,080,800	pursuant	 to	 the	 five	 option	
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agreements	 dated	 28	 August	 2008	 and	 entered	 into	 between	 the	 Purchaser	 and	 the	 Vendors.	 As	 at	 31	

December	2009,	 the	 Purchaser	 had	exercised	 its	 option	 to	acquire	 from	 the	Vendors	10%	 in	 the	 registered	

share	 capital	 of	 Yongle	 (China)	 for	 a	 total	 consideration	 of	 RMB811,080,800	 and	 the	 acquisition	 had	

been	 completed.	 The	 loans	 in	 the	 total	 amount	 of	 RMB653,423,000	 to	 the	 Vendors	 (other	 than	 Shanghai	

Hegui)	under	the	four	loan	agreements	dated	28	August	2008	have	been	treated	as	investment	funds	on	the	

Purchaser’s	balance	sheet.	The	above	transactions	had	been	completed	as	at	31	December	2009.

All	 independent	 non-executive	 Directors	 have	 reviewed	 the	 above	 continuing	 connected	 transactions	 as	 set	 out	 in	

paragraphs	 (1)	 to	 (4)	 above	 (collectively,	 the	 “Continuing	Connected	 Transactions”)	 and	 confirmed	 that	 they	were	

entered	into:

1.	 in	the	ordinary	and	usual	course	of	business	of	the	Group;

2.	 either	 on	 normal	 commercial	 terms	 or	 on	 terms	 no	 less	 favourable	 to	 the	Group	 than	 those	 available	 to	 or	

from	independent	third	parties;	and

3.	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 relevant	 agreement(s)	 governing	 the	 above-mentioned	 continuing	 connected	

transactions	on	terms	that	are	fair	and	reasonable	and	in	the	interests	of	the	shareholders	of	the	Company	as	

a	whole.

Furthermore,	the	auditors	of	the	Company	have	confirmed	to	the	Board	that	the	Continuing	Connected	Transactions:

1.	 have	been	approved	by	the	Board;

2.	 have	not	exceed	the	respective	caps	stated	in	the	relevant	announcements;

3.	 have	been	entered	into	in	accordance	with	the	terms	of	the	relevant	agreements	governing	such	transactions;	

and

4.	 are	 in	 accordance	with	 the	 pricing	policies	 of	 the	Group	where	 such	 transactions	 involved	 the	 provision	 of	

goods	or	services	by	the	Group.
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EMPlOYEE AND REMUNERAtiON POliCY
As	 at	 31	December	 2009,	 the	Group	 employed	 a	 total	 of	 42,368	 employees.	 The	Group	 recruits	 and	 promotes	

individuals	 based	 on	 merit	 and	 their	 development	 potentials.	 Remuneration	 package	 offered	 to	 all	 employees	

including	Directors	is	determined	with	reference	to	their	performance	and	the	prevailing	salary	levels	in	the	market.

PENSiON SCHEME
Particulars	of	the	Group’s	pension	schemes	are	set	out	in	note	9	to	the	financial	statements	on	page	142.	

COMMitMENtS
Details	of	commitments	are	set	out	in	note	37	to	the	financial	statements	on	pages	191	and	192.

iNDEPENDENCE CONFiRMAtiON
The	Company	 has	 received	 from	each	of	 the	 independent	 non-executive	Directors	 a	 confirmation	 of	 independence	

pursuant	 to	Rule	3.13	of	 the	Listing	Rules.	The	Board	is	satisfied	with	 the	independence	of	each	of	 the	independent	

non-executive	Directors.

CORPORAtE gOVERNANCE
The	 Company	 is	 committed	 to	 maintaining	 a	 high	 standard	 of	 corporate	 governance	 and	 has	 complied	 with	 the	

Code	on	Corporate	Governance	Practices	as	set	out	 in	Appendix	14	to	 the	Listing	Rules.	Further	 information	on	 the	

Company’s	corporate	governance	practices	is	set	out	in	the	Corporate	Governance	Report	on	pages	73	to	88.

EXCHANgE RAtES EXPOSURE
Details	of	the	exchange	rates	exposure	are	set	out	in	note	42	to	the	financial	statements	on	pages	204	and	205.

PURCHASE, SAlE AND REDEMPtiON OF SHARES
During	 the	 year	 ended	 31	December	 2009,	 the	Company	 had	 repurchased	 the	Old	 2014	Convertible	 Bonds	 in	

the	 principal	 amounts	 of	 RMB1,326,300,000	 and	 RMB498,400,000	 by	 way	 of	 over-the-counter	 purchases	 on	

24	September	2009	and	19	November	2009	 respectively.	 The	 repurchased	bonds	had	been	cancelled	upon	 the	

repurchases	during	 the	year.	As	at	31	December	2009,	 the	principal	amount	of	 the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds	

outstanding	was	RMB2,775,300,000.

Save	as	disclosed	above,	neither	 the	Company	nor	any	of	 its	subsidiaries	purchased,	sold	or	 redeemed	any	of	 the	

Company’s	listed	securities	during	the	year	ended	31	December	2009.
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CONVERtiBlE SECURitiES, OPtiONS, wARRANtS OR SiMilAR RigHtS
Save	 for	 the	share	options	as	set	out	above	and	 the	outstanding	convertible	bonds	and	warrants	as	set	out	 in	note	

32	and	6	 to	 the	 financial	 statements,	 the	Company	had	no	outstanding	convertible	 securities,	options,	warrants	or	

other	similar	rights	as	at	31	December	2009.

DiSClOSURE PURSUANt tO RUlE 13.20 OF tHE liStiNg RUlES
The	 information	required	 for	disclosure	under	Rules	13.20	of	 the	Listing	Rules	 in	 relation	 to	 the	Company’s	advance	

to	an	entity	is	as	follows:

As	at	31	December	2009,	Tianjin	Consultancy	had	made	advances	in	the	aggregate	amount	of	RMB3.6	billion	(as	

at	 31	December	 2008:	 RMB3.6	 billion)	 (the	 “Advance”)	 to	北京戰聖投資有限公司	 (Beijing	 Zhansheng	 Investment	

Co.,	 Ltd.)	 (“Beijing	 Zhansheng”),	 a	 third	 party	 independent	 of	 each	 of	 the	 Company	 and	 its	 connected	 persons	

(within	 the	meaning	of	 the	 Listing	Rules),	 through	興業銀行股份有限公司北京分行	 (Beijing	Branch	of	 Industrial	Bank	

Co.,	 Ltd)	 (the	 “Lending	 Bank”)	 pursuant	 to	 the	 loan	 agreement	 entered	 into	 between	 Tianjin	 Consultancy,	 Beijing	

Zhansheng	 and	 the	 Lending	 Bank	 on	 14	 December	 2007.	 The	 Advance	 is	 to	 be	 used	 by	 Beijing	 Zhansheng	 for	

the	 sole	 purpose	 of	 acquisition	 of	 the	 entire	 registered	 capital	 of	北京市大中家用電器連鎖銷售有限公司	 (Beijing	

Dazhong	Home	Appliances	 Retail	Co.,	 Ltd.).	 The	Advance	 is	 a	 secured	 loan.	 The	 term	 of	 the	 Advance	 is	 initially	

from	 14	 December	 2007	 to	 13	 December	 2008	 and	 the	 interest	 rate	 was	 6.561%	 per	 annum.	 It	 has	 been	

renewed	and	extended	 to	12	December	2009	in	year	2008,	and	 the	 interest	 rate	was	5.103%	per	annum.	 It	has	

been	 further	 renewed	 for	 a	 period	 of	 two	 years	 from	 15	 December	 2009	 to	 14	 December	 2011	 in	 year	 2009	

and	 the	 interest	 rate	 is	 4.86%.	 As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	 Advance	 was	 RMB3.6	 billion	 and	 the	 Advance	

represented	approximately	10.07%	under	the	assets	ratio	as	defined	under	Rule	14.07(1)	of	the	Listing	Rules.

EVENtS AFtER tHE REPORtiNg PERiOD
Details	of	the	events	after	the	reporting	period	are	set	out	in	note	43	to	the	financial	statements	on	page	211.

FiVE YEARS FiNANCiAl SUMMARY
A	summary	of	the	results,	assets	and	liabilities	of	the	Group	for	the	past	five	years	is	set	out	on	page	3.

PRE-EMPtiVE RigHtS
There	 is	 no	 provision	 for	 pre-emptive	 rights	 under	 the	 Bye-laws	 of	 the	Company	 or	 the	 laws	 of	 Bermuda	 requiring	

the	 Company	 to	 offer	 new	 shares	 to	 the	 existing	 shareholders	 of	 the	 Company	 in	 proportion	 to	 their	 respective	

shareholders	if	new	shares	are	issued.
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SUFFiCiENCY OF PUBliC FlOAt
The	Company	has	maintained	a	sufficient	public	float	throughout	the	year.

AUDitORS
Ernst	 &	 Young	 retire	 and,	 being	 eligible,	 offer	 themselves	 for	 re-appointment.	 A	 resolution	 for	 the	 re-appointment	

of	 Ernst	&	Young	as	auditors	of	 the	Company	will	 be	proposed	at	 the	 forthcoming	Annual	General	Meeting	of	 the	

Company.

On	behalf	of	the	Board

Chen Xiao 

Chairman and President

Hong	Kong,	7	April	2010
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The	 Group’s	 businesses,	 financial	

condition,	 results	 of	 operations	

o r 	 g rowth	 p rospec t s 	 may	 be	

affected	 by	 risks	 and	 uncertainties	

p e r t a i n i n g 	 t o 	 t h e 	 G r o u p ’s	

businesses.	 The	 factors	 set	 out	

below	 are	 those	 that	 the	 Group	

believes	could	result	in	the	Group’s	

businesses,	 financial	 condition,	

results	 of	 operations	 or	 growth	

prospects	 differing	 materially	 from	

expected	or	historical	results.	These	

factors	are	by	no	means	exhaustive	

or	 comprehensive,	 and	 there	 may	

be	 other	 risks	 in	 addition	 to	 those	

shown	below	which	are	not	known	

to	 the	 Group	 or	 which	 may	 not	

be	 material	 now	 but	 could	 turn	

out	 to	 be	material	 in	 the	 future.	 In	

addition,	 this	 Annual	 Report	 does	

not	 constitute	 a	 recommendation	

or	 advice	 for	 you	 to	 invest	 in	

the	 shares	 of	 the	 Company	 and	

investors	are	advised	 to	make	 their	

own	 judgment	or	consult	 their	own	

investment	 advisors	 before	 making	

any	 investment	 in	 the	 shares	of	 the	

Company.

RiSkS ASSOCiAtED 
witH tHE gROUP’S 
BUSiNESS
CREDit tERMS
The	 Group	 relies	 on	 the	 credit	

terms	 contained	 in	 the	 supply	

agreements	 with	 its	 suppliers	 and	

the	 credit	 terms	 of	 its	 banking	

facilities.	 Pursuant	 to	 these	 supply	

agreements,	 most	 of	 the	 suppliers,	

according	 to	 the	 contracts,	 have	

granted	 favourable	 credit	 terms	 in	

exchange	 for,	 among	 other	 things,	

receiving	 acceptance	 drafts	 from	

the	 Group’s	 banks	 for	 settlement	

o f 	 t he 	 i n vo i ce s . 	 The	 i s s u i ng	

banks	 currently	 require	 an	 upfront	

pledge	 over	 the	 Group’s	 accounts	

with	 such	 banks	 and	 with	 the	

remainder	 to	 be	 settled	 upon	 the	

expiry	 of	 such	 bank	 acceptance	

drafts.	 The	 Group	 relies	 heavily	

on	 these	 favourable	 credit	 terms	

granted	 by	 the	 suppl iers	 and	

issuing	 banks	 in	 order	 to	 conserve	

its	 working	 capital.	 In	 the	 event	

that	 the	 suppliers	 or	 issuing	 banks	

are	 unable	 or	 unwilling	 to	 offer	

these	 favourable	 credit	 terms	 to	

the	 Group,	 the	 operations	 and	

profitability	 of	 the	 Group	 may	 be	

adversely	affected.

tERMS OF tHE SUPPlY 
AgREEMENtS
One	 of	 the	 competitive	 strengths	

of	 the	 Group	 is	 its	 ability	 to	 offer	

products	 at	 competit ive	 prices.	

Pursuant	 to	 most	 of	 the	 supply	

agreements	 between	 the	 Group	

and	 its	 suppliers,	 these	 suppliers	

have	 undertaken	 to	 guarantee	 the	

gross	 profit	 margin	 of	 the	 Group	

with	 respect	 to	 specific	 products	

supplied	and	 sold	and	 to	offer	 the	

lowest	product	prices	 to	 the	Group	

within	 specific	 locations	where	 the	

Group	operates.	However,	 there	 is	

no	 guarantee	 that	 the	 Group	 will	

be	able	 to	secure	 these	 favourable	

terms	 with	 its	 suppliers	 after	 the	

expi r y	 o f	 the	 ex i s t ing	 supp ly	

agreements.	 In	 the	 event	 that	 the	

Group	 is	 unable	 to	 maintain	 its	

leading	 posi t ion	 and	 scale	 of	

operations	 in	 the	PRC	 retail	market	

o f 	 e lec t r i ca l 	 app l iances	 and	

consumer	 electronics	 products,	 the	

suppliers	 may	 not	 offer	 the	 same	

terms	 to	 the	Group	after	 the	expiry	

of	 the	 existing	 supply	 agreements.	

I n 	 s u c h 	 e v en t , 	 t h e 	 b u s i n e s s	

performance	and	profitability	of	the	

Group	may	be	adversely	affected.
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RECENt FiNANCiAl 
CRiSiS
Since	 the	 second	 half	 of	 2007,	
global	 credit	 and	 capital	 markets,	
particularly	 in	 the	 United	 States	
and	 Europe,	 have	 experienced	
d i f f i c u l t 	 c o n d i t i o n s . 	 T h e s e	
chal lenging	 market	 condi t ions	
have	 resulted	 in	 reduced	 liquidity,	
greater	 volat i l i ty,	 widening	 of	
credit	 spreads	 and	 reduction	 in	
available	 financing.	 The	 credit	
c r u n c h 	 m a y 	 a g g r a v a t e 	 t h e	
Group’s	 interest	 expenses	 on	 bank	
borrowings	 or	 banks	 may	 reduce	
the	 amount	 of	 or	 discontinue	 their	
banking	 facilities	 available	 to	 the	
Group.	 Given	 the	 changes	 in	 the	
overal l	 credit	 environment	 and	
economy,	 it	 is	 difficult	 to	 predict	
how	 long	 these	 conditions	 will	
exist	 and	 the	 extent	 to	 which	 we	
may	 be	 af fected.	 As	 a	 resul t,	
prolonged	disruptions	to	the	global	
credit	 and	capital	markets	and	 the	
global	 economy	 may	 materially	
and	 adversely	 affect	 our	 liquidity,	
resul ts	 of	 operations,	 f inancial	
condit ion,	 prospect	 and	 future	
expansion	plan.

REliANCE ON kEY 
MANAgEMENt 
PERSONNEl
The	 success	 o f	 the	 Group	 in	
expanding	 its	growth	 in	operations	
and	 maintaining	 growth	 in	 i ts	

profitability	 relies	 on	 the	 strategy	
and	 vision	of	 its	 key	management,	
ef for ts	 of	 key	 members	 of	 the	
management	 and	 their	 experience	
in	 the	 PRC	 electrical	 appliance	
and	 consumer	 electronics	 products	
retail	 market.	 The	 unanticipated	
resignation	 or	 departure	 of	 any	 of	
these	key	management	members	of	
the	 Group	 could	 have	 a	 material	
adverse	 impact	 on	 the	 operations	
o f 	 t h e 	 G r o u p . 	 T h e r e 	 i s 	 n o	
assurance	 that	 the	 Group	 will	 be	
able	 to	 manage	 its	 expansion	 by	
retaining	 its	 existing	 management	
team	 and	 by	 attracting	 additional	
qualified	employees.

lOCAtiON OF OUtlEtS 
AND lEASE RENEwAl
One	 of	 the	 key	 factors	 in	 the	
success	 of	 the	 Group	 is	 its	 ability	
to	 establish	 its	 retail	 outlets	 at	
suitable	 and	 convenient	 locations	
where	 there	 is	 high	 pedestrian	
f l ow	 and	 good	 acce s s ib i l i t y	
(whether	 by	 public	 transportation	
or	 otherwise).	 During	 the	 year	
ended	 31	 December	 2009,	 most	
of	 the	 retail	 outlets	 leased	 by	 the	
Group	 are	 with	 a	 term	 of	 5	 to	
10	 years.	 Given	 the	 scarcity	 of	
retail	 premises	 at	 these	 suitable	
and	 convenient	 locations,	 there	
is	 no	 assurance	 that	 the	 Group	
wi l l	 be	 able	 to	 f ind	 premises	
suitable	 for	 its	 retail	 operations	

or	 to	 lease	 them	 on	 commercially	
acceptable	 terms.	 In	 the	event	 that	
there	 is	 any	 material	 difficulty	 in	
finding	 retail	 premises	 at	 suitable	
locations	 or	 securing	 the	 leasing	
of	 such	 premises	 on	 commercially	
acceptable	 terms,	 the	 Group’s	
expansion	 plans	 and	 business	
performance	 may	 be	 adversely	
affected.

RiSkS ASSOCiAtED 
witH tHE iNDUStRY
tHE OUtBREAk OF ANY 
SEVERE COMMUNiCABlE 
DiSEASE iN tHE PRC
The	 Directors	 recognise	 that	 the	

outbreak	 of	 SARS	 in	 the	 PRC	 in	

2003	 had	 an	 adverse	 impact	 on	

the	PRC’s	 retail	 industry.	 There	can	

be	 no	 assurance	 that	 there	 will	

not	 be	 any	 outbreak	 of	 SARS	 or	

similar	 infectious	 diseases	 in	 the	

future.	 The	 outbreak	 of	 any	 severe	

communicab le	 d i sease	 in	 the	

PRC,	 if	 uncontrolled,	 could	 have	

an	 adverse	 effect	 on	 the	 overall	

business	sentiment	and	environment	

in	the	PRC,	which	in	turn	may	have	

an	 adverse	 impact	 on	 domestic	

consumption	and	 the	 retail	market.	

As	we	are	primarily	involved	in	the	

retailing	 business	 in	 the	 PRC,	 any	

contraction	 or	 slowdown	 in	 the	
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growth	 of	 domestic	 consumption	

or	 slowdown	 in	 the	 growth	 of	

GDP	 of	 the	 PRC	 may	 materially	

and	 adversely	 affect	 our	 financial	

condition,	 results	 of	 operations	

and	 future	 growth.	 In	 addition,	

if	 our	 employees	 are	 affected	 by	

a	 severe	 communicable	 disease,	

we	 may	 be	 required	 to	 institute	

measures	 to	 prevent	 the	 spread	 of	

the	 disease,	 which	 may	 materially	

and	adversely	affect	or	disrupt	our	

operations,	 resulting	 in	an	adverse	

effect	 on	 our	 results	 of	 operations.	

T h e 	 s p r e a d 	 o f 	 a n y 	 s e v e r e	

communicable	 disease	 in	 the	 PRC	

may	 also	 affect	 the	 operations	 of	

our	customers	and	suppliers,	which	

again,	 may	 have	 a	 potentially	

adverse	 ef fect	 on	 our	 financial	

condition	and	results	of	operations.

NAtURAl DiSAStERS
To	 t he 	 unde r s t and i ng	 o f 	 t he	

Directors,	 the	 outbreak	 of	 natural	

d i s a s t e r s 	 s u c h 	 a s 	 S i c h u a n	

Earthquake	 and	 floods	 in	 South	

China	in	2008	had	adverse	effects	

on	 the	 retailing	 industry	 in	 China.	

As	the	retailing	stores	of	the	Group	

are	 scattered	 in	 provinces	 across	

the	 coun t r y,	 the	 managemen t	

cannot	 assure	 that	 the	 operating	

results	of	 the	Company	will	 not	be	

significantly	 affected	 in	 the	 event	

of	 the	 outbreak	 of	 similar	 natural	

disasters	 in	 the	 future.	 Should	 any	

natural	 disaster	 occurs,	 cer tain	

businesses	 of	 the	 Group	 may	 be	

disrupted	 and	 accordingly	 the	

financial	 position	 and	 profitability	

of	 the	 Group	 will	 be	 adversely	

affected.

RiSkS ASSOCiAtED 
witH tHE PRC
CHANgES iN 
FOREigN EXCHANgE 
REgUlAtiONS AND 
FlUCtUAtiON OF RMB
All	of	the	operating	revenues	of	the	

Group	 are	 denominated	 in	 RMB.	

In	order	to	fund	its	foreign	currency	

needs,	 including	 its	 payment	 of	

dividends	 to	 shareholders	 of	 the	

Company,	a	portion	of	the	Group’s	

RMB-denominated	revenue	must	be	

converted	 into	Hong	Kong	dollars.	

Pursuant	 to	 current	 PRC	 laws	 and	

regulations	 on	 foreign	 exchange,	

foreign	 currencies	 required	 for	 the	

distribution	 of	 profits	 and	 payment	

of	 dividends	 must	 be	 purchased	

from	 designated	 foreign	 exchange	

banks	 upon	 presentation	 of	 tax	

clearance	 certificates	 issued	 by	

the	 relevant	 government	 authorities	

in	 respect	 of	 such	 dividends	 and	

board	 reso lu t ions	 au tho r i s i ng	

t he	 d i s t r i bu t i on	 o f 	 p ro f i t s 	 o r	

dividends	 of	 the	 Group.	 The	 PRC	

government	 has	 abolished	 most	 of	

the	 restrictions	 on	 convertibility	 of	

RMB	 in	 respect	 of	 current	 account	

items	while	retaining	restrictions	on	

foreign	 exchange	 transactions	 in	

respect	 of	 capital	 account	 items.	

Despite	 such	 developments,	 RMB	

is	 still	 not	 freely	 convertible	 into	

other	 foreign	currencies.	Under	 the	

current	 foreign	 exchange	 control	

system,	 there	 is	 no	 guarantee	 that	

sufficient	 foreign	 currency	 will	 be	

available	 at	 a	 given	 exchange	

rate	 to	 the	 Group	 to	 enable	 it	 to	

fund	 its	 foreign	 currency	 needs	 or	

to	pay	dividends	declared.
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CORPORAtE gOVERNANCE PRACtiCES
The	 Company	 is	 committed	 to	 upholding	 good	 corporate	 governance	 practices.	 In	 the	 past,	 the	 Board	 and	 the	

management	of	 the	Company	have	been	continually	 reviewing	and	enhancing	 its	 corporate	governance	practices.	

The	 Board	 believes	 that	 its	 continued	 efforts	 have,	 directly	 and	 indirectly,	 contributed	 to	 the	 strong	 growth	 of	 the	

Group	 in	 the	 past	 years	 and	 will	 provide	 a	 solid	 foundation	 for	 achieving	 further	 business	 growth,	 broadening	

investors’	base,	promoting	high	standards	of	accountability	and	transparency,	all	of	them	will	ultimately	create	value	

to	the	shareholders	of	the	Company.

The	 Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange	 introduced	 the	 Code	 on	 Corporate	 Governance	 Practices	 (the	 “CG	 Code”)	 as	

set	 out	 in	 Appendix	 14	 to	 the	 Rules	 Governing	 the	 Listing	 of	 Securities	 on	 the	 Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange	 (the	

“Listing	 Rules”)	 effective	 from	 1	 January	 2005.	 The	 Board	 responded	 promptly	 in	 2005	 to	 review	 its	 corporate	

governance	 practices	 and	 took	 appropriate	 actions	 to	 ensure	 that	 the	 Company	 is	 in	 compliance	 with	 the	 CG	

Code.	Since	2005,	the	Board	has	reviewed	its	corporate	governance	practices	and	ensured	that	the	Company	was	

in	compliance	with	the	CG	Code	on	an	annual	basis.

Save	 for	 the	 deviation	 as	 disclosed	 in	 the	 paragraph	 headed	 “Chairman	 and	Chief	 Executive	Officer”	 below,	 the	

Company	has	complied	with	the	code	provisions	of	the	CG	Code	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2009.

Set	 out	 below	 are	 the	 status	 and	 details	 of	 compliance	 by	 the	Company	 of	 the	CG	Code	 in	 the	 year	 ended	 31	

December	2009.

DiRECtORS’ SECURitiES tRANSACtiONS
The	 Company	 has	 adopted	 the	Model	 Code	 for	 Securities	 Transactions	 by	 Directors	 of	 Listed	 Issuers	 (the	 “Model	

Code”)	 as	 set	 out	 in	Appendix	10	 to	 the	 Listing	 Rules	 as	 the	 code	 of	 conduct	 regarding	 securities	 transactions	 by	

the	Directors	of	 the	Company.	Having	made	due	and	careful	enquiry,	 the	Company	confirms	 that	all	Directors	have	

complied	with	the	Model	Code	during	the	year	ended	31	December	2009.
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BOARD OF DiRECtORS
BOARD COMPOSitiON
During	 the	 year	 ended	31	December	 2009,	 the	 Board	 comprises	 the	 following	 executive	 Directors,	 non-executive	

Directors	and	independent	non-executive	Directors:

Mr.	Chen	Xiao	 (Executive Director, appointed as Acting Chairman with effect from 

  27 November 2008 and appointed as Chairman with effect from 

  16 January 2009)

Mr.	Ng	Kin	Wah	 (Executive Director)

Mr.	Wang	Jun	Zhou	 (Executive Director)

Ms.	Wei	Qiu	Li*	 (Executive Director) (appointed with effect from 1 September 2008 and 

  re-appointed with effect from 16 January 2009)

Mr.	Sun	Yi	Ding	 (Executive Director) (appointed with effect from 30 June 2009)

Mr.	Wong	Kwong	Yu	 (Executive Director and Chairman) (resigned on 16 January 2009) 

Mr.	Zhu	Jia	 (Non-executive Director) (appointed on 3 August 2009) 

Mr.	Ian	Andrew	Reynolds	 (Non-executive Director) (appointed on 3 August 2009) 

Ms.	Wang	Li	Hong	 (Non-executive Director) (appointed on 3 August 2009) 

Mr.	Sun	Qiang	Chang	 (Non-executive Director) (resigned on 23 July 2009) 

Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael	 (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang	 (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves	 (Independent non-executive Director) (resigned on 30 July 2009) 

Dr.	Liu	Peng	Hui	 (Independent non-executive Director) (retired on 30 June 2009) 

Mr.	Yu	Tung	Ho (Independent non-executive Director) (resigned on 30 July 2009) 

*	 Ms.	Wei	Qiu	Li	was	re-appointed	as	an	executive	Director	after	her	appointment	as	an	executive	Director	with	effect	 from	
1	September	2008	was	discovered	by	 the	Board	 to	be	 invalid	due	 to	a	 technical	defect.	As	disclosed	 in	 the	Company’s	
announcement	 dated	 24	 December	 2008,	 according	 to	 the	 Bye-laws	 of	 the	 Company,	 all	 acts	 bona	 fide	 done	 by	
any	 meeting	 of	 the	 Board	 or	 by	 any	 committee	 or	 any	 person	 acting	 as	 a	 Director	 before	 the	 discovery	 of	 the	 invalid	
appointments	of	 the	Directors	would	be	 valid.	Ms.	Wei	 has	 not	acted	 in	 the	 capacity	as	Director	 since	 the	discovery	by	
the	Board	of	her	invalid	appointment	as	an	executive	Director.

The	biographical	details	of	the	Board	members	are	set	out	on	pages	46	to	51	of	this	Annual	Report.

All	 non-executive	Directors	 are	appointed	with	 specific	 term	 from	 the	date	of	 the	2009	annual	 general	meeting	of	

the	 Company	 or	 the	 date	 of	 the	 appointment	 to	 the	 conclusion	 of	 the	 forthcoming	 annual	 general	 meeting	 of	 the	

Company	 (the	 “2010	 AGM”).	 The	 Board	 has	 confirmed	with	 each	 of	 the	 independent	 non-executive	 Directors	 as	

to	his	 independence	with	 reference	 to	 the	 factors	as	set	out	 in	Rule	3.13	of	 the	Listing	Rules.	The	Board	 is	satisfied	

with	the	independence	of	the	independent	non-executive	Directors.
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ROlES AND FUNCtiONS
The	 Board	 is	 responsible	 for	 formulating	 strategic	 business	 development,	 reviewing	 and	 monitoring	 business	

performance	of	 the	Group,	approving	major	 funding	and	investment	proposals	as	well	as	preparing	and	approving	

financial	statements	of	 the	Group.	The	Board	gives	clear	directions	as	 to	 the	powers	delegated	 to	 the	management	

for	the	administrative	and	management	functions	of	the	Group.

The	Board	meets	 regularly	 at	 least	 once	a	quarter	 and	additional	meetings	are	 convened	as	and	when	 the	Board	

considers	 necessary.	 In	 2009,	 17	 Board	meetings	 (including	4	 regular	 Board	meetings)	were	 held.	 Details	 of	 the	

Directors’	attendance	records	during	the	year	are	as	follows:

Directors Attendance

Mr.	Chen	Xiao 17/17	(4/4)*
Mr.	Ng	Kin	Wah 17/17	(4/4)*
Mr.	Wang	Jun	Zhou 17/17	(4/4)*
Ms.	Wei	Qiu	Li** 16/17	(4/4)*
Mr.	Sun	Yi	Ding*** 7/17	(2/4)*
Mr.	Wong	Kwong	Yu**** 0/17	(0/4)*
Mr.	Zhu	Jia*** 5/17	(2/4)*
Mr.	Ian	Andrew	Reynolds*** 5/17	(2/4)*
Ms.	Wang	Li	Hong*** 5/17	(2/4)*
Mr.	Sun	Qiang	Chang**** 9/17	(2/4)*
Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael 15/17	(4/4)*
Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang 16/17	(4/4)*
Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning 15/17	(4/4)*
Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves**** 11/17	(2/4)*
Dr.	Liu	Peng	Hui**** 2/17	(0/4)*
Mr.	Yu	Tung	Ho**** 10/17	(1/4)*

* Regular Board meetings – Apart from all regular Board meetings, the Board also met from time to time to discuss the  
day-to-day operations and other affairs.

** Ms. Wei Qiu Li was invalidly appointed as an executive Director with effect from 1 September 2008 and was validly re-
appointed as an executive Director with effect from 16 January 2009 but her attendance as an executive Director before 
the discovery of her invalid appointment by the Board on 22 December 2008 would be regarded as valid according to 
the Bye-laws of the Company. Ms. Wei Qiu Li did not attend any meeting of the Board as an executive Director before 
her re-appointment as Director.

*** Mr. Sun Yi Ding was appointed as an executive Director with effect from 30 June 2009 and therefore did not attend any 
meeting of the Board prior to his appointment. Each of Mr. Zhu Jia, Mr. Ian Andrew Reynolds and Ms. Wang Li Hong was 
appointed as a non-executive Director with effect from 3 August 2009 and therefore did not attend any meeting of the 
Board prior to his/her appointment.
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**** Mr. Sun Qiang Chang resigned as a non-executive Director on 23 July 2009. Each of Mr. Mark Christopher Greaves and 
Mr. Yu Tung Ho resigned as an independent non-executive Director on 30 July 2009. Mr. Wong Kwong Yu resigned as 
an executive Director on 16 January 2009. Therefore, they did not attend any meeting of the Board subsequent to their 
respective resignations. Dr. Liu Peng Hui retired on 30 June 2009 and therefore did not attend any meeting of the Board 
subsequent to his retirement.

Board	members	were	 provided	with	 complete,	 adequate	 and	 timely	 information	 to	 allow	 them	 to	 fulfill	 their	 duties	

properly.	 Code	 provision	 A.1.3	 of	 the	 CG	 Code	 requires	 that	 notice	 of	 at	 least	 14	 days	 should	 be	 given	 of	 a	

regular	 board	meeting	 to	 give	 all	 directors	 an	 opportunity	 to	 attend.	Notices	 of	 two	 out	 of	 the	 four	 regular	 Board	

meetings	 during	 the	 year	 under	 review	were	 sent	 to	 all	 Directors	 in	 compliance	with	 the	 said	 requirement.	Where	

the	 Board	 considers	 necessary	 and	 desirable	 to	 hold	 a	 regular	 Board	meeting	with	 notice	 less	 than	14	 days,	 the	

Board	 will	 first	 consult	 the	 Directors	 whether	 a	 shorter	 notice	 period	 is	 acceptable	 to	 them	 and	 if	 so,	 a	 regular	

Board	meeting	will	be	fixed	accordingly.	During	the	year	under	review,	the	average	notice	period	for	regular	Board	

meetings	given	 to	 the	Directors	was	about	12	days.	Agenda	accompanying	Board	papers	 relating	 to	 three	out	 of	

four	 regular	 Board	 meetings	 during	 the	 year	 under	 review	 were	 sent	 to	 all	 Directors	 at	 least	 3	 days	 respectively	

prior	 to	 such	meeting	 in	 compliance	with	 the	CG	Code	 except	 for	 one	 regular	 Board	meeting	where	 the	 agenda	

accompanying	 	 Board	 papers	were	 sent	 to	 all	 Directors	 2	 days	 prior	 to	 such	meeting	 as	 the	 relevant	 information	

was	not	available	earlier.

CHAiRMAN AND CHiEF EXECUtiVE OFFiCER
Under	 code	 provision	 A.2.1	 of	 the	 CG	 Code,	 the	 roles	 of	 the	 chairman	 and	 chief	 executive	 officer	 of	 a	

listed	 company	 should	 be	 separate	 and	 should	 not	 be	 performed	 by	 the	 same	 individual.	 As	 disclosed	 in	 the	

announcement	 of	 the	 Company	 dated	 28	 November	 2008,	 as	 a	 result	 of	 Mr.	 Wong	 Kwong	 Yu’s	 inability	 to	

perform	 his	 duties	 as	 a	 Director	 and	 the	Chairman	 of	 the	Company,	 the	 Board	 appointed	Mr.	Chen	 Xiao	who	 is	

an	 executive	 Director	 and	 the	 President	 of	 the	 Company	 to	 be	 the	 Acting	 Chairman	 of	 the	 Company	 with	 effect	

from	27	November	2008	and	then	to	be	the	Chairman	of	the	Company	with	effect	from	16	January	2009.	As	Mr.	

Chen	 Xiao,	being	 the	 President	 of	 the	Company,	 has	been	performing	 the	 role	and	 function	of	 the	 chief	 executive	

officer	of	the	Company,	his	appointment	as	the	Acting	Chairman	and	then	the	Chairman	of	the	Company	constituted	

a	 deviation	 from	 code	 provision	 A.2.1	 of	 the	 CG	 Code.	 Given	 that	 Mr.	 Chen	 Xiao	 has	 been	 the	 President	 of	

the	 Group	 since	 completion	 of	 the	 Company’s	 acquisition	 of	 China	 Paradise	 Electronics	 Retail	 Limited	 (which	 he	

founded)	 and	 has	 over	 20	 years	 of	 experience	 in	 the	 electrical	 and	 electronic	 retail	 sector	 in	 China,	 the	 Board	

believes	that	it	is	in	the	best	interest	of	the	Group	and	its	shareholders	as	a	whole	to	also	appoint	Mr.	Chen	Xiao	as	

the	Chairman	of	 the	Company	 in	 the	 interim	period	 to	provide	stability	 to	 the	Group	and	 to	oversee	 the	operations	

of	the	Group	in	the	circumstances.

The	Board	will	continue	 to	review	the	effectiveness	of	 the	Group’s	corporate	governance	structure	 to	assess	whether	

changes,	including	separation	of	the	roles	of	the	Chairman	and	the	President	of	the	Company,	are	necessary.



Annual	Report	200977

GOME	Electrical	Appliances	Holding	Limited

During	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 Mr.	 Chen	 Xiao	 served	 as	 the	 Acting	 Chairman	 of	 the	 Company	 until	 16	 January	

2009	 on	 which	 date	 he	 was	 appointed	 as	 the	 Chairman	 of	 the	 Company,	 primarily	 responsible	 for	 providing	

leadership	 to	 the	 Board;	 and	 Mr.	 Chen	 Xiao	 was	 the	 President	 of	 the	 Company	 and	 an	 executive	 Director	

undertaking	 the	 duties	 of	 the	 chief	 executive	 officer	 of	 the	 Company	 to	 oversee	 the	 business	 of	 the	 Group	 and	

executing	decisions	of	the	Board.

BOARD COMMittEES
As	at	31	December	2009,	the	Board	had	the	following	committees:

1.	 Remuneration	Committee;

2.	 Nomination	Committee;

3.	 Audit	Committee;	

4.	 Independent	Committee;	and

5.	 Executive	Committee

REMUNERAtiON COMMittEE
The	Remuneration	Committee	was	established	on	10	November	2005	with	terms	of	reference	substantially	the	same	

as	those	contained	in	paragraph	B.1.3	of	the	CG	Code.	A	majority	of	the	members	of	the	Remuneration	Committee	

is	 independent	 non-executive	 Directors.	 During	 the	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	 Remuneration	 Committee	

comprised	the	following	members:

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves (Independent non-executive Director and chairman of 

  the Remuneration Committee) (retired on 30 July 2009)

Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael	 (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang	 (Independent non-executive Director) (appointed as chairman of 

  the Remuneration Committee with effect from 15 September 2009)

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr.	Wang	Jun	Zhou	 (Executive Director) (appointed on 16 January 2009)

Mr.	Zhu	Jia	 (Non-executive Director) (appointed on 3 August 2009)

The	Remuneration	Committee	is	primarily	responsible	for	the	following	duties:

1.	 to	 make	 recommendations	 to	 the	 Board	 on	 the	 Company’s	 policy	 and	 structure	 for	 all	 remunerations	 of	

Directors	 and	 senior	 management	 and	 on	 the	 establishment	 of	 formal	 and	 transparent	 procedures	 for	

developing	policy	on	all	such	remunerations;

2.	 to	 have	 the	 delegated	 responsibilities	 to	 determine	 the	 specific	 remuneration	 packages	 of	 all	 executive	

Directors	and	senior	management;
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3.	 to	 review	 and	 approve	 performance-based	 remunerations	 by	 reference	 to	 corporate	 goals	 and	 objectives	

resolved	by	the	Board	from	time	to	time;

4.	 to	 review	and	approve	 compensation	payable	 to	 executive	Directors	and	 senior	management	 in	 connection	

with	 any	 loss	 or	 termination	 of	 their	 office	 or	 appointment	 to	 ensure	 that	 such	 compensation	 is	 determined	

in	 accordance	with	 relevant	 contractual	 terms	 and	 that	 such	 compensation	 is	 fair	 and	 not	 excessive	 for	 the	

Company;

5.	 to	 review	 and	 approve	 compensation	 arrangements	 relating	 to	 dismissal	 or	 removal	 of	 Directors	 for	

misconduct	 to	 ensure	 that	 such	 arrangements	 are	 determined	 in	 accordance	with	 relevant	 contractual	 terms	

and	that	any	compensation	payment	is	reasonable	and	appropriate;	and

6.	 to	ensure	that	no	Director	or	any	of	his/her	associates	is	involved	in	deciding	his/her	own	remuneration.

The	 Remuneration	 Committee	 shall	 meet	 at	 least	 once	 each	 year.	 During	 the	 year,	 the	 Remuneration	 Committee	

considered	and	approved	the	plan	for	the	review	of	the	remuneration	policy	of	the	Group	and	the	terms	of	Directors’	

service	contracts.

During	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 the	 Remuneration	 Committee	 had	 held	 4	 meetings.	 Attendance	 records	 of	 the	

members	of	the	Remuneration	Committee	of	such	meetings	are	as	follows:

Committee members Attendance

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves* 2/4

Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael 4/4

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang 4/4

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning 4/4

Mr.	Wang	Jun	Zhou** 3/4

Mr.	Zhu	Jia** 2/4

* Mr. Mark Christopher Greaves retired as member of the Remuneration Committee with effect from 30 July 2009 and 
therefore did not attend any meeting of the Remuneration Committee subsequent to his retirement.

** Mr. Wang Jun Zhou and Mr. Zhu Jia were appointed as members of Remuneration Committee with effect from 16 January 
2009 and 3 August 2009 respectively and therefore did not attend any meeting of the Remuneration Committee prior to 
their respective appointments.
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NOMiNAtiON COMMittEE
The	Nomination	Committee	was	established	on	10	November	2005	with	 terms	of	 reference	substantially	 the	same	

as	 those	contained	 in	paragraph	A.4.5	of	 the	CG	Code.	A	majority	of	 the	members	of	 the	Nomination	Committee	

is	 independent	 non-executive	 Directors.	 During	 the	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	 Nomination	 Committee	

comprised	the	following	members:

Dr.	Liu	Peng	Hui (Independent non-executive Director and ceased to be chairman of 

  the Nomination Committee with effect from 27 May 2009) 

  (retired on 30 June 2009)

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves	 (Independent non-executive Director) (retired on 30 July 2009)

Mr.	Yu	Tung	Ho (Independent non-executive Director) (retired on 30 July 2009)

Mr.	Sun	Qiang	Chang	 (Non-executive Director) (retired on 23 July 2009)

Ms.	Wei	Qiu	Li	 (Executive Director) (appointed with effect from 16 January 2009) 

  (appointed to be the chairman of the Nomination Committee with effect 

  from 15 September 2009)

Mr.	Zhu	Jia	 (Non-executive Director) (appointed with effect from 3 August 2009)

Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael	 (Independent non-executive Director) (appointed with effect from 

  15 September 2009)

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang	 (Independent non-executive Director) (appointed with effect from 

  27 May 2009) 

  (acted as chairman of Nomination Committee from 27 May to 

  15 September 2009) 

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning	 (Independent non-executive Director) (appointed with effect from 

  15 September 2009)

The	Nomination	Committee	is	primarily	responsible	for	the	following	duties:

1.	 to	 review	 the	 structure,	 size	 and	 composition	 (including	 the	 skills,	 knowledge	and	 experience)	 of	 the	 Board	

on	a	regular	basis	and	make	recommendations	to	the	Board	regarding	any	proposed	changes;

2.	 to	 identify	 individuals	 suitably	qualified	 to	become	Board	members	and	 select	 or	make	 recommendations	 to	

the	Board	on	selection	of	individuals	nominated	for	directorships;

3.	 to	assess	 the	 independence	of	 independent	non-executive	Directors,	having	regard	 to	 the	requirements	under	

the	applicable	laws,	rules	and	regulations;	and
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4.	 to	 make	 recommendations	 to	 the	 Board	 on	 relevant	 matters	 relating	 to	 the	 appointment	 or	 re-appointment	

of	 Directors	 and	 succession	 planning	 for	 Directors	 and,	 in	 particular,	 the	 chairman	 and	 the	 chief	 executive	

officer	(if	any)	of	the	Company.

The	Nomination	Committee	shall	meet	at	least	once	each	year.

During	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 the	 Nomination	 Committee,	 amongst	 other	 matters,	 reviewed	 the	 structure,	 size	

and	 composition	 of	 the	 Board,	 assessed	 the	 continual	 independence	 of	 the	 independent	 non-executive	 Directors,	

considered	and	recommended	the	re-election	of	the	retiring	Directors	as	well	as	considered	the	re-appointment	and/

or	appointment	of	Directors.

During	the	year	under	review,	3	meetings	of	Nomination	Committee	were	held.	Attendance	records	of	 the	members	

of	the	Nomination	Committee	of	such	meetings	are	as	follows:

Committee members Attendance

Dr.	Liu	Peng	Hui* 1/3

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves* 3/3

Mr.	Yu	Tung	Ho* 2/3

Mr.	Sun	Qiang	Chang* 3/3

Ms.	Wei	Qiu	Li** 2/3

Mr.	Zhu	Jia** 0/3

Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael** 0/3

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang** 0/3

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning** 0/3

* Dr. Liu Peng Hui, Mr. Mark Christopher Greaves, Mr. Yu Tung Ho and Mr. Sun Qiang Chang retired as members of the 
Nomination Committee with effect from 30 June, 30 July, 30 July and 23 July 2009 respectively and therefore did not 
attend any meeting of the Nomination Committee subsequent to their respective retirements.

** Ms. Wei Qiu Li, Mr. Zhu Jia, Mr. Sze Tsai Ping, Michael, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang and Mr. Thomas Joseph Manning were 
appointed as members of the Nomination Committee on 16 January, 3 August, 15 September, 27 May and 15 
September 2009 respectively and therefore did not attend any meeting of the Nomination Committee prior to their 
respective appointments.

In	selecting	a	suitable	candidate	to	become	a	member	of	the	Board,	the	Board	will	consider	various	criteria	such	as	

education,	qualification,	experience	and	reputation	of	such	candidate.
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Pursuant	 to	 Bye-law	 99(A)	 of	 the	Company’s	 Bye-laws,	 at	 each	 annual	 general	 meeting	 of	 the	Company,	 at	 least	

one	 third	 of	 the	 Directors	 for	 the	 time	 being	 shall	 retire	 from	 office,	 except	 for	 the	 director	 holding	 the	 office	 as	

the	chairman	or	managing	director	of	 the	Company.	Pursuant	 to	 the	code	provision	A.4.2	of	 the	CG	Code,	every	

director	 appointed	 should	 be	 subject	 to	 retirement	 by	 rotation	 at	 least	 once	 every	 three	 years.	 The	Company	 has	

reviewed	 its	 Bye-laws	 and	 the	 Private	 Act	 adopted	 by	 the	 Company	 in	 Bermuda	 in	 1992	 with	 reference	 to	 the	

code	provision	A.4.2	of	 the	CG	Code	and	 noted	 that	 section	4(e)	 of	 the	 Private	Act	 stipulates	 that	 any	 chairman	

or	 managing	 director	 of	 the	 Company	 shall	 not	 be	 subject	 to	 retirement	 by	 rotation	 under	 the	 Bye-laws	 of	 the	

Company.	 In	 the	 circumstances,	 any	 proposed	 amendments	 to	 the	Company’s	 Bye-laws	 shall	 take	 into	 account	 of	

the	provisions	of	the	Company’s	Private	Act	which	the	Company	is	subject	to.

iNDEPENDENt COMMittEES
An	independent	committee	was	established	by	 the	Board	on	14	March	2006	pursuant	 to	a	subscription	agreement	

dated	28	January	2006	(the	“Subscription	Agreement”)	entered	into	among	the	Company,	Real	Success	International	

Limited	and	Warburg	Pincus	Private	Equity	IX,	L.P.	(“Warburg	Pincus”)	for	the	following	purposes:

1.	 monitoring	the	continuing	compliance	by	Mr.	Wong	Kwong	Yu	of	his	obligations	(“Mr.	Wong’s	Obligations”)	

under	 a	 deed	 of	 undertaking	 executed	 pursuant	 to	 the	 Subscription	 Agreement	 and	 any	 other	 undertaking	

which	Mr.	Wong	and/or	his	associates	may	have	given	to	the	Group;	and

2.	 making	 recommendations	 to	 the	Board	 for	 the	purpose	of	 asserting	 the	Company’s	 rights	 and	preserving	 its	

position	in	the	event	of	any	non-compliance	of	Mr.	Wong’s	Obligations.

With	 the	 resignation	 of	Mr.	 Sun	Qiang	Chang	 (who	was	 nominated	by	Warburg	 Pincus	 as	 non-executive	Director	

under	 the	 Subscription	 Agreement)	 as	 a	 Director	 on	 23	 July	 2009,	 the	 Board	 considered	 that	 the	 continuous	

existence	 of	 such	 independent	 committee	 was	 no	 longer	 necessary.	 As	 such,	 the	 Board	 resolved	 to	 dissolve	 the	

above	mentioned	independent	committee	on	29	July	2009.	

Another	 new	 independent	 committee	 was	 established	 by	 the	 Board	 on	 21	 August	 2009	 (the	 “Independent	

Committee”).	 During	 the	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2009,	 such	 newly	 established	 Independent	 Committee	

comprised	the	following	members:

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning	 (Independent non-executive Director and chairman of the Independent 

  Committee)

Mr.	Zhu	Jia (Non-executive Director)

Ms.	Wang	Li	Hong (Non-executive Director)

Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang	 (Independent non-executive Director)
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The	Independent	Committee	is	primarily	responsible	for	the	following	duties:

1.	 to	evaluate,	assess	and	advise	on	the	material	connected	transactions	of	the	Group	before	execution;

2.	 to	oversee	the	execution	and	performance	of	the	material	connected	transactions	of	the	Group;

3.	 to	 devise	 and	 review	 the	 internal	 control	 systems,	 policies	 and/or	 procedures	 relating	 to	 connected	

transaction	management	of	the	Group;

4.	 to	 monitor	 the	 compliance	 of	 material	 connected	 transactions	 of	 the	 Group	 with	 the	 applicable	 law	 and	

regulations;

5.	 to	devise	and	review	the	internal	control	systems,	policies	and/or	procedures	of	the	Group	generally;

6.	 to	 report	 to	 the	 Board	 on	 all	 matters	 relating	 to	 connected	 transactions	 and	 internal	 control	 matters	 of	 the	

Group;	and	

7.	 to	consider	other	matters	and/or	special	projects	as	assigned	and	authorized	by	the	Board.

During	the	year	under	review,	no	Independent	Committee	meeting	was	held.

EXECUtiVE COMMittEE
Pursuant	 to	 the	 investment	agreement	dated	7	 June	2009,	as	amended	by	a	supplemental	agreement	 thereto	dated	

19	 June	 2009,	 in	 each	 case	 made	 between	 the	 Company	 and	 Bain	 Capital	 Glory	 Limited	 regarding	 the	 issue	

by	 the	 Company	 of	 RMB1,590	 million	 US	 Dollar	 settled	 5%	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 2016	 to	 Bain	 Capital	 Glory	

Limited,	 the	 Executive	 Committee	 was	 established	 by	 the	 Board	 on	 29	 July	 2009.	 All	 members	 of	 the	 Executive	

Committee	 shall	 be	 executive	 Directors	 and	 the	 Executive	Committee	 shall	 consist	 of	 not	 less	 than	 three	members.	

During	the	year	ended	31	December	2009,	the	Executive	Committee	comprised	the	following	members:

Mr.	Chen	Xiao	 (Executive Director and chairman of the Executive Committee)

Mr.	Wang	Jun	Zhou	 (Executive Director)

Ms.	Wei	Qiu	Li	 (Executive Director)

The	Executive	Committee	is	primarily	responsible	for	the	following	duties:

1.	 to	oversee	the	day-to-day	management	and	operation	of	the	Group;

2.	 to	make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	annual	budgets	and	performance	targets;
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3.	 to	make	recommendations	to	the	Board	on	strategic	development	plans	and	potential	acquisitions;

4.	 to	 appoint,	 and	 terminate	 the	 employment	 of,	 any	 officer	 of	 the	 Group	 at	 or	 above	 the	 level	 of	 vice	

president,	 including	 appointment	 of	 the	 Chief	 Financial	 Officer	 and	 Senior	 Legal	 Officer	 (PRC)	 of	 the	

Company	as	referred	to	in	the	Investment	Agreement	between	the	Company	and	Bain	Capital	Glory	Limited;

5.	 to	 determine	 the	 specific	 remuneration	 packages	 and	 terms	 of	 employment	 of	 officers	 of	 the	 Group	 at	 or	

above	the	level	of	vice	president;

6.	 to	approve	the	opening	and	closing	of	bank	accounts	of	any	Group	members;

7.	 to	 approve	 any	 transaction	 which	 is	 not	 required	 to	 be	 disclosed	 under	 the	 Rules	Governing	 the	 Listing	 of	

Securities	on	the	Hong	Kong	Stock	Exchange;	and	

8.	 to	 approve	 the	 dissolution/deregistration	 of	 any	 Group	 member	 which	 has	 become	 dormant	 or	 ceased	

business	or	otherwise	become	inactive.

During	the	year	under	review,	no	meeting	of	the	Executive	Committee	was	held.

ACCOUNtABilitY AND AUDit
The	Directors	 have	acknowledged	by	 issuing	a	management	 representation	 letter	 to	 the	Auditors	 that	 they	bear	 the	

ultimate	responsibility	of	preparing	the	financial	statements	of	the	Group.

AUDit COMMittEE
The	Audit	Committee	was	 established	 in	2004.	During	 the	 year	 ended	31	December	2009,	 the	Audit	Committee	

comprised	the	following	members:

Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael (Independent non-executive Director and chairman of 

  the Audit Committee)

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang	 (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning (Independent non-executive Director) (appointed on 29 July 2009)

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves	 (Independent non-executive Director) (retired on 30 July 2009)

Dr.	Liu	Peng	Hui	 (Independent non-executive Director) (retired or 30 June 2009)

The	 Audit	 Committee	 has	 adopted	 a	 written	 terms	 of	 reference	 substantially	 the	 same	 as	 those	 contained	 in	

paragraph	C.3.3	of	the	CG	Code.
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The	Audit	Committee	is	primarily	responsible	for,	amongst	others,	the	following	duties:

1.	 to	 make	 recommendation	 to	 the	 Board	 on	 the	 appointment,	 re-appointment	 and	 removal	 of	 the	 external	

auditor,	and	to	approve	the	remuneration	and	terms	of	engagement	of	the	external	auditor,	and	any	questions	

of	resignation	or	dismissal	of	that	auditor;

2.	 to	 review	and	monitor	 the	external	auditor’s	 independence	and	objectivity	and	 the	effectiveness	of	 the	audit	

process	in	accordance	with	applicable	standard;

3.	 to	develop	and	implement	policy	on	the	engagement	of	an	external	auditor	to	supply	non-audit	services;

4.	 to	monitor	 integrity	of	 financial	 statements	of	 the	Company	and	 the	Company’s	annual	 report	and	accounts,	

half-year	 report	 and	 quarterly	 report	 and	 to	 review	 significant	 financial	 reporting	 judgments	 contained	 in	

them;

5.	 to	review	the	Company’s	financial	controls,	internal	control	and	risk	management	systems;

6.	 to	 discuss	 with	 management	 the	 system	 of	 internal	 control	 and	 ensure	 that	 management	 has	 discharged	 its	

duty	to	have	an	effective	internal	control	system;

7.	 to	review	the	Group’s	financial	and	accounting	policies	and	practices;	and

8.	 to	 review	 the	 external	 auditor’s	 management	 letter,	 any	 material	 queries	 raised	 by	 the	 auditor	 to	 the	

management	in	respect	of	the	accounting	records,	financial	accounts	or	systems	of	control	and	management’s	

response,	and	to	ensure	that	the	Board	provide	a	timely	response	to	the	issues	raised.

The	 Audit	 Committee	 shall	 meet	 at	 least	 twice	 each	 year.	 In	 2009,	 10	 Audit	 Committee	 meetings	 were	 held	 for,	

amongst	 other	 matters,	 considering	 the	 annual	 results	 of	 the	 Group	 for	 the	 financial	 year	 ended	 31	 December	

2008,	 the	 quarterly	 results	 of	 the	 Group	 for	 the	 three	 months	 ended	 31	 March	 2009,	 the	 interim	 results	 of	 the	

Group	 for	 the	 six	 months	 ended	 30	 June	 2009	 and	 the	 quarterly	 results	 of	 the	Group	 for	 the	 nine	months	 ended	

30	 September	 2009,	 discussing	 with	 the	 auditors	 of	 the	 Company	 on	 internal	 control,	 auditors’	 independence,	

auditors’	remuneration	and	the	scope	of	work	in	relation	to	the	annual	audit	and	reviewing	the	continuing	connected	

transactions	of	the	Group.
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Attendance	records	of	the	Audit	Committee	members	in	2009	are	as	follows:

Committee members Attendance

Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael 10/10

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang 9/10

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning* 2/10

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves** 5/10

Dr.	Liu	Peng	Hui** 1/10

* Mr. Thomas Joseph Manning was appointed as member of the Audit Committee on 29 July 2009 and therefore did not 
attend any meeting of Audit Committee prior to his appointment.

** Mr. Mark Christopher Greaves and Dr. Liu Peng Hui retired as members of Audit Committee on 30 July and 30 June 2009 
respectively and therefore did not attend any meeting of Audit Committee after their respective retirements.

The	amount	of	audit	 fees	payable	to	Ernst	&	Young,	the	auditors	of	 the	Company,	for	 the	year	ended	31	December	

2009	 is	 RMB8,100,000	 (2008:	 RMB9,850,000).	 The	 amount	 of	 remuneration	 payable	 to	 the	 auditors	 of	 the	

Company	 relating	 to	 non-audit	 services	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2009	 is	 RMB4,586,000	 (2008:	

RMB500,000).	 The	 Audit	 Committee	 is	 of	 the	 view	 that	 the	 auditors’	 independence	 was	 not	 affected	 by	 the	

provision	of	such	non-audit	related	services	to	the	Group.

Pursuant	to	the	Bye-laws	of	the	Company,	the	terms	of	appointment	of	the	auditors	of	the	Company	will	expire	at	the	

end	of	 the	2010	AGM.	The	Audit	Committee	has	 recommended	 to	 the	Board	 that	Ernst	&	Young	be	nominated	 for	

re-appointment	as	the	auditors	of	the	Company	at	the	2010	AGM.

SPECiAl ACtiON COMMittEE
As	 disclosed	 in	 the	 Company’s	 announcement	 dated	 28	 November	 2008,	 in	 order	 to	 provide	 independent	

assurance	 to	 the	 shareholders	 of	 the	Company	 in	 light	 of	Mr.	Wong	 Kwong	 Yu	 being	 investigated	 by	 the	 Beijing	

Municipal	 Public	 Security	 Bureau	 (the	 “Investigation”),	 the	 Board	 set	 up	 the	 Special	 Action	 Committee	 on	 27	

November	2008	to:

(a)	 closely	 monitor	 and	 assess	 the	 impact	 on	 the	 Group’s	 financial	 condition	 and	 operations	 caused	 by	 the	

Investigation;

(b)	 advise	on	the	Company’s	timely	disclosure,	investor	relations	and	regulatory	compliance;	and
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(c)	 propose	 recommendations	 to	 the	 Board	 concerning	 the	 actions	 to	 be	 taken	 by	 the	Company	 in	 connection	

with	the	Investigation.

As	 the	 fund	 raising	 of	 the	 Company	 had	 been	 completed	 and	 the	 crisis	 of	 the	 Company	 was	 over,	 the	 Special	

Action	Committee	was	dissolved	by	the	Board	on	7	July	2009.

For	the	year	ended	31	December	2009,	the	Special	Action	Committee	comprised	the	following	members:

Mr.	Sun	Qiang	Chang	 (Non-executive Director and chairman of Special Action Committee)

 (Resigned as member and chairman of Special Action Committee 

 on 22 January 2009)

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang	 (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves	 (Independent non-executive Director)

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning	 (Independent non-executive Director) (appointed as chairman of 

 Special Action Committee with effect from 13 February 2009)

During	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 the	 Special	 Action	 Committee	 had	 held	 14	 meetings	 in	 connection	 with	 the	

Investigation	 for,	 amongst	 other	 matters,	 considering	 the	 independent	 external	 review	 on	 the	 accounts,	 risk	

assessment	 and	 internal	 control	 systems	 of	 the	 Company,	 making	 recommendations	 to	 the	 Board	 on	 crisis	

management,	media	control	and	corporate	governance,	advising	 the	Board	on	regulatory	compliance	in	relation	 to	

trading	 suspension	and	price	 sensitive	 information	disclosure	as	well	as	monitoring	and	assessing	 the	current	 status	

of	the	Group’s	financial	position	and	operations.

Attendance	records	of	the	members	of	the	Special	Action	Committee	of	such	meetings	are	as	follows:

Committee members Attendance

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning 14/14

Mr.	Sun	Qiang	Chang* 1/14

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang 13/14

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves 13/14

* Mr. Sun Qiang Chang resigned as member of Special Action Committee on 22 January 2009 and therefore did not 
attend any meeting of Special Action Committee subsequent to his resignation.
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iNtERNAl CONtROlS
Management	had	implemented	a	system	of	internal	controls	to	provide	reasonable	assurance	that	the	Group’s	assets	

are	 safeguarded,	proper	 accounting	 records	are	maintained,	appropriate	 legislation	and	 regulations	are	 compiled	

with,	 reliable	 financial	 information	 are	 provided	 for	 management	 and	 publication	 purposes	 and	 investment	 and	

business	risks	affecting	the	Group	are	identified	and	managed.

The	Board	has	also	reviewed	the	Group’s	 internal	control	system	and	is	satisfied	that	 there	is	no	material	change	to	

the	 internal	 control	 system	 as	 compared	with	 those	 of	 the	Company	 in	 2008,	 and	 has	 reviewed	 the	 effectiveness	

of	 the	Group’s	material	internal	controls	for	 the	year	2009	and	is	satisfied	that,	based	on	information	furnished	to	it	

and	on	its	own	observations,	the	present	internal	controls	of	the	Group	are	satisfactory.

The	Company	had	 implemented	a	system	of	 internal	control	 to	 safeguard	assets	of	 the	Group	against	unauthorized	

use	or	disposition,	provide	proper	accounting	records,	ensure	compliance	of	applicable	legislations	and	regulations	

and	to	provide	reliable	financial	information	for	the	business	and	disclosure	purposes.

In	 the	 end	 of	 2008,	 in	 order	 to	 assist	 the	 Board	 to	 (1)	 assess	 the	Group’s	 internal	 control	 and	 risk	 management	

functions	 and	 (2)	 establish	 that	 there	 has	 been	 no	 irregularity	 nor	 misappropriation	 of	 funds	 or	 assets	 within	 the	

Group	in	light	of	the	Investigation,	the	Company	has	started	its	internal	audit	and	has	also	appointed:

(a)	 independent	 external	 internal	 control	 and	 risk	 management	 advisers	 to	 conduct	 (i)	 an	 assessment	 of	 the	

recording	and	reporting	controls	over	 the	connected	 transactions	of	 the	Group;	and	(ii)	an	assessment	of	 the	

Group’s	internal	control	system	and	risk	management	mechanism	(the	“Internal	Control	Review”);	and

(b)	 independent	 external	 auditors	 to	 conduct	 a	 review	 on	 the	 Group’s	 financial	 position	 as	 at	 30	 November	

2008	(the	“Financial	Review”).

As	 disclosed	 in	 the	 announcement	 of	 the	 Company	 dated	 22	 June	 2009,	 having	 considered	 the	 results	 of	 the	

Company’s	 internal	 audit,	 the	 Internal	 Control	 Review	 and	 the	 Financial	 Review,	 and	 the	 financial	 results	 of	 the	

Group	 for	 the	 year	 ended	31	December	2008,	 the	Board	 confirmed	 that:	 (i)	 there	 had	not	 been	any	deficiencies	

in	 the	 internal	 control	 system	 of	 the	 Group	 in	 any	 material	 respect	 as	 at	 30	November	 2008;	 (ii)	 there	 had	 not	

been	any	misappropriation	of	funds	or	assets	in	the	past	transactions	and	accounting	records	of	the	Group	as	at	30	

November	2008;	and	(iii)	during	the	year	ended	31	December	2008,	the	actual	amount	of	connected	transactions	

did	not	exceed	 the	 relevant	 threshold	as	approved	by	 the	 independent	 shareholders	of	 the	Company.	The	Board	 is	

also	generally	satisfied	that	the	overall	internal	control	system	of	the	Group	is	adequate	and	effective.
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SHAREHOlDERS’ RigHtS
The	 Company	 is	 committed	 to	 ensure	 shareholders’	 interest.	 To	 this	 end,	 the	 Company	 communicates	 with	 its	

shareholders	 through	 various	 channels,	 including	 annual	 general	 meetings,	 special	 general	 meetings,	 annual	 and	

half-yearly	 reports,	 notices	 of	 general	 meetings	 and	 circulars	 sent	 to	 shareholders	 by	 post,	 announcements	 on	 the	

website	 of	 the	Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange,	 and	 press	 releases	 and	 other	 corporate	 communications	 available	 on	

the	Company’s	website.	Since	September	2005,	 the	Company	has	established	 the	practice,	on	a	 voluntary	basis,	

of	 publishing	 quarterly	 results	 of	 the	 Group	 on	 the	 website	 of	 the	 Hong	 Kong	 Stock	 Exchange	 to	 provide	 better	

disclosure	 to	 the	 financial	market	and	 to	 the	existing	and	potential	 shareholders	of	 the	business	performance	of	 the	

Group.

Registered	shareholders	are	notified	by	post	of	 the	shareholders’	meetings.	Any	 registered	shareholder	 is	entitled	 to	

attend	and	vote	at	 the	annual	and	special	general	meetings,	provided	 that	his/her/its	 shares	have	been	 fully	paid	

up	and	recorded	in	the	register	of	members	of	the	Company.

Shareholders	or	investors	can	make	enquiries	or	proposals	to	the	Company	by	putting	their	enquiries	or	proposals	to	

the	Company	through	the	contact	details	listed	under	the	section	headed	“Investor	Relations”.

iNVEStOR RElAtiONS
The	Company	regards	the	communication	with	institutional	investors	as	important	means	to	enhance	the	transparency	

of	 the	 Company	 and	 collect	 views	 and	 feedbacks	 from	 institutional	 investors.	 During	 the	 year	 under	 review,	 the	

Directors	and	senior	management	of	the	Company	participated	in	numerous	road	shows	and	investment	conferences.	

In	 addition,	 the	 Company	 also	 maintains	 regular	 communication	 with	 the	 media	 through	 press	 conferences,	 news	

releases	to	the	media	and	on	the	Company’s	website,	and	answering	enquiries	from	the	media.

Shareholders,	investors	and	the	media	can	make	enquiries	to	the	Company	through	the	following	means:

Telephone	number:	 2122	9133

By	post:	 Unit	6101,	61st	Floor

	 The	Center

	 99	Queen’s	Road	Central

	 Hong	Kong

Attention:	 Corporate	Finance	&	Development	Department

By	email:	 info@gome.com.hk
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to the shareholders of

gOME Electrical Appliances Holding limited

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

We	have	audited	 the	 financial	 statements	of	GOME	Electrical	Appliances	Holding	 Limited	 set	out	on	pages	91	 to	

211,	 which	 comprise	 the	 consolidated	 and	 company	 statements	 of	 financial	 position	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	

and	 the	 consolidated	 income	 statement,	 the	 consolidated	 statement	 of	 comprehensive	 income,	 the	 consolidated	

statement	 of	 changes	 in	 equity	 and	 the	 consolidated	 statement	 of	 cash	 flows	 for	 the	 year	 then	 ended,	 and	 a	

summary	of	significant	accounting	policies	and	other	explanatory	notes.

DiRECtORS’ RESPONSiBilitY FOR tHE FiNANCiAl StAtEMENtS
The	 directors	 of	 the	 Company	 are	 responsible	 for	 the	 preparation	 and	 the	 true	 and	 fair	 presentation	 of	 these	

financial	 statements	 in	accordance	with	 International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	 the	disclosure	 requirements	

of	 the	 Hong	 Kong	 Companies	 Ordinance.	 This	 responsibility	 includes	 designing,	 implementing	 and	 maintaining	

internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 preparation	 and	 the	 true	 and	 fair	 presentation	 of	 financial	 statements	 that	 are	 free	

from	material	misstatement,	whether	due	 to	 fraud	or	error;	 selecting	and	applying	appropriate	accounting	policies;	

and	making	accounting	estimates	that	are	reasonable	in	the	circumstances.

AUDitORS’ RESPONSiBilitY
Our	 responsibility	 is	 to	 express	 an	 opinion	 on	 these	 financial	 statements	 based	 on	 our	 audit.	Our	 report	 is	 made	

solely	 to	 you,	as	a	body,	 in	accordance	with	Section	90	of	 the	Bermuda	Companies	Act	1981,	and	 for	 no	other	

purpose.	We	 do	 not	 assume	 responsibility	 towards	 or	 accept	 liability	 to	 any	 other	 person	 for	 the	 contents	 of	 this	

report.

We	conducted	our	audit	 in	accordance	with	Hong	Kong	Standards	on	Auditing	 issued	by	 the	Hong	Kong	 Institute	

of	 Certified	 Public	 Accountants.	 Those	 standards	 require	 that	 we	 comply	 with	 ethical	 requirements	 and	 plan	 and	

perform	 the	 audit	 to	 obtain	 reasonable	 assurance	 as	 to	 whether	 the	 financial	 statements	 are	 free	 from	 material	

misstatement.
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Independent Auditors’ Report (continued)

An	audit	involves	performing	procedures	to	obtain	audit	evidence	about	the	amounts	and	disclosures	in	the	financial	

statements.	 The	 procedures	 selected	 depend	 on	 the	 auditors’	 judgement,	 including	 the	 assessment	 of	 the	 risks	 of	

material	misstatement	of	the	financial	statements,	whether	due	to	fraud	or	error.	In	making	those	risk	assessments,	the	

auditors	 consider	 internal	 control	 relevant	 to	 the	 entity’s	 preparation	 and	 true	 and	 fair	 presentation	 of	 the	 financial	

statements	 in	 order	 to	 design	 audit	 procedures	 that	 are	 appropriate	 in	 the	 circumstances,	 but	 not	 for	 the	 purpose	

of	 expressing	 an	 opinion	 on	 the	 effectiveness	 of	 the	 entity’s	 internal	 control.	 An	 audit	 also	 includes	 evaluating	 the	

appropriateness	of	accounting	policies	used	and	the	reasonableness	of	accounting	estimates	made	by	the	directors,	

as	well	as	evaluating	the	overall	presentation	of	the	financial	statements.

We	believe	 that	 the	audit	evidence	we	have	obtained	is	sufficient	and	appropriate	 to	provide	a	basis	 for	our	audit	

opinion.

OPiNiON
In	our	opinion,	 the	 financial	 statements	give	a	 true	and	 fair	 view	of	 the	 state	of	affairs	of	 the	Company	and	of	 the	

Group	as	at	31	December	2009	and	of	 the	Group’s	profit	and	cash	 flows	 for	 the	year	 then	ended	 in	accordance	

with	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	and	have	been	properly	prepared	in	accordance	with	the	disclosure	

requirements	of	the	Hong	Kong	Companies	Ordinance.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants

Hong	Kong

7	April	2010
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2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

REVENUE 5 42,667,572 45,889,257
Cost	of	sales (38,408,042) (41,381,223)

gross profit 4,259,530 4,508,034

Other	income	and	gains 5 3,131,646 3,266,244
Selling	and	distribution	costs (4,352,350) (4,487,131)
Administrative	expenses (845,235) (828,028)
Other	expenses (490,062) (515,357)

Profit from operating activities 1,703,529 1,943,762
Finance	costs 7 (348,969) (212,118)
Finance	income 7 341,209 441,017
Gain/(loss)	on	the	derivative	component	of	
	 convertible	bonds 32(i) 136,740 (189,220)
Impairment	of	other	investments 16 – (449,592)

PROFit BEFORE tAX 6 1,832,509 1,533,849
Income	tax	expense 10 (406,310) (435,156)

PROFit FOR tHE YEAR 1,426,199 1,098,693

Attributable	to:
	 Owners	of	the	parent 1,409,288 1,048,160
	 Minority	interests 16,911 50,533

1,426,199 1,098,693

EARNiNgS PER SHARE AttRiBUtABlE tO 
 ORDiNARY EQUitY HOlDERS OF tHE PARENt 11
	 –	Basic RMB10.3 fen RMB8.2	fen

	 –	Diluted RMB9.5 fen RMB8.2	fen
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income
Year	ended	31	December	2009

2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

PROFit FOR tHE YEAR 1,426,199 1,098,693

OtHER COMPREHENSiVE iNCOME

Available-for-sale	assets:

	 Changes	in	fair	value 44,550 (434,742)

	 Reclassification	adjustments	for	impairment	losses	of	

	 	 other	investments	included	in	the	consolidated	

	 	 income	statement 6 – 449,592

44,550 14,850

Gains	on	property	revaluation 12 98,253 32,425

Income	tax	effect (24,563) (8,106)

73,690 24,319

Exchange	differences	on	translation	of	foreign	operations (20,804) (101,617)

OtHER COMPREHENSiVE iNCOME/(lOSS) 
 FOR tHE YEAR, NEt OF tAX 97,436 (62,448)

tOtAl COMPREHENSiVE iNCOME FOR tHE YEAR 1,523,635 1,036,245

Attributable	to:

	 Owners	of	the	parent 1,506,724 985,712

	 Minority	interests 16,911 50,533

1,523,635 1,036,245
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2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENt ASSEtS
Property,	plant	and	equipment 12 3,391,950 3,719,829
Investment	properties 13 820,671 389,473
Goodwill 14 4,014,981 3,363,012
Other	intangible	assets 15 125,199 134,241
Other	investments 16 153,360 108,810
Prepayments	for	acquisition	of	properties 17 21,129 270,160
Lease	prepayments 18 332,407 355,089
Deferred	tax	assets 19 30,763 18,356
Designated	loan 20 3,600,000 –
Other	assets 21 – 653,423

Total	non-current	assets 12,490,460 9,012,393

CURRENt ASSEtS
Hong	Kong	listed	investments,	at	fair	value 1,635 399
Investment	deposits 23 – 30,000
Designated	loan 20 – 3,600,000
Inventories 24 6,532,453 5,473,497
Trade	and	bills	receivables 25 54,199 45,092
Prepayments,	deposits	and	other	receivables 26 1,701,884 1,384,355
Due	from	related	parties 27 157,146 57,843
Pledged	deposits 28 8,796,344 4,840,456
Cash	and	cash	equivalents 28 6,029,059 3,051,069

Total	current	assets 23,272,720 18,482,711
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position (continued)

2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CURRENt liABilitiES
Interest-bearing	bank	loans 29 350,000 170,000
Trade	and	bills	payables 30 15,815,261 12,917,958
Customers’	deposits,	other	payables	and	accruals 31 1,829,514 1,530,141
Convertible	bonds 32 2,180,357 –
Tax	payable 507,245 529,148

Total	current	liabilities 20,682,377 15,147,247

NEt CURRENt ASSEtS 2,590,343 3,335,464

tOtAl ASSEtS lESS CURRENt liABilitiES 15,080,803 12,347,857

NON-CURRENt liABilitiES
Deferred	tax	liabilities 19 103,429 78,269
Convertible	bonds 32 3,174,909 3,569,553

Total	non-current	liabilities 3,278,338 3,647,822

Net	assets 11,802,465 8,700,035

EQUitY
Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Issued	capital 33 382,408 331,791
Reserves 35(a) 11,420,057 8,228,043

11,802,465 8,559,834

Minority	interests – 140,201

Total	equity 11,802,465 8,700,035

Chen Xiao Ng kin wah

Director Director
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Attributable	to	owners	of	the	parent

Issued	
capital

Share	
premium

Contributed	
surplus

Capital	
reserve

Asset	
revaluation	

reserve

Other	
investment	
valuation	
reserve

Statutory	
reserves

Exchange	
fluctuation	

reserve
Retained	
earnings

Proposed	
dividend Total

Minority	
interests

Total	
equity

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
note 35(a)

At 1 January 2008 343,764 8,263,293 657 (216,966) – – 568,329 (80,593) 1,095,866 328,629 10,302,979 89,689 10,392,668

Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year – – – – 24,319 14,850 – (101,617) 1,048,160 – 985,712 50,533 1,036,245
Repurchase	and	cancellation	of	shares (11,973) (2,055,584) – – – – – – – – (2,067,557) – (2,067,557)
Dividend	attributable	to	cancelled	shares – – – – – – – – 12,025 (12,025) – – –
Disposal	of	a	jointly-controlled	entity – – – – – – (210) – – – (210) (21) (231)
Transfer	to	statutory	reserves – – – – – – 192,958 – (192,958) – – – –
Dividends	paid 36 – – – – – – – – (344,486) (316,604) (661,090) – (661,090)

At 31 December 2008 331,791 6,207,709* 657* (216,966)* 24,319* 14,850* 761,077* (182,210)* 1,618,607* – 8,559,834 140,201 8,700,035

Attributable	to	owners	of	the	parent

Issued	
capital

Share	
premium

Contributed	
surplus

Capital	
reserve

Share	option
reserve

Asset	
revaluation	

reserve

Other	
investment	
valuation	
reserve

Statutory	
reserves

Exchange	
fluctuation	

reserve
Retained	
earnings Total

Minority	
interests

Total	
equity

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
note 35(a)

At 1 January 2009 331,791 6,207,709 657 (216,966) – 24,319 14,850 761,077 (182,210) 1,618,607 8,559,834 140,201 8,700,035

Total	comprehensive	income	for	the	year – – – – – 73,690 44,550 – (20,804) 1,409,288 1,506,724 16,911 1,523,635
Acquisition	of	minority	interests 38(c) – – – – – – – – – – – (157,112) (157,112)
Issue	of	shares 33 50,617 1,234,282 – – – – – – – – 1,284,899 – 1,284,899
Repurchases	of	the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds 32(i) – – – (444,957) – – – – – – (444,957) – (444,957)
Issue	of	the	2016	Convertible	Bonds 32(ii) – – – 137,411 – – – – – – 137,411 – 137,411
Issue	of	the	New	2014	Convertible	Bonds 32(iii) – – – 688,021 – – – – – – 688,021 – 688,021
Equity-settled	share	option	arrangements 34 – – – – 70,533 – – – – – 70,533 – 70,533
Transfer	to	statutory	reserves – – – – – – – 175,642 – (175,642) – – –

At 31 December 2009 382,408 7,441,991* 657* 163,509* 70,533* 98,009* 59,400* 936,719* (203,014)* 2,852,253* 11,802,465 – 11,802,465

*	 These	reserve	accounts	comprise	 the	consolidated	reserves	of	RMB11,420,057,000	(2008:	RMB8,228,043,000)	in	 the	
consolidated	statement	of	financial	position.
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2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

CASH FlOwS FROM OPERAtiNg ACtiVitiES
Profit	before	tax 1,832,509 1,533,849
Adjustments	for:
	 Finance	income 7 (341,209) (441,017)
	 Finance	costs 7 348,969 212,118
	 (Gain)/loss	on	the	derivative	component	of	
	 	 convertible	bonds 6 (136,740) 189,220
	 Gain	on	repurchases	of	the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds 5 (67,083) –
	 Impairment	of	goodwill 6 2,000 8,000
	 Impairment	of	other	investments 6 – 449,592
	 Impairment	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 6 – 31,725
	 Fair	value	loss	on	transfer	of	owner-occupied	
	 	 properties	to	investment	properties 6 81,493 6,632
	 Fair	value	loss	on	investment	properties 6 3,723 34,441
	 Fair	value	(gain)/loss	on	Hong	Kong	listed	investments 6 (1,236) 659
	 Loss	on	disposal	of	items	of	property,	plant	and	
	 	 equipment 6 28,798 13,763
	 Depreciation 6 345,597 296,256
	 Gain	on	disposal	of	a	jointly-controlled	entity – (3)
	 Amortisation	of	intangible	assets 6 9,042 9,626
	 Cash	settlement	for	top-up	subscription	shares	for	warrants 6 18,608 –
	 Equity-settled	share	option	expenses 34 70,533 –

2,195,004 2,344,861
Decrease/(increase)	in	lease	prepayments 22,682 (12,345)
Increase	in	inventories (1,058,956) (90,458)
(Increase)/decrease	in	trade	and	bills	receivables (9,107) 52,627
(Increase)/decrease	in	prepayments,	
	 deposits	and	other	receivables (378,627) 1,007,795
(Increase)/decrease	in	amounts	due	from	related	parties (99,303) 21,181
Decrease	in	other	financial	assets – 150,000
(Increase)/decrease	in	pledged	deposits (3,955,888) 1,774,269
Increase/(decrease)	in	trade	and	bills	payables 2,897,303 (638,587)
Increase/(decrease)	in	customers’	deposits,	
	 other	payables	and	accruals 144,475 (335,928)

Cash	(used	in)/generated	from	operations (242,417) 4,273,415
Interest	received 507,734 260,645
Dividends	paid – (661,090)
PRC	income	tax	paid (440,023) (262,610)

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating 
	 activities (174,706) 3,610,360
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows (continued)

2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Net cash flows (used in)/from operating 
	 activities (174,706) 3,610,360

CASH FlOwS FROM iNVEStiNg ACtiVitiES
Purchases	of	items	of	property,	plant	and	equipment (329,527) (1,179,635)
Proceeds	from	disposal	of	items	of	property,	
	 plant	and	equipment 6,555 15,042
Acquisition	of	a	subsidiary – (8,000)
Acquisition	of	other	investments – (543,552)
Payment	of	outstanding	considerations	for	
	 business	combinations (2,760) (45,000)
Increase	in	a	designated	loan – (2,100,000)
Increase	in	other	assets – (653,423)
Cash	receipt	for	investment	deposits 31,891 –

Net cash flows used in investing activities (293,841) (4,514,568)

CASH FlOwS FROM FiNANCiNg ACtiVitiES
Proceeds	from	issue	of	shares 33 1,360,573 –
Share	issue	expenses (75,674) –
Repurchase	of	shares – (2,067,557)
Repurchases	of	the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds 32(i) (1,820,100) –
Issue	of	the	2016	Convertible	Bonds 32(ii) 1,590,000 –
Transaction	costs	for	issue	of	the	2016	Convertible	Bonds 32(ii) (37,835) –
Issue	of	the	New	2014	Convertible	Bonds 32(iii) 2,357,200 –
Transaction	costs	for	issue	of	the	New	2014	
	 Convertible	Bonds 32(iii) (52,159) –
Cash	settlement	for	top-up	subscription	shares	for	warrants 6 (18,608)
New	bank	loans 860,000 100,000
Repayment	of	bank	loans (680,000) (230,000)
Interest	paid 7 (16,064) (16,088)

Net cash flows from/(used in) financing 
 activities 3,467,333 (2,213,645)

NEt iNCREASE/(DECREASE) iN CASH AND 
 CASH EQUiVAlENtS 2,998,786 (3,117,853)
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	at	beginning	of	year 3,051,069 6,269,996
Effect	of	foreign	exchange	rate	changes,	net (20,796) (101,074)

CASH AND CASH EQUiVAlENtS At END OF YEAR 6,029,059 3,051,069

ANAlYSiS OF BAlANCES OF CASH AND CASH 
 EQUiVAlENtS
Cash	and	bank	balances 28 5,492,859 2,055,835
Non-pledged	time	deposits	with	original	maturity	of	
	 less	than	three	months	when	acquired 28 536,200 995,234

6,029,059 3,051,069
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2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

NON-CURRENt ASSEtS
Interests	in	subsidiaries 22 8,698,491 8,891,592

Total	non-current	assets 8,698,491 8,891,592

CURRENt ASSEtS
Prepayments,	deposits	and	other	receivables 26 21,190 4,731
Pledged	deposits 28 2,606,371 –
Cash	and	cash	equivalents 28 1,918,775 1,004,394

Total	current	assets 4,546,336 1,009,125

CURRENt liABilitiES
Other	payables 55,786 6,334
Convertible	bonds 32 2,180,357 –

Total	current	liabilities 2,236,143 6,334

NEt CURRENt ASSEtS 2,310,193 1,002,791

tOtAl ASSEtS lESS CURRENt liABilitiES 11,008,684 9,894,383

NON-CURRENt liABilitiES
Convertible	bonds 32 3,174,909 3,569,553

Total	non-current	liabilities 3,174,909 3,569,553

Net assets 7,833,775 6,324,830

EQUitY
Issued	capital 33 382,408 331,791
Reserves 35(b) 7,451,367 5,993,039

total equity 7,833,775 6,324,830

Chen Xiao Ng kin wah

Director Director
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1. CORPORAtE iNFORMAtiON
GOME	Electrical	Appliances	Holding	 Limited	 (the	“Company”)	 is	a	 limited	 liability	company	 incorporated	 in	

Bermuda.	 Its	 shares	 are	 listed	 on	 The	 Stock	 Exchange	 of	Hong	 Kong	 Limited.	 The	 address	 of	 its	 registered	

office	is	Canon’s	Court,	22	Victoria	Street,	Hamilton	HM12,	Bermuda.

The	 principal	 activities	 of	 the	 Company	 and	 its	 subsidiaries	 (the	 “Group”)	 are	 the	 operations	 and	

management	 of	 networks	 of	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronic	 products	 retail	 stores	 in	 the	

People’s	Republic	of	China	(the	“PRC”).

As	at	 the	date	of	approval	of	 these	 financial	 statements,	 in	 the	opinion	of	 the	board	of	directors,	 the	Board	

and	 the	 management	 of	 the	 Company	 were	 stable	 and	 the	 Company	 maintained	 normal	 operation.	 The	

Board	 considers	 that	 the	 subsidiary’s	 involvement	 in	 the	 litigation,	 as	 set	 out	 in	 note	 43	 to	 these	 financial	

statements,	would	not	have	any	material	impact	on	the	operation	and	financial	condition	of	the	Company.

2.1 BASiS OF PREPARAtiON
These	 financial	 statements	 have	 been	 prepared	 in	 accordance	 with	 International	 Financial	 Reporting	

Standards	(“IFRSs”)	promulgated	by	the	International	Accounting	Standards	Board	(“IASB”)	and	the	disclosure	

requirements	 of	 the	Hong	 Kong	Companies	Ordinance.	 They	 have	 been	 prepared	 under	 the	 historical	 cost	

convention,	except	for	Hong	Kong	listed	investments,	investment	properties,	other	investments	which	classified	

as	 available-for-sale	 financial	 assets	 and	 the	 derivative	 components	 of	 the	 convertible	 bonds,	 which	 have	

been	measured	at	fair	value.	These	financial	statements	are	presented	in	Renminbi	(“RMB”)	and	all	values	are	

rounded	to	the	nearest	thousand	except	when	otherwise	indicated.

BASiS OF CONSOliDAtiON
The	 consolidated	 financial	 statements	 include	 the	 financial	 statements	 of	 the	Group	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 31	

December	2009.	Adjustments	are	made	 to	bring	 into	 line	any	dissimilar	accounting	policies	 that	may	exist.	

The	results	of	subsidiaries	are	consolidated	from	the	date	of	acquisition,	being	 the	date	on	which	 the	Group	

obtains	control,	and	continue	to	be	consolidated	until	the	date	that	such	control	ceases.	All	income,	expenses	

and	unrealised	gains	and	 losses	 resulting	 from	 intercompany	 transactions	and	 intercompany	balances	within	

the	Group	are	eliminated	on	consolidation	in	full.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.1 BASiS OF PREPARAtiON (continued)
BASiS OF CONSOliDAtiON	(continued)
The	acquisition	of	subsidiaries	has	been	accounted	for	using	the	purchase	method	of	accounting.	This	method	

involves	allocating	 the	cost	of	 the	business	combinations	 to	 the	 fair	value	of	 the	 identifiable	assets	acquired,	

and	 liabilities	 and	 contingent	 liabilities	 assumed	 at	 the	 date	 of	 acquisition.	 The	 cost	 of	 the	 acquisition	 is	

measured	 at	 the	 aggregate	 of	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 assets	 given,	 equity	 instruments	 issued	 and	 liabilities	

incurred	 or	 assumed	 at	 the	 date	 of	 exchange,	 plus	 costs	 directly	 attributable	 to	 the	 acquisition.	Contingent	

consideration	 is	 recognised	 if	 the	 adjustment	 is	 probable	 and	 can	 be	 measured	 reliably.	 Subsequent	

measurement	to	the	contingent	consideration	affects	goodwill.

Minority	 interests	 represent	 the	 interests	of	outside	 shareholders	not	held	by	 the	Group	 in	 the	 results	and	net	

assets	 of	 the	 Company’s	 subsidiaries.	 An	 acquisition	 of	 minority	 interests	 is	 accounted	 for	 using	 the	 parent	

entity	extension	method	whereby	the	difference	between	the	consideration	and	the	book	value	of	the	share	of	

the	net	assets	acquired	is	recognised	as	goodwill.

2.2 CHANgES iN ACCOUNtiNg POliCY AND DiSClOSURES
The	Group	has	adopted	 the	 following	new	and	 revised	 IFRSs	 for	 the	 first	 time	 for	 the	current	year’s	 financial	

statements.	 Except	 for	 in	 certain	 cases,	 giving	 rise	 to	 new	 and	 revised	 accounting	 policies	 and	 additional	

disclosures,	 the	 adoption	 of	 these	 new	 and	 revised	 IFRSs	 has	 had	 no	 significant	 effect	 on	 these	 financial	

statements.

IFRS	1	and	IAS	27	Amendments Amendments	to	IFRS	1	First-time Adoption of IFRSs	and	IAS	27

 Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements – Cost of 

 an Investment in a Subsidiary, Jointly Controlled Entity or

 Associate

IFRS	2	Amendments Amendments	to	IFRS	2	Share-based Payment – 

 Vesting Conditions and Cancellations

IFRS	7	Amendments Amendments	to	IFRS	7	Financial Instruments: Disclosure –

 Improving Disclosures about Financial Instruments

IFRS	8 Operating Segments

IAS	1	(Revised) Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS	18	Amendment* Amendment	to	Appendix	to	IAS	18	Revenue – Determining

 whether an entity is acting as a principal or as an agent

IAS	23	(Revised) Borrowing Costs
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.2 CHANgES iN ACCOUNtiNg POliCY AND DiSClOSURES (continued)
IAS	32	and	IAS	1	Amendments Amendments	to	IAS	32	Financial Instruments: Presentation	and

	 IAS	1	Presentation of Financial Statements – Puttable 

 Financial Instruments and Obligations Arising on Liquidation

IFRIC	9	and	IAS	39	Amendments Amendments	to	IFRIC	9	Reassessment of Embedded

 Derivatives and	IAS	39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and

 Measurement – Embedded Derivatives

IFRIC	13 Customer Loyalty Programmes

IFRIC	15 Agreements for the Construction of Real Estate

IFRIC	16 Hedges of a Net Investment in a Foreign Operation

IFRIC	18 Transfers of Assets from Customers (adopted	from	1	July	2009)

Improvements	to	IFRSs

	 (May	2008)

Amendments	to	a	number	of	IFRSs

*	 Included	in	Improvements to IFRSs 2009 (as	issued	in	April	2009).

The	principal	effects	of	adopting	these	new	and	revised	IFRSs	are	as	follows:

(a)	 Amendments	 to	 IFRS	 7	 Financial Instruments: Disclosure – Improving Disclosures about Financial 

Instruments

The	 IFRS	 7	 Amendments	 require	 additional	 disclosures	 about	 fair	 value	 measurement	 and	 liquidity	

risk.	 Fair	 value	measurements	 related	 to	 items	 recorded	 at	 fair	 value	 are	 to	 be	 disclosed	 by	 sources	

of	 inputs	 using	 a	 three-level	 fair	 value	 hierarchy,	 by	 class,	 for	 all	 financial	 instruments	 recognised	 at	

fair	 value.	 In	 addition,	 a	 reconciliation	 between	 the	 beginning	and	 ending	balance	 is	 now	 required	

for	 level	 3	 fair	 value	 measurements,	 as	 well	 as	 significant	 transfers	 between	 levels	 in	 the	 fair	 value	

hierarchy.	 The	 amendments	 also	 clarify	 the	 requirements	 for	 liquidity	 risk	 disclosures	 with	 respect	

to	 derivative	 transactions	 and	 assets	 used	 for	 liquidity	 management.	 The	 fair	 value	 measurement	

disclosures	 are	 presented	 in	 note	 41	 to	 the	 financial	 statements	 while	 the	 revised	 liquidity	 risk	

disclosures	are	presented	in	note	42	to	the	financial	statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.2 CHANgES iN ACCOUNtiNg POliCY AND DiSClOSURES (continued)
(b)	 IFRS	8	Operating Segments

IFRS	8,	which	 replaces	 IAS	14	Segment Reporting,	 specifies	how	an	entity	 should	 report	 information	

about	 its	 operating	 segments,	 based	 on	 information	 about	 the	 components	 of	 the	 entity	 that	 is	

available	 to	 the	 chief	 operating	 decision	 maker	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 allocating	 resources	 to	 the	

segments	 and	 assessing	 their	 performance.	 The	 standard	 also	 requires	 the	 disclosure	 of	 information	

about	 the	 products	 and	 services	 provided	 by	 the	 segments,	 the	 geographical	 areas	 in	 which	 the	

Group	operates,	and	 revenue	 from	 the	Group’s	major	 customers.	 The	Group’s	 segment	 information	 is	

disclosed	in	note	4	to	the	financial	statements.

(c)	 IAS	1	(Revised)	Presentation of Financial Statements

IAS	 1	 (Revised)	 introduces	 changes	 in	 the	 presentation	 and	 disclosures	 of	 financial	 statements.	 The	

revised	 standard	 separates	 owner	 and	 non-owner	 changes	 in	 equity.	 The	 statement	 of	 changes	

in	 equity	 includes	 only	 details	 of	 transactions	 with	 owners,	 with	 all	 non-owner	 changes	 in	 equity	

presented	 as	 a	 single	 line.	 In	 addition,	 this	 standard	 introduces	 the	 statement	 of	 comprehensive	

income,	with	all	items	of	income	and	expense	recognised	in	profit	or	loss,	together	with	all	other	items	

of	 recognised	 income	and	expense	 recognised	directly	 in	equity,	either	 in	one	single	statement,	or	 in	

two	linked	statements.	The	Group	has	elected	to	present	two	statements.

(d)	 IAS	23	(Revised)	Borrowing Costs

IAS	 23	 has	 been	 revised	 to	 require	 capitalisation	 of	 borrowing	 costs	 when	 such	 costs	 are	 directly	

attributable	 to	 the	 acquisition,	 construction	 or	 production	 of	 a	 qualifying	 asset.	 In	 accordance	 with	

the	 transitional	 provisions	 in	 the	 revised	 standard,	 the	 Group	 has	 adopted	 the	 revised	 standard	

on	 a	 prospective	 basis.	 Therefore,	 borrowing	 costs	 are	 capitalised	 on	 qualifying	 assets	 with	 a	

commencement	date	on	or	after	1	January	2009.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.2 CHANgES iN ACCOUNtiNg POliCY AND DiSClOSURES (continued)
(e)	 IFRIC	13	Customer Loyalty Programmes

IFRIC	 13	 requires	 customer	 loyalty	 award	 credits	 to	 be	 accounted	 for	 as	 a	 separate	 component	 of	

the	 sales	 transaction	 in	 which	 they	 are	 granted.	 The	 consideration	 received	 in	 the	 sales	 transaction	

is	 allocated	 between	 the	 loyalty	 award	 credits	 and	 the	 other	 components	 of	 the	 sale.	 The	 amount	

allocated	 to	 the	 loyalty	 award	 credits	 is	 determined	 by	 reference	 to	 their	 fair	 value	 and	 is	 deferred	

until	 the	 awards	 are	 redeemed	 or	 the	 liability	 is	 otherwise	 extinguished.	 The	 Group’s	 current	

accounting	policy	aligns	with	the	requirement	of	this	interpretation.

(f)	 Improvements	to	IFRSs

In	May	2008,	 the	 IASB	issued	its	 first	 Improvements to IFRSs	which	sets	out	amendments	 to	a	number	

of	 IFRSs.	 Except	 for	 the	 amendments	 to	 IFRS	 5	 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

Operations – Plan to sell the controlling interest in a subsidiary which	are	effective	for	annual	periods	

beginning	 on	 or	 after	 1	 July	 2009,	 the	Group	 adopted	 all	 the	 amendments	 from	 1	 January	 2009.	

While	 the	 adoption	 of	 some	 of	 the	 amendments	 results	 in	 changes	 to	 accounting	 policies,	 none	 of	

these	amendments	has	had	a	significant	financial	impact	to	the	Group.	Details	of	the	key	amendments	

most	applicable	to	the	Group	are	as	follows:

•	 IAS	 1	 Presentation of Financial Statements:	 Clarifies	 that	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 which	 are	

classified	 as	 held	 for	 trading	 in	 accordance	 with	 IAS	 39	 are	 not	 automatically	 classified	 as	

current	in	the	statement	of	financial	position.

•	 IAS	 16	 Property, Plant and Equipment:	 Replaces	 the	 term	 “net	 selling	 price”	 with	 “fair	 value	

less	 costs	 to	 sell”	 and	 states	 that	 the	 recoverable	 amount	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 is	

the	higher	of	an	asset’s	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	and	its	value	in	use.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.3 iSSUED BUt NOt YEt EFFECtiVE iNtERNAtiONAl FiNANCiAl REPORtiNg 
StANDARDS
The	Group	 has	 not	 applied	 the	 following	 new	 and	 revised	 IFRSs,	 which	 have	 been	 issued	 but	 are	 not	 yet	

effective,	in	these	financial	statements.

IFRS	1	(Revised) First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards	1

IFRS	1	Amendments Amendments	to	IFRS	1 First-time Adoption of International Financial 

 Reporting Standards – Additional Exemptions for First-time Adopters	2

IFRS	1	Amendments Amendments	 to	 IFRS	 1	 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting 

Standards – Limited Exception from Comparative IFRS 7 Disclosures for First-time 

 Adopters4

IFRS	2	Amendments Amendments	to	IFRS	2	Share-based Payment – Group Cash-settled

 Share-based Payment Transactions	2

IFRS	3	(Revised) Business Combinations	1

IFRS	9 Financial Instruments	6

IAS	24	(Revised) Related Party Disclosures	5

IAS	27	(Revised) Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements	1

IAS	32	Amendments Amendment	to	IAS	32	Financial Instruments: Presentation – Classification of

 Rights Issues	3

IAS	39	Amendment Amendment	to	IAS	39	Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement

 – Eligible Hedged Items	1

IFRIC	14	Amendments Amendments	to	IFRIC	14	Prepayments	of	a	Minimum	Funding	Requirement 5

IFRIC	17 Distributions of Non-cash Assets to Owners	1

IFRIC	19 Extinguishing Financial Liabilities with Equity Instruments	4

Amendments	to	IFRS	5

	 included	in	Improvements 

 to IFRSs	issued	in

	 May	2008

Amendments	to	IFRS	5	Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued 

 Operations – Plan to sell the controlling interest in a subsidiary	1
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.3 iSSUED BUt NOt YEt EFFECtiVE iNtERNAtiONAl FiNANCiAl REPORtiNg 
StANDARDS (continued)
Apart	 from	 the	 above,	 the	 IASB	 has	 issued	 Improvements to IFRSs 2009	 which	 sets	 out	 amendments	 to	 a	

number	of	 IFRSs	primarily	with	a	 view	 to	 removing	 inconsistencies	and	 clarifying	wording.	 The	amendments	

to	 IFRS	2,	 IAS	38,	 IFRIC	9	and	IFRIC	16	are	effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009	

while	 the	amendments	 to	 IFRS	5,	 IFRS	8,	 IAS	1,	 IAS	7,	 IAS	17,	IAS	36	and	IAS	39	are	effective	for	annual	

periods	 beginning	 on	 or	 after	 1	 January	 2010	 although	 there	 are	 separate	 transitional	 provisions	 for	 each	

standard	or	interpretation.

1	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2009
2	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2010
3	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	February	2010
4	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	July	2010
5	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2011
6	 Effective	for	annual	periods	beginning	on	or	after	1	January	2013

The	Group	 is	 in	 the	 process	 of	 making	 an	 assessment	 of	 the	 impact	 of	 these	 new	 and	 revised	 IFRSs	 upon	

initial	 application.	 So	 far,	 the	 Group	 considers	 it	 has	 considered	 that	 except	 for	 the	 adoption	 of	 IFRS	 3	

(Revised)	and	IAS	27	(Revised)	as	 further	explained	below,	 these	new	and	revised	IFRSs	are	unlikely	 to	have	

a	significant	impact	on	the	Group’s	results	of	operations	and	financial	position.

IFRS	3	(Revised)	introduces	a	number	of	changes	in	the	accounting	for	business	combinations	that	will	impact	

the	amount	 of	 goodwill	 recognised,	 the	 reported	 results	 in	 the	period	 that	 an	acquisition	 occurs,	 and	 future	

reported	results.

IAS	 27	 (Revised)	 requires	 that	 a	 change	 in	 the	 ownership	 interest	 of	 a	 subsidiary	without	 loss	 of	 control	 is	

accounted	 for	as	an	equity	 transaction.	Therefore,	 such	a	change	will	have	no	 impact	on	goodwill,	nor	will	

it	give	rise	to	a	gain	or	loss.	Furthermore,	the	revised	standard	changes	the	accounting	for	losses	incurred	by	

the	subsidiary	as	well	as	 the	 loss	of	control	of	a	subsidiary.	Other	consequential	amendments	were	made	 to	

IAS	7	Statement of Cash Flows, IAS	12	 Income Taxes,	 IAS	21	The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange 

Rates, IAS	28	Investments in Associates and	IAS	31	Interests in Joint Ventures.

The	 Group	 expects	 to	 adopt	 IFRS	 3	 (Revised)	 and	 IAS	 27	 (Revised)	 from	 1	 January	 2010.	 The	 changes	

introduced	by	 these	 revised	standards	must	be	applied	prospectively	and	will	affect	 the	accounting	of	 future	

acquisitions,	loss	of	control	and	transactions	with	minority	interests.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES
SUBSiDiARiES
A	subsidiary	 is	an	entity	whose	 financial	and	operating	policies	 the	Company	controls,	directly	or	 indirectly,	

so	as	to	obtain	benefits	from	its	activities.

The	results	of	subsidiaries	are	included	in	the	Company’s	income	statement	to	the	extent	of	dividends	received	

and	receivable.	The	Company’s	interests	in	subsidiaries	are	stated	at	cost	less	any	impairment	losses.

gOODwill
Goodwill	 arising	 on	 the	 acquisition	 of	 subsidiaries	 represents	 the	 excess	 of	 the	 cost	 of	 the	 business	

combination	over	 the	Group’s	 interest	 in	 the	net	 fair	value	of	 the	acquirees’	 identifiable	assets	acquired,	and	

liabilities	and	contingent	liabilities	assumed	as	at	the	date	of	acquisition.

Goodwill	arising	on	acquisition	is	recognised	in	 the	consolidated	statement	of	 financial	position	as	an	asset,	

initially	measured	at	cost	and	subsequently	at	cost	less	any	accumulated	impairment	losses.

The	carrying	amount	of	goodwill	 is	reviewed	for	impairment	annually	or	more	frequently	if	events	or	changes	

in	 circumstances	 indicate	 that	 the	 carrying	 value	 may	 be	 impaired.	 For	 the	 purpose	 of	 impairment	 testing,	

goodwill	acquired	 in	a	business	combination	 is,	 from	 the	acquisition	date,	allocated	 to	each	of	 the	Group’s	

cash-generating	 units,	 or	groups	of	 cash-generating	 units,	 that	 are	 expected	 to	benefit	 from	 the	 synergies	of	

the	combination,	irrespective	of	whether	other	assets	or	 liabilities	of	 the	Group	are	assigned	to	those	units	or	

groups	of	units.

Impairment	 is	 determined	 by	 assessing	 the	 recoverable	 amount	 of	 the	 cash-generating	 unit	 (group	 of	 cash-

generating	 units)	 to	 which	 the	 goodwill	 relates.	Where	 the	 recoverable	 amount	 of	 the	 cash-generating	 unit	

(group	 of	 cash-generating	 units)	 is	 less	 than	 the	 carrying	 amount,	 an	 impairment	 loss	 is	 recognised.	 An	

impairment	loss	recognised	for	goodwill	is	not	reversed	in	a	subsequent	period.

Where	 goodwill	 forms	 part	 of	 a	 cash-generating	 unit	 (group	 of	 cash-generating	 units)	 and	 part	 of	 the	

operation	within	 that	unit	 is	disposed	of,	 the	goodwill	associated	with	 the	operation	disposed	of	 is	 included	

in	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 the	 operation	 when	 determining	 the	 gain	 or	 loss	 on	 disposal	 of	 the	 operation.	

Goodwill	disposed	of	in	this	circumstance	is	measured	based	on	the	relative	values	of	the	operation	disposed	

of	and	the	portion	of	the	cash-generating	unit	retained.
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Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
EXCESS OVER tHE COSt OF BUSiNESS COMBiNAtiONS
Any	 excess	 of	 the	 Group’s	 interest	 in	 the	 net	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 acquirees’	 identifiable	 assets,	 liabilities	 and	

contingent	 liabilities	over	 the	cost	of	acquisition	of	 subsidiaries	 (previously	 referred	 to	as	negative	goodwill),	

after	reassessment,	is	recognised	immediately	in	the	income	statement.

iMPAiRMENt OF NON-FiNANCiAl ASSEtS OtHER tHAN gOODwill
Where	 an	 indication	 of	 impairment	 exists,	 or	 when	 annual	 impairment	 testing	 for	 an	 asset	 is	 required	

(other	 than	 inventories,	 deferred	 tax	 assets,	 financial	 assets,	 investment	 properties	 and	 goodwill),	 the	

asset’s	 recoverable	 amount	 is	 estimated.	An	 asset’s	 recoverable	 amount	 is	 the	 higher	 of	 the	 asset’s	 or	 cash-

generating	 unit’s	 value	 in	 use	and	 its	 fair	 value	 less	 costs	 to	 sell,	 and	 is	determined	 for	an	 individual	asset,	

unless	 the	 asset	 does	 not	 generate	 cash	 inflows	 that	 are	 largely	 independent	 of	 those	 from	 other	 assets	 or	

groups	of	assets,	 in	which	case	 the	 recoverable	amount	 is	determined	 for	 the	cash-generating	unit	 to	which	

the	asset	belongs.

An	 impairment	 loss	 is	 recognised	only	 if	 the	carrying	amount	of	an	asset	exceeds	 its	 recoverable	amount.	 In	

assessing	 value	 in	 use,	 the	estimated	 future	 cash	 flows	are	discounted	 to	 their	present	 value	 using	a	pre-tax	

discount	 rate	 that	 reflects	current	market	assessments	of	 the	 time	value	of	money	and	 the	 risks	 specific	 to	 the	

asset.	An	impairment	loss	is	charged	to	the	income	statement	in	the	period	in	which	it	arises	in	those	expense	

categories	consistent	with	the	function	of	the	impaired	asset,	unless	the	asset	is	carried	at	a	revalued	amount,	

in	which	case	the	impairment	loss	is	accounted	for	in	accordance	with	the	relevant	accounting	policy	for	that	

revalued	asset.

An	 assessment	 is	 made	 at	 the	 end	 of	 each	 reporting	 period	 as	 to	 whether	 there	 is	 any	 indication	 that	

previously	 recognised	 impairment	 losses	may	 no	 longer	 exist	 or	may	 have	 decreased.	 If	 such	 an	 indication	

exists,	 the	 recoverable	amount	 is	 estimated.	A	previously	 recognised	 impairment	 loss	 of	 an	asset	 other	 than	

goodwill	 is	 reversed	 only	 if	 there	 has	 been	 a	 change	 in	 the	 estimates	 used	 to	 determine	 the	 recoverable	

amount	of	that	asset,	but	not	to	an	amount	higher	than	the	carrying	amount	that	would	have	been	determined	

(net	of	any	depreciation/amortisation)	had	no	impairment	loss	been	recognised	for	the	asset	in	prior	years.	A	

reversal	of	such	an	impairment	loss	is	credited	to	the	income	statement	in	the	period	in	which	it	arises,	unless	

the	asset	 is	carried	at	a	revalued	amount,	 in	which	case	 the	reversal	of	 the	 impairment	 loss	 is	accounted	for	

in	accordance	with	the	relevant	accounting	policy	for	that	revalued	asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
RElAtED PARtiES
A	party	is	considered	to	be	related	to	the	Group	if:

(a)	 the	 party,	 directly	 or	 indirectly	 through	 one	 or	 more	 intermediaries,	 (i)	 controls,	 is	 controlled	 by,	 or	
is	 under	 common	 control	 with,	 the	 Group;	 (ii)	 has	 an	 interest	 in	 the	 Group	 that	 gives	 it	 significant	
influence	over	the	Group;	or	(iii)	has	joint	control	over	the	Group;

(b)	 the	party	is	an	associate;

(c)	 the	party	is	a	jointly-controlled	entity;

(d)	 the	party	is	a	member	of	the	key	management	personnel	of	the	Group	or	its	parent;

(e)	 the	party	is	a	close	member	of	the	family	of	any	individual	referred	to	in	(a)	or	(d);

(f)	 the	 party	 is	 an	 entity	 that	 is	 controlled,	 jointly	 controlled	 or	 significantly	 influenced	 by	 or	 for	 which	
significant	 voting	power	 in	 such	entity	 resides	with,	directly	or	 indirectly,	any	 individual	 referred	 to	 in	
(d)	or	(e);	or

(g)	 the	party	 is	a	post-employment	benefit	plan	 for	 the	benefit	of	 the	employees	of	 the	Group,	or	of	any	
entity	that	is	a	related	party	of	the	Group.

PROPERtY, PlANt AND EQUiPMENt AND DEPRECiAtiON
Property,	 plant	 and	 equipment,	 other	 than	 construction	 in	 progress,	 are	 stated	 at	 cost,	 less	 accumulated	
depreciation	and	any	impairment	losses.

The	 cost	 of	 an	 item	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 comprises	 its	 purchase	 price	 and	 any	 directly	
attributable	costs	of	bringing	 the	asset	 to	 its	working	condition	and	 location	 for	 its	 intended	use.	Expenditure	
incurred	 after	 items	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 have	 been	 put	 into	 operation,	 such	 as	 repairs	 and	
maintenance,	 is	normally	charged	 to	 the	 income	statement	 in	 the	period	 in	which	 it	 is	 incurred.	 In	 situations	
where	 the	 recognition	 criteria	 are	 satisfied,	 the	 expenditure	 for	 a	 major	 inspection	 is	 capitalised	 in	 the	
carrying	amount	of	the	asset	as	a	replacement.	Where	significant	parts	of	property,	plant	and	equipment	are	
required	to	be	replaced	at	intervals,	the	Group	recognises	such	parts	as	individual	assets	with	specific	useful	
lives	and	depreciation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
PROPERtY, PlANt AND EQUiPMENt AND DEPRECiAtiON	(continued)
Depreciation	 is	 calculated	on	 the	 straight-line	basis	 to	write	off	 the	cost	of	each	 item	of	property,	plant	and	
equipment	 to	 its	 residual	 value	over	 its	 estimated	 useful	 life,	 after	 taking	 into	account	 the	 estimated	 residual	
value	of	5%	to	10%,	as	follows:

Buildings 20	to	40	years
Leasehold	improvements The	shorter	of	the	remaining	lease	terms	and	five	years
Equipment	and	fixtures 4	to	15	years
Motor	vehicles 5	years

Residual	values,	useful	 lives	and	the	depreciation	method	are	reviewed,	and	adjusted	if	appropriate,	at	 least	
at	each	financial	year	end.

An	 item	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 and	 any	 significant	 part	 initially	 recognised	 is	 derecognised	
upon	disposal	or	when	no	 future	economic	benefits	are	expected	 from	 its	 use	or	disposal.	Any	gain	or	 loss	
on	 disposal	 or	 retirement	 recognised	 in	 the	 income	 statement	 in	 the	 year	 the	 asset	 is	 derecognised	 is	 the	
difference	between	the	net	sales	proceeds	and	the	carrying	amount	of	the	relevant	asset.

Construction	in	progress	represents	stores	under	construction,	which	is	stated	at	cost	less	any	impairment	loss,	
and	 is	 not	 depreciated.	 Cost	 comprises	 the	 direct	 costs	 of	 construction	 during	 the	 period	 of	 construction.	
Construction	 in	 progress	 is	 reclassified	 to	 the	 appropriate	 category	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	when	
completed	and	ready	for	use.

iNVEStMENt PROPERtiES
Investment	 properties	 are	 interests	 in	 land	 and	 buildings	 held	 to	 earn	 rental	 income	 and/or	 for	 capital	
appreciation,	 rather	 than	 for	 use	 in	 the	 production	 or	 supply	 of	 goods	 or	 services	 or	 for	 administrative	
purposes;	 or	 for	 sale	 in	 the	 ordinary	 course	 of	 business.	 Such	 properties	 are	 measured	 initially	 at	 cost,	
including	 transaction	 costs.	 Subsequent	 to	 initial	 recognition,	 investment	 properties	 are	 stated	 at	 fair	 value,	
which	reflects	market	conditions	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.

Gains	 or	 losses	 arising	 from	 changes	 in	 the	 fair	 values	 of	 investment	 properties	 are	 included	 in	 the	 income	
statement	in	the	year	in	which	they	arise.

Any	 gains	 or	 losses	 on	 the	 retirement	 or	 disposal	 of	 an	 investment	 property	 are	 recognised	 in	 the	 income	
statement	in	the	year	of	the	retirement	or	disposal.



31	December	2009

110

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
iNVEStMENt PROPERtiES	(continued)
If	 a	 property	 occupied	 by	 the	Group	 as	 an	 owner-occupied	 property	 becomes	 an	 investment	 property,	 the	
Group	accounts	for	such	property	in	accordance	with	the	policy	stated	under	“Property,	plant	and	equipment	
and	 depreciation”	 up	 to	 the	 date	 of	 change	 in	 use,	 and	 any	 difference	 at	 that	 date	 between	 the	 carrying	
amount	 and	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 property	 is	 accounted	 for	 as	 a	 revaluation.	 Changes	 in	 the	 values	 of	
property,	plant	and	equipment	are	dealt	with	as	movements	in	the	asset	revaluation	reserve.	If	the	total	of	this	
reserve	 is	 insufficient	 to	cover	a	deficit,	on	an	 individual	asset	basis,	 the	excess	of	 the	deficit	 is	 charged	 to	
the	income	statement.

iNtANgiBlE ASSEtS (OtHER tHAN gOODwill)
Intangible	 assets	 acquired	 separately	 are	 measured	 on	 initial	 recognition	 at	 cost.	 The	 cost	 of	 intangible	
assets	 acquired	 in	 a	 business	 combination	 is	 the	 fair	 value	 as	 at	 the	 date	 of	 acquisition.	 The	 useful	 lives	
of	 intangible	 assets	 are	 assessed	 to	 be	 either	 finite	 or	 indefinite.	 Intangible	 assets	 with	 finite	 lives	 are	
subsequently	 amortised	 over	 the	 useful	 economic	 life	 and	 assessed	 for	 impairment	 whenever	 there	 is	 an	
indication	 that	 the	 intangible	 asset	may	 be	 impaired.	 The	 amortisation	 period	 and	 the	 amortisation	method	
for	an	intangible	asset	with	a	finite	useful	life	are	reviewed	at	least	at	each	financial	year	end.

lEASES
Leases	 where	 substantially	 all	 the	 rewards	 and	 risks	 of	 ownership	 of	 assets	 remain	 with	 the	 lessor	 are	
accounted	 for	 as	 operating	 leases.	 Where	 the	 Group	 is	 the	 lessor,	 assets	 leased	 by	 the	 Group	 under	
operating	 leases	 are	 included	 in	 non-current	 assets,	 and	 rentals	 receivable	 under	 the	 operating	 leases	 are	
credited	 to	 the	 income	 statement	 on	 the	 straight-line	 basis	 over	 the	 lease	 terms.	 Where	 the	 Group	 is	 the	
lessee,	 rentals	 payable	 under	 the	 operating	 leases	 are	 charged	 to	 the	 income	 statement	 on	 the	 straight-line	
basis	over	the	lease	terms.

Prepaid	 land	 lease	payments	under	operating	 leases	are	 initially	stated	at	cost	and	subsequently	 recognised	
on	 the	 straight-line	 basis	 over	 the	 lease	 terms.	 When	 the	 lease	 payments	 cannot	 be	 allocated	 reliably	
between	the	land	and	buildings	elements,	 the	entire	 lease	payments	are	included	in	the	cost	of	 the	land	and	
buildings	as	a	finance	lease	in	property,	plant	and	equipment.

iNVEStMENtS AND OtHER FiNANCiAl ASSEtS
initial recognition and measurement
Financial	 assets	within	 the	 scope	 of	 IAS	39	are	 classified	 as	 financial	 assets	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 profit	 or	
loss,	loans	and	receivables,	and	available-for-sale	financial	assets,	as	appropriate.	The	Group	determines	the	
classification	of	 its	 financial	assets	at	 initial	 recognition.	When	 financial	assets	are	 recognised	 initially,	 they	
are	measured	 at	 fair	 value,	 plus,	 in	 the	 case	 of	 investments	 not	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 profit	 or	 loss,	 directly	
attributable	transaction	costs.



31	December	2009

GOME	Electrical	Appliances	Holding	Limited

Annual	Report	2009111

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
iNVEStMENtS AND OtHER FiNANCiAl ASSEtS	(continued)
initial recognition and measurement	(continued)
All	 regular	way	purchases	 and	 sales	 of	 financial	 assets	 are	 recognised	 on	 the	 trade	date,	 that	 is,	 the	 date	
that	 the	Group	commits	 to	purchase	or	sell	 the	asset.	Regular	way	purchases	or	sales	are	purchases	or	sales	
of	 financial	 assets	 that	 require	 delivery	 of	 assets	 within	 the	 period	 generally	 established	 by	 regulation	 or	
convention	in	the	marketplace.

The	Group’s	financial	assets	include	cash	and	bank	balances,	trade	and	other	receivables,	loans	receivable,	
quoted	and	unquoted	financial	instruments,	and	derivative	financial	instruments.

Subsequent measurement
The	subsequent	measurement	of	financial	assets	depends	on	their	classification	as	follows:

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Financial	 assets	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 profit	 or	 loss	 include	 financial	 assets	 held	 for	 trading	 and	 financial	
assets	designated	upon	initial	recognition	as	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.

Financial	 assets	 are	 classified	 as	 held	 for	 trading	 if	 they	 are	 acquired	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 sale	 in	 the	 near	
term.	This	category	includes	derivative	financial	instruments	entered	into	by	the	Group	that	are	not	designated	
as	 hedging	 instruments	 in	 hedge	 relationships	 as	 defined	 by	 IAS	 39.	 Derivatives,	 including	 separated	
embedded	derivatives,	are	also	classified	as	held	for	trading	unless	they	are	designated	as	effective	hedging	
instruments.	 Financial	 assets	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 profit	 or	 loss	 are	 carried	 in	 the	 statement	 of	 financial	
position	at	fair	value	with	changes	in	fair	value	recognised	in	the	income	statement.

The	Group	evaluates	its	financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	(held	for	trading)	to	assess	whether	
the	intent	 to	sell	 them	in	the	near	term	is	still	appropriate.	When	the	Group	is	unable	to	trade	these	financial	
assets	 due	 to	 inactive	 markets	 and	 management’s	 intent	 to	 sell	 them	 in	 the	 foreseeable	 future	 significantly	
changes,	 the	Group	may	 elect	 to	 reclassify	 these	 financial	 assets	 in	 rare	 circumstances.	 The	 reclassification	
from	 financial	assets	at	 fair	 value	 through	profit	 or	 loss	 to	 loans	and	 receivables,	available-for-sale	 financial	
assets	or	held-to-maturity	investments	depends	on	the	nature	of	the	assets.

Derivatives	 embedded	 in	 host	 contracts	 are	 accounted	 for	 as	 separate	 derivatives	 and	 recorded	 at	 fair	
value	 if	 their	economic	characteristics	and	risks	are	not	closely	 related	 to	 those	of	 the	host	contracts	and	 the	
host	 contracts	 are	 not	 held	 for	 trading	 or	 designated	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 profit	 or	 loss.	 These	 embedded	
derivatives	 are	 measured	 at	 fair	 value	 with	 changes	 in	 fair	 value	 recognised	 in	 the	 income	 statement.	
Reassessment	only	occurs	 if	 there	 is	a	change	 in	 the	 terms	of	 the	contract	 that	significantly	modifies	 the	cash	
flows	that	would	otherwise	be	required.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
iNVEStMENtS AND OtHER FiNANCiAl ASSEtS	(continued)
loans and receivables
Loans	 and	 receivables	 are	 non-derivative	 financial	 assets	 with	 fixed	 or	 determinable	 payments	 that	 are	 not	
quoted	 in	 an	 active	 market.	 After	 initial	 measurement,	 such	 assets	 are	 subsequently	 measured	 at	 amortised	
cost	 using	 the	effective	 interest	 rate	method	 less	any	allowance	 for	 impairment.	Amortised	cost	 is	 calculated	
taking	 into	 account	 any	 discount	 or	 premium	 on	 acquisition	 and	 includes	 fees	 or	 costs	 that	 are	 an	 integral	
part	of	 the	effective	 interest	 rate.	The	effective	 interest	 rate	amortisation	 is	 included	 in	 finance	 income	 in	 the	
income	statement.	The	 loss	arising	 from	 impairment	 is	 recognised	 in	 the	 income	statement	 in	other	operating	
expenses.

Available-for-sale financial investments
Available-for-sale	 financial	 investments	 are	 non-derivative	 financial	 assets	 in	 listed	 and	 unlisted	 equity	
securities.	 Equity	 investments	 classified	 as	 available	 for	 sale	 are	 those	 which	 are	 neither	 classified	 as	 held	
for	trading	nor	designated	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.	Debt	securities	in	this	category	are	those	which	
are	 intended	 to	 be	 held	 for	 an	 indefinite	 period	 of	 time	 and	which	 may	 be	 sold	 in	 response	 to	 needs	 for	
liquidity	or	in	response	to	changes	in	the	market	conditions.

After	 initial	 recognition,	 available-for-sale	 financial	 investments	 are	 subsequently	 measured	 at	 fair	 value,	
with	 unrealised	gains	or	 losses	 recognised	as	other	 comprehensive	 income	 in	 the	other	 investment	 valuation	
reserve	 until	 the	 investment	 is	 derecognised,	 at	which	 time	 the	 cumulative	 gain	 or	 loss	 is	 recognised	 in	 the	
income	 statement	 in	 other	 income,	 or	 until	 the	 investment	 is	 determined	 to	 be	 impaired,	 at	 which	 time	 the	
cumulative	 gain	 or	 loss	 is	 recognised	 in	 the	 income	 statement	 and	 removed	 from	 the	 investment	 revaluation	
reserve.	 Interest	 and	 dividends	 earned	 are	 reported	 as	 interest	 income	 and	 dividend	 income,	 respectively	
and	 are	 recognised	 in	 the	 income	 statement	 as	 other	 income	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 policies	 set	 out	 for	
“Revenue	recognition”	below.

When	the	fair	value	of	unlisted	equity	securities	cannot	be	reliably	measured	because	(a)	the	variability	in	the	
range	of	reasonable	fair	value	estimates	is	significant	for	that	investment	or	(b)	the	probabilities	of	the	various	
estimates	within	 the	 range	cannot	be	 reasonably	assessed	and	used	 in	estimating	 fair	 value,	 such	 securities	
are	stated	at	cost	less	any	impairment	losses.

The	 Group	 evaluates	 its	 available-for-sale	 financial	 assets	 whether	 the	 ability	 and	 intention	 to	 sell	 them	 in	
the	near	 term	are	still	appropriate.	When	 the	Group	 is	unable	 to	 trade	 these	 financial	assets	due	 to	 inactive	
markets	 and	 management’s	 intent	 to	 do	 so	 significantly	 changes	 in	 the	 foreseeable	 future,	 the	 Group	 may	
elect	 to	 reclassify	 these	 financial	 assets	 in	 rare	 circumstances.	 Reclassification	 to	 loans	 and	 receivables	 is	
permitted	when	the	financial	assets	meet	the	definition	of	loans	and	receivables	and	the	Group	has	the	intent	
and	 ability	 to	 hold	 these	 assets	 for	 the	 foreseeable	 future	 or	 to	 maturity.	 The	 reclassification	 to	 the	 held-to-
maturity	category	is	permitted	only	when	the	entity	has	the	ability	and	intent	 to	hold	until	 the	maturity	date	of	
the	financial	asset.



31	December	2009

GOME	Electrical	Appliances	Holding	Limited

Annual	Report	2009113

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
iNVEStMENtS AND OtHER FiNANCiAl ASSEtS	(continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments	(continued)

For	a	financial	asset	reclassified	out	of	the	available-for-sale	category,	any	previous	gain	or	loss	on	that	asset	

that	has	been	recognised	in	equity	is	amortised	to	profit	or	loss	over	the	remaining	life	of	the	investment	using	

the	 effective	 interest	 rate.	 Any	 difference	 between	 the	 new	 amortised	 cost	 and	 the	 expected	 cash	 flows	 is	

also	amortised	over	the	remaining	life	of	the	asset	using	the	effective	interest	rate.	If	 the	asset	is	subsequently	

determined	to	be	impaired,	then	the	amount	recorded	in	equity	is	reclassified	to	the	income	statement.

DERECOgNitiON OF FiNANCiAl ASSEtS
A	 financial	 asset	 (or,	 where	 applicable,	 a	 part	 of	 a	 financial	 asset	 or	 part	 of	 a	 group	 of	 similar	 financial	

assets)	is	derecognised	when:

•	 the	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset	have	expired;	or

•	 the	Group	has	transferred	its	rights	to	receive	cash	flows	from	the	asset,	or	has	assumed	an	obligation	

to	 pay	 the	 received	 cash	 flows	 in	 full	without	material	 delay	 to	 a	 third	 party	 under	 a	 “pass-through”	

arrangement;	 and	 either	 (a)	 the	 Group	 has	 transferred	 substantially	 all	 the	 risks	 and	 rewards	 of	 the	

asset,	 or	 (b)	 the	Group	 has	 neither	 transferred	 nor	 retained	 substantially	 all	 the	 risks	 and	 rewards	 of	

the	asset,	but	has	transferred	control	of	the	asset.

When	 the	Group	 has	 transferred	 its	 rights	 to	 receive	 cash	 flows	 from	 an	 asset	 or	 has	 entered	 into	 a	 pass-

through	 arrangement,	 and	 has	 neither	 transferred	 nor	 retained	 substantially	 all	 the	 risks	 and	 rewards	 of	 the	

asset	 nor	 transferred	 control	 of	 the	 asset,	 the	 asset	 is	 recognised	 to	 the	 extent	 of	 the	 Group’s	 continuing	

involvement	in	the	asset.	In	that	case,	the	Group	also	recognises	an	associated	liability.	The	transferred	asset	

and	 the	 associated	 liability	 are	measured	 on	 a	 basis	 that	 reflects	 the	 rights	 and	 obligations	 that	 the	Group	

has	retained.

Continuing	involvement	that	takes	the	form	of	a	guarantee	over	the	transferred	asset	is	measured	at	the	lower	

of	 the	original	carrying	amount	of	 the	asset	and	 the	maximum	amount	of	consideration	 that	 the	Group	could	

be	required	to	repay.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
iMPAiRMENt OF FiNANCiAl ASSEtS
The	 Group	 assesses	 at	 the	 end	 of	 each	 reporting	 period	 whether	 there	 is	 any	 objective	 evidence	 that	 a	

financial	 asset	 or	 group	 of	 financial	 assets	 is	 impaired.	 A	 financial	 asset	 or	 a	 group	 of	 financial	 assets	 is	

deemed	 to	be	 impaired	 if,	and	only	 if,	 there	 is	objective	evidence	of	 impairment	as	a	 result	of	one	or	more	

events	 that	 has	 occurred	 after	 the	 initial	 recognition	 of	 the	 asset	 (an	 incurred	 “loss	 event”)	 and	 that	 loss	

event	has	an	impact	on	 the	estimated	future	cash	flows	of	 the	 financial	asset	or	 the	group	of	 financial	assets	

that	 can	be	 reliably	estimated.	Evidence	of	 impairment	may	 include	 indications	 that	a	debtor	or	a	group	of	

debtors	is	experiencing	significant	financial	difficulty,	default	or	delinquency	in	interest	or	principal	payments,	

the	 probability	 that	 they	 will	 enter	 bankruptcy	 or	 other	 financial	 reorganisation	 and	 observable	 data	

indicating	that	 there	is	a	measurable	decrease	in	the	estimated	future	cash	flows,	such	as	changes	in	arrears	

or	economic	conditions	that	correlate	with	defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For	financial	assets	carried	at	amortised	cost,	the	Group	first	assesses	individually	whether	objective	evidence	

of	impairment	exists	for	financial	assets	that	are	individually	significant,	or	collectively	for	financial	assets	that	

are	not	individually	significant.	If	the	Group	determines	that	no	objective	evidence	of	impairment	exists	for	an	

individually	assessed	 financial	 asset,	whether	 significant	 or	 not,	 it	 includes	 the	asset	 in	a	group	of	 financial	

assets	 with	 similar	 credit	 risk	 characteristics	 and	 collectively	 assesses	 them	 for	 impairment.	 Assets	 that	 are	

individually	assessed	for	 impairment	and	for	which	an	impairment	 loss	is,	or	continues	 to	be,	recognised	are	

not	included	in	a	collective	assessment	of	impairment.

If	 there	 is	objective	evidence	 that	an	 impairment	 loss	has	been	 incurred,	 the	amount	of	 the	 loss	 is	measured	

as	 the	 difference	 between	 the	 asset’s	 carrying	 amount	 and	 the	 present	 value	 of	 estimated	 future	 cash	 flows	

(excluding	 future	 credit	 losses	 that	 have	 not	 yet	 been	 incurred).	 The	 present	 value	 of	 the	 estimated	 future	

cash	 flows	 is	discounted	at	 the	 financial	asset’s	original	effective	 interest	 rate	 (i.e.,	 the	effective	 interest	 rate	

computed	 at	 initial	 recognition).	 If	 a	 loan	 has	 a	 variable	 interest	 rate,	 the	 discount	 rate	 for	 measuring	 any	

impairment	loss	is	the	current	effective	interest	rate.

The	carrying	amount	of	 the	asset	 is	reduced	through	the	use	of	an	allowance	account	and	the	amount	of	 the	

loss	 is	 recognised	 in	 the	 income	statement.	 Interest	 income	continues	 to	be	accrued	on	 the	 reduced	carrying	

amount	 and	 is	 accrued	 using	 the	 rate	 of	 interest	 used	 to	 discount	 the	 future	 cash	 flows	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	

measuring	the	impairment	loss.	Loans	and	receivables	together	with	any	associated	allowance	are	written	off	

when	there	is	no	realistic	prospect	of	future	recovery.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
iMPAiRMENt OF FiNANCiAl ASSEtS (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (continued)
If,	 in	 a	 subsequent	 period,	 the	 amount	 of	 the	 estimated	 impairment	 loss	 increases	 or	 decreases	 because	

of	 an	 event	 occurring	 after	 the	 impairment	 was	 recognised,	 the	 previously	 recognised	 impairment	 loss	 is	

increased	or	reduced	by	adjusting	the	allowance	account.	If	a	future	write-off	is	later	recovered,	the	recovery	

is	credited	to	the	income	statement.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For	available-for-sale	 financial	 investments,	 the	Group	assesses	at	 the	end	of	each	 reporting	period	whether	

there	is	objective	evidence	that	an	investment	or	a	group	of	investments	is	impaired.

If	 an	 available-for-sale	 investment	 is	 impaired,	 an	 amount	 comprising	 the	 difference	 between	 its	 cost	 (net	

of	 any	 principal	 payment	 and	 amortisation)	 and	 its	 current	 fair	 value,	 less	 any	 impairment	 loss	 previously	

recognised	 in	 the	 income	 statement,	 is	 removed	 from	 other	 comprehensive	 income	 and	 recognised	 in	 the	

income	statement.

In	 the	 case	 of	 equity	 investments	 classified	 as	 available	 for	 sale,	 objective	 evidence	 would	 include	 a	

significant	 or	 prolonged	 decline	 in	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 an	 investment	 below	 its	 cost.	 The	 determination	 of	

what	 is	 “significant”	 or	 “prolonged”	 requires	 judgement.	 “Significant”	 is	 evaluated	 against	 the	 original	 cost	

of	 the	 investment	 and	 “prolonged”	 against	 the	 period	 in	 which	 the	 fair	 value	 has	 been	 below	 its	 original	

cost.	 Where	 there	 is	 evidence	 of	 impairment,	 the	 cumulative	 loss	 –	 measured	 as	 the	 difference	 between	

the	 acquisition	 cost	 and	 the	 current	 fair	 value,	 less	 any	 impairment	 loss	 on	 that	 investment	 previously	

recognised	 in	 the	 income	 statement	 –	 is	 removed	 from	 other	 comprehensive	 income	 and	 recognised	 in	 the	

income	 statement.	 Impairment	 losses	 on	 equity	 instruments	 classified	 as	 available	 for	 sale	 are	 not	 reversed	

through	 the	 income	 statement.	 Increases	 in	 their	 fair	 value	 after	 impairment	 are	 recognised	 directly	 in	 other	

comprehensive	income.

FiNANCiAl liABilitiES
initial recognition and measurement

Financial	liabilities	within	the	scope	of	IAS	39	are	classified	as	financial	liabilities	at	fair	value	through	profit	

or	 loss	and	 loans	and	borrowings.	The	Group	determines	 the	classification	of	 its	 financial	 liabilities	at	 initial	

recognition.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
FiNANCiAl liABilitiES	(continued)
initial recognition and measurement (continued)
All	 financial	 liabilities	 are	 recognised	 initially	 at	 fair	 value	 and	 in	 the	 case	 of	 loans	 and	 borrowings,	 plus	

directly	attributable	transaction	costs.

The	Group’s	financial	liabilities	include	trade	and	other	payables,	derivative	financial	instruments	and	interest-

bearing	loans	and	borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The	measurement	of	financial	liabilities	depends	on	their	classification	as	follows:

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss

Financial	 liabilities	 at	 fair	 value	 through	 profit	 or	 loss	 includes	 financial	 liabilities	 held	 for	 trading	 and	

financial	liabilities	designated	upon	initial	recognised	as	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss.

Financial	 liabilities	 are	 classified	 as	 held	 for	 trading	 if	 they	 are	 acquired	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 selling	 in	 the	

near	 term.	 This	 category	 includes	 derivative	 financial	 instruments	 entered	 into	 by	 the	 Group	 that	 are	 not	

designated	 as	 hedging	 instruments	 in	 hedge	 relationships	 as	 defined	 by	 IAS	 39.	 Separated	 embedded	

derivatives	are	also	classified	as	held	for	trading	unless	they	are	designated	as	effective	hedging	instruments.	

Gains	or	 losses	on	liabilities	held	for	 trading	are	recognised	in	the	income	statement.	The	net	fair	value	gain	

or	loss	recognized	in	the	income	statement	does	not	include	any	interest	charged	in	these	financial	liabilities.

loans and borrowings

After	 initial	 recognition,	 interest-bearing	 loans	and	borrowings	are	subsequently	measured	at	amortised	cost,	

using	 the	 effective	 interest	 rate	method	 unless	 the	 effect	 of	 discounting	would	 be	 immaterial,	 in	which	 case	

they	 are	 stated	 at	 cost.	 Gains	 and	 losses	 are	 recognised	 in	 the	 income	 statement	 when	 the	 liabilities	 are	

derecognised	as	well	as	through	the	effective	interest	rate	method	amortisation	process.

Amortised	cost	is	calculated	by	taking	into	account	any	discount	or	premium	on	acquisition	and	fees	or	costs	

that	 are	 an	 integral	 part	 of	 the	 effective	 interest	 rate.	 The	 effective	 interest	 rate	 amortisation	 is	 included	 in	

finance	costs	in	the	income	statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
FiNANCiAl liABilitiES	(continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial	 guarantee	 contracts	 issued	 by	 the	Group	 are	 those	 contracts	 that	 require	 a	 payment	 to	 be	made	

to	 reimburse	 the	holder	 for	a	 loss	 it	 incurs	because	 the	 specified	debtor	 fails	 to	make	a	payment	when	due	

in	 accordance	with	 the	 terms	 of	 a	 debt	 instrument.	 A	 financial	 guarantee	 contract	 is	 recognised	 initially	 as	

a	 liability	 at	 its	 fair	 value,	 adjusted	 for	 transaction	 costs	 that	 are	 directly	 attributable	 to	 the	 issuance	 of	 the	

guarantee.	 Subsequent	 to	 initial	 recognition,	 the	 Group	 measures	 the	 financial	 guarantee	 contract	 at	 the	

higher	 of:	 (i)	 the	 amount	 of	 the	 best	 estimate	 of	 the	 expenditure	 required	 to	 settle	 the	 present	 obligation	 at	

the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period;	 and	 (ii)	 the	 amount	 initially	 recognised	 less,	when	 appropriate,	 cumulative	

amortisation.

Convertible bonds

The	 component	 of	 convertible	 bonds	 that	 exhibits	 characteristics	 of	 a	 liability	 is	 recognised	 as	 a	 liability	 in	

the	 statement	of	 financial	position,	net	of	 transaction	costs.	On	 issuance	of	convertible	bonds,	 the	 fair	 value	

of	 the	 liability	 component	 is	 determined	 using	 a	 market	 rate	 for	 an	 equivalent	 non-convertible	 bond;	 and	

this	 amount	 is	 carried	 as	 a	 long	 term	 liability	 on	 the	 amortised	 cost	 basis	 until	 extinguished	 on	 conversion	

or	 redemption.	 The	 remainder	 of	 the	 proceeds	 is	 allocated	 to	 the	 conversion	 option	 that	 is	 recognised	 and	

included	 in	 shareholders’	 equity,	 net	 of	 transaction	 costs.	 The	 carrying	 amount	 of	 the	 conversion	 option	 is	

not	 remeasured	 in	 subsequent	 years.	 Transaction	 costs	 are	 apportioned	 between	 the	 liability	 and	 equity	

components	 of	 the	 convertible	 bonds	 based	 on	 the	 allocation	 of	 proceeds	 to	 the	 liability	 and	 equity	

components	when	the	instruments	are	first	recognised.

If	 the	 conversion	 option	 of	 convertible	 bonds	 exhibits	 characteristics	 of	 an	 embedded	 derivative,	 it	 is	

separated	 from	 its	 liability	 component.	 On	 initial	 recognition,	 the	 derivative	 component	 of	 the	 convertible	

bonds	 is	 measured	 at	 fair	 value	 and	 presented	 as	 part	 of	 derivative	 financial	 instruments.	 Any	 excess	 of	

proceeds	 over	 the	 amount	 initially	 recognised	 as	 the	 derivative	 component	 is	 recognised	 as	 the	 liability	

component.	 Transaction	 costs	 are	 apportioned	 between	 the	 liability	 and	 derivative	 components	 of	 the	

convertible	 bonds	 based	 on	 the	 allocation	 of	 proceeds	 to	 the	 liability	 and	derivative	 components	when	 the	

instruments	 are	 initially	 recognised.	 The	 portion	 of	 the	 transaction	 costs	 relating	 to	 the	 liability	 component	

is	 recognised	 initially	 as	 part	 of	 the	 liability.	 The	portion	 relating	 to	 the	derivative	 component	 is	 recognised	

immediately	in	the	income	statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
FiNANCiAl liABilitiES	(continued)
Derecognition of financial liabilities

A	 financial	 liability	 is	 derecognised	 when	 the	 obligation	 under	 the	 liability	 is	 discharged	 or	 cancelled,	 or	

expires.

When	 an	 existing	 financial	 liability	 is	 replaced	 by	 another	 from	 the	 same	 lender	 on	 substantially	 different	

terms,	 or	 the	 terms	 of	 an	 existing	 liability	 are	 substantially	 modified,	 such	 an	 exchange	 or	 modification	 is	

treated	 as	 a	 derecognition	 of	 the	 original	 liability	 and	 a	 recognition	 of	 a	 new	 liability,	 and	 the	 difference	

between	the	respective	carrying	amounts	is	recognised	in	the	income	statement.

OFFSEttiNg OF FiNANCiAl iNStRUMENtS
Financial	assets	and	financial	liabilities	are	offset	and	the	net	amount	is	reported	in	the	statement	of	financial	

position	if,	and	only	if,	there	is	currently	enforceable	legal	right	to	offset	the	recognised	amounts	and	there	is	

an	intention	to	settle	on	a	net	basis,	or	to	realise	the	assets	and	settle	the	liabilities	simultaneously.

FAiR VAlUE OF FiNANCiAl iNStRUMENtS
The	 fair	value	of	 financial	 instruments	 that	are	 traded	 in	active	markets	 is	determined	by	 reference	 to	quoted	

market	 prices	 or	 dealer	 price	 quotations	 (bid	 price	 for	 long	 positions	 and	 ask	 price	 for	 short	 positions),	

without	 any	 deduction	 for	 transaction	 costs.	 For	 financial	 instruments	 where	 there	 is	 no	 active	 market,	 the	

fair	 value	 is	 determined	 using	 appropriate	 valuation	 techniques.	 Such	 techniques	 include	 using	 recent	 arm’s	

length	market	 transactions;	 reference	 to	 the	 current	market	 value	 of	 another	 instrument	which	 is	 substantially	

the	same;	a	discounted	cash	flow	analysis;	and	option	pricing	models	or	other	valuation	models.

DERiVAtiVE FiNANCiAl iNStRUMENtS
Current versus non-current classification

Derivative	 instruments	 that	 are	 not	 designated	 and	 effective	 hedging	 instruments	 are	 classified	 as	 current	

or	 non-current	 or	 separated	 into	 a	 current	 or	 non-current	 potion	 based	 on	 an	 assessment	 of	 the	 facts	 and	

circumstances	(i.e.,	the	underlying	contracted	cash	flows).

•	 Where	 the	 Group	 will	 hold	 a	 derivative	 as	 an	 economic	 hedge	 (and	 does	 not	 apply	 hedge	

accounting)	 for	 a	 period	 beyond	 12	 months	 after	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	 derivative	

is	 classified	 as	 non-current	 (or	 separated	 into	 current	 and	 non-current	 portions)	 consistently	 with	 the	

classification	of	the	underlying	item.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
DERiVAtiVE FiNANCiAl iNStRUMENtS (continued)
Current versus non-current classification (continued)
•	 Embedded	derivatives	 that	 are	 not	 closely	 related	 to	 the	 host	 contract	 are	 classified	 consistently	with	

the	cash	flows	of	the	host	contract.

•	 Derivative	 instruments	 that	 are	 designated	 as,	 and	 are	 effective	 hedging	 instruments,	 are	 classified	

consistent	 with	 the	 classification	 of	 the	 underlying	 hedged	 item.	 The	 derivative	 instruments	 are	

separated	into	current	portions	and	non-current	portions	only	if	a	reliable	allocation	can	be	made.

iNVENtORiES
Inventories	comprise	merchandise	purchased	 for	 resale	and	consumables	and	are	stated	at	 the	 lower	of	cost	

and	net	realisable	value.

Cost	is	determined	on	the	first-in,	first-out	basis.	Net	realisable	value	is	based	on	estimated	selling	prices	less	

any	estimated	costs	to	be	incurred	to	disposal.

CASH AND CASH EQUiVAlENtS
For	 the	 purpose	 of	 the	 consolidated	 statement	 of	 cash	 flows,	 cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 comprise	 cash	 on	

hand	and	demand	deposits,	and	 short	 term	highly	 liquid	 investments	 that	are	 readily	convertible	 into	 known	

amounts	 of	 cash,	 are	 subject	 to	 an	 insignificant	 risk	 of	 changes	 in	 value,	 and	 have	 a	 short	 maturity	 of	

generally	within	three	months	when	acquired,	less	bank	overdrafts	which	are	repayable	on	demand	and	form	

an	integral	part	of	the	Group’s	cash	management.

For	the	purpose	of	the	statement	of	financial	position,	cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	cash	on	hand	and	

at	banks,	including	term	deposits,	which	are	not	restricted	as	to	use.

PROViSiONS
A	provision	 is	 recognised	when	a	 present	 obligation	 (legal	 or	 constructive)	 has	 arisen	 as	 a	 result	 of	 a	 past	

event	and	 it	 is	probable	 that	a	 future	outflow	of	 resources	will	be	 required	 to	 settle	 the	obligation,	provided	

that	a	reliable	estimate	can	be	made	of	the	amount	of	the	obligation.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
PROViSiONS (continued)
When	 the	effect	of	discounting	 is	material,	 the	amount	 recognised	 for	a	provision	 is	 the	present	value	at	 the	

end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period	 of	 the	 future	 expenditures	 expected	 to	 be	 required	 to	 settle	 the	 obligation.	 The	

increase	in	the	discounted	present	value	amount	arising	from	the	passage	of	time	is	included	in	finance	costs	

in	the	income	statement.

Provisions	 for	 product	 warranties	 granted	 by	 the	 Group	 on	 certain	 products	 are	 recognised	 based	 on	

sales	 volume	 and	 past	 experience	 of	 the	 level	 of	 repairs	 and	 returns,	 discounted	 to	 their	 present	 values	 as	

appropriate.

iNCOME tAX
Income	 tax	comprises	current	and	deferred	 tax.	 Income	 tax	 relating	 to	 items	 recognised	outside	profit	or	 loss	

is	recognised	outside	profit	or	loss,	either	in	other	comprehensive	income	or	directly	in	equity.

Current	 tax	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 for	 the	 current	 and	 prior	 periods	 are	 measured	 at	 the	 amounts	 expected	

to	 be	 recovered	 from	or	 paid	 to	 the	 taxation	 authorities,	 based	on	 tax	 rates	 (and	 tax	 laws)	 that	 have	been	

enacted	or	substantively	enacted	by	 the	end	of	 the	reporting	period,	 taking	 into	consideration	 interpretations	

and	practices	prevailing	in	the	countries	in	which	the	Group	operates.

Deferred	 tax	 is	 provided	using	 the	 liability	method,	on	all	 temporary	differences	at	 the	end	of	 the	 reporting	

period	 between	 the	 tax	 bases	 of	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 and	 their	 carrying	 amounts	 for	 financial	 reporting	

purposes.

Deferred	tax	liabilities	are	recognised	for	all	taxable	temporary	differences,	except:

•	 where	the	deferred	tax	liability	arises	from	or	the	initial	recognition	of	goodwill	or	an	asset	or	 liability	

in	a	 transaction	 that	 is	not	a	business	combination	and,	at	 the	 time	of	 the	 transaction,	affects	neither	

the	accounting	profit	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss;	and

•	 in	 respect	 of	 taxable	 temporary	 differences	 associated	 with	 investments	 in	 subsidiaries,	 where	 the	

timing	 of	 the	 reversal	 of	 the	 temporary	 differences	 can	 be	 controlled	 and	 it	 is	 probable	 that	 the	

temporary	differences	will	not	reverse	in	the	foreseeable	future.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
iNCOME tAX	(continued)
Deferred	 tax	 assets	 are	 recognised	 for	 all	 deductible	 temporary	 differences,	 carryforward	 of	 unused	 tax	

credits	 and	 unused	 tax	 losses,	 to	 the	 extent	 that	 it	 is	 probable	 that	 taxable	 profit	 will	 be	 available	 against	

which	 the	 deductible	 temporary	 differences,	 and	 the	 carryforward	 of	 unused	 tax	 credits	 and	 unused	 tax	

losses	can	be	utilised,	except:

•	 where	 the	 deferred	 tax	 asset	 relating	 to	 the	 deductible	 temporary	 differences	 arises	 from	 the	 initial	

recognition	of	an	asset	or	 liability	 in	a	 transaction	 that	 is	not	a	business	combination	and,	at	 the	 time	

of	the	transaction,	affects	neither	the	accounting	profit	nor	taxable	profit	or	loss;	and

•	 in	respect	of	deductible	temporary	differences	associated	with	investments	in	subsidiaries,	deferred	tax	

assets	are	only	 recognised	 to	 the	extent	 that	 it	 is	probable	 that	 the	 temporary	differences	will	 reverse	

in	 the	 foreseeable	 future	and	 taxable	profit	will	be	available	against	which	 the	 temporary	differences	

can	be	utilised.

The	carrying	amount	of	deferred	 tax	assets	 is	 reviewed	at	 the	end	of	each	 reporting	period	and	 reduced	 to	

the	 extent	 that	 it	 is	 no	 longer	probable	 that	 sufficient	 taxable	profit	will	 be	available	 to	allow	all	 or	 part	 of	

the	 deferred	 tax	 asset	 to	 be	 utilised.	 Unrecognised	 deferred	 tax	 assets	 are	 reassessed	 at	 the	 end	 of	 each	

reporting	 period	and	are	 recognised	 to	 the	 extent	 that	 it	 has	 become	probable	 that	 sufficient	 taxable	 profit	

will	be	available	to	allow	all	or	part	of	the	deferred	tax	asset	to	be	recovered.

Deferred	 tax	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 are	 measured	 at	 the	 tax	 rates	 that	 are	 expected	 to	 apply	 to	 the	 period	

when	the	asset	is	realised	or	the	liability	is	settled,	based	on	tax	rates	(and	tax	laws)	that	have	been	enacted	

or	substantively	enacted	by	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.

Deferred	tax	assets	and	deferred	tax	 liabilities	are	offset	 if	a	 legally	enforceable	right	exists	 to	set	off	current	

tax	assets	against	current	tax	liabilities	and	the	deferred	taxes	relate	to	the	same	taxable	entity	and	the	same	

taxation	authority.

gOVERNMENt gRANtS
Government	grants	are	 recognised	at	 their	 fair	 value	when	 there	 is	 reasonable	assurance	 that	 the	grant	will	

be	 received	and	all	attaching	conditions	will	be	complied	with.	When	 the	grant	 relates	 to	an	expense	 item,	

it	 is	 recognised	as	 income	over	 the	periods	necessary	 to	match	 the	grant	on	a	 systematic	basis	 to	 the	costs	

that	it	is	intended	to	compensate.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
REVENUE RECOgNitiON
Revenue	 is	 recognised	when	 it	 is	probable	 that	 the	economic	benefits	will	 flow	 to	 the	Group	and	when	 the	

revenue	can	be	measured	reliably,	on	the	following	bases:

•	 Income	 from	 the	 sale	 of	 goods	 is	 recognised	 when	 the	 significant	 risks	 and	 rewards	 of	 ownership	

have	been	transferred	to	the	buyer,	provided	that	 the	Group	maintains	neither	managerial	involvement	

to	the	degree	usually	associated	with	ownership,	nor	effective	control	over	the	goods	sold.

•	 Income	 from	suppliers	comprising	promotion	 income,	management	 fee	 income,	display	space	 leasing	

fees	 and	 product	 listing	 fees	 is	 recognised	 according	 to	 the	 underlying	 contract	 terms	 when	 these	

services	have	been	provided	in	accordance	therewith.

•	 Management	fee	income	is	recognised	when	such	services	have	been	rendered.

•	 Rental	income	is	recognised	on	a	time	proportion	basis	over	the	lease	terms.

•	 Interest	 income	 is	 recognised	 on	 an	 accrual	 basis	 using	 the	 effective	 interest	 method	 by	 applying	

the	 rate	 that	 discounts	 the	 estimated	 future	 cash	 receipts	 through	 the	 expected	 life	 of	 the	 financial	

instrument	or	a	shorter	period,	when	appropriate,	to	the	net	carrying	amount	of	the	financial	asset.

•	 Dividend	income	is	recognised	when	the	shareholders’	right	to	receive	payment	has	been	established.

SHARE-BASED PAYMENt tRANSACtiONS
The	 Company	 operates	 a	 share	 option	 scheme	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 providing	 incentives	 and	 rewards	 to	

eligible	participants	who	contribute	 to	 the	success	of	 the	Group’s	operations.	Employees	 (including	directors)	

of	 the	 Group	 receive	 remuneration	 in	 the	 form	 of	 share-based	 payment	 transactions,	 whereby	 employees	

render	services	as	consideration	for	equity	instruments	(“equity	settled	transactions”).

The	 cost	 of	 equity-settled	 transactions	 with	 employees	 for	 grants	 after	 7	 November	 2002	 is	 measured	 by	

reference	to	the	fair	value	at	the	date	on	which	they	are	granted.	The	fair	value	is	determined	by	an	external	

valuer	using	a	binomial	model,	further	details	of	which	are	given	in	note	34	to	the	financial	statements.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
SHARE-BASED PAYMENt tRANSACtiONS	(continued)
The	 cost	 of	 equity-settled	 transactions	 is	 recognised,	 together	 with	 a	 corresponding	 increase	 in	 equity,	

over	 the	 period	 in	 which	 the	 performance	 and/or	 service	 conditions	 are	 fulfilled.	 The	 cumulative	 expense	

recognised	 for	 equity-settled	 transactions	 at	 the	 end	 of	 each	 reporting	 period	 until	 the	 vesting	 date	 reflects	

the	 extent	 to	 which	 the	 vesting	 period	 has	 expired	 and	 the	 Group’s	 best	 estimate	 of	 the	 number	 of	 equity	

instruments	 that	will	 ultimately	 vest.	 The	charge	or	credit	 to	 the	 income	statement	 for	a	period	 represents	 the	

movement	in	cumulative	expense	recognised	as	at	the	beginning	and	end	of	that	period.

No	 expense	 is	 recognised	 for	 awards	 that	 do	 not	 ultimately	 vest,	 except	 for	 equity-settled	 transactions	

where	 vesting	 is	 conditional	 upon	 a	 market	 condition	 or	 non-vesting	 condition,	 which	 are	 treated	 as	

vesting	 irrespective	of	whether	or	not	 the	market	or	non-vesting	condition	 is	 satisfied,	provided	 that	all	other	

performance	or	service	conditions	are	satisfied.

Where	 the	 terms	 of	 an	 equity-settled	 award	 are	 modified,	 as	 a	 minimum	 an	 expense	 is	 recognised	 as	 if	

the	 terms	 has	 not	 been	 modified,	 if	 the	 original	 terms	 of	 the	 award	 are	 met.	 In	 addition,	 an	 expense	 is	

recognised	for	any	modification	 that	 increases	 the	 total	 fair	value	of	 the	share-based	payment	 transaction,	or	

is	otherwise	beneficial	to	the	employee	as	measured	at	the	date	of	modification.

Where	an	equity-settled	award	is	cancelled,	 it	 is	 treated	as	if	 it	had	vested	on	the	date	of	cancellation,	and	

any	 expense	 not	 yet	 recognised	 for	 the	 award	 is	 recognised	 immediately.	 This	 includes	 any	 award	 where	

non-vesting	conditions	within	the	control	of	either	the	Group	or	the	employee	are	not	met.	However,	if	a	new	

award	 is	 substituted	 for	 the	 cancelled	 award,	 and	 designated	 as	 a	 replacement	 award	 on	 the	 date	 that	 it	

is	granted,	 the	cancelled	and	new	awards	are	 treated	as	 if	 they	were	a	modification	of	 the	original	award,	

as	 described	 in	 the	 previous	 paragraph.	 All	 cancellations	 of	 equity-settled	 transaction	 awards	 are	 treated	

equally.

The	 dilutive	 effect	 of	 outstanding	 options	 is	 reflected	 as	 additional	 share	 dilution	 in	 the	 computation	 of	

earnings	per	share.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
OtHER EMPlOYEE BENEFitS
Salaries,	 bonuses,	 paid	 annual	 leave	 and	 the	 cost	 to	 the	 Group	 of	 non-monetary	 benefits	 are	 accrued	 in	

the	 year	 in	 which	 the	 associated	 services	 are	 rendered	 by	 employees	 of	 the	 Group.	 Where	 payment	 or	

settlement	is	deferred	and	the	effect	would	be	material,	these	amounts	are	stated	at	their	present	values.

Contributions	 to	defined	contribution	 retirement	plans	are	 recognised	as	an	expense	 in	 the	 income	statement	

as	incurred.

Pursuant	 to	 the	 relevant	 PRC	 laws	 and	 regulations,	 the	 employees	 of	 the	 Group’s	 PRC	 subsidiaries	 are	

required	 to	 participate	 in	 a	 central	 pension	 scheme	 operated	 by	 the	 local	 municipal	 government.	 This	

subsidiary	 is	 required	 to	 contribute	 a	 certain	 percentage	 of	 the	 salaries	 of	 its	 employees	 to	 the	 central	

pension	 scheme.	 The	 only	 obligation	 of	 the	 subsidiary	 with	 respect	 to	 the	 central	 pension	 scheme	 is	 the	

ongoing	 required	 contributions.	 Contributions	 made	 to	 the	 retirement	 benefit	 scheme	 are	 charged	 to	 the	

income	statement	as	they	become	payable	in	accordance	with	the	rules	of	the	central	pension	scheme.

Termination	 benefits	 are	 recognised	 when,	 and	 only	 when,	 the	 Group	 demonstrably	 commits	 itself	 to	

terminate	employment	or	 to	provide	benefits	as	a	result	of	voluntary	redundancy	by	having	a	detailed	formal	

plan	which	is	without	realistic	possibility	of	withdrawal.

BORROwiNg COStS
Borrowing	 costs	 directly	 attributable	 to	 the	 acquisition,	 construction	 or	 production	 of	 qualifying	 assets,	 i.e.,	

assets	 that	 necessarily	 take	 a	 substantial	 period	 of	 time	 to	 get	 ready	 for	 their	 intended	 use	 or	 sale,	 are	

capitalised	 as	 part	 of	 the	 cost	 of	 those	 assets.	 The	 capitalisation	 of	 such	 borrowing	 costs	 ceases	when	 the	

assets	 are	 substantially	 ready	 for	 their	 intended	 use	 or	 sale.	 Investment	 income	 earned	 on	 the	 temporary	

investment	 of	 specific	 borrowings	 pending	 their	 expenditure	 on	 qualifying	 assets	 is	 deducted	 from	 the	

borrowing	costs	capitalised.	All	other	borrowing	costs	are	expensed	in	the	period	in	which	they	are	incurred.	

Borrowing	 costs	 consist	 of	 interest	 and	 other	 costs	 that	 an	 entity	 incurs	 in	 connection	with	 the	 borrowing	 of	

funds.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
DiViDENDS
Final	dividends	proposed	by	the	directors	are	classified	as	a	separate	allocation	of	retained	profits	within	the	

equity	 section	of	 the	statement	of	 financial	position,	until	 they	have	been	approved	by	 the	shareholders	 in	a	

general	 meeting.	When	 these	 dividends	 have	 been	 approved	 by	 the	 shareholders	 and	 declared,	 they	 are	

recognised	as	a	liability.

Interim	 dividends	 are	 simultaneously	 proposed	 and	 declared,	 because	 the	 Company’s	 memorandum	 and	

articles	 of	 association	 grant	 the	 directors	 the	 authority	 to	 declare	 interim	 dividends.	 Consequently,	 interim	

dividends	are	recognised	immediately	as	a	liability	when	they	are	proposed	and	declared.

FOREigN CURRENCiES
These	 financial	 statements	 are	 presented	 in	 Renminbi,	 which	 is	 the	 Company’s	 functional	 and	 presentation	

currency.	Each	entity	 in	 the	Group	determines	 its	own	 functional	currency	and	 items	 included	 in	 the	 financial	

statements	of	each	entity	are	measured	using	that	 functional	currency.	Foreign	currency	 transactions	recorded	

by	 the	 entities	 in	 the	Group	 are	 initially	 recorded	 using	 their	 respective	 functional	 currency	 exchange	 rates	

ruling	 at	 the	 dates	 of	 the	 transactions.	 Monetary	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 denominated	 in	 foreign	 currencies	

are	 retranslated	 at	 the	 functional	 currency	 rates	 of	 exchange	 ruling	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period.	

All	 differences	 are	 taken	 to	 the	 income	 statement.	 Non-monetary	 items	 that	 are	 measured	 in	 terms	 of	

historical	 cost	 in	a	 foreign	currency	are	 translated	using	 the	exchange	 rates	 ruling	at	 the	dates	of	 the	 initial	

transactions.	 Non-monetary	 items	 measured	 at	 fair	 value	 in	 a	 foreign	 currency	 are	 translated	 using	 the	

exchange	rates	at	the	date	when	the	fair	value	was	determined.

The	 functional	 currencies	 of	 certain	 overseas	 subsidiaries	 are	 other	 than	 Renminbi.	 As	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	

reporting	 period,	 the	 assets	 and	 liabilities	 of	 these	 entities	 are	 translated	 into	 the	 presentation	 currency	 of	

the	 Company	 at	 the	 exchange	 rates	 ruling	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period	 and	 their	 income	 statements	

are	 translated	 into	 Renminbi	 at	 the	 weighted	 average	 exchange	 rates	 for	 the	 year.	 The	 resulting	 exchange	

differences	 are	 recognised	 in	 other	 comprehensive	 income	 and	 accumulated	 in	 a	 separate	 component	 of	

equity.	On	 disposal	 of	 a	 foreign	 operation,	 the	 component	 of	 other	 comprehensive	 income	 relating	 to	 that	

particular	foreign	operation	is	recognised	in	the	income	statement.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg POliCiES (continued)
FOREigN CURRENCiES	(continued)
For	 the	 purpose	 of	 the	 consolidated	 statement	 of	 cash	 flows,	 the	 cash	 flows	 of	 overseas	 subsidiaries	 are	

translated	into	Renminbi	at	the	exchange	rates	ruling	at	the	dates	of	the	cash	flows.	Frequently	recurring	cash	

flows	of	 overseas	 subsidiaries	which	arise	 throughout	 the	 year	 are	 translated	 into	 Renminbi	 at	 the	weighted	

average	exchange	rates	for	the	year.

3. SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg JUDgEMENtS AND EStiMAtES
The	preparation	of	the	Group’s	financial	statements	requires	management	to	make	judgements,	estimates	and	

assumptions	 that	affect	 the	 reported	amounts	of	 revenue,	expenses,	assets	and	 liabilities,	and	 the	disclosure	

of	 contingent	 liabilities,	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period.	 However,	 uncertainty	 about	 these	 assumptions	

and	estimates	could	result	in	outcomes	that	could	require	a	material	adjustment	to	the	carrying	amounts	of	the	

assets	or	liabilities	affected	in	the	future.

JUDgEMENtS
In	the	process	of	applying	the	Group’s	accounting	policies,	management	has	made	the	following	judgements,	

apart	 from	 those	 involving	 estimations,	which	 have	 the	most	 significant	 effect	 on	 the	amounts	 recognised	 in	

the	financial	statements:

inventories

The	Group	does	not	have	a	general	provisioning	policy	on	 inventories	based	on	ageing	given	 the	nature	of	

inventories	and	the	purchase	return	or	exchange	protections	from	suppliers.	However,	operational	procedures	

are	 in	 place	 to	 monitor	 this	 risk	 as	 the	 majority	 of	 the	 Group’s	 working	 capital	 is	 devoted	 to	 inventories.	

The	Company	 reviews	 its	 inventory	 ageing	 on	 a	 periodical	 basis	 and	 compares	 the	 carrying	 values	 of	 the	

aged	 inventories	with	 the	 respective	net	 realisable	values.	 The	purpose	 is	 to	ascertain	whether	allowance	 is	

required	 to	 be	made	 in	 the	 financial	 statements	 for	 any	 obsolete	 and	 slow-moving	 inventories.	 In	 addition,	

physical	counts	are	carried	out	on	a	periodical	basis	 in	order	 to	determine	whether	allowance	 is	needed	 in	

respect	of	any	missing,	obsolete	or	defective	inventories	identified.

Operating lease commitments – the group as lessee

The	 Group	 has	 entered	 into	 commercial	 property	 leases	 for	 its	 retail	 business.	 The	 Group	 has	 determined	

that	 the	 lessor	 retains	all	 the	significant	 risks	and	rewards	of	 relevant	properties	and	so	accounts	 for	 them	as	

operating	leases.
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3. SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg JUDgEMENtS AND EStiMAtES (continued)
JUDgEMENtS	(continued)
tax provisions

Determining	 tax	 provisions	 involves	 judgement	 on	 the	 future	 tax	 treatment	 of	 certain	 transactions.	 The	

Group	 carefully	 evaluates	 tax	 implications	 of	 transactions,	 and	 tax	 provisions	 are	 set	 up	 accordingly.	 The	

tax	 treatment	 of	 such	 transactions	 is	 assessed	 periodically	 to	 take	 into	 account	 all	 the	 changes	 in	 the	 tax	

legislation	and	practices.

EStiMAtiON UNCERtAiNtY
The	 key	assumptions	 concerning	 the	 future	and	other	 key	 sources	of	 estimation	uncertainty	at	 the	end	of	 the	

reporting	 period,	 that	 have	 a	 significant	 risk	 of	 causing	 a	 material	 adjustment	 to	 the	 carrying	 amounts	 of	

assets	and	liabilities	within	the	next	financial	year,	are	discussed	below.

impairment of goodwill

The	 Group	 determines	 whether	 goodwill	 is	 impaired	 at	 least	 on	 an	 annual	 basis.	 This	 requires	 an	

estimation	 of	 the	 value	 in	 use	 of	 the	 cash-generating	 units	 to	 which	 the	 goodwill	 is	 allocated.	 Estimating	

the	 value	 in	 use	 requires	 the	Group	 to	 make	 an	 estimate	 of	 the	 expected	 future	 cash	 flows	 from	 the	 cash-

generating	units	and	also	 to	choose	a	 suitable	discount	 rate	 in	order	 to	calculate	 the	present	 value	of	 those	

cash	 flows.	 The	 carrying	 amount	 of	 goodwill	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 was	 RMB4,014,981,000	 (2008:	

RMB3,363,012,000).	Further	details	are	given	in	note	14	to	the	financial	statements.

impairment of non-financial assets (other than goodwill)

The	 Group	 assesses	 whether	 there	 are	 any	 indicators	 of	 impairment	 of	 all	 non-financial	 assets	 the	 end	 of	

each	 reporting	period.	 Indefinite	 life	 intangible	assets	are	 tested	 for	 impairment	annually	and	at	 other	 times	

when	such	indicators	exist.	Other	non-financial	assets	are	tested	for	impairment	when	there	are	indicators	that	

the	carrying	amounts	may	not	be	recoverable.	An	impairment	exists	when	the	carrying	value	of	an	asset	or	a	

cash-generating	unit	exceeds	its	recoverable	amount,	which	is	the	higher	of	its	fair	value	less	costs	to	sell	and	

its	 value	 in	 use.	 The	 calculation	 of	 the	 fair	 value	 less	 costs	 to	 sell	 is	 based	on	available	 data	 from	binding	

sales	transactions	in	an	arm’s	length	transaction	of	similar	assets	or	observable	market	prices	less	incremental	

costs	 for	disposing	of	 the	asset.	When	value	 in	use	calculations	are	undertaken,	management	must	estimate	

the	expected	 future	cash	 flows	 from	 the	asset	or	cash-generating	unit	and	choose	a	suitable	discount	 rate	 in	

order	to	calculate	the	present	value	of	those	cash	flows.
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3. SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg JUDgEMENtS AND EStiMAtES (continued)
EStiMAtiON UNCERtAiNtY	(continued)
Estimation of fair value of investment properties

Investment	 properties	 were	 revalued	 at	 each	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period	 based	 on	 the	 appraised	 market	

value	 provided	 by	 independent	 professional	 valuers.	 Such	 valuations	 were	 based	 on	 certain	 assumptions,	

which	are	subject	 to	uncertainty	and	might	materially	differ	 from	 the	actual	 results.	 In	making	 the	estimation,	

the	 Group	 considers	 information	 from	 current	 prices	 in	 an	 active	 market	 for	 similar	 properties	 and	 uses	

assumptions	 that	 are	 mainly	 based	 on	 market	 conditions	 existing	 at	 each	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period.	 The	

carrying	amount	of	 investment	properties	as	at	31	December	2009	was	RMB820,671,000	 (31	December	

2008:	RMB389,473,000).	Further	details	are	given	in	note	13	to	the	financial	statements.

Deferred tax assets

Deferred	tax	assets	are	recognised	for	all	unused	tax	losses	to	the	extent	that	it	is	probable	that	taxable	profit	

will	be	available	against	which	 the	 losses	can	be	utilised.	Significant	management	 judgement	 is	 required	 to	

determine	 the	amount	of	deferred	 tax	assets	 that	can	be	 recognised,	based	upon	 the	 likely	 timing	and	 level	

of	 future	 taxable	profits	 together	with	 future	 tax	planning	strategies.	The	carrying	value	of	deferred	tax	assets	

relating	to	tax	losses	at	31	December	2009	was	RMB8,861,000	(31	December	2008:	RMB18,356,000).

The	 unrecognised	 tax	 losses	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 amounted	 to	 RMB1,047,500,000	 (31	 December	

2008:	RMB793,600,000).	Further	details	are	given	in	note	19	to	the	financial	statements.

impairment of available-for-sale financial assets

The	 Group	 classifies	 certain	 assets	 as	 available-for-sale	 and	 recognises	 movements	 of	 their	 fair	 values	

in	 equity.	 When	 the	 fair	 value	 declines,	 management	 makes	 assumptions	 about	 the	 decline	 in	 value	 to	

determine	whether	 there	 is	 an	 impairment	 that	 should	 be	 recognised	 in	 the	 consolidated	 income	 statement.	

During	 the	year	ended	31	December	2008,	impairment	 losses	of	RMB449,592,000	have	been	recognised	

for	 available-for-sale	 assets.	 As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 available-for-sale	 assets	

was	 RMB153,360,000	 (2008:	 RMB108,810,000).	 Further	 details	 are	 given	 in	 note	 16	 to	 the	 financial	

statements.
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3. SigNiFiCANt ACCOUNtiNg JUDgEMENtS AND EStiMAtES (continued)
EStiMAtiON UNCERtAiNtY	(continued)
Fair value of derivatives and other financial instruments

The	 fair	 value	 of	 financial	 instruments	 that	 are	 not	 traded	 in	 an	 active	 market	 is	 determined	 by	 using	

valuation	 techniques.	 The	 Group	 estimates	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 financial	 derivatives	 based	 on	 financial	

modelling	which	 requires	 various	 sources	of	 information	and	assumptions.	The	carrying	amount	of	derivative	

components	of	 convertible	bonds	as	at	31	December	2009	was	RMB100,689,000	 (31	December	2008:	

RMB2,280,000).	Further	details	are	given	in	note	32(i)	to	these	financial	statements.

Depreciation

The	Group	has	estimated	 the	useful	 lives	of	 the	property,	plant	and	equipment	of	5	 to	40	years,	after	 taking	

into	account	 of	 their	 estimated	 residual	 values,	 as	 set	 out	 in	 the	principal	 accounting	policies.	Depreciation	

of	 items	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 is	 calculated	 on	 the	 straight-line	 basis	 over	 their	 expected	 useful	

lives.	 The	 carrying	 amount	 of	 items	 of	 property,	 plant	 and	 equipment	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 was	

RMB3,391,950,000	 (31	 December	 2008:	 RMB3,719,829,000).	 Further	 details	 are	 given	 in	 note	 12	 to	

the	financial	statements.

4. SEgMENt iNFORMAtiON
For	management	purposes,	 the	Group	 is	organised	 into	business	 units	based	on	 their	products	and	 services	

and	has	one	reportable	operating	segment	which	is	the	operations	and	management	of	networks	of	electrical	

appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronic	 products	 retail	 stores	 in	 the	 PRC.	 The	 corporate	 office	 in	 Hong	 Kong	

does	not	earn	revenues	and	is	not	classified	as	an	operating	segment.

Management	 monitors	 the	 results	 of	 its	 operating	 segment	 for	 the	 purpose	 of	 making	 decisions	 about	

resources	 allocation	 and	 performance	 assessment.	 Segment	 performance	 is	 evaluated	 based	 on	 reportable	

segment	profit,	which	 is	a	measure	of	adjusted	profit	before	 tax.	The	adjusted	profit	before	 tax	 is	measured	

consistently	 with	 the	 Group’s	 profit	 before	 tax	 except	 that	 bank	 interest	 income,	 interest	 expenses,	 the	

fair	 value	 gain	 on	 the	 derivative	 component	 of	 convertible	 bonds,	 gain	 on	 repurchases	 of	 the	 Old	 2014	

Convertible	 Bonds	 and	 other	 expenses	 incurred	 for	 the	 corporate	 office	 in	 Hong	 Kong	 are	 excluded	 from	

such	measurement.

Segment	assets	exclude	deferred	tax	assets,	pledged	deposits,	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	equity	investments	

at	 fair	value	 through	profit	or	 loss,	other	 investments	and	other	unallocated	head	office	and	corporate	assets	

as	these	assets	are	managed	on	a	group	basis.
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4. SEgMENt iNFORMAtiON (continued)
Segment	 liabilities	 exclude	 interest-bearing	 bank	 loans,	 convertible	 bonds,	 tax	 payable,	 deferred	 tax	

liabilities	 and	 other	 unallocated	 head	 office	 and	 corporate	 liabilities	 as	 these	 liabilities	 are	managed	 on	 a	

group	basis.

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment revenue

Sales	to	external	customers 42,667,572 45,889,257

Segment results 1,945,269 2,264,753

Reconciliation

Interest	income 160,027 236,335

Unallocated	gains 4,421 708

Gain/(loss)	on	the	derivative	component	of	convertible	bonds 136,740 (189,220)

Gain	on	repurchases	of	the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds 67,083 –

Finance	costs (348,969) (212,118)

Impairment	of	other	investments – (449,592)

Corporate	and	other	unallocated	expenses (132,062) (117,017)

Profit	before	tax 1,832,509 1,533,849
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4. SEgMENt iNFORMAtiON (continued)
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Segment assets 20,752,019 19,476,014

Reconciliation

Corporate	and	other	unallocated	assets 15,011,161 8,019,090

total assets 35,763,180 27,495,104

Segment liabilities 17,644,775 14,448,099

Reconciliation

Corporate	and	other	unallocated	liabilities 6,315,940 4,346,970

total liabilities 23,960,715 18,795,069

Other segment information

Impairment	losses	recognised	in	the	consolidated	income	statement 31,866 61,450

Depreciation	and	amortisation 354,639 305,882

Capital	expenditure 471,244* 999,142*

*	 Capital	expenditure	consists	of	additions	to	property,	plant	and	equipment.
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4. SEgMENt iNFORMAtiON (continued)
gEOgRAPHiCAl iNFORMAtiON
(a) Revenue from external customers

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

The	PRC 42,667,572 45,889,257

The	revenue	information	above	is	based	on	the	location	of	the	customers.

(b) Non-current assets

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

The	PRC 8,698,144 8,223,340

Hong	Kong 8,193 8,464

8,706,337 8,231,804

The	non-current	asset	 information	above	 is	based	on	 the	 location	of	assets	and	excludes	deferred	 tax	

asset,	designated	loan,	other	investments	and	other	assets.
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5. REVENUE, OtHER iNCOME AND gAiNS
Revenue,	 which	 is	 also	 the	 Group’s	 turnover,	 represents	 the	 net	 invoiced	 value	 of	 goods	 sold,	 after	
allowances	for	returns	and	trade	discounts.

An	analysis	of	revenue,	other	income	and	gains	is	as	below:
2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Revenue
Sale	of	electrical	appliances	and	consumer	
	 electronic	products 42,667,572 45,889,257

Other income
Income	from	suppliers 2,221,466 2,519,137
Management	fees:
	 –	from	the	Non-listed	GOME	Group (i) 233,541 250,000
	 –	from	Dazhong	Appliances (ii) 25,496 23,799
Management	fees	for	air-conditioner	installation 98,290 97,992
Rental	income 127,610 125,045
Government	grants (iii) 93,497 52,371
Other	service	fee	income 102,177 98,243
Compensation	income	from	a	landlord 17(i) 59,271 –
Others 89,057 99,657

3,050,405 3,266,244

gains
Gain	on	repurchases	of	the	Old	2014
	 Convertible	Bonds 32(i) 67,083 –
Foreign	exchange	difference,	net 14,158 –

81,241 –

3,131,646 3,266,244

Notes:

(i)	 The	Non-listed	GOME	Group	is	defined	in	note	38(a)	to	the	financial	statements.

(ii)	 The	 Group	 entered	 into	 a	 management	 agreement	 (the	 “Management	 Agreement”)	 with	 Beijing	 Zhansheng	
Investment	Co.,	Ltd.	(“Beijing	Zhansheng”)	on	14	December	2007	and	the	Management	Agreement	was	renewed	
on	15	December	2009.	Pursuant	 to	 the	Management	Agreement,	 the	Group	manages	and	operates	 the	 retailing	
business	of	Beijing	Dazhong	Home	Appliances	Retail	Co.,	Ltd.	(“Dazhong	Appliances”)	for	management	fees.

(iii)	 Various	 local	 government	 grants	 were	 received	 to	 reward	 the	Group’s	 contributions	 to	 the	 local	 economy.	 There	
was	no	unfulfilled	condition	or	contingency	attached	to	these	government	grants.
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6. PROFit BEFORE tAX
The	Group’s	profit	before	tax	is	arrived	at	after	charging/(crediting):

2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Cost	of	inventories	sold 38,408,042 41,378,707

Write-down	of	inventories	to	net	realisable	value – 2,516

38,408,042 41,381,223

Depreciation 12 345,597 296,256

Amortisation	of	intangible	assets 15,(i) 9,042 9,626

Loss	on	disposal	of	items	of	property,	plant	and

	 equipment 28,798 13,763

Minimum	lease	payments	under	operating	leases	

	 in	respect	of	land	and	buildings 2,038,504 2,051,023

Gross	rental	income (127,610) (125,045)

Fair	value	loss	on	transfer	of	owner	occupied

	 properties	to	investment	properties:

	 	 –	properties	acquired	from	Beijing	Centergate

	 	 	 		 Technologies	(Holding)	Co.,	Ltd.	

	 	 	 	 (“Centergate	Technologies”) 73,956 –

	 	 –	other	properties 7,537 6,632

12 81,493 6,632
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6. PROFit BEFORE tAX (continued)
2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Fair	value	loss	on	investment	properties 13 3,723 34,441
Management	fees	from	Dazhong	Appliances 5 (25,496) (23,799)
Interest	income	from	Beijing	Zhansheng 7 (181,182) (204,682)
(Gain)/loss	on	the	derivative	components	of	
	 convertible	bonds 32(i) (136,740) 189,220
Fair	value	(gain)/loss	on	Hong	Kong	listed	
	 investments (1,236) 659
Foreign	exchange	differences,	net (14,158) 84,520
Impairment	of	property,	plant	and	equipment 12 – 31,725
Impairment	of	goodwill 14 2,000 8,000
Impairment	of	other	investments 16 – 449,592
Impairment	of	prepayments,	deposits	and	other
	 receivables 29,866 21,725
Cash	settlement	for	top-up	subscription	shares	for
	 warrants (ii) 18,608 –
Auditors’	remuneration
	 –	audit	services 8,100 9,850
	 –	non-audit	services (iii) 1,200 500

Staff	costs	excluding	directors’	remuneration	(note 8):
	 Wages,	salaries	and	bonuses 1,119,682 1,212,757
	 Pension	scheme	contributions 241,200 249,985
	 Social	welfare	and	other	costs 6,841 21,645
	 Equity-settled	share	option	expense 53,923 –

1,421,646 1,484,387

Notes:

(i)	 The	 amortisation	 of	 intangible	 assets	 for	 the	 year	 is	 included	 in	 “Administrative	 expenses”	 on	 the	 face	 of	 the	
consolidated	income	statement.
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6. PROFit BEFORE tAX (continued)
Notes: (continued)

(ii)	 On	28	January	2006	and	28	February	2006,	the	Company	and	Warburg	Pincus	Private	Equity	IX,	L.P.	(“Warburg	
Pincus”)	 entered	 into	 a	 subscription	 agreement	 and	 a	 supplemental	 agreement	 respectively	 (collectively	 referred	
to	 as	 the	 “Subscription	 Agreement”),	 pursuant	 to	 which	 the	 Company	 issued	 warrants	 at	 a	 subscription	 price	 of	
US$3,000,000	 to	 a	 subsidiary	 of	Warburg	 Pincus	 on	 1	March	 2006.	 The	 holder	 of	 the	warrants	 is	 entitled	 to	
subscribe	 for	 a	maximum	amount	 of	US$25	million	 of	 new	 shares	 of	 the	Company	 during	 an	 exercise	 period	 of	
five	years	 commencing	 from	1	March	2006.	None	of	 the	warrants	was	exercised	up	 to	 the	end	of	 the	 reporting	
period.

	 In	 accordance	 with	 the	 Subscription	 Agreement,	 Warburg	 Pincus	 has	 the	 right	 to	 subscribe	 for	 certain	 top-up	
subscription	 shares	of	 the	Company	as	a	 result	 of	 the	open	offer	 announced	by	 the	Company	on	22	 June	2009	
(the	 “Open	 Offer”)	 (note	 33)	 and	 the	 issuance	 of	 the	 2016	 Convertible	 Bonds	 (note	 32(ii))	 by	 the	 Company.	
During	the	year	ended	31	December	2009,	 the	Company	paid	an	amount	of	approximately	RMB18,608,000	to	
Warburg	 Pincus	 to	 settle	 the	 top-up	 subscription	 shares	 for	 the	warrants	 and	 it	was	 recognised	as	 an	 expense	 in	
the	consolidated	income	statement.

(iii)	 Exclude	 non-audit	 service	 fees	 of	 RMB3,386,000	 (2008:	Nil),	 which	 were	 recognised	 as	 the	 share	 issue	 costs	
under	the	Open	Offer	as	disclosed	in	note	33	and	transaction	costs	for	issue	of	the	New	2014	Convertible	Bonds	
as	disclosed	in	note	32	to	these	financial	statements.

7. FiNANCE (COStS)/iNCOME
An	analysis	of	finance	costs	and	finance	income	is	as	follows:

2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Finance	costs:
	 Interest	on	bank	loans	wholly	repayable	within	
	 	 five	years (16,064) (16,088)
	 Interest	expenses	on	convertible	bonds 32 (332,905) (196,030)

(348,969) (212,118)

Finance	income:
	 Bank	interest	income 160,027 236,335
	 Other	interest	income (i) 181,182 204,682

341,209 441,017

Note:

(i)	 Other	interest	income	represented	interest	income	from	the	RMB3,600	million	designated	loan	(note	20)	to	Beijing	
Zhansheng	 through	 the	 Beijing	 Branch	 of	 Industrial	 Bank	 Co.,	 Ltd.	 The	 loan	 bears	 interest	 at	 rates	 ranging	 from	
4.86%	to	5.103%	(2008:	6.561%)	per	annum,	which	were	determined	by	reference	to	the	interest	rates	published	
by	the	People’s	Bank	of	China.
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8. REMUNERAtiON OF DiRECtORS AND FiVE HigHESt PAiD EMPlOYEES
Directors’	 remuneration	 for	 the	 year,	 disclosed	 pursuant	 to	 the	 Rules	 Governing	 the	 Listing	 of	 Securities	 on	

the	Stock	Exchange	of	Hong	Kong	Limited	and	Section	161	of	 the	Hong	Kong	Companies	Ordinance,	is	as	

follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 4,555 1,584

Other	emoluments:

	 Salaries,	allowances,	bonuses	and	other	expense 5,803 5,320

	 Equity-settled	share	option	expense 16,610 –

	 Pension	scheme	contributions 109 72

22,522 5,392

During	 the	year,	certain	directors	were	granted	share	options	 in	 respect	of	 their	 services	 to	 the	Group	under	

the	 share	 option	 scheme	 of	 the	 Company,	 further	 details	 of	 which	 are	 set	 out	 in	 note	 34	 to	 the	 financial	

statements.	 The	 fair	 value	 of	 such	 options	 which	 has	 been	 recognised	 in	 the	 income	 statement	 over	 the	

vesting	 period	was	 determined	 as	 at	 the	 date	 of	 grant	 and	 the	 amount	 included	 in	 the	 financial	 statements	

for	the	current	year	is	included	in	the	above	directors’	remuneration	disclosures.
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8. REMUNERAtiON OF DiRECtORS AND FiVE HigHESt PAiD EMPlOYEES 
(continued)
(a) iNDEPENDENt NON-EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS

The	fees	paid	to	independent	non-executive	directors	during	the	year	were	as	follows:

2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Mr.	Chan	Yuk	Sang 705 247

Mr.	Sze	Tsai	Ping,	Michael 264 247

Mr.	Thomas	Joseph	Manning 705 247

Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves (iii) 1,018 247

Dr.	Liu	Peng	Hui (ii) 132 247

Mr.	Yu	Tung	Ho (iii) 595 247

3,419 1,482

Notes:

(i)	 There	was	no	other	emolument	payable	 to	 the	independent	non-executive	directors	during	 the	year	 (2008:	
Nil).

(ii)	 Dr.	Liu	Peng	Hui	retired	as	a	director	with	effect	from	30	June	2009.

(iii)	 Mr.	Yu	Tung	Ho	and	Mr.	Mark	Christopher	Greaves	resigned	as	directors	with	effect	from	30	July	2009.
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8. REMUNERAtiON OF DiRECtORS AND FiVE HigHESt PAiD EMPlOYEES 
(continued)
(b) EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS AND NON-EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS

Fees

Salaries,
 allowances,

 bonuses and
 other 

expense

Equity-settled
 share option

 expense

Pension
 scheme

 contributions total
2009 Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive	directors:
Mr.	Wong	Kwong	Yu (i) – – – – –
Mr.	Chen	Xiao – 2,254 4,402 25 6,681
Mr.	Ng	Kin	Wah – 740 2,001 11 2,752
Mr.	Wang	Jun	Zhou (ii) – 1,013 4,003 27 5,043
Ms.	Wei	Qiu	Li	 (iii) – 966 3,602 27 4,595
Mr.	Sun	Yi	Ding (iv) – 830 2,602 19 3,451

– 5,803 16,610 109 22,522

Non-executive	directors:
Mr.	Sun	Qiang	Chang (v) 809 – – – 809
Mr.	Zhu	Jia (vi) 109 – – – 109
Ms.	Wang	Li	Hong (vi) 109 – – – 109
Mr.	Ian	Andrew	Reynolds (vi) 109 – – – 109

1,136 5,803 16,610 109 23,658

Notes:

(i)	 Mr.	Wong	Kwong	Yu	(“Mr.	Wong”)	ceased	to	be	a	director	of	the	Company	on	16	January	2009.

(ii)	 Mr.	Wang	Jun	Zhou	was	appointed	as	an	executive	director	with	effect	from	23	December	2008.

(iii)	 Ms.	Wei	Qiu	Li	was	appointed	as	an	executive	director	with	effect	from	16	January	2009.

(iv)	 Mr.	Sun	Yi	Ding	was	appointed	as	an	executive	director	with	effect	from	30	June	2009.

(v)	 Mr.	Sun	Qiang	Chang	resigned	as	a	director	with	effect	from	23	July	2009.

(vi)	 Mr.	Zhu	 Jia,	Ms.	Wang	Li	Hong	and	Mr.	 Ian	Andrew	Reynolds	were	appointed	as	non-executive	directors	
with	effect	from	3	August	2009.

(vii)	 There	was	no	arrangement	under	which	a	director	waived	or	agreed	to	waive	any	remuneration	during	the	
year	(2008:	Nil).
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8. REMUNERAtiON OF DiRECtORS AND FiVE HigHESt PAiD EMPlOYEES 
(continued)
(b) EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS AND NON-EXECUtiVE DiRECtORS (continued)

Fees

Salaries,

	allowances,

	bonuses	and

	other	expense

Pension

scheme

	contributions Total

2008 Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Executive	directors:

Mr.	Wong	Kwong	Yu – 2,138 11 2,149

Mr.	Chen	Xiao – 1,751 22 1,773

Mr.	Ng	Kin	Wah – 596 11 607

Ms.	Du	Juan (i) – 821 27 848

Mr.	Wang	Jun	Zhou – 14 1 15

– 5,320 72 5,392

Non-executive	director:

Mr.	Sun	Qiang	Chang 102 – – 102

102 5,320 72 5,494

Note:

(i)	 Ms.	Du	Juan	ceased	to	be	a	director	of	the	Company	on	23	December	2008.
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8. REMUNERAtiON OF DiRECtORS AND FiVE HigHESt PAiD EMPlOYEES 
(continued)
(c) FiVE HigHESt PAiD EMPlOYEES

The	five	highest	paid	employees	during	the	year	included	four	(2008:	four)	directors,	details	of	whose	

remuneration	 are	 set	 out	 above.	 Details	 of	 the	 remuneration	 of	 the	 remaining	 one	 (2008:	 one)	 non-

director,	highest	paid	employee	for	the	year	are	as	follows:

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Salaries,	allowances,	bonuses	and	other	expense 953 567
Pension	scheme	contributions 27 23
Equity-settled	share	option	expense 3,175 –

4,155 590

The	remuneration	of	the	non-director,	highest	paid	employee	fell	within	the	following	bands:

Number of employees
2009 2008

Nil	to	HK$1,000,000	(equivalent	to	Nil	to	RMB881,900) – 1
HK$4,500,001	to	HK$5,000,000	(equivalent	to
	 RMB3,968,551	to	RMB4,409,500) 1 –

1 1
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9. PENSiON SCHEMES
All	 the	PRC	subsidiaries	of	 the	Group	are	 required	 to	participate	 in	 the	employee	retirement	benefit	 schemes	

operated	by	 the	 relevant	 local	government	authorities	 in	 the	PRC.	The	PRC	government	 is	 responsible	 for	 the	

pension	liability	 to	these	retired	employees.	The	Group	is	required	to	make	contributions	for	 those	employees	

who	 are	 registered	 as	 permanent	 residents	 in	 the	 PRC	 and	 are	 within	 the	 scope	 of	 the	 relevant	 PRC	

regulations	at	rates	ranging	from	20%	to	22.5%	of	the	employees’	salaries	for	the	years	ended	31	December	

2009	and	2008.

The	 Group’s	 contributions	 to	 pension	 schemes	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2009	 amounted	 to	

approximately	RMB241,309,000	(2008:	RMB250,057,000).

10. iNCOME tAX EXPENSE
An	analysis	of	the	provision	for	tax	in	the	financial	statements	is	as	follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Current	income	tax	–	PRC 418,120 407,907

Deferred	income	tax	(note 19) (11,810) 27,249

Total	tax	charge	for	the	year 406,310 435,156

The	 Group	 is	 subject	 to	 income	 tax	 on	 an	 entity	 basis	 on	 the	 profit	 arising	 in	 or	 derived	 from	 the	 tax	

jurisdictions	 in	 which	 members	 of	 the	Group	 are	 domiciled	 and	 operate.	 The	 determination	 of	 current	 and	

deferred	income	taxes	was	based	on	the	enacted	tax	rates.

Under	 the	 relevant	PRC	 income	 tax	 law,	except	 for	certain	preferential	 treatment	available	 to	 the	Group,	 the	

PRC	 subsidiaries	of	 the	Group	are	 subject	 to	 income	 tax	at	a	 rate	of	25%	 (2008:	25%)	on	 their	 respective	

taxable	 income.	 During	 the	 year,	 21	 entities	 (2008:	 24	 entities)	 of	 the	Group	 obtained	 approval	 from	 the	

relevant	PRC	tax	authorities	and	were	entitled	to	preferential	corporate	income	tax	rates	or	corporate	income	

tax	exemptions.
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10. iNCOME tAX EXPENSE (continued)
The	 Group	 realised	 a	 significant	 amount	 of	 tax	 benefits	 during	 the	 year	 through	 applying	 the	 preferential	

corporate	 income	 tax	 rates	and	 the	corporate	 income	 tax	exemptions.	These	preferential	 tax	 treatments	were	

available	 to	 the	Group	pursuant	 to	 the	enacted	PRC	 tax	 rules	and	 regulations	and	are	subject	 to	assessment	

by	the	relevant	PRC	tax	authorities.

No	provision	for	Hong	Kong	profits	tax	has	been	made	for	the	years	ended	31	December	2009	and	2008,	

respectively,	as	the	Group	had	no	assessable	profits	arising	in	Hong	Kong	for	the	respective	years.

A	 reconciliation	 of	 the	 tax	 expense	 applicable	 to	 profit/(loss)	 before	 tax	 at	 the	 statutory	 rates	 for	 the	

jurisdictions	 in	which	 the	Company	and	 the	majority	 of	 its	 subsidiaries	 are	 domiciled	 to	 the	 tax	 expense	 at	

the	Group’s	effective	tax	rates,	is	as	follows:

2009

Hong kong PRC total

RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000

Profit/(loss)	before	tax (239,935) 2,072,444 1,832,509

Income	tax	at	the	statutory	tax	rate (39,589) 16.5 518,111 25.0 478,522

Tax	effect	of	preferential	tax	rates – (186,439) (186,439)

Income	not	subject	to	tax (39,095) – (39,095)

Expense	not	deductible	for	tax 70,706 30,632 101,338

Tax	losses	utilised	from	previous	years – (20,538) (20,538)

Tax	losses	not	recognised 7,978 64,544 72,522

Tax	charge	at	the	Group’s	effective	rate – 406,310 406,310
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10. iNCOME tAX EXPENSE (continued)
2008

Hong	Kong PRC Total

RMB’000 % RMB’000 % RMB’000

Profit/(loss)	before	tax (447,933) 1,981,782 1,533,849

Income	tax	at	the	statutory	tax	rate (73,909) 16.5 495,446 25.0 421,537

Tax	effect	of	preferential	tax	rates – (237,206) (237,206)

Income	not	subject	to	tax (14,363) – (14,363)

Expense	not	deductible	for	tax 63,566 151,669 215,235

Tax	losses	utilised	from	previous	years – (60,080) (60,080)

Tax	losses	not	recognised 24,706 85,327 110,033

Tax	charge	at	the	Group’s	effective	rate – 435,156 435,156

Pursuant	 to	 the	 PRC	Corporate	 Income	 Tax	 Law,	 a	 10%	withholding	 tax	 is	 levied	 on	 dividends	 declared	 to	

foreign	 investors	 from	 the	 foreign	 investment	 enterprises	 established	 in	 the	 PRC.	 The	 requirement	 is	 effective	

from	 1	 January	 2008	 and	 applies	 to	 earnings	 after	 31	 December	 2007.	 A	 lower	 withholding	 tax	 rate	

may	 be	 applied	 if	 there	 is	 a	 tax	 treaty	 between	 the	 PRC	 and	 the	 jurisdiction	 of	 the	 foreign	 investors.	 At	

31	 December	 2009,	 no	 deferred	 tax	 liabilities	 have	 been	 recognised	 for	 withholding	 taxes	 that	 would	

be	 payable	 on	 the	 unremitted	 earnings	 that	 are	 subject	 to	 withholding	 taxes	 of	 the	 Group’s	 subsidiaries	

established	 in	 the	 PRC	 (2008:Nil).	 In	 the	 opinion	 of	 the	 directors,	 it	 is	 not	 probable	 that	 these	 subsidiaries	

will	distribute	such	earnings	in	the	foreseeable	future.
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11. EARNiNgS PER SHARE AttRiBUtABlE tO ORDiNARY EQUitY HOlDERS 
OF tHE PARENt
The	calculation	of	basic	earnings	per	share	 is	based	on	 the	profit	 for	 the	year	attributable	 to	ordinary	equity	

holders	 of	 the	 parent,	 and	 the	 weighted	 average	 number	 of	 ordinary	 shares	 of	 13,721,430,000	 (2008:	

12,804,958,000)	in	issue	during	the	year.

The	calculation	of	diluted	earnings	per	share	is	based	on	the	profit	for	the	year	attributable	to	ordinary	equity	

holders	of	the	parent,	adjusted	to	reflect	the	interest	on	the	convertible	bonds,	where	applicable	(see	below).	

The	weighted	average	number	of	ordinary	shares	used	in	 the	calculation	 is	 the	number	of	ordinary	shares	 in	

issue	during	the	year,	as	used	in	the	basic	earnings	per	share	calculation,	and	the	weighted	average	number	

of	ordinary	 shares	assumed	 to	have	been	 issued	at	 no	consideration	on	 the	deemed	exercise	or	 conversion	

of	all	the	dilutive	potential	ordinary	shares	into	ordinary	shares.

The	calculations	of	basic	and	diluted	earnings	per	share	are	based	on:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Earnings

Profit	attributable	to	ordinary	equity	holders	of	the	parent	used	

	 in	the	basic	earnings	per	share	calculation 1,409,288 1,048,160

Interest	on	convertible	bonds 189,770 –

Fair	value	gain	on	the	derivative	component	of	the	convertible	bonds (136,740) –

Gain	on	repurchases	of	the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds (67,083) –

Profit	attributable	to	ordinary	equity	holders	of	the	parent	as	

	 adjusted	for	the	effect	of	convertible	bonds 1,395,235 1,048,160
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11. EARNiNgS PER SHARE AttRiBUtABlE tO ORDiNARY EQUitY HOlDERS 
OF tHE PARENt (continued)

Number of shares

2009 2008

Note ’000 ’000

Shares

Weighted	average	number	of	ordinary	shares	in	issue

	 during	the	year	used	in	the	basic	earnings	per	

	 share	calculation 13,721,430 12,804,958

Effect	of	dilution-weighted	average	number	of	

	 ordinary	shares:

	 Warrants 31 31,342

	 Convertible	bonds (i) 944,754 –

14,666,215 12,836,300

Notes:

(i)	 The	 2016	 Convertible	 Bonds	 and	 the	 New	 2014	 Convertible	 Bonds	 had	 an	 anti-dilutive	 effect	 on	 the	 basic	
earnings	 per	 share	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2009	 and	 were	 therefore	 ignored	 in	 the	 calculation	 of	
diluted	 earnings	 per	 share.	 Therefore,	 only	 the	 effect	 of	 the	Old	2014	Convertible	 Bonds	was	 considered	 in	 the	
calculation	of	diluted	earnings	per	share	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2009.

The	Old	2014	Convertible	 Bonds	 had	an	anti-dilutive	 effect	 on	 the	 basic	 earnings	 per	 share	 for	 the	 year	 ended	
31	December	2008	and	were	therefore	ignored	in	the	calculation	of	diluted	earnings	per	share.

(ii)	 During	 the	 year	 ended	31	December	2009,	 the	average	quoted	market	price	of	 the	Company’s	 shares	was	 less	
than	 the	 exercise	 price	 of	 the	 share	 options	 (note	34).	 Therefore,	 the	 share	 options	 had	an	anti-dilutive	 effect	 on	
the	basic	earnings	per	share	for	the	year	ended	31	December	2009	and	were	therefore	ignored	in	the	calculation	
of	diluted	earnings	per	share.
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12. PROPERtY, PlANt AND EQUiPMENt
gROUP
31 December 2009

Buildings
leasehold 

improvements
Equipment

and fixtures
Motor

vehicles
Construction 
in progress total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At	31	December	2008	and	1	January	2009:
	 Cost 3,283,662 834,657 452,529 81,837 23,654 4,676,339
	 Accumulated	depreciation	and	impairment (190,235) (517,307) (215,462) (33,506) – (956,510)

	 Net	carrying	amount 3,093,427 317,350 237,067 48,331 23,654 3,719,829

At	1	January	2009,	net	of	accumulated	
	 depreciation	and	impairment 3,093,427 317,350 237,067 48,331 23,654 3,719,829
Additions 232,140 162,981 45,211 2,976 27,936 471,244
Disposals – (8,003) (25,325) (1,161) (864) (35,353)
Depreciation	provided	during	the	year (92,622) (163,997) (76,093) (12,885) – (345,597)
Transfers	from	construction	in	progress 7,832 – 21,084 492 (29,408) –
Surplus	on	revaluation	of	properties	transferred	to
	 investment	properties 98,253 – – – – 98,253
Deficit	on	revaluation	of	properties	transferred	to
	 investment	properties (81,493) – – – – (81,493)
Transfers	to	investment	properties	(note	13) (434,933) – – – – (434,933)

At	31	December	2009,	net	of	accumulated
	 depreciation	and	impairment 2,822,604 308,331 201,944 37,753 21,318 3,391,950

At	31	December	2009:
	 Cost 3,077,107 946,796 468,128 80,045 21,318 4,593,394
	 Accumulated	depreciation	and	impairment (254,503) (638,465) (266,184) (42,292) – (1,201,444)

	 Net	carrying	amount 2,822,604 308,331 201,944 37,753 21,318 3,391,950
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12. PROPERtY, PlANt AND EQUiPMENt (continued)
gROUP	(continued)
31 December 2008

Buildings
Leasehold	

improvements
Equipment

and	fixtures
Motor

vehicles
Construction	
in	progress Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At	1	January	2008:
	 Cost 2,650,520 694,525 396,009 71,019 10,995 3,823,068
	 Accumulated	depreciation (106,399) (374,947) (169,831) (27,433) – (678,610)

	 Net	carrying	amount 2,544,121 319,578 226,178 43,586 10,995 3,144,458

At	1	January	2008,	net	of	
	 accumulated	depreciation 2,544,121 319,578 226,178 43,586 10,995 3,144,458
Additions 684,229 171,890 87,200 18,616 37,207 999,142
Disposals – (8,982) (16,843) (2,980) – (28,805)
Depreciation	charge	for	the	year (90,203) (133,385) (61,799) (10,869) – (296,256)
Impairment – (31,725) – – – (31,725)
Transfers	from	construction	in	progress 22,200 – 2,348 – (24,548) –
Surplus	on	revaluation	of	properties	transferred	to
	 investment	properties 32,425 – – – – 32,425
Deficit	on	revaluation	of	properties	transferred	to
	 investment	properties (6,632) – – – – (6,632)
Transfers	to	investment	properties	(note 13) (92,670) – – – – (92,670)
Exchange	realignment (43) (26) (17) (22) – (108)

At	31	December	2008,	net	of	accumulated
	 depreciation	and	impairment 3,093,427 317,350 237,067 48,331 23,654 3,719,829

At	31	December	2008:
	 Cost 3,283,662 834,657 452,529 81,837 23,654 4,676,339
	 Accumulated	depreciation	and	impairment (190,235) (517,307) (215,462) (33,506) – (956,510)

	 Net	carrying	amount 3,093,427 317,350 237,067 48,331 23,654 3,719,829
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12. PROPERtY, PlANt AND EQUiPMENt (continued)
gROUP	(continued)
Included	in	 the	deficit	on	revaluation	of	properties	 transferred	 to	 investment	properties	during	 the	year	ended	
31	 December	 2009	 of	 RMB81,493,000	 was	 an	 amount	 of	 RMB73,956,000	 attributable	 to	 properties	
located	 in	Beijing	which	were	acquired	by	 the	Group	 in	November	2007	 from	Centergate	Technologies,	a	
related	party	as	further	defined	in	note	38(a)	to	the	financial	statements.

Certain	of	the	buildings	of	the	Group	in	the	PRC	were	pledged	as	security	for	bank	loans	(note	29)	and	bills	
payable	 (note	 30)	 of	 the	Group	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009.	 The	 aggregate	 carrying	 value	 of	 the	 pledged	
buildings	 attributable	 to	 the	 Group	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 amounted	 to	 RMB1,610,839,000	 (31	
December	2008:	RMB753,846,000).

13. iNVEStMENt PROPERtiES
gROUP

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying	amount	at	1	January 389,473 331,680
Transfer	from	owner-occupied	properties	(note 12) 434,933 92,670
Net	loss	from	a	fair	value	adjustment (3,723) (34,441)
Exchange	realignment (12) (436)

Carrying	amount	at	31	December 820,671 389,473

Investment	 properties	 comprised	 commercial	 properties	 in	 the	 PRC	 that	 are	 leased	 to	 third	 parties	 and	 an	
industrial	property	and	a	car	park	in	Hong	Kong	that	are	leased	to	a	related	party	(note	38(a)(v))	and	a	third	
party,	respectively.

Investment	 properties	 are	 stated	 at	 fair	 value,	 which	 has	 been	 determined	 with	 reference	 to	 the	 valuations	
performed	 by	 Jones	 Lang	 LaSalle	 Sallmanns	 Limited	 and	 B.I.	 Appraisals	 Limited,	 independent	 firms	 of	
professionally	 qualified	 valuers,	 on	 an	 income	 capitalisation	 approach,	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009.	 The	
fair	 value	 represents	 the	 amount	 of	 market	 value	 at	 which	 the	 assets	 could	 be	 exchanged	 between	 a	
knowledgeable,	willing	buyer	and	a	knowledgeable,	willing	seller	 in	an	arm’s	 length	 transaction	at	 the	date	
of	valuation.

As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 investment	 properties	 of	 approximately	 RMB7,044,000	 (31	 December	 2008:	
RMB7,055,000)	 are	 located	 in	 Hong	 Kong	 under	 medium	 term	 leases	 and	 investment	 properties	 of	
approximately	 RMB813,627,000	 (31	December	 2008:	 RMB382,418,000)	 are	 located	 in	 the	 PRC	 under	
medium	term	leases.
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13. iNVEStMENt PROPERtiES (continued)
gROUP	(continued)
Certain	 of	 the	 investment	 properties	 of	 the	 Group	 in	 the	 PRC	 were	 pledged	 as	 security	 for	 bank	 loans	
(note	 29)	 and	 bills	 payable	 (note	 30)	 of	 the	 Group	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009.	 The	 aggregate	 fair	 value	
of	 the	 pledged	 investment	 properties	 attributable	 to	 the	 Group	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 amounted	 to	
RMB625,197,000	(31	December	2008:	RMB300,216,000).

14. gOODwill
gROUP

2009 2008
Note RMB’000 RMB’000

At	1	January:
	 Cost 3,371,012 3,343,012
	 Accumulated	impairment (8,000) –

	 Net	carrying	amount 3,363,012 3,343,012

Cost	at	1	January,	net	of	accumulated	impairment 3,363,012 3,343,012
Acquisition	of	minority	interests (i) 653,969 –
Acquisition	of	subsidiaries – 28,000

4,016,981 3,371,012
Impairment	during	the	year (2,000) (8,000)

At	31	December 4,014,981 3,363,012

At	31	December:
	 Cost 4,024,981 3,371,012
	 Accumulated	impairment (10,000) (8,000)

	 Net	carrying	amount 4,014,981 3,363,012

Note:

(i)	 The	addition	during	 the	year	ended	31	December	2009	arose	from	the	acquisition	of	 the	10%	minority	 interest	 in	
Yongle	(China)	Electrical	Retail	Co.,	Ltd.	(“Yongle	(China)”)	(note	38(c)).
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14. gOODwill (continued)
iMPAiRMENt tEStiNg OF gOODwill
The	carrying	amount	of	goodwill	allocated	to	each	of	the	cash-generating	units	is	as	follows:

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

China	Paradise	Electronics	Retail	Limited	(“China	Paradise”) 3,920,393 3,266,424
Shaanxi	Cellstar 60,428 60,428
Shenzhen	Gome	Electrical	Appliances	Company	Limited	and	
	 Guangzhou	Gome	Electrical	Appliances	Company	Limited 22,986 22,986
Longji	Island 8,000 8,000
Wuhan	Gome	Electrical	Appliances	Company	Limited 7,300 7,300
Jiangsu	Pengrun	Gome	Electrical	Appliance	Company	Limited	and
	 Nanjing	Pengze	Investment	Company	Limited 5,874 5,874

4,024,981 3,371,012
Impairment (10,000) (8,000)

4,014,981 3,363,012

The	 recoverable	 amount	 of	 each	 cash-generating	 unit	 has	 been	 determined	 based	 on	 a	 value	 in	 use	
calculation.	 To	 calculate	 this,	 cash	 flow	 projections	 are	 prepared	 based	 on	 financial	 budgets	 as	 approved	
by	 the	executive	directors	which	cover	a	period	of	 five	years.	 The	pre-tax	discount	 rate	applied	 to	 the	cash	
flow	projections	is	12.29%	(2008:	11.6%).

The	growth	rate	used	to	extrapolate	the	cash	flows	of	the	cash-generating	units	beyond	the	five-year	period	is	
3%	(2008:	3%).	This	growth	 rate	 is	below	 the	average	growth	 rates	of	 the	 retail	 industry	of	6.8%	 to	21.6%	
for	 the	past	10	 years.	 The	directors	 of	 the	Company	believe	 that	 a	 lower	growth	 rate	 is	more	 conservative	
and	reliable	for	the	purpose	of	this	impairment	testing.
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14. gOODwill (continued)
kEY ASSUMPtiONS USED iN tHE VAlUE iN USE CAlCUlAtiONS
The	following	describes	the	key	assumptions	of	the	cash	flow	projections.

Store	revenue: the	 bases	 used	 to	 determine	 the	 future	 earnings	 potential	 are	 historical	 sales	 and	

average	and	expected	growth	rates	of	the	retail	market	in	the	PRC.

Gross	margins: the	gross	margins	are	based	on	 the	average	gross	margin	achieved	 in	 the	past	 two	

years.

Expenses: the	 value	 assigned	 to	 the	 key	 assumptions	 ref lects	 past	 experience	 and	

management’s	 commitment	 to	 maintain	 the	 Group’s	 operating	 expenses	 to	 an	

acceptable	level.

Discount	rates: the	discount	rates	used	are	before	tax	and	reflect	management’s	estimate	of	the	risks	

specific	to	each	unit.	 In	determining	appropriate	discount	rates	for	each	unit,	regard	

has	been	given	to	the	applicable	borrowing	rate	of	the	Group	in	the	current	year.

SENSitiVitY tO CHANgES iN ASSUMPtiONS
With	 regard	 to	 the	 assessment	 of	 the	 values	 in	 use	 of	 the	 respective	 cash-generating	 units,	 management	

believes	that	no	reasonably	possible	change	in	any	of	the	above	key	assumptions	would	cause	the	respective	

carrying	 values,	 including	 goodwill,	 of	 the	 cash-generating	 units	 to	 exceed	 the	 respective	 recoverable	

amounts.
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15. OtHER iNtANgiBlE ASSEtS
gROUP

trademarks
RMB’000

31 December 2009

At	31	December	2008	and	1	January	2009:
	 Cost 154,915
	 Accumulated	amortisation (20,674)

	 Net	carrying	amount 134,241

Cost	at	1	January	2009,	net	of	accumulated	amortisation 134,241
Amortisation	provided	during	the	year (9,042)

At	31	December	2009 125,199

At	31	December	2009:
	 Cost 154,915
	 Accumulated	amortisation (29,716)

	 Net	carrying	amount 125,199

31 December 2008

At	1	January	2008:
	 Cost 154,915
	 Accumulated	amortisation (11,048)

	 Net	carrying	amount 143,867

Cost	at	1	January	2008,	net	of	accumulated	amortisation 143,867
Amortisation	provided	during	the	year (9,626)

At	31	December	2008 134,241

At	31	December	2008	and	1	January	2009:
	 Cost 154,915
	 Accumulated	amortisation (20,674)

	 Net	carrying	amount 134,241

Note:

The	 cost	 includes	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 trademark	 arising	 from	 the	 acquisition	 of	 Changzhou	 Jintaiyang	 Zhizun	 Home	
Appliance	Co.,	Ltd.	of	RMB25,915,000	in	2005	and	the	fair	value	of	the	trademark	arising	from	the	acquisition	of	China	
Paradise	of	RMB129,000,000	 in	2006,	which	are	amortised	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	 the	directors’	estimate	of	 their	
useful	lives	of	10	years	and	20	years	respectively.
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16. OtHER iNVEStMENtS
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

PRC	equity	investments,	at	fair	value 153,360 108,810

The	balance	as	at	31	December	2009	represented	the	fair	value	of	the	Group’s	investments	in	27,000,000	
shares,	 representing	 approximately	 10.7%	 of	 the	 outstanding	 issued	 shares,	 of	 Sanlian	 Commercial	 Co.,	
Ltd.	 (“Sanlian”).	 Sanlian	 is	 a	 PRC	 company	 listed	 on	 the	 Shanghai	 Stock	 Exchange.	 The	 Group	 classified	
these	 investments	 as	 available-for-sale	 financial	 assets	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 and	 2008.	 The	 fair	 value	
of	 these	 investments	 is	 based	 on	 quoted	 market	 prices	 of	 the	 listed	 shares,	 which	 was	 RMB5.68	 at	 31	
December	2009	(31	December	2008:	RMB4.03).	After	 initial	recognition,	available-for-sale	financial	assets	
are	 measured	 at	 fair	 value,	 with	 gains	 or	 losses	 recognised	 as	 a	 separate	 component	 of	 equity	 until	 the	
investment	 is	derecognised	or	until	 the	investment	 is	determined	to	be	impaired,	at	which	time	the	cumulative	
gain	or	loss	previously	reported	in	equity	is	included	in	the	income	statement.	An	impairment	 loss	recognised	
in	profit	or	 loss	 for	an	 investment	 in	an	equity	 instrument	classified	as	available	 for	 sale	will	not	be	 reversed	
through	 profit	 or	 loss.	 Accordingly,	 the	 amount	 of	 impairment	 loss	which	was	 recognised	 in	 the	Company’s	
2008	consolidated	income	statement	of	RMB449,592,000	was	not	reversed	in	the	current	year.

According	 to	 a	 public	 announcement	 of	 Sanlian	 dated	 2	 February	 2009,	 the	 Group	 nominated	 two	
independent	 directors	 and	 three	 executive	 directors	 to	 the	 board	 of	 directors	 of	 Sanlian.	 Such	 nominations	
have	been	approved	by	the	shareholders	of	Sanlian	at	a	shareholders’	meeting	on	2	February	2009.	Of	the	
seven	directors	of	Sanlian,	five	were	nominated	by	the	Group.	With	reference	to	Sanlian’s	memorandum	and	
articles	of	association	and	by	 taking	 into	account	 the	current	 shareholding	 structure	of	Sanlian,	 the	directors	
of	 the	 Company	 consider	 that	 the	Group	 has	 no	 absolute	 right	 to	 determine	 the	 composition	 of	 the	 board	
of	 directors	 of	 Sanlian	 or	 appoint	 directors	 to	 it	 and	 thus	 the	 Group	 does	 not	 have	 control	 or	 significant	
influence	over	Sanlian.

During	 the	 year	 ended	31	December	 2009,	 the	Group	 sold	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronic	
products	to	Sanlian	amounting	to	RMB4,335,000	(2008:	Nil).
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17. PREPAYMENtS FOR ACQUiSitiON OF PROPERtiES
2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayment	to	Wuhan	Yinhe	Property	Co.,	Ltd.	

	 (“Wuhan	Yinhe”) (i) – 107,315

Prepayments	for	acquisition	of	properties (ii) 21,129 162,845

21,129 270,160

Notes:

(i)	 On	 13	 July	 2008,	 the	Group	 entered	 into	 a	 sale	 and	 purchase	 agreement	 with	Wuhan	 Yinhe,	 an	 independent	
third	 party	 vendor,	 to	 acquire	 the	 first	 to	 the	 fourth	 floors	 of	 a	 commercial	 property	 located	 in	Wuhan,	 the	 PRC,	
at	 a	 total	 cash	 consideration	 of	 RMB214,629,000.	 Pursuant	 to	 the	 agreement,	 the	 Group	 paid	 an	 amount	
of	 RMB107,315,000,	 representing	 50%	 of	 the	 total	 purchase	 consideration,	 to	 the	 vendor	 in	 2008	 and	 the	
remaining	balance	was	payable	upon	the	completion	and	hand	over	of	the	property.

	 Due	to	the	default	of	the	vendor	to	fulfil	its	obligation	under	the	sale	and	purchase	agreement,	on	6	July	2009,	the	
Group	applied	 to	 the	Hubei	Provincial	People’s	High	Court	 to	 freeze	 the	assets	of	Wuhan	Yinhe	up	 to	an	amount	
of	 RMB135,808,000.	On	21	 July	2009,	 the	court	granted	an	 injunction	and	 froze	 the	 first,	 the	 second	and	 the	
fourth	floors	of	the	property.

	 On	30	July	2009,	the	Group	filed	a	civil	complaint	against	Wuhan	Yinhe	with	the	Hubei	Provincial	People’s	High	
Court.	On	25	November	2009,	 the	 Intermediate	 People’s	Court	 of	Huanggang	City,	Hubei	 Province,	 issued	 the	
civil	 judgment	 and	 ordered:	 (i)	 the	 sale	 and	 purchase	 agreement	 and	 its	 supplementary	 agreement	 are	 void;	 (ii)	
Wuhan	Yinhe	 shall	 refund	 the	 consideration	 paid	 by	 the	Group	 of	 RMB107,315,000	 to	 the	Group;	 (iii)	Wuhan	
Yinhe	 shall	 pay	 interest	 of	 RMB5,638,000	 and	 damages	 of	 RMB38,633,000	 to	 the	 Group;	 and	 (iv)	 Wuhan	
Yinhe	shall	pay	other	damages	 to	 the	Group	 in	 the	amount	of	RMB15,000,000.	Wuhan	Yinhe	did	not	 raise	any	
appeal	 within	 the	 time	 limit.	 The	 directors	 of	 the	 Company	 have	 consulted	 the	 Group’s	 PRC	 legal	 advisers	 and	
consider	 that	 the	 decision	 is	 final	 and	 binding.	 The	 aggregate	 amount	 of	 the	 compensation	 in	 items	 (iii)	 and	 (iv)	
above	of	approximately	RMB59,271,000	has	been	recognised	as	income	in	the	Group’s	income	statement	for	the	
year	ended	31	December	2009.	 In	 the	opinion	of	 the	directors,	 the	Group	 is	able	 to	 recover	 the	prepayment	of	
RMB107,315,000	and	 the	 compensation	 receivables	 of	 RMB59,271,000	within	2010	and	 these	balances	are	
included	in	prepayments,	deposits	and	other	receivables	as	set	out	in	note	26	below.

	 For	 the	 purpose	 of	 assessment	 of	 asset	 impairment	 in	 preparation	 of	 these	 financial	 statements,	 the	 Group	 has	
engaged	 Jones	 Lang	 LaSalle	 Sallmanns	 Limited,	 an	 independent	 firm	 of	 professionally	 qualified	 valuers,	 to	
determine	 the	market	 value	 of	 the	 frozen	property.	 The	market	 value	 of	 the	 relevant	 property	 as	 at	 31	December	
2009	was	RMB190.7	million,	based	on	an	open	market	approach,	pursuant	to	the	valuation	report.

(ii)	 The	 balances	 represented	 deposits	 for	 the	 acquisition	 of	 certain	 commercial	 properties	 in	 the	 PRC.	Management	
expects	that	these	acquisition	transactions	will	be	completed	within	2010.



31	December	2009

156

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

18. lEASE PREPAYMENtS
gROUP

2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepaid	land	lease	payments (i) 42,815 43,992

Rental	prepayments (ii) 289,592 311,097

332,407 355,089

Notes:

(i)	 Prepaid	land	lease	payments
group

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Carrying	amount	at	1	January 43,992 45,194
Recognised	during	the	year (1,177) (1,202)

Carrying	amount	at	31	December 42,815 43,992

The	leasehold	land	is	held	under	a	medium	term	lease	and	is	situated	in	the	PRC.

(ii)	 The	balances	at	31	December	2009	and	2008	represented	the	non-current	portion	of	rental	prepayments.

Included	 in	 rental	 prepayments	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 was	 the	 long	 term	 portion	 of	 rental	 prepayments	 to	
Centergate	 Technologies,	 a	 related	 company	 as	 further	 defined	 in	 note	 38(a)	 to	 the	 financial	 statements,	 of	
RMB65,565,000	(31	December	2008:	RMB72,177,000)	(note	38(a)(vi)).
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19. DEFERRED tAX
gROUP

Balance at

1 January

2009

Recognised

 in the

 consolidated

 income

 statement

Recognised

 in the

 consolidated

 statement of

comprehensive 

income

Balance at

31 December

 2009

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred	tax	assets:

	 Tax	losses (i) 18,356 (9,495) – 8,861

	 Fair	value	adjustment	on	

	 	 investment	properties – 1,529 – 1,529

	 Fair	value	adjustment	on	transfer	

	 	 of	owner	occupied	properties	

	 	 to	investment	properties – 20,373 – 20,373

18,356 12,407 – 30,763

Deferred	tax	liabilities:

	 Fair	value	adjustment	on	

	 	 acquisition 68,952 – – 68,952

	 Fair	value	adjustment	on	

	 	 investment	properties 1,211 597 – 1,808

	 Fair	value	adjustment	on	transfer	

	 	 of	owner	occupied		properties	

	 	 to	investment	properties	 8,106 – 24,563 32,669

78,269 597 24,563 103,429
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19. DEFERRED tAX (continued)
gROUP	(continued)

Balance	at

1	January	

2008

Recognised	

in	the

	consolidated

	income

	statement

Recognised	

in	the

	consolidated

	statement	of

comprehensive

income

Balance	at

31	December

	2008

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Deferred	tax	assets:

	 Tax	losses (i) 55,873 (37,517) – 18,356

Deferred	tax	liabilities:

	 Fair	value	adjustment	on	

	 	 acquisition 68,952 – – 68,952

	 Fair	value	adjustment	on	

	 	 investment	properties 11,479 (10,268) – 1,211

	 Fair	value	adjustment	on	transfer	

	 	 of	owner	occupied		properties	

	 	 to	investment	properties	 – – 8,106 8,106

80,431 (10,268) 8,106 78,269

Notes:

(i)	 The	Group	 has	 not	 recognised	 deferred	 tax	 assets	 in	 respect	 of	 tax	 losses	 arising	 in	 Hong	 Kong	 of	 RMB270.0	
million	 (2008:	 RMB221.6	 million),	 that	 are	 available	 indefinitely,	 and	 in	 the	 PRC	 of	 RMB777.5	 million	 (2008:	
RMB572.0	million),	 that	will	 expire	 in	 one	 to	 five	 years,	 as	 they	 have	arisen	 in	 subsidiaries	 that	 have	been	 loss-
making	for	some	time	and	it	is	not	considered	probable	that	taxable	profits	will	be	available	against	which	the	tax	
losses	can	be	utilised.

(ii)	 The	 deferred	 tax	 recognised	 in	 the	 consolidated	 income	 statement	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2009	
amounted	to	RMB11,810,000	(2008:	RMB27,249,000).
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20. DESigNAtED lOAN
The	 designated	 loan	 of	 RMB3,600	 million	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 (31	 December	 2008:	 RMB3,600	

million)	 represented	 the	 aggregate	 amount	 of	 loans	 provided	 to	 Beijing	 Zhansheng	 by	 the	 Group	 through	

the	Beijing	Branch	of	 Industrial	Bank	Co.,	 Ltd.	 (the	 “Bank”).	 The	 loan	had	a	maturity	date	on	12	December	

2009	 and	 the	 interest	 rate	 of	 5.103%	 per	 annum.	 On	 15	 December	 2009,	 the	 designated	 loan	 was	

renewed	 to	14	December	2011	with	an	 interest	 rate	of	4.86%	per	annum.	Accordingly,	 the	designed	 loan	

was	classified	as	a	non-current	asset	as	at	31	December	2009.

The	 designated	 loan	 is	 secured	 by	 (i)	 the	 pledge	 of	 the	 entire	 registered	 share	 capital	 of	 Dazhong	

Appliances	 (including	any	dividends	and	other	 interests	arising	 in	 relation	 to	 the	 relevant	 share	capital)	and	

(ii)	 the	pledge	of	 the	entire	registered	share	capital	of	Beijing	Zhansheng	(including	any	dividends	and	other	

interests	arising	in	relation	to	the	relevant	share	capital)	in	favour	of	the	Group.

In	addition,	pursuant	 to	an	option	agreement	dated	14	December	2007	and	the	renewed	option	agreement	

dated	 15	 December	 2009,	 Beijing	 Zhansheng	 irrevocably	 granted	 the	 Group	 an	 option	 (the	 “Purchase	

Option”),	 on	 an	 exclusive	 basis,	 for	 the	 Group	 or	 any	 party(ies)	 designated	 by	 the	 Group	 to	 acquire	 all	

or	 part	 of	 the	 registered	 share	 capital	 of	 Dazhong	 Appliances	 held	 by	 Beijing	 Zhansheng,	 subject	 to	 the	

approvals	from	the	PRC	government	authorities	and	other	terms	and	conditions	of	the	option	agreement.

As	at	 the	date	of	 the	 financial	 statements,	 the	board	of	directors	of	 the	Company	 is	 considering	 to	exercise	

the	Purchase	Option	in	the	future.

21. OtHER ASSEtS
The	balance	as	at	31	December	2008	represented	loans	 to	Mr.	Chen	Xiao,	 the	Chairman	of	 the	Company,	

and	 other	 minority	 shareholders	 of	 Yongle	 (China),	 a	 90%-owned	 PRC	 subsidiary	 of	 the	 Group.	 The	 loans	

were	 secured	 by	 a	 10%	 interest	 in	 the	 registered	 capital	 of	 Yongle	 (China)	 and	 were	 interest-free.	 They	

formed	part	of	 the	 transactions	 to	acquire	 the	 remaining	10%	equity	 interest	of	Yongle	 (China)	by	 the	Group	

and	 have	 been	 utilised	 to	 settle	 part	 of	 the	 purchase	 consideration	 upon	 the	 completion	 of	 the	 transactions	

during	 the	 year.	 Further	 details	 of	 the	 acquisition	 transactions	 are	 disclosed	 in	 note	 38(c)	 to	 the	 financial	

statements.
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22. iNtEREStS iN SUBSiDiARiES
COMPANY

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Unlisted	shares,	at	cost 5,389,635 5,389,635

Amounts	due	from	subsidiaries 3,355,781 3,548,882

8,745,416 8,938,517

Impairment (46,925) (46,925)

8,698,491 8,891,592

The	 balances	 with	 subsidiaries	 are	 interest-free,	 unsecured	 and	 have	 no	 fixed	 terms	 of	 repayment.	 The	

carrying	amounts	of	these	balances	approximate	to	their	fair	values.

Particulars	of	the	principal	subsidiaries	are	as	follows:

Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Nominal value of
 issued ordinary/

registered
 share capital

Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
Principal activitiesDirect indirect

Capital	Automation	(BVI)	Limited British	Virgin	Islands/
	 Hong	Kong

US$50,000 100 – Investment	holding

Grand	Hope	Investment	Limited British	Virgin	Islands/
	 Hong	Kong

US$1	million 100 – Investment	holding

China	Paradise	Electronics
	 Retail	Limited

Cayman	Islands HK$235,662,979 100 – Investment	holding

Hong	Kong	Punching	Centre	Limited Hong	Kong HK$100,000 – 100 Property	holding



31	December	2009

GOME	Electrical	Appliances	Holding	Limited

Annual	Report	2009161

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Nominal value of
 issued ordinary/

registered
 share capital

Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
Principal activitiesDirect indirect

Ocean	Town	Int’l	Inc. British	Virgin	Islands/
	 Hong	Kong

US$50,000 – 100 Investment	holding

Gome	Appliance	Company	Limited	(ii)
國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB300	million – 100 Note (vi)

Tianjin	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
天津國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB40	million – 100 Note (iii)

Tianjin	Gome	Logistics	Company
	 Limited	(i)
天津國美物流有限公司

PRC RMB18	million – 100 Note (iv)

Chongqing	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
重慶國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB20	million – 100 Note (iii)

Chengdu	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
成都國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB20	million – 100 Note (iii)

Xi’an	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
西安國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Kunming	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
昆明國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

22. iNtEREStS iN SUBSiDiARiES (continued)
COMPANY	(continued)



31	December	2009

162

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Nominal value of
 issued ordinary/

registered
 share capital

Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
Principal activitiesDirect indirect

Shenzhen	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
深圳國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Fuzhou	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
福州國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Guangzhou	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
廣州市國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Wuhan	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
武漢國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Shenyang	Gome	Electrical	Appliance	
	 Company	Limited	(i)
沈陽國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Jinan	Gome	Electrical	Appliance	
	 Company	Limited	(i)
濟南國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Qingdao	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
青島國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Tianjin	Gome	Commercial	Consultancy
	 Company	Limited	(i)
天津國美商業管理諮詢有限公司

PRC RMB3	million – 100 Note (v)

22. iNtEREStS iN SUBSiDiARiES (continued)
COMPANY	(continued)
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Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Nominal value of
 issued ordinary/

registered
 share capital

Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
Principal activitiesDirect indirect

Kunming	Gome	Logistics	Company
	 Limited	(i)
昆明國美物流有限公司

PRC RMB8	million – 100 Note (iv)

Quanzhou	Pengrun	Gome	Electrical
	 Appliance	Company	Limited	(i)
泉州鵬潤國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB5	million – 100 Note (iii)

Changzhou	Jintaiyang	Zhizun	Electrical
	 Appliance	Company	Limited	(i)	
常州金太陽至尊電器有限公司

PRC RMB50	million – 100 Note (iii)

Gansu	Gome	Electrical	Appliance
	 Company	Limited	(i)
甘肅國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB5	million – 100 Note (iii)

Beijing	Pengze	Real	Estate	Company
	 Limited	(i)
北京鵬澤置業有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Property	holding

Shenyang	Pengrun	Gome	Electrical
	 Appliance	Company	Limited	(i)	
瀋陽鵬潤國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Kunming	Qin’an	Commercial
	 Management	Consultancy	Company
	 Limited	(i)
昆明勤安商業管理諮詢有限公司

PRC RMB6	million – 100 Note (v)

Jiangsu	Pengrun	Gome	Electrical
	 Appliance	Company	Limited	(i)
江蘇鵬潤國美電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

22. iNtEREStS iN SUBSiDiARiES (continued)
COMPANY	(continued)
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Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Nominal value of
 issued ordinary/

registered
 share capital

Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
Principal activitiesDirect indirect

Eagle	Electrical	Appliance	Company
	 Limited	(i)
鵬潤電器有限公司

PRC RMB100	million – 100 Investment	holding

Shenzhen	eHome	Commercial	Chain
	 Company	Limited	(i)	
深圳易好家商業連鎖有限公司

PRC RMB20	million – 100 Note (iii)

Gansu	Gome	Logistics	Company	
	 Limited	(i)	
甘肅國美物流有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iv)

Nanjing	Pengze	Investment	Company
	 Limited	(i)
南京鵬澤投資有限公司

PRC RMB156	million – 100 Property	holding

Yongle	(China)	Electronics	Retail
	 Company	Limited	(ii)
永樂(中國)電器銷售有限公司

PRC RMB220	million – 100 Note (iii)

Guangdong	Yongle	Electronics	Retail
	 Company	Limited	(i)
廣東永樂家用電器有限公司

PRC RMB30	million – 100 Note (iii)

Henan	Yongle	Electronics	Retail
	 Company	Limited	(i)
河南永樂生活電器有限公司

PRC RMB20	million – 100 Note (iii)

Jiangsu	Yongle	Electronics	Retail
	 Company	Limited	(i)
江蘇永樂家用電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

22. iNtEREStS iN SUBSiDiARiES (continued)
COMPANY	(continued)
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Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Nominal value of
 issued ordinary/

registered
 share capital

Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
Principal activitiesDirect indirect

Shanghai	Yongle	Communication
	 Equipment	Company	Limited	(i)
上海永樂通訊設備有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Sichuan	Yongle	Electronics	Retail
	 Company	Limited	(i)
四川永樂家用電器有限公司

PRC RMB20	million – 100 Note (iii)

Xiamen	Yongle	Siwen	Electronics	
	 Retail	Company	Limited	(i)
廈門永樂思文家電有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Zhejiang	Yongle	Electronics	Retail
	 Company	Limited	(i)
浙江永樂家用電器有限公司

PRC RMB15	million – 100 Note (iii)

Shaanxi	Yongle	•	Dazhong	Electronics
	 Retail	Co.,	Ltd.	(i)
陝西永樂•大中生活電器有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (iii)

Shaanxi	Cellstar	Telecommunication
	 Retail	Chain	Company	Limited	(i)
陝西蜂星電訊零售連鎖有限責任公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Note (vii)

Shandong	Longji	Island	Construction
	 Company	Limited	(i)
山東龍脊島建設有限公司

PRC RMB10	million – 100 Investment	holding

Suzhou	Jiayue	Trading	Company
	 Limited	(i)
蘇州嘉悅商貿有限公司

PRC US$49.9	million – 100	 Note (iv)

22. iNtEREStS iN SUBSiDiARiES (continued)
COMPANY	(continued)
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Company name

Place of 
incorporation/
registration and
operations

Nominal value of
 issued ordinary/

registered
 share capital

Percentage of 
equity attributable 

to the Company
Principal activitiesDirect indirect

Xuzhou	Pengze	Trading	Company	
	 Limited	(i)
徐州鵬澤商貿有限公司

PRC US$99	million – 100 Note (iv)

Xinjiang	Hongsheng	Logistics	
	 Company	Limited	(i)
新疆鴻盛物流有限公司

PRC US$50	million – 100 Note (iv)

Tianjin	Pengze	Logistics	Company
	 Limited	(i)
天津鵬澤物流有限公司

PRC US$50	million – 100 Note (iv)

Notes:

(i)	 Registered	as	private	companies	with	limited	liability	under	the	PRC	law

(ii)	 Registered	as	Sino-foreign	equity	joint	ventures	under	the	PRC	law

(iii)	 Retailing	of	electrical	appliances	and	consumer	electronic	products

(iv)	 Provision	of	logistics	services

(v)	 Provision	of	business	management	services

(vi)	 Investment	holding	and	retailing	of	electrical	appliances	and	consumer	electronic	products

(vii)	 Retailing	of	mobile	phones	and	accessories

The	 above	 table	 lists	 the	 subsidiaries	 of	 the	 Company	 which,	 in	 the	 opinion	 of	 the	 directors,	 principally	

affected	the	results	for	the	year	or	formed	a	substantial	portion	of	the	net	assets	of	the	Group.	To	give	details	

of	other	subsidiaries	would,	in	the	opinion	of	the	directors,	result	in	particulars	of	excessive	length.

22. iNtEREStS iN SUBSiDiARiES (continued)
COMPANY	(continued)
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23. iNVEStMENt DEPOSitS
gROUP

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Investment	deposits,	in	a	licensed	bank	

	 in	the	PRC,	at	amortised	cost – 30,000

The	Group	fully	received	the	investment	deposits	in	2009.

24. iNVENtORiES
gROUP

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Merchandise	for	resale 6,439,237 5,391,740

Consumables 93,216 81,757

6,532,453 5,473,497

As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	 Group’s	 inventories	 amounting	 to	 RMB500	 million	 (31	 December	 2008:	

RMB700	million)	were	pledged	as	security	for	the	Group’s	bank	loans	(note	29)	and	bills	payable	(note	30).
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25. tRADE AND BillS RECEiVABlES
All	 of	 the	Group’s	 sales	 are	 on	 a	 cash	 basis	 except	 for	 certain	 bulk	 sales	 of	merchandise	which	 are	 credit	
sales.	 The	 credit	 terms	 offered	 to	 customers	 are	 generally	 one	 month.	 The	 Group	 seeks	 to	 maintain	 strict	
control	over	its	outstanding	receivables	and	overdue	balances	are	reviewed	regularly	by	senior	management.	
Management	considers	that	there	is	no	significant	concentration	of	credit	risk.

An	 aged	 analysis	 of	 the	 trade	 and	 bills	 receivables	 as	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period,	 based	 on	 the	
invoice	date	of	the	trade	and	bills	receivables,	is	as	follows:

gROUP
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Outstanding	balances,	aged:
	 Within	3	months 50,419 41,787
	 3	to	6	months 3,071 1,615
	 6	months	to	1	year 273 1,043
	 Over	1	year 436 647

54,199 45,092

The	 balance	 of	 trade	 and	 bills	 receivables	 as	 at	 31	December	 2008	 includes	 a	 receivable	 from	Dazhong	
Appliances	of	approximately	RMB10,235,000	which	was	fully	settled	during	the	year.

The	aged	analysis	of	trade	and	bills	receivables	that	are	not	considered	to	be	impaired	is	as	follows:

gROUP
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Neither	past	due	nor	impaired 49,582 41,557
Less	than	3	months	past	due 837 230
Over	3	months	past	due 3,780 3,305

54,199 45,092

Receivables	 that	were	 neither	 past	 due	 nor	 impaired	 related	 to	 a	 large	 number	 of	 diversified	 customers	 for	
whom	there	was	no	recent	history	of	default.
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25. tRADE AND BillS RECEiVABlES (continued)
Receivables	 that	 were	 past	 due	 but	 not	 impaired	 related	 to	 mainly	 receivables	 corporate	 customers	 which	
have	 long	 business	 relationship	 with	 the	 Group.	 The	 directors	 are	 of	 the	 opinion	 that	 no	 provision	 for	
impairment	 is	 necessary	 at	 this	 stage	 because	 there	 has	 not	 been	 a	 significant	 change	 in	 credit	 quality	 of	
the	 individual	 debtors	 and	 the	 balances	 are	 considered	 fully	 recoverable.	 The	 Group	 does	 not	 hold	 any	
collateral	or	other	credit	enhancements	over	these	balances.

The	balances	are	unsecured,	non-interest-bearing	and	are	repayable	on	demand.

26. PREPAYMENtS, DEPOSitS AND OtHER RECEiVABlES
gROUP

2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments (i) 384,398 335,538
Advances	to	suppliers 457,567 425,151
Other	deposits	and	receivables 630,886 379,608
Receivables	from	Wuhan	Yinhe 17 166,586 –
Management	fees	receivable	from	Dazhong	
	 Appliances (ii) 61,555 36,059
Interest	income	receivable	from	Beijing	Zhansheng 892 207,999

1,701,884 1,384,355

COMPANY
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Prepayments 11,952 4,053
Other	receivables 9,238 678

21,190 4,731

Notes:

(i)	 The	 balance	 includes	 the	 current	 portion	 of	 the	 rental	 prepayments	 to	 Centergate	 Technologies	 amounting	 to	
RMB6,612,000	as	at	31	December	2009	(31	December	2008:	RMB6,612,000)	(note	38(a)(vi)).

(ii)	 In	 the	 opinion	 of	 the	 directors,	 the	management	 fees	 receivable	 from	Dazhong	Appliances	will	 be	 settled	 before	
30	June	2010.
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27. DUE FROM RElAtED PARtiES
gROUP

2009 2008

Note RMB’000 RMB’000

Receivables	from	the	Non-listed	GOME	Group (i) 156,912 57,656

Others 234 187

157,146 57,843

Note:

(i)	 The	 balance	mainly	 represented	 the	management	 fee	 due	 from	 the	Non-listed	GOME	Group	 (note	38(a)(ii)).	 The	
aforesaid	balance	was	interest-free,	unsecured	and	was	fully	settled	subsequent	to	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.

28. CASH AND CASH EQUiVAlENtS AND PlEDgED DEPOSitS
gROUP

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash	and	bank	balances 5,492,859 2,055,835

Time	deposits 9,332,544 5,835,690

14,825,403 7,891,525

Less:	 Pledged	time	deposits:

	 Pledged	for	bills	payables (6,189,973) (4,639,192)

	 Pledged	for	bank	acceptance	credit (2,606,371) (201,264)

(8,796,344) (4,840,456)

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 6,029,059 3,051,069
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUiVAlENtS AND PlEDgED DEPOSitS (continued)
COMPANY

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash	and	bank	balances 1,382,575 9,160
Time	deposits 3,142,571 995,234

4,525,146 1,004,394

Less:	Time	deposits	pledged	for	bank	acceptance	credit (2,606,371) –

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 1,918,775 1,004,394

For	 the	 purpose	 of	 the	 cash	 flow	 statement,	 cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 comprise	 the	 following	 at	 31	
December:

gROUP
2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Cash	and	bank	balances 5,492,859 2,055,835
Short	term	deposits,	non-pledged 536,200 995,234

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 6,029,059 3,051,069

At	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	 cash	 and	 bank	 balances	 and	 the	 time	 deposits	 of	 the	 Group	
denominated	 in	 RMB	 amounted	 to	 RMB10,198,403,000	 (31	 December	 2008:	 RMB6,585,823,000).	
The	RMB	 is	not	 freely	convertible	 into	other	currencies;	however,	under	Mainland	China’s	Foreign	Exchange	
Control	 Regulations	 and	 Administration	 of	 Settlement,	 Sale	 and	 Payment	 of	 Foreign	 Exchange	 Regulations,	
the	Group	 is	 permitted	 to	 exchange	 RMB	 for	 other	 currencies	 through	 banks	 authorised	 to	 conduct	 foreign	
exchange	business.
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28. CASH AND CASH EQUiVAlENtS AND PlEDgED DEPOSitS (continued)
The	 bank	 balances	 of	 the	 Group	 and	 the	 Company	 earn	 interest	 at	 floating	 rates	 based	 on	 daily	 bank	
deposit	 rates.	Short	 term	deposits	of	 the	Group	and	 the	Company	are	made	for	varying	periods	of	between	
one	day	and	one	year,	and	earn	 interest	at	 the	 respective	 short	 term	deposit	 rates.	 The	bank	balances	and	
pledged	time	deposits	are	deposited	with	creditworthy	banks	with	no	recent	history	of	default.

29. iNtERESt-BEARiNg BANk lOANS
gROUP

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

PRC	bank	loans	–	secured,	within	one	year 350,000 170,000

The	 Group’s	 bank	 loans	 are	 all	 denominated	 in	 RMB	 and	 bear	 interest	 at	 rates	 ranging	 from	 4.86%	 to	

5.841%	per	annum	(2008:	6.225%	to	7.47%).

The	Group’s	bank	loans	are	secured	by	guarantees	and	pledges	as	set	out	in	note	30	below.

The	carrying	amounts	of	the	Group’s	bank	loans	approximate	to	their	fair	values.

30. tRADE AND BillS PAYABlES
gROUP

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Trade	payables 4,159,579 4,431,020

Bills	payable 11,655,682 8,486,938

15,815,261 12,917,958
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30. tRADE AND BillS PAYABlES (continued)
An	aged	analysis	of	 the	 trade	and	bills	payables	as	at	 the	end	of	 the	reporting	period,	based	on	the	goods	

receipt	date,	is	as	below:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within	3	months 9,617,687 8,933,715

3	to	6	months 5,921,009 3,553,829

Over	6	months 276,565 430,414

15,815,261 12,917,958

The	Group’s	bills	payable	and	PRC	bank	loans	(note	29)	above	are	secured	by:

(i)	 the	pledge	of	the	Group’s	time	deposits	(note	28);

(ii)	 the	bank	acceptance	credit	 in	 favour	of	 the	Group.	 The	bank	acceptance	credit	was	 secured	by	 the	

Group’s	time	deposits	(note	28);

(iii)	 the	pledge	of	certain	of	the	Group’s	inventories	(note	24);	

(iv)	 the	pledge	of	certain	of	the	Group’s	buildings	(note	12);

(v)	 the	pledge	of	certain	of	the	Group’s	investment	properties	(note	13);	and

(vi)	 the	corporate	guarantees	provided	by	Mr.	Wong	and	Mr.	Chen	Xiao	(note	38(a)(iv)).

The	trade	and	bills	payables	are	non-interest-bearing	and	are	normally	settled	on	terms	of	one	to	six	months.
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31. CUStOMERS’ DEPOSitS, OtHER PAYABlES AND ACCRUAlS
gROUP

2009 2008

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Customers’	deposits 649,710 478,972

Consideration	payable	for	the

	 acquisition	of	subsidiaries (i) 7,240 10,000

Provision	for	coupon	liabilities (ii) 61,619 78,619

Other	payables	and	accruals (iii) 1,110,945 962,550

1,829,514 1,530,141

Notes:

(i)	 The	 balances	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009	 and	 2008	 represented	 outstanding	 purchase	 considerations	 for	 the	
business	combination	transactions.

(ii)	 A	reconciliation	of	the	provision	for	coupon	liabilities	is	as	follows:

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

At	1	January 78,619 62,667
Arising	during	the	year 95,500 136,831
Revenue	recognised	on	utilised	points (73,140) (89,836)
Revenue	recognised	on	expired	points (39,360) (31,043)

At	31	December 61,619 78,619

(iii)	 Included	in	the	Group’s	other	payables	and	accruals	as	at	31	December	2009	was	individual	income	tax	payable	
amounting	 to	 RMB157,658,000	which	 has	 been	withheld	 from	 the	 Vendors,	 other	 than	 Shanghai	 Hegui,	 under	
the	 transactions	 to	 acquire	 the	 remaining	 10%	 equity	 interest	 of	 Yongle	 (China).	 Further	 details	 of	 the	 acquisition	
transactions	are	disclosed	in	note	38(c)	to	these	financial	statements.	Among	the	outstanding	balance	of	individual	
income	tax	payable	as	at	31	December	2009	of	RMB157,658,000,	RMB113,589,000	was	payable	on	behalf	
of	Mr.	Chen	Xiao.
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32. CONVERtiBlE BONDS

2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Liability	components:
	 Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds (i) 2,281,046 3,571,833
	 2016	Convertible	Bonds (ii) 1,502,733 –
	 New	2014	Convertible	Bonds (iii) 1,672,176 –

5,455,955 3,571,833

Derivative	components:
	 Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds (i) (100,689) (2,280)

5,355,266 3,569,553

Classified	as	current	liabilities (2,180,357) –

Non-current	liabilities 3,174,909 3,569,553

(i)	 RMB	 denominated	United	 States	 dollar	 (“USD”)	 settled	 zero	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2014	
(the	“Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds”)

On	 11	 May	 2007,	 the	 Company	 issued	 RMB	 denominated	 USD	 settled	 zero	 coupon	 convertible	
bonds	due	in	2014	in	an	aggregate	principal	amount	of	RMB4,600	million.

Pursuant	to	the	bond	subscription	agreement,	the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds	are:

(a)	 convertible	at	 the	option	of	 the	bondholders	into	fully	paid	ordinary	shares	at	anytime	from	18	
May	2008	to	11	May	2014	at	a	conversion	price	of	HK$19.95	(at	a	fixed	exchange	rate	of	
RMB0.9823	to	HK$1.00)	per	share;

(b)	 redeemable	 at	 the	 option	 of	 the	 bondholders	 on	 18	May	 2010,	 being	 the	 third	 anniversary	
of	 the	 issue	 date,	 in	 a	 USD	 amount	 equivalent	 to	 their	 RMB	 principal	 amount	 multiplied	 by	
102.27%	 and	 on	 18	 May	 2012,	 being	 the	 fifth	 anniversary	 of	 the	 issue	 date,	 in	 a	 USD	
amount	equivalent	to	their	RMB	principal	amount	multiplied	by	103.81%;	and
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32. CONVERtiBlE BONDS (continued)
(i)	 RMB	 denominated	United	 States	 dollar	 (“USD”)	 settled	 zero	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2014	

(the	“Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds”)	(continued)

(c)	 redeemable	 at	 the	 option	 of	 the	Company	 at	 any	 time	 after	 18	May	 2010	 and	 prior	 to	 18	

May	 2014	 in	 all	 or	 some	 only	 of	 the	 bonds	 for	 the	 time	 being	 outstanding	 at	 a	 US	 dollar	

amount	 equivalent	 to	 their	 early	 redemption	 amount	 as	 at	 the	 date	 fixed	 for	 redemption,	

provided	 that	 the	prices	of	 the	Company’s	shares	 for	each	of	20	consecutive	 trading	days	are	

over	130%	of	the	early	redemption	price.

The	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds	will	be	redeemed	on	maturity	at	a	value	equal	 to	 the	aggregate	of	

(a)	 its	principal	amount	outstanding;	 (b)	 the	 interest	accrued;	and	 (c)	a	premium	calculated	at	5.38%	

of	 the	 principal	 amount.	 The	 settlement	 of	 the	 convertible	 bonds	 will	 be	 in	 USD	 using	 the	 spot	 rate	

prevailing	at	the	date	of	transaction.

Pursuant	 to	 the	 Company’s	 announcements	 dated	 5	 July	 2009	 and	 3	 August	 2009,	 the	 conversion	

price	of	 the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds	 has	been	adjusted	 from	HK$4.96	per	 share	 to	HK$4.46	

per	share	in	accordance	with	the	terms	and	conditions	of	the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds	as	a	result	

of	the	Open	Offer	(note	33(i))	and	issuance	of	the	2016	Convertible	Bonds	(note	(ii)	below).

The	 Company	 has	 reclassified	 the	 convertible	 bonds	 from	 non-current	 liabilities	 to	 current	 liabilities	

during	 the	 current	 period	 as	 the	 Old	 2014	 Convertible	 Bonds	 are	 redeemable	 at	 the	 option	 of	

the	 bondholders	 on	 18	May	 2010	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 terms	 and	 conditions	 of	 the	Old	 2014	

Convertible	Bonds.
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32. CONVERtiBlE BONDS (continued)
(i)	 RMB	 denominated	United	 States	 dollar	 (“USD”)	 settled	 zero	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2014	

(the	“Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds”) (continued)

During	 the	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	 Company	 repurchased	 part	 of	 the	 Old	 2014	

Convertible	 Bonds	 with	 an	 aggregate	 principal	 amount	 of	 RMB1,824,700,000	 through	 over-

the-counter	 purchases.	 The	 bonds	 repurchased	 have	 been	 cancelled.	 The	 consideration	 for	 the	

repurchases	 were	 allocated	 to	 the	 liability	 component,	 the	 derivative	 component	 and	 the	 equity	

component	 of	 the	 Old	 2014	 Convertible	 Bonds	 at	 the	 dates	 of	 the	 repurchases.	 The	 method	 used	

in	 allocating	 the	 consideration	 paid	 to	 the	 separate	 components	 is	 consistent	 with	 that	 used	 in	 the	

original	 allocation	 to	 the	 separate	 components	 of	 the	 proceeds	 received	 by	 the	Company	when	 the	

Old	 2014	 Convertible	 Bonds	 were	 issued.	 The	 Company	 determined	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 liability	

component	at	 the	dates	of	 the	 repurchases	 transactions	based	on	 the	valuations	performed	by	Vigers	

Appraisal	 &	 Consulting	 Limited	 (“Vigers”),	 an	 independent	 firm	 of	 professionally	 qualified	 valuers,	

using	an	equivalent	market	 interest	 rate	 for	a	similar	bond	without	a	conversion	option.	The	fair	value	

of	 the	 derivative	 component	was	 determined	 based	 on	 the	 valuations	 performed	 by	 Vigers	 using	 an	

option	 pricing	 model.	 The	 amount	 of	 gains	 which	 related	 to	 the	 liability	 component	 amounting	 to	

RMB67,083,000	was	 recognised	 in	profit	 or	 loss	and	 the	amount	of	 consideration	which	 related	 to	

the	equity	component	of	RMB444,957,000	was	recognised	in	equity.

As	at	31	December	2009,	 the	Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds	with	an	aggregate	principal	amount	of	

RMB2,775,300,000	remained	outstanding.
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32. CONVERtiBlE BONDS (continued)
(i)	 RMB	 denominated	United	 States	 dollar	 (“USD”)	 settled	 zero	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2014	

(the	“Old	2014	Convertible	Bonds”) (continued)

The	 movements	 of	 the	 liability	 component,	 derivative	 component	 and	 equity	 component	 of	 the	 Old	

2014	Convertible	Bonds	for	2008	and	2009	are	as	follows:

liability
component

of convertible
bonds

Derivative
component

of convertible
bonds

Equity
component of

convertible
bonds total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

At	1	January	2008 3,375,803 (191,500) 1,415,770 4,600,073
Interest	expenses 196,030 – – 196,030
Fair	value	adjustment – 189,220 – 189,220

At	31	December	2008 3,571,833 (2,280) 1,415,770 4,985,323
Interest	expenses 189,770 – – 189,770
Fair	value	adjustment – (136,740) – (136,740)
Repurchases	of	bonds (1,480,557) 38,331 (444,957) (1,887,183)

At	31	December	2009 2,281,046 (100,689) 970,813 3,151,170

The	 fair	 values	 of	 the	 derivative	 component	were	 determined	 based	 on	 the	 valuations	 performed	 by	

Vigers	using	the	applicable	option	pricing	model.

(ii)	 RMB	 denominated	 USD	 settled	 5%	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2016	 (the	 “2016	 Convertible	

Bonds”)

On	 7	 June	 2009,	 the	 Company	 and	 Bain	 Capital	 Glory	 Limited	 (“Bain	 Capital”)	 entered	 into	 an	

investment	 agreement	 pursuant	 to	 which	 Bain	 Capital	 has	 conditionally	 agreed	 to	 subscribe	 for	

RMB1,590	million	USD	 settled	5%	coupon	 convertible	bonds	due	2016	at	 their	 full	 face	 value.	 The	

transaction	was	completed	on	3	August	2009.
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32. CONVERtiBlE BONDS (continued)
(ii)	 RMB	 denominated	 USD	 settled	 5%	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2016	 (the	 “2016	 Convertible	

Bonds”) (continued)

Pursuant	to	the	terms	of	the	agreement,	the	2016	Convertible	Bonds	are:

(a)	 convertible	 at	 the	 option	 of	 the	 bondholder,	 at	 any	 time	 during	 the	 period	 commencing	 30	

days	after	 the	 issue	date	and	ending	on	 the	close	of	business	on	3	August	2016,	both	dates	

inclusive,	 in	whole,	or	 in	any	part,	of	 the	outstanding	principal	amount	of	 the	bonds	 into	 fully-

paid	 shares	 (at	 a	 fixed	 exchange	 rate	 of	 RMB0.88	 to	 HK$1.00),	 at	 a	 conversion	 price	 of	

HK$1.108	per	share;

(b)	 redeemable	 at	 the	 option	 of	 the	 bondholders	 on	 or	 at	 any	 time	 after	 the	 fifth	 anniversary	 of	

the	issue	date	and	prior	 to	the	bond	maturity	date	in	a	USD	amount	equivalent	 to	the	principal	

amount	of	 the	bond	multiplied	by	1.12n,	where	 “n”	equals	 the	number	of	days	 from	 the	 issue	

date	until	 the	early	redemption	date	(both	days	inclusive)	divided	by	360;	minus	the	amount	of	

interest	paid	on	such	bond	for	 the	period	from	(and	including)	 the	issue	date	to	(but	excluding)	

the	early	redemption	date;	and

(c)	 redeemable	at	the	option	of	the	bondholders	upon	the	occurrence	of	a	specified	event	or	any	of	

the	events	default	at	the	USD	equivalent	of	the	higher	of:	(A)	the	amount	equal	to	1.5	times	the	

principal	amount	of	 the	 said	bond	 (or,	 if	 the	maximum	amount	permitted	by	applicable	 law	 is	

lower,	 then	such	maximum	amount	permitted	by	applicable	 law);	and	 (B)	 the	principal	amount	

of	the	said	bond	multiplied	by	1.25n,	where	“n”	equals	the	number	of	days	from	the	issue	date	

until	 the	date	of	redemption	(both	days	inclusive)	divided	by	360;	minus	 the	amount	of	 interest	

paid	 on	 such	 bond	 for	 the	 period	 from	 (and	 including)	 the	 issue	 date	 to	 (but	 excluding)	 the	

date	of	redemption.
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32. CONVERtiBlE BONDS (continued)
(ii)	 RMB	 denominated	 USD	 settled	 5%	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2016	 (the	 “2016	 Convertible	

Bonds”) (continued)

The	Company	 shall	 on	 3	 August	 2016,	 the	 bond	maturity	 date,	 redeem	 in	 USD	 all	 the	 bonds	 then	

outstanding	at	 the	USD	equivalent	 of	 the	principal	amount	 of	 each	bond	multiplied	by	1.12n,	where	

“n”	 equals	 the	 number	 of	 days	 from	 the	 issue	 date	 until	 the	 bond	maturity	 date	 (both	 days	 inclusive)	

divided	by	360;	minus	 the	amount	of	 interest	paid	on	 such	bond	 for	 the	period	 from	 (and	 including)	

the	issue	date	to	(but	excluding)	the	bond	maturity	date.

Based	 on	 the	 terms	 and	 conditions	 of	 the	 2016	 Convertible	 Bonds,	 the	 exercise	 of	 the	 conversion	

option	 will	 give	 rise	 to	 the	 settlement	 by	 exchanging	 of	 a	 fixed	 amount	 of	 cash	 for	 a	 fixed	 number	

of	 shares	 of	 the	Company	and	 it	was	accounted	 for	 as	 an	 equity	 component.	At	 inception,	 the	 host	

debt	 instrument	 was	 fair	 valued	 and	 accounted	 for	 as	 a	 liability	 component.	 The	 equity	 component	

was	 assigned	 as	 the	 residual	 amount	 after	 deducting	 the	 liability	 component	 from	 the	 consideration	

received	 for	 the	 instrument.	 The	Company	determined	 the	 fair	 value	of	 the	 liability	 component	based	

on	 the	 valuations	 performed	 by	 Vigers	 using	 an	 equivalent	 market	 interest	 rate	 for	 a	 similar	 bond	

without	 a	 conversion	 option.	 The	 residual	 amount	 was	 assigned	 as	 the	 equity	 component	 for	 the	

conversion	option	and	was	included	in	the	capital	reserve	at	inception.

The	liability	component	is	carried	as	a	long	term	liability	on	the	amortised	cost	basis	until	extinguished	

on	 conversion	 or	 redemption.	 The	 value	 of	 the	 equity	 component	 is	 not	 remeasured	 in	 subsequent	

years.



31	December	2009

GOME	Electrical	Appliances	Holding	Limited

Annual	Report	2009181

Notes to Financial Statements (continued)

32. CONVERtiBlE BONDS (continued)
(ii)	 RMB	 denominated	 USD	 settled	 5%	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2016	 (the	 “2016	 Convertible	

Bonds”) (continued)

Transaction	costs	 that	 relate	 to	 the	 issue	of	 the	2016	Convertible	Bonds	are	allocated	 to	 the	 liability	

and	 equity	 components	 in	 proportion	 to	 the	 allocation	 of	 the	 proceeds.	 Transaction	 costs	 relating	

to	 the	 equity	 component	 is	 charged	 to	 equity.	 Transaction	 costs	 relating	 to	 the	 liability	 component	

are	 included	 in	 the	 carrying	amount	 of	 the	 liability	 component	 and	amortised	 over	 the	 period	of	 the	

convertible	bonds	using	the	effective	interest	method.

The	 movements	 of	 the	 liability	 component	 and	 equity	 component	 of	 the	 2016	 Convertible	 Bonds	

during	the	period	from	the	issue	date	to	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	are	as	follows:

liability

component

of convertible

bonds

Equity

component

of convertible

bonds total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Principal	amount	of	convertible	bonds	issued 1,449,240 140,760 1,590,000

Transaction	costs (34,486) (3,349) (37,835)

Interest	expenses 87,979 – 87,979

At	31	December	2009 1,502,733 137,411 1,640,144
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32. CONVERtiBlE BONDS (continued)
(iii)	 RMB	 denominated	 USD	 settled	 3%	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2014	 (the	 “New	 2014	

Convertible	Bonds”)

On	23	September	2009,	the	Company	entered	into	a	bond	subscription	agreement	with	 J.P.	Morgan	
Securities	 Ltd.	 (“J.P.	 Morgan”)	 to	 issue	 the	 RMB	 denominated	 USD	 settled	 3.0%	 coupon	 convertible	
bonds	 due	 2014	 with	 an	 aggregate	 principal	 amount	 of	 RMB2,050	 million	 (with	 the	 option	 (the	
“Option”)	 for	 the	 issue	 of	 up	 to	 RMB340	 million	 aggregate	 principal	 amount	 of	 USD	 settled	 3.0%	
coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 2014).	 J.P.	 Morgan	 has	 exercised	 the	 Option	 and	 the	 Company	
issued	 the	bonds	on	25	September	2009	with	an	aggregate	principal	amount	of	RMB307.2	million.	
Accordingly,	 the	 total	principal	amount	of	 the	New	2014	Convertible	Bonds	 issued	by	 the	Company	
is	RMB2,357.2	million.

Pursuant	to	the	bond	subscription	agreement,	the	New	2014	Convertible	Bonds	are:

(a)	 convertible	 at	 the	 option	 of	 the	 bondholders	 on	 or	 after	 5	 November	 2009	 up	 to	 the	 10th	
day	 prior	 to	 25	 September	 2014	 at	 a	 conversion	 price	 of	 HK$2.8380	 (at	 the	 fixed	 rate	 of	
HK$1.1351	=	RMB1.00)	per	share;

(b)	 redeemable	 at	 the	 option	 of	 the	 bondholders	 in	 all	 or	 some	 only	 of	 the	 bonds	 on	 25	
September	 2012	 at	 a	 USD	 amount	 equivalent	 of	 103.634%	 of	 their	 RMB	 principal	 amount	
together	with	interest	accrued	to	the	date	fixed	for	redemption;	and

(c)	 redeemable	 at	 the	 option	 of	 the	 Company	 at	 any	 time	 after	 25	 September	 2012	 in	 all,	 but	
not	some	only,	of	the	bonds	for	the	time	being	outstanding	at	a	USD	amount	equivalent	of	their	
early	 redemption	amount	as	at	 the	date	 fixed	 for	 redemption	 together	with	 interest	accrued	 to	
the	date	fixed	for	redemption,	provided	that	 the	closing	prices	of	 the	Company’s	shares	for	30	
consecutive	 trading	days	prior	 to	 the	date	upon	which	notice	of	 such	 redemption	 is	published	
are	at	least	130%	of	the	early	redemption	amount	of	a	bond	divided	by	the	conversion	ratio.

Unless	 previously	 redeemed,	 converted	 or	 purchased	 and	 cancelled	 in	 the	 circumstances	 referred	 to	
in	 the	 terms	 and	 conditions	 of	 the	New	 2014	Convertible	 Bonds,	 each	 bond	 will	 be	 redeemed	 at	
a	 USD	 amount	 equivalent	 of	 106.318%	 of	 its	 RMB	 principal	 amount	 together	 with	 unpaid	 accrued	
interest	thereon	on	25	September	2014,	the	bond	maturity	date.
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32. CONVERtiBlE BONDS (continued)
(iii)	 RMB	 denominated	 USD	 settled	 3%	 coupon	 convertible	 bonds	 due	 in	 2014	 (the	 “New	 2014	

Convertible	Bonds”) (continued)

Based	 on	 the	 terms	 and	 conditions	 of	 the	 New	 2014	 Convertible	 Bonds,	 the	 exercise	 of	 the	
conversion	option	will	give	rise	 to	 the	settlement	by	exchanging	of	a	fixed	amount	of	cash	for	a	fixed	
number	 of	 shares	 of	 the	Company	 and	 it	 was	 accounted	 for	 as	 an	 equity	 component.	 At	 inception,	
the	 host	 debt	 instrument	 was	 fair	 valued	 and	 accounted	 for	 as	 a	 liability	 component.	 The	 equity	
component	 was	 assigned	 as	 the	 residual	 amount	 after	 deducting	 the	 liability	 component	 from	 the	
consideration	 received	 for	 the	 instrument.	 The	 Company	 determined	 the	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 liability	
component	based	on	the	valuations	performed	by	Vigers	using	an	equivalent	market	interest	rate	for	a	
similar	bond	without	a	conversion	option.	The	residual	amount	was	assigned	as	the	equity	component	
for	the	conversion	option	and	was	included	in	the	capital	reserve	as	at	inception.

The	liability	component	is	carried	as	a	long	term	liability	on	the	amortised	cost	basis	until	extinguished	
on	 conversion	 or	 redemption.	 The	 value	 of	 the	 equity	 component	 is	 not	 remeasured	 in	 subsequent	
years.

Transaction	 costs	 that	 relate	 to	 the	 issue	 of	 the	 New	 2014	 Convertible	 Bonds	 are	 allocated	 to	 the	
liability	 and	 equity	 components	 in	 proportion	 to	 the	 allocation	 of	 the	 proceeds.	 Transaction	 costs	
relating	 to	 the	 equity	 component	 is	 charged	 to	 equity.	 Transaction	 costs	 relating	 to	 the	 liability	
component	 are	 included	 in	 the	 carrying	 amount	 of	 the	 liability	 component	 and	 amortised	 over	 the	
period	of	the	convertible	bonds	using	the	effective	interest	method.

The	movements	of	the	liability	component	and	equity	component	of	the	New	2014	Convertible	Bonds	
during	the	period	from	the	issue	date	to	the	end	of	the	reporting	period	are	as	follows:

liability
component

of convertible
bonds

Equity
component

of convertible
bonds total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Principal	amount	of	convertible	bonds	issued 1,653,610 703,590 2,357,200
Transaction	costs (36,590) (15,569) (52,159)
Interest	expenses 55,156 – 55,156

At	31	December	2009 1,672,176 688,021 2,360,197
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33. iSSUED CAPitAl
Number of

shares Equivalent to

‘000 HK$’000 RMB’000

Authorised:

	 Ordinary	shares	of	HK$0.025	each

	 	 at	1	January	2009	and	31	December	2009 200,000,000 5,000,000 5,300,000

Issued	and	fully	paid:

	 Ordinary	shares	of	HK$0.025	each

	 	 at	1	January	2009 12,758,756 318,970 331,791

	 Issue	of	shares	(note (i)) 2,296,576 57,414 50,617

	 Ordinary	shares	of	HK$0.025	each

	 	 at	31	December	2009 15,055,332 376,384 382,408

Note:

(i)	 On	22	 June	2009,	 the	Company	announced	an	open	offer	 (the	 “Open	Offer”)	of	 not	 less	 than	2,296,576,044	
open	 offer	 shares	 and	 not	more	 than	 2,484,657,375	 open	 offer	 shares	 at	 the	 subscription	 price	 of	HK$0.672	
per	 open	 offer	 share	 on	 the	 basis	 of	 18	 open	 offer	 shares	 for	 every	 100	 existing	 shares	 held	 by	 the	 qualifying	
shareholders	 on	 the	 record	 date	 and	 payable	 in	 full	 on	 application.	 Upon	 the	 completion	 of	 the	Open	Offer	 on	
31	 July	2009,	2,296,576,044	 shares	 of	 the	Company	 have	been	 issued	and	 fully	 paid,	816,321,278	 shares	
of	which	are	subscribed	by	Mr.	Wong	and	his	associates.	The	aggregate	amount	of	proceeds	from	the	open	offer	
shares	was,	 before	 expenses,	 HK$1,543,299,000	 (equivalent	 to	 RMB1,360,573,000).	 The	 net	 proceeds	 from	
the	open	offer	shares	was	about	RMB1,284,899,000.
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34. SHARE OPtiON SCHEME
The	 Company	 operates	 a	 share	 option	 scheme	 (the	 “Scheme”)	 which	 was	 adopted	 on	 15	 April	 2005	

(“Adoption	Date”)	for	the	purpose	of	providing	incentives	and	rewards	to	eligible	participants	who	contribute	

to	 the	 success	 of	 the	Group’s	 operations.	 Eligible	participants	 of	 the	Scheme	 include	 employees,	 executives	

and	 officers	 of	 the	 Company	 (including	 executive	 and	 non-executive	 directors	 of	 the	 Company)	 or	 any	 of	

the	 subsidiaries	 and	 business	 consultants,	 business	 partners,	 suppliers,	 customers,	 agents,	 financial	 or	 legal	

advisers,	debtors	and	creditors	who	 the	board	of	directors	of	 the	Company	considers,	 in	 its	 sole	discretion,	

will	contribute	or	have	contributed	to	the	Company	or	any	of	the	subsidiaries.

This	Scheme	shall	be	valid	and	effective	 for	 the	period	 (the	 “Scheme	Period”)	commencing	on	 the	Adoption	

Date	and	ending	on	 the	day	 immediately	preceding	 the	 tenth	anniversary	of	 the	Adoption	Date	 (both	dates	

inclusive).	The	options	granted	prior	 to	 the	end	of	 the	Scheme	Period	but	not	yet	exercised	shall	continue	 to	

be	valid	and	exercisable	in	accordance	with	the	Scheme.

The	maximum	 number	 of	 shares	 in	 respect	 of	 which	 options	 may	 be	 granted	 is	 656,979,032	 shares.	 The	

maximum	 number	 of	 shares	 in	 respect	 of	which	 options	may	 be	 granted	 under	 this	 Scheme	 to	 any	 eligible	

participant	 shall	 not,	 in	 any	 12-month	 period	 up	 to	 the	 offer	 date,	 exceed	 1%	 of	 the	 number	 of	 shares	 of	

the	Company	in	issue	on	the	offer	date.	Any	further	grant	of	share	options	in	excess	of	 this	 limit	 is	subject	 to	

shareholders’	approval	in	a	general	meeting.

Share	options	granted	 to	a	director,	chief	executive	or	substantial	 shareholder	of	 the	Company,	or	 to	any	of	

their	 associates,	 are	 subject	 to	 approval	 in	 advance	 by	 the	 independent	 non-executive	 directors	 (excluding	

any	independent	non-executive	director	of	the	Company	who	is	the	relevant	eligible	participant).	 In	addition,	

any	 share	 options	 granted	 to	 a	 substantial	 shareholder	 or	 an	 independent	 non-executive	 director	 of	 the	

Company,	or	to	any	of	their	associates,	in	excess	of	0.1%	of	the	shares	of	the	Company	in	issue	at	any	time	

or	with	an	aggregate	 value	 (based	on	 the	price	of	 the	Company’s	 shares	at	 the	date	of	grant)	 in	excess	of	

HK$5	million,	within	 any	 12-month	 period,	 are	 subject	 to	 shareholders’	 approval	 in	 advance	 in	 a	 general	

meeting.
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34. SHARE OPtiON SCHEME (continued)
The	offer	of	a	grant	of	share	options	may	be	accepted	within	30	days	from	the	date	of	offer,	upon	payment	

of	a	nominal	consideration	of	HK$1	in	total	by	the	grantee.	The	exercise	period	of	the	share	options	granted	

is	determinable	by	the	directors,	and	in	any	event	such	period	of	time	shall	not	exceed	a	period	of	ten	years	

commencing	 on	 the	 commencement	 date,	 being	 the	 date	 upon	which	 the	 option	 is	 deemed	 to	 be	 granted	

and	accepted.

The	 exercise	 price	 in	 relation	 to	 each	 option	 offered	 shall	 be	 determined	 by	 the	 board	 of	 directors	 of	 the	

Company	 in	 its	 absolute	 discretion	 but	 in	 any	 event	 must	 not	 be	 less	 than	 the	 highest	 of:	 (a)	 the	 official	

closing	 price	 of	 the	 shares	 as	 stated	 in	 the	 daily	 quotation	 sheet	 of	 the	 stock	 exchange	 on	 the	 offer	 date;	

(b)	 the	average	of	 the	official	closing	price	of	 the	shares	as	 stated	 in	 the	daily	quotation	sheets	of	 the	stock	

exchange	 for	 the	 five	 business	 days	 immediately	 preceding	 the	 offer	 date;	 and	 (c)	 the	 nominal	 value	 of	 a	

share	of	the	Company.

Share	options	do	not	confer	right	on	the	holders	to	dividends	or	to	vote	at	shareholders’	meetings.

The	following	share	options	were	outstanding	under	the	Scheme	during	the	year:

2009 2008
weighted
average

exercise price
Number of

option

Weighted
average

exercise	price
Number	of

option
HK$ per share ’000 HK$ per share ’000

At	1	January – – – –

Granted	during	the	year	(note (i)) 1.90 383,000 – –
Forfeited	during	the	year 1.90 (8,300) – –

At	31	December 1.90 374,700 – –

Note:

(i)	 Out	 of	 the	 383,000,000	 share	 options,	 125,500,000	 share	 options	 have	 been	 granted	 to	 the	 directors	 and	
257,500,000	share	options	have	been	granted	to	the	employees	of	the	Group.
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34. SHARE OPtiON SCHEME (continued)
The	 exercise	 prices	 and	 exercise	 periods	 of	 the	 share	 options	 outstanding	 as	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	

period	are	as	follows:

 2009

Number of options Exercise price* Exercise period

’000 HK$ per share

	 93,500 1.90 7	July	2010	to	6	July	2019

	 93,500 1.90 7	July	2011	to	6	July	2019

	 93,500 1.90 7	July	2012	to	6	July	2019

	 93,500 1.90 7	July	2013	to	6	July	2019

*	 	The	 exercise	 price	 of	 the	 share	 options	 is	 subject	 to	 adjustment	 in	 case	 of	 rights	 or	 bonus	 issues,	 or	 other	 similar	
changes	in	the	Company’s	share	capital.

The	 fair	 value	 of	 the	 share	 options	 granted	 during	 the	 year	 was	 RMB296,448,000	 (RMB0.77	 each)	 of	

which	 the	 Group	 recognised	 a	 share	 option	 expense	 of	 RMB70,533,000	 during	 the	 year	 ended	 31	

December	2009.

The	 fair	 value	of	equity-settled	share	options	granted	during	 the	year	was	estimated	as	at	 the	date	of	grant,	

using	a	binomial	model,	 taking	 into	account	 the	 terms	and	conditions	upon	which	 the	options	were	granted.	

The	following	table	lists	the	inputs	to	the	model	used:

2009

Stock	price	as	at	grant	date Hk$1.9

Expected	volatility 63%

Historical	volatility 63%

Risk-free	interest	rate 2.565%

Dividend	yield 1.2%
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The	expected	volatility	 reflects	 the	assumption	 that	 the	historical	 volatility	 is	 indicative	of	 future	 trends,	which	

may	also	not	necessarily	be	the	actual	outcome.

No	other	feature	of	the	option	was	incorporated	into	the	measurement	of	fair	value.

At	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	 Company	 had	 374,700,000	 share	 options	 outstanding	 under	 the	

Scheme.	The	exercise	in	full	of	the	outstanding	share	options	would,	under	the	present	capital	structure	of	the	

Company,	 result	 in	 the	 issue	 of	 374,700,000	 additional	 ordinary	 shares	 of	 the	 Company	 and	 additional	

share	 capital	 of	 HK$9,368,000	 (equivalent	 to	 approximately	 RMB8,248,000)	 and	 share	 premium	 of	

HK$702,562,000	(equivalent	to	approximately	RMB618,592,000)	(before	issue	expenses).

At	 the	 date	 of	 approval	 of	 these	 financial	 statements,	 the	 Company	 had	 374,700,000	 share	 options	

outstanding	 under	 the	Scheme,	which	 represented	approximately	2.5%	of	 the	Company’s	 shares	 in	 issue	as	

at	that	date.

35. RESERVES
(a) gROUP

The	movements	 in	 the	 reserves	 of	 the	Group	are	 set	 out	 in	 the	 consolidated	 statement	 of	 changes	 in	

equity	of	the	financial	statements.

Statutory reserves

Pursuant	 to	 the	 relevant	 PRC	 laws	and	 regulations,	 Sino-foreign	 equity	 joint	 ventures	 registered	 in	 the	

PRC	 are	 required	 to	 transfer	 a	 certain	 percentage,	 as	 approved	 by	 the	 board	 of	 directors,	 of	 their	

profits	after	 income	 tax,	as	determined	 in	accordance	with	 the	PRC	accounting	 rules	and	 regulations,	

to	the	reserves	funds,	 the	enterprise	expansion	fund	and	the	employee	bonus	and	welfare	fund.	These	

funds	are	restricted	as	to	use.

In	 accordance	with	 the	 relevant	 PRC	 laws	 and	 regulations,	 each	 of	 the	 PRC	 domestic	 companies	 is	

required	 to	 transfer	 10%	 of	 the	 profit	 after	 income	 tax,	 as	 determined	 in	 accordance	 with	 the	 PRC	

accounting	 regulations,	 to	 the	 statutory	 common	 reserve	 fund,	 until	 the	 balance	 of	 the	 fund	 reaches	

50%	 of	 its	 registered	 capital	 of	 these	 companies.	 Subject	 to	 certain	 restrictions	 as	 set	 out	 in	 the	

relevant	 PRC	 laws	and	 regulations,	 the	 statutory	 common	 reserve	 fund	may	be	used	 to	offset	against	

accumulated	losses,	if	any.
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35. RESERVES (continued)
(b) COMPANY

Share
premium

Contributed
surplus

Capital
reserve

Share
option

reserve

Exchange
fluctuation

reserve

Retained
earnings/ 

accumulated 
losses total

Notes RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
Note (ii) Note (iii) Note (i)

At	1	January	2008 8,262,089 42,849 (216,966) – (49,695) 49,035 8,087,312

Total	comprehensive
	 income	for	the	year – – – – – 293,772 293,772

Repurchase	and
	 cancellation
	 of	shares (2,055,584) – – – – – (2,055,584)

Dividend	attributable
	 to	cancelled	shares – – – – – 12,025 12,025

Dividends	paid 36 – – – – – (344,486) (344,486)

At	31	December	2008
	 and	1	January	2009 6,206,505 42,849 (216,966) – (49,695) 10,346 5,993,039

Total	comprehensive
	 loss	for	the	year – – – – – (226,962) (226,962)

Issue	of	shares 33 1,234,282 – – – – – 1,234,282

Repurchases	of	the
	 Old	2014
	 Convertible	Bonds 32(i) – – (444,957) – – – (444,957)

Issue	of	the	2016
	 Convertible	Bonds 32(ii) – – 137,411 – – – 137,411

Issue	on	the	New	2014
	 Convertible	Bonds 32(iii) – – 688,021 – – – 688,021

Equity-settled	share	
	 option	arrangements 34 – – – 70,533 – – 70,533

At	31	December	2009 7,440,787 42,849 163,509 70,533 (49,695) (216,616) 7,451,367
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35. RESERVES (continued)
(b) COMPANY (continued)

Notes:

(i)	 The	 loss	 attributable	 to	 owners	 for	 the	 year	 ended	 31	 December	 2009	 dealt	 with	 in	 the	 financial	
statements	of	the	Company	was	approximately	RMB227	million	(2008:	profit	of	RMB294	million).

(ii)	 The	 contributed	 surplus	 of	 the	 Company	 represents	 the	 difference	 between	 the	 nominal	 value	 of	 the	
Company’s	 shares	 issued	 in	 exchange	 for	 the	 issued	 ordinary	 shares	 of	 Capital	 Automation	 (BVI)	 Limited	
and	 the	 value	 of	 net	 assets	 of	 the	 underlying	 subsidiaries	 acquired	 as	 at	 27	 March	 1992.	 At	 the	
group	 level,	 the	 contributed	 surplus	 is	 reclassified	 into	 various	 components	 of	 reserves	 of	 the	 underlying	
subsidiaries.

Under	 the	 Bermuda	 Companies	 Act	 1981	 (as	 amended),	 the	 contributed	 surplus	 of	 the	 Company	 is	
available	for	distribution.	However,	the	Company	cannot	declare	or	pay	a	dividend,	or	make	a	distribution	
out	of	the	contributed	surplus,	if:

(a)	 it	is,	or	after	the	payment	would	be,	unable	to	pay	its	liabilities	as	they	become	due;	or

(b)	 the	 realisable	 value	of	 its	assets	would	 thereby	be	 less	 than	 the	aggregate	of	 its	 liabilities	and	 its	
issued	capital	and	share	premium.

(iii)	 The	share	option	 reserve	 represents	 the	 fair	value	of	share	options	granted	which	are	yet	 to	be	exercised,	
as	 further	 explained	 in	 the	 accounting	 policy	 for	 share-based	 payment	 transactions	 in	 note	 2.4	 to	 the	
financial	 statements.	 The	amount	will	 either	be	 transferred	 to	 the	 share	premium	account	when	 the	 related	
options	are	exercised,	or	be	transferred	to	retained	profits	should	the	related	options	expire	or	be	forfeited.

36. DiViDENDS

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Interim:	Nil

	 (2008:	HK3.0	cents	(equivalent	to	RMB2.7	fen)	

	 per	ordinary	share) – 344,486

Proposed	final:	Nil	(2008:	Nil) – –

– 344,486
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37. OPERAtiNg lEASE ARRANgEMENtS AND COMMitMENtS
(a) OPERAtiNg lEASE ARRANgEMENtS

As lessee

The	 Group	 leases	 certain	 of	 its	 properties	 under	 operating	 lease	 arrangements.	 These	 leases	 have	

an	average	 life	of	between	1	and	20	years	and	 there	are	no	 restrictions	placed	upon	 the	Group	by	

entering	into	these	lease	agreements.

As	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period,	 the	Group	 had	 the	 following	minimum	 lease	 payments	 under	

non-cancellable	operating	leases	falling	due	as	follows:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within	one	year 1,788,597 1,993,406

In	the	second	to	fifth	years,	inclusive 5,659,127 6,969,730

After	five	years 2,928,621 4,171,095

10,376,345 13,134,231

As	 defined	 under	 IAS	 17,	 a	 non-cancellable	 lease	 is	 a	 lease	 that	 is	 cancellable	 only	 (a)	 upon	 the	

occurrence	of	some	remote	contingencies;	 (b)	with	 the	permission	of	 the	 lessor;	 (c)	 if	 the	 lessee	enters	

into	 a	 new	 lease	 for	 the	 same	 or	 an	 equivalent	 asset	with	 the	 same	 lessor;	 or	 (d)	 upon	 payment	 by	

the	 lessee	 of	 such	 an	 additional	 amount	 that,	 at	 inception	 of	 the	 lease,	 continuation	 of	 the	 lease	 is	

reasonably	certain.

Pursuant	 to	 the	relevant	 lease	agreements,	upon	 the	payment	of	early	 termination	compensation	rental	

which	in	general	ranges	from	one	month	to	one	year,	the	Group	is	entitled	to	terminate	the	underlying	

lease	agreement	 if	 a	 store	will	 not	 be	 in	a	position	 to	 continue	 its	 business	because	of	 the	 losses	or	

other	circumstances	as	specified	under	the	rental	agreements.
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37. OPERAtiNg lEASE ARRANgEMENtS AND COMMitMENtS (continued)
(a) OPERAtiNg lEASE ARRANgEMENtS (continued)

As lessor

The	Group	 has	 leased	 its	 investment	 properties	 (note	13)	 and	 entered	 into	 commercial	 property	 sub-

leases	 on	 its	 leased	 properties	 under	 operating	 lease	 arrangements.	 These	 non-cancellable	 leases	

have	 remaining	 terms	of	between	1	and	15	years.	A	majority	of	 the	Group’s	 leases	 include	a	clause	

to	 enable	 upward	 revision	 of	 the	 rental	 charge	 on	 a	 regular	 basis	 according	 to	 prevailing	 market	

conditions.

The	 Group	 had	 the	 following	 future	 minimum	 rentals	 receivable	 under	 non-cancellable	 operating	

leases:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Within	one	year 166,564 164,692

In	the	second	to	fifth	years,	inclusive 506,847 370,014

After	five	years 327,831 198,317

1,001,242 733,023

(b) CAPitAl COMMitMENtS
In	 addition	 to	 the	 operating	 lease	 commitments	 above,	 the	 Group	 had	 the	 following	 capital	

commitments	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Contracted,	but	not	provided	for:

	 Acquisition	of	buildings 118,571 500,862
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38. RElAtED PARtY tRANSACtiONS
In	 addition	 to	 the	 transactions	 and	balances	which	are	disclosed	 in	 notes	18,	21,	26,	27,	31	and	33	 to	
these	financial	statements,	the	Group	had	the	following	significant	transactions	with	the	related	parties.

(a)	 The	Group	had	the	following	ongoing	transactions	with	related	parties	during	the	year:

2009 2008
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

Sales	to	the	Non-listed	GOME	Group (i) 360,134 68,602
Purchases	from	the	Non-listed	GOME	Group (i) (92,527) (26,352)
Provision	of	management	and	purchasing	
	 services	to	the	Non-listed	GOME	Group (ii),5 233,541 250,000
Rental	expenses	to	Beijing	Xinhengji (iii) (3,574) (3,577)
Provision	of	corporate	guarantees	from	
	 Mr.	Wong	and	Mr.	Chen	Xiao	in	respect	
	 of	the	Group’s	bills	facilities (iv) 880,000 530,000
Rental	income	from	a	related	party (v) 524 535
Rental	expenses	to	Centergate	Technologies (vi) (6,612) (6,612)

The	Non-listed	GOME	Group	 comprises	 Beijing	 Eagle	 Investment	Co.,	 Ltd.,	 Beijing	Gome	 Electrical	
Appliance	 Co.,	 Ltd.,	 Gome	 Electrical	 Appliance	 Retail	 Co.,	 Ltd.	 and	 other	 companies	 which	 are	
engaged	 in	 the	 retail	 sales	 and	 related	 operations	 of	 electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronic	
products	 under	 the	 trademark	 of	 “GOME	 Electrical	 Appliances”	 in	 cities	 other	 than	 the	 designated	
cities	 of	 the	 PRC	 in	 which	 the	 Group	 operates.	 The	 companies	 comprising	 the	 Non-listed	 GOME	
Group	are	owned	by	Mr.	Wong,	a	substantial	shareholder	and	the	former	chairman	of	the	Company.

Beijing	Xinhengji	Property	Co.,	Ltd.	(“Beijing	Xinhengji”)	 is	owned	by	a	close	member	of	 the	family	of	
Mr.	Wong.

Centergate	Technologies	is	a	listed	company	in	the	PRC	in	which	Mr.	Wong	had	significant	influence.
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38. RElAtED PARtY tRANSACtiONS (continued)
(a)	 The	Group	had	the	following	ongoing	transactions	with	related	parties	during	the	year: (continued)

Notes:

(i)	 The	 sales	 and	 purchase	 transactions	 and	 the	 joint	 purchase	 transactions	 entered	 into	 between	 the	Group	
and	 the	Non-listed	GOME	Group	in	 respect	of	 the	electrical	appliances	and	consumer	electronic	products	
were	conducted	based	on	the	actual	purchase	cost	from	the	Group’s	third	party	suppliers.

(ii)	 The	 Group	 provides	 management	 services	 to	 the	 Non-listed	 GOME	Group	 in	 respect	 of	 the	 retailing	 of	
electrical	 appliances	 and	 consumer	 electronic	 products.	 In	 addition,	 the	 Group	 negotiates	 with	 various	
suppliers	for	both	the	Group	and	the	Non-listed	GOME	Group	on	a	centralised	basis.	During	2009,	Jinan	
Wansheng	 Yuan	 Economic	 Consulting	 Company	 Limited	 (“Jinan	 Wansheng	 Yuan”),	 an	 indirect	 wholly-
owned	 subsidiary	 of	 the	 Company,	 entered	 into	 a	 management	 agreement	 with	 the	 Non-listed	 GOME	
Group,	 pursuant	 to	 which	 Jinan	 Wansheng	 Yuan	 will	 provide	 and	 will	 procure	 other	 members	 of	 the	
Group	to	provide	management	services	to	the	Non-listed	GOME	Group	for	a	period	of	three	years	from	1	
January	2010	to	31	December	2012.	In	addition,	Kunming	Hengda	Logistics	Company	Limited	(“Kunming	
Hengda”),	 an	 indirect	 wholly-owned	 subsidiary	 of	 the	 Company,	 entered	 into	 a	 purchasing	 service	
agreement	with	 the	Non-listed	GOME	Group,	pursuant	 to	which	Kunming	Hengda	will	provide	purchasing	
services	to	the	Non-listed	GOME	Group	for	a	period	of	three	years	from	1	January	2010	to	31	December	
2012.	The	amount	of	 the	management	 service	 fee	and	 the	purchasing	service	 fee	will	be	charged	based	
on	0.6%	and	0.9%,	respectively,	of	the	total	turnover	of	the	Non-listed	GOME	Group.

(iii)	 The	Group	entered	into	a	rental	agreement	with	Beijing	Xinhengji	to	lease	properties	at	an	annual	rental	of	
approximately	US$523,000.	 In	 the	opinion	of	 the	directors,	 the	rental	has	been	determined	based	on	the	
prevailing	market	rentals	of	offices	within	the	same	district.

(iv)	 The	provision	of	corporate	guarantees	is	at	nil	consideration.

(v)	 The	Company’s	 subsidiaries,	Hong	Kong	Punching	Centre	 Limited	and	China	Eagle	Management	 Limited,	
received	 operating	 lease	 rentals	 in	 respect	 of	 the	 Group’s	 investment	 properties	 from	 GOME	 Home	
Appliances	 (Hong	 Kong)	 Limited,	 a	 company	 owned	 by	 Mr.	 Wong,	 totalling	 RMB524,000	 (2008:	
RMB535,000)	during	the	year.

(vi)	 In	 November	 2007,	 the	 Group	 entered	 into	 a	 lease	 agreement	 with	 Centergate	 Technologies	 to	 lease	
certain	 commercial	 properties	 for	 the	 Group’s	 retail	 operations	 for	 a	 period	 from	 1	 December	 2007	 to	
30	November	 2020	with	 a	 prepaid	 rental	 of	 RMB85,952,000.	 The	 balance	 of	 the	 rental	 prepayments	
at	 31	December	2009	amounted	 to	 RMB72,177,000	 (31	December	2008:	 RMB78,789,000),	 among	
which	 RMB65,565,000	 (31	 December	 2008:	 RMB72,177,000)	 (note	 18)	 was	 classified	 as	 long	 term	
and	RMB6,612,000	(31	December	2008:	RMB6,612,000)	 (note	26)	was	classified	as	short	 term	 in	 the	
financial	statements.
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38. RElAtED PARtY tRANSACtiONS (continued)
(b)	 Compensation	of	key	management	personnel	of	the	Group:

2009 2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Fees 4,555 1,587

Other	emoluments:

	 Salaries,	allowances,	bonuses	and	other	expense 8,661 7,920

	 Pension	costs 182 207

	 Equity-settled	share	option	expense 25,606 –

39,004 9,714

(c)	 Transactions	to	acquire	the	remaining	10%	equity	interest	of	Yongle	(China)

On	28	August	2008,	 the	Group	and	Mr.	Chen	Xiao,	 the	Chairman	of	 the	Company,	Ms.	Shu	Wei,	

Mr.	Liu	Hui,	Mr.	Yuan	Yashi	and	Shanghai	Hegui	Property	Management	Co.,	Ltd.	 (“Shanghai	Hegui”)	

(collectively	referred	to	as	the	“Vendors”)	entered	into	the	following	transactions.

Pursuant	 to	 the	 sales	 and	 purchase	 agreements,	 the	 Group	 agreed	 to	 acquire	 and	 the	 Vendors	

agreed	 to	 sell	 the	 remaining	 10%	 equity	 interest	 of	 Yongle	 (China),	 a	 90%-owned	 subsidiary	 of	 the	

Group,	 at	 a	 total	 cash	 consideration	 of	 RMB811,081,000.	 Among	 the	 total	 cash	 consideration,	

RMB587,949,000	was	related	to	the	acquisition	of	an	approximately	7.25%	equity	interest	in	Yongle	

(China)	held	by	Mr.	Chen	Xiao.	The	completion	of	 the	acquisition	transactions	was	conditional	on	the	

fulfilment	of	certain	conditions	including	approvals	from	the	PRC	government	authorities.

The	 Group	 also	 agreed	 to	 provide	 loans	 in	 the	 total	 amount	 of	 RMB653,423,000	 to	 the	 Vendors	

other	 than	 Shanghai	 Hegui	 (the	 “Borrowers”).	 The	 loans	 were	 secured	 by	 (i)	 the	 pledge	 of	 each	 of	

the	 Vendors’	 interests	 in	 Yongle	 (China);	 and	 (ii)	 a	 personal	 guarantee	 in	 favour	 of	 the	 Group	 from	

Mr.	 Chen	 Xiao	 in	 respect	 of	 the	 fulfilment	 obligations	 of	 the	 Borrowers.	 The	 loans	 were	 interest-

free	and	 have	been	 utilised	by	 the	Group	 to	 settle	 the	purchase	 considerations	when	 the	acquisition	

transactions	were	approved	by	the	PRC	government	authorities	on	30	November	2009.
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38. RElAtED PARtY tRANSACtiONS (continued)
(c)	 Transactions	to	acquire	the	remaining	10%	equity	interest	of	Yongle	(China)	(continued)

The	 outstanding	 consideration	 of	 RMB157,658,000,	 representing	 the	withholding	 individual	 income	

tax	 payable	 for	 the	 Vendors	 other	 than	 Shanghai	Hegui,	was	 included	 in	 the	 balance	 of	 customers’	

deposits,	other	payable	and	accruals	(note	31(iii))	as	at	31	December	2009.

39. CONtiNgENCiES
(a)	 At	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	 period,	 contingent	 liabilities	 not	 provided	 for	 in	 the	 financial	 statements	

were	as	follows:

31 December

2009

31	December

2008

RMB’000 RMB’000

Guarantees	given	to	banks	in	connection	with	bill	facilities

	 granted	in	favour	of:

	 Dazhong	Appliances 205,650 242,901

(b)	 Enforcement	action	by	the	Securities	and	Futures	Commission

Court	grants	injunction	to	freeze	assets	of	Mr.	Wong	and	his	spouse

On	 7	 August	 2009,	 the	 Securities	 and	 Futures	 Commission	 (“SFC”)	 of	 the	 Hong	 Kong	 Special	

Administrative	 Region	 announced	 that	 the	 High	 Court	 has	 granted	 an	 interim	 injunction	 to	 freeze	

assets	of	 up	 to	HK$1,655,167,000	 in	 relation	 to	 the	 former	chairman	of	 the	Company,	Mr.	Wong,	

his	spouse	Ms.	Du	Juan	and	two	companies.

Mr.	Wong	and	Ms.	Du	 Juan	are	 alleged	 to	 have	 organised	a	 share	 repurchase	by	 the	Company	 in	

January	 and	 February	 2008	 in	 order	 to	 use	 the	 Company’s	 funds	 to	 buy	 shares	 originally	 held	 by	

Mr.	Wong	 so	 that	Mr.	Wong	 could	 use	 the	 proceeds	 of	 that	 share	 sale	 to	 repay	 a	HK$2.4	 billion	

personal	loan	to	a	financial	institution.
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39. CONtiNgENCiES (continued)
(b)	 Enforcement	action	by	the	Securities	and	Futures	Commission	(continued)

Court	grants	injunction	to	freeze	assets	of	Mr.	Wong	and	his	spouse	(continued)

The	 SFC	 alleges	 that	 the	 share	 repurchase	 had	 a	 negative	 impact	 on	 the	 Company’s	 financial	

position	 and	 was	 not	 in	 the	 best	 interests	 of	 the	 Company	 and	 its	 shareholders.	 The	 SFC	 alleges	

that	 it	provided	 the	demand	 for	 the	Company’s	 shares	and	stabilised	 its	 share	price	when	Mr.	Wong	

disposed	of	his	 shares,	 thereby	enabling	him	 to	earn	more	 from	his	 share	sale.	The	SFC	also	alleges	

that	 this	 transaction	was	a	 fraud	or	deception	 in	a	 transaction	 involving	 securities	and	caused	a	 loss	

of	approximately	HK$1.6	billion	to	the	Company	and	its	shareholders.

The	SFC	is	seeking	orders	that	Mr.	Wong,	Ms.	Du	Juan	and	two	companies	owned	and	controlled	by	

them:

•	 to	 restore	 the	 parties	 to	 any	 transaction,	 in	 particular	 the	 Company,	 to	 the	 position	 in	 which	

they	were	before	the	transaction	was	entered	into;	and/or

•	 to	pay	damages	to	the	Company.

The	 injunction	 serves	 to	 prevent	 the	 dissipation	 of	 assets	 pending	 the	 conclusion	 of	 the	 SFC’s	

investigation	 and	 to	 ensure	 that	 there	 are	 sufficient	 assets	 to	 satisfy	 any	 restoration	 or	 compensation	

orders,	if	orders	are	made	against	Mr.	Wong,	Ms.	Du	Juan	and	the	two	companies.

Court	continues	orders	against	Mr.	Wong	and	his	spouse

The	order	 is	an	ex	parte	 interim	 injunction	obtained	by	 the	SFC.	The	defendants	have	not	 yet	 had	a	

chance	to	reply	to	the	SFC’s	allegations.

On	 7	 August	 2009,	 the	 Company	 announced	 that	 it	 has	 been	 provided	 with	 a	 copy	 of	 the	 court	

order	 (the	 “Court	Order”)	by	 the	SFC	and	confirmed	 that	 (a)	 the	Company	 is	 not	a	defendant	 to	 the	

Court	Order;	 and	 (b)	 the	assets	 of	 the	Company	are	 not	 subject	 to	 the	Court	Order.	 	 In	 view	of	 the	

above,	 the	 business	 of	 the	Company	 or	 its	 subsidiaries	 is	 not	 and	will	 not	 be	 adversely	 affected	 by	

the	Court	Order.
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39. CONtiNgENCiES (continued)
(b)	 Enforcement	action	by	the	Securities	and	Futures	Commission	(continued)

Court	continues	orders	against	Mr.	Wong	and	his	spouse	(continued)

According	to	the	enforcement	news	of	the	SFC	dated	8	September	2009,	the	High	Court	ordered	the	

two	companies	associated	with	Mr.	Wong	and	Ms.	Du	Juan	not	to	dispose	of,	deal	with	or	encumber	

779,255,678	shares	of	the	Company	pending	further	order.

The	two	companies,	Shinning	Crown	Holdings	Inc.	and	Shine	Group	Limited,	deposited	with	the	court	

share	 certificates	 representing	 these	 shares	 pursuant	 to	 the	 interim	 injunctions	 ordered	 against	 them,	

Mr.	Wong	and	Ms.	Du	Juan,	freezing	their	assets	up	to	the	amount	of	HK$1,655,167,000.

The	delivery	of	 these	share	certificates	into	the	custody	of	the	court,	 together	with	the	orders	made	on	

8	September	2009	prohibiting	 the	disposal	of	 the	 shares,	will	preserve	 them	 for	 the	purposes	of	 the	

legal	proceedings	initiated	by	the	SFC.	Accordingly,	the	interim	injunctions	against	the	two	companies	

were	 discharged.	 However,	 the	 interim	 injunctions	 remain	 effective	 against	 Mr.	Wong	 and	Ms.	 Du	

Juan.

Separately,	 the	court	declined	 to	order	 the	defendants	 to	provide	additional	assets	 if	 the	value	of	 the	

Company’s	shares	deposited	with	the	court	fell	below	HK$1,655,167,000.

The	 SFC	 is	 obliged	 to	 comply	 with	 and	 follow	 the	 court’s	 rules	 and	 procedures	 for	 due	 service	 of	

the	 proceedings	 on	 Mr.	 Wong	 and	 Ms.	 Du	 Juan	 in	 the	 PRC.	 This	 process	 started	 after	 the	 SFC	

commenced	 these	 proceedings.	 The	 SFC	 continues	 to	 liaise	 with	 PRC	 authorities	 with	 a	 view	 to	

assisting	the	court	to	effect	service	on	them.

Other	 than	 the	 above,	 the	 Group	 did	 not	 have	 any	 significant	 contingencies	 at	 the	 end	 of	 the	 reporting	

period.
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40. FiNANCiAl iNStRUMENtS BY CAtEgORY
The	carrying	amounts	of	each	of	 the	categories	of	 financial	 instruments	as	at	 the	end	of	 the	reporting	period	
are	as	follows:

2009
Financial assets

group
Financial
assets at

fair value
through
profit or

loss – held
for trading

loans and
receivables

Available-for-
sale financial

assets total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Other	investments – – 153,360 153,360
Hong	Kong	listed	investments 1,635 – – 1,635
Designated	loan – 3,600,000 – 3,600,000
Trade	and	bills	receivables – 54,199 – 54,199
Financial	assets	included	in	prepayments,	
	 deposits	and	other	receivables – 859,919 – 859,919
Due	from	related	parties – 157,146 – 157,146
Pledged	deposits – 8,796,344 – 8,796,344
Cash	and	cash	equivalents – 6,029,059 – 6,029,059

1,635 19,496,667 153,360 19,651,662

Financial liabilities
group

Financial
liabilities

at fair value
through profit
or loss – held

for trading

Financial
liabilities at

amortised
cost total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing	bank	loans – 350,000 350,000
Trade	and	bills	payables – 15,815,261 15,815,261
Financial	liabilities	included	in	customers’	
	 deposits,	other	payables	and	accruals – 1,767,895 1,767,895
Liability	components	of	convertible	bonds – 5,455,955 5,455,955
Derivative	components	of	convertible	bonds (100,689) – (100,689)

(100,689) 23,389,111 23,288,422
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40. FiNANCiAl iNStRUMENtS BY CAtEgORY (continued)
2008
Financial	assets Group

Financial	assets
at	fair	value

through	profit
or	loss	–	held

for	trading
Loans	and
receivables

Available-
for-sale

financial
assets Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Other	investments – – 108,810 108,810
Hong	Kong	listed	investments 399 – – 399
Investment	deposits – 30,000 – 30,000
Designated	loan – 3,600,000 – 3,600,000
Trade	and	bills	receivables – 45,092 – 45,092
Financial	assets	included	in	prepayments,	deposits	
	 and	other	receivables – 526,817 – 526,817
Due	from	related	parties – 57,843 – 57,843
Pledged	deposits – 4,840,456 – 4,840,456
Cash	and	cash	equivalents – 3,051,069 – 3,051,069
Other	assets – 653,423 – 653,423

399 12,804,700 108,810 12,913,909

Financial	liabilities Group
Financial
liabilities

at	fair	value
through	profit
or	loss	–	held

for	trading

Financial
liabilities

at	amortised
cost Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing	bank	loans – 170,000 170,000
Trade	and	bills	payables – 12,917,958 12,917,958
Financial	liabilities	included	in	customers’	deposits,	
	 other	payables	and	accruals – 876,149 876,149
Liability	components	of	convertible	bonds – 3,571,833 3,571,833
Derivative	components	of	convertible	bonds (2,280) – (2,280)

(2,280) 17,535,940 17,533,660
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40. FiNANCiAl iNStRUMENtS BY CAtEgORY (continued)
Financial assets Company

2009 2008

loans and

receivables

Loans	and

receivables

RMB’000 RMB’000

Financial	assets	included	in	prepayments,	deposits	

	 and	other	receivables 9,238 678

Pledged	deposits 2,606,371 –

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 1,918,775 1,004,394

4,534,384 1,005,072

Financial liabilities 2009 2008

Financial

liabilities at

amortised

cost

Financial

liabilities	at

amortised

cost

RMB’000 RMB’000

Liability	components	of	convertible	bonds 5,455,955 3,571,833

Derivative	components	of	convertible	bonds (100,689) (2,280)

5,355,266 3,569,553
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41. FAiR VAlUE HiERARCHY
The	Group	uses	the	following	hierarchy	for	determining	and	disclosing	the	fair	value	of	financial	instruments:

Level	1:	 fair	values	measured	based	on	quoted	prices	 (unadjusted)	 in	active	markets	 for	 identical	assets	or	
liabilities

Level	2:	 fair	 values	measured	based	on	 valuation	 techniques	 for	which	all	 inputs	which	 have	a	 significant	
effect	on	the	recorded	fair	value	are	observable,	either	directly	or	indirectly

Level	3:	 fair	 values	measured	based	on	 valuation	 techniques	 for	which	all	 inputs	which	 have	a	 significant	
effect	on	the	recorded	fair	value	are	not	based	on	observable	market	data	(unobservable	inputs)

As	at	31	December	2009,	the	Group	held	the	following	financial	instruments	measured	at	fair	value:

level 1 level 2 level 3 total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets	measured	at	fair	value:

Available-for-sale	investments:
	 Equity	investments 153,360 – – 153,360

Equity	investments	at	fair	value	
	 through	profit	or	loss 1,635 – – 1,635

154,995 – – 154,995

Liabilities	measured	at	fair	value:

Derivative	component	of	convertible	bonds – – (100,689) (100,689)

– – (100,689) (100,689)
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41. FAiR VAlUE HiERARCHY (continued)
As	at	31	December	2009,	the	Company	held	the	following	financial	instruments	measured	at	fair	value:

level 1 level 2 level 3 total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Assets	measured	at	fair	value:

Equity	investments	at	fair	value	

	 through	profit	or	loss 1,635 – – 1,635

Liabilities	measured	at	fair	value:

Derivative	component	of	convertible	bonds – – (100,689) (100,689)

The	movements	in	fair	value	measurements	in	Level	3	during	the	year	are	as	follows:

group and 

Company

RMB’000

Derivative	financial	instruments

At	1	January	2009 (2,280)

Gain	recognised	in	the	income	statement	(note 32(i)) (136,740)

Repurchases	(note 32(i)) 38,331

At	31	December	2009 (100,689)
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42. FiNANCiAl RiSk MANAgEMENt OBJECtiVES AND POliCiES
The	 Group’s	 principal	 financial	 liabilities,	 other	 than	 derivatives,	 comprise	 interest-bearing	 bank	 loans,	

convertible	 bonds,	 trade	 payables	 and	 other	 payables.	 The	main	 purpose	 of	 these	 financial	 liabilities	 is	 to	

raise	 finance	 for	 the	Group’s	operations.	 The	Group	has	various	 financial	assets	 such	as	deposits	and	other	

receivables,	trade	receivables	and	pledged	deposits	which	arise	directly	from	its	operations.

The	main	risks	arising	from	the	Group’s	financial	 instruments	are	interest	rate	risk,	foreign	currency	risk,	credit	

risk,	 liquidity	 risk	 and	 equity	 price	 risk.	 The	 board	 of	 directors	 reviews	 and	 agrees	 policies	 for	 managing	

each	of	these	risks	and	they	are	summarised	below.

iNtERESt RAtE RiSk
The	Group’s	exposure	 to	 the	 risk	of	 changes	 in	market	 interest	 rates	 relates	primarily	 to	 the	debt	obligations	

with	floating	interest	rates.

The	 Group’s	 policy	 is	 to	 manage	 its	 interest	 cost	 using	 a	 mix	 of	 fixed	 and	 variable	 rate	 debts.	 As	 at	 31	

December	 2009,	 the	 Group	 did	 not	 have	 debt	 obligations	 with	 floating	 interest	 rates.	 Accordingly,	 the	

Group	has	no	significant	interest	rate	risk.

FOREigN CURRENCY RiSk
As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	 Group	 had	 cash	 and	 bank	 deposits	 of	 RMB4,627,000,000	 (2008:	

RMB1,305,702,000),	which	 are	 denominated	 in	 foreign	 currencies	 including	US	 and	Hong	 Kong	 dollars.	

The	 Group	 currently	 does	 not	 have	 a	 foreign	 currency	 hedging	 policy.	 However,	 management	 monitors	

foreign	exchange	exposure	and	will	consider	hedging	significant	 foreign	currency	exposure	should	 the	need	

arise.
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42. FiNANCiAl RiSk MANAgEMENt OBJECtiVES AND POliCiES (continued)
FOREigN CURRENCY RiSk	(continued)
The	 following	 table	 demonstrates	 the	 sensitivity	 to	 a	 reasonably	 possible	 change	 in	 the	 exchange	 rate	 of	

US	 and	 Hong	 Kong	 dollars	 with	 all	 other	 variables	 held	 constant,	 of	 the	Group’s	 profit	 before	 tax	 (due	 to	

changes	in	the	fair	values	of	monetary	assets	and	liabilities).	Other	components	of	equity	would	not	change.

increase/

(decrease) in

 foreign 

currency rate

Increase/

(decrease)	in

profit	before	tax

RMB’000

2009

If	RMB	weakens	against	USD 5% 163,971

If	RMB	strengthens	against	USD (5%) (163,971)

If	RMB	weakens	against	Hong	Kong	dollar 5% 67,366

If	RMB	strengthens	against	Hong	Kong	dollar (5%) (67,366)

2008

If	RMB	weakens	against	USD 8% 99,989

If	RMB	strengthens	against	USD (8%) (99,989)

If	RMB	weakens	against	Hong	Kong	dollar 8% 541

If	RMB	strengthens	against	Hong	Kong	dollar (8%) (541)
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42. FiNANCiAl RiSk MANAgEMENt OBJECtiVES AND POliCiES (continued)
CREDit RiSk
The	Group	 trades	 on	 credit	 only	with	 third	 parties	who	 have	 an	 established	 trading	 history	with	 the	Group	

and	 who	 have	 no	 history	 of	 default.	 It	 is	 the	 Group’s	 policy	 that	 new	 customers	 who	 wish	 to	 trade	 on	

credit	 terms	 are	 subject	 to	 credit	 verification	 procedures.	 In	 addition,	 receivable	 balances	 are	 monitored	

on	an	ongoing	basis	with	 the	 result	 that	 the	Group’s	exposure	 to	bad	debts	 is	not	 significant.	 The	maximum	

exposure	is	the	carrying	amount	as	disclosed	in	note	25	to	these	financial	statements.

With	 respect	 to	 credit	 risk	 arising	 from	 the	 other	 financial	 assets	 of	 the	 Group,	 which	 comprise	 cash	 and	

cash	 equivalents,	 short	 term	 deposits,	 pledged	 deposits,	 other	 receivables	 and	 amounts	 due	 from	 related	

parties,	 the	Group’s	exposure	 to	credit	 risk	arises	 from	default	of	 the	counterparty,	with	a	maximum	exposure	

equal	to	the	carrying	amounts	of	such	financial	instruments.

liQUiDitY RiSk
The	Group	monitors	 its	 risk	 to	a	shortage	of	 funds	based	on	 the	maturity	of	 its	 financial	 instruments,	 financial	

assets	and	liabilities	and	projected	cash	flows	from	operations.

The	 Group’s	 objective	 is	 to	 maintain	 a	 balance	 between	 continuity	 of	 funding	 and	 flexibility	 through	 the	

use	 of	 bills	 payable,	 convertible	 bonds	 and	 other	 interest-bearing	 borrowings.	 As	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	

the	 Group	 had	 trade	 and	 bills	 payables	 amounting	 to	 RMB15,815,261,000	 (31	 December	 2008:	

RMB12,917,958,000).	 In	 addition,	 as	 at	 31	 December	 2009,	 the	Group	 had	 the	 bank	 loan	 balance	 of	

RMB350,000,000	 (31	 December	 2008:	 RMB170,000,000)	 which	 will	 mature	 within	 12	 months.	 The	

directors	 have	 reviewed	 the	Group’s	 working	 capital	 and	 capital	 expenditure	 requirements	 and	 determined	

that	the	Group	has	no	significant	liquidity	risk.

The	 table	below	summarises	 the	maturity	profile	of	 the	Group’s	 financial	 liabilities	at	 the	end	of	 the	reporting	

period,	based	on	contractual	or	expected	undiscounted	payments.
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42. FiNANCiAl RiSk MANAgEMENt OBJECtiVES AND POliCiES (continued)
liQUiDitY RiSk (continued)
group

2009
within 1 year 2 to 3 years Over 3 years total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Convertible	bonds 2,988,515 2,743,293 2,586,652 8,318,460
Interest-bearing	bank	loans 350,000 – – 350,000
Trade	and	bills	payables 15,815,261 – – 15,815,261
Financial	liabilities	included	in	customers’
	 deposits	and	other	payables 1,027,386 – – 1,027,386
Guarantees	given	to	banks	in	connection	
	 with	bill	facilities	granted	in	favour	of	
	 Dazhong	Appliances 205,650 – – 205,650

20,386,812 2,743,293 2,586,652 25,716,757

2008
Within	1	year 1	to	2	years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Convertible	bonds – 4,704,420 4,704,420
Interest-bearing	bank	loans 170,000 – 170,000
Trade	and	bills	payables 12,917,958 – 12,917,958
Financial	liabilities	included	in	customers’	deposits
	 and	other	payables 876,149 – 876,149
Guarantees	given	to	banks	in	connection	with	bill	
	 facilities	granted	in	favour	of	Dazhong	Appliances 242,901 – 242,901

14,207,008 4,704,420 18,911,428

Company

2009
within 1 year 2 to 3 years Over 3 years total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Convertible	bonds 2,988,515 2,743,293 2,586,652 8,318,460
Other	payables 55,786 – – 55,786

3,044,301 2,743,293 2,586,652 8,374,246
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42. FiNANCiAl RiSk MANAgEMENt OBJECtiVES AND POliCiES (continued)
liQUiDitY RiSk (continued)
Company

2008

Within	1	year 1	to	2	years Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

Convertible	bonds – 4,704,420 4,704,420

Other	payables 6,334 – 6,334

6,334 4,704,420 4,710,754

EQUitY PRiCE RiSk
Equity	price	risk	is	the	risk	that	the	fair	values	of	equity	securities	decrease	as	a	result	of	changes	in	the	levels	

of	equity	indices	and	the	value	of	individual	securities.	The	Group	is	exposed	to	equity	price	risk	arising	from	

individual	 equity	 investments	 classified	 as	 trading	 equity	 investments	 and	 available-for-sale	 investments	 (note	

16)	as	at	31	December	2009.	The	Group’s	listed	investments	are	valued	at	quoted	market	prices	at	 the	end	

of	the	reporting	period.

The	market	 equity	 indices	 for	 the	 following	 stock	 exchanges,	 at	 the	 close	of	 business	 of	 the	 nearest	 trading	

day	 in	 the	year	 to	 the	end	of	 the	 reporting	period,	and	 their	 respective	highest	and	 lowest	points	during	 the	

year	were	as	follows:

31 December High/low 31	December High/low

2009 2009 2008 2008

Hong	Kong	–	Hang	Seng	Index 21,873 22,944/ 14,387 27,616/

11,345 11,016

Shanghai	–	A	Share	Index 3,437 3,644/ 1,912 5,771/

1,956 1,793
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42. FiNANCiAl RiSk MANAgEMENt OBJECtiVES AND POliCiES (continued)
EQUitY PRiCE RiSk (continued)
The	 following	 table	 demonstrates	 the	 sensitivity	 to	 every	 10%	 change	 in	 the	 fair	 values	 of	 the	 equity	

investments,	 with	 all	 other	 variables	 held	 constant	 and	 before	 any	 impact	 of	 tax,	 based	 on	 their	 carrying	

amounts	at	the	end	of	the	reporting	period.

Carrying
amount

of equity
investments

increase/
decrease
in profit

before tax

increase/
decrease

in equity*
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000

2009

Investments	listed	in:
	 Hong	Kong	–	Held-for-trading 1,635 164 –

	 Shanghai	–	Available-for-sale 153,360 – 15,336

2008

Investments	listed	in:
	 Hong	Kong	–	Held-for-trading 399 40 –

	 Shanghai	–	Available-for-sale 108,810 – 10,881

*	 Excluding	retained	earnings
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42. FiNANCiAl RiSk MANAgEMENt OBJECtiVES AND POliCiES (continued)
CAPitAl MANAgEMENt
The	 primary	 objective	 of	 the	 Group’s	 capital	 management	 is	 to	 ensure	 that	 the	 Group	 has	 healthy	 capital	
structure	in	order	to	support	the	Group’s	stability	and	growth.

The	 Group	 regularly	 reviews	 and	 manages	 its	 capital	 structure	 and	 makes	 adjustments	 to	 it,	 taking	 into	
consideration	 of	 changes	 in	 economic	 conditions,	 future	 capital	 requirements	 of	 the	Group,	 prevailing	 and	
projected	 profitability	 and	 operating	 cash	 flows,	 projected	 capital	 expenditures	 and	 projected	 strategic	

investment	opportunities.

The	 Group	 monitors	 capital	 using	 a	 gearing	 ratio,	 which	 is	 net	 debt	 divided	 by	 the	 total	 capital	 plus	 net	

debt.	Net	debt	 includes	 interest-bearing	bank	 loans,	 trade	and	bills	payables	and	customers’	deposits,	other	

payables	 and	accruals,	 less	 cash	 and	 cash	 equivalents	 and	pledged	deposits.	Capital	 includes	 convertible	

bonds	 and	 equity	 attributable	 to	 owners	 of	 the	 parent.	 The	 gearing	 ratios	 as	 at	 the	 ends	 of	 the	 reporting	

periods	were	as	follows:

2009 2008
RMB’000 RMB’000

Interest-bearing	bank	loans 350,000 170,000
Trade	and	bills	payables 15,815,261 12,917,958
Customers’	deposits,	other	payables	and	accruals 1,829,514 1,530,141
Less:	Cash	and	cash	equivalents (6,029,059) (3,051,069)
	 Pledged	deposits (8,796,344) (4,840,456)

Net	debt 3,169,372 6,726,574

Convertible	bonds,	the	liability	component 5,455,955 3,571,833
Equity	attributable	to	owners	of	the	parent 11,802,465 8,559,834

Total	capital 17,258,420 12,131,667

Capital	and	net	debt 20,427,792 18,858,241

Gearing	ratio 16% 36%
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43. EVENtS AFtER tHE REPORtiNg PERiOD
As	set	out	in	the	Company’s	announcement	dated	1	March	2010,	on	25	February	2010,	GOME	Appliance	
Company	 Limited	 (the	 “Subsidiary”),	 a	wholly-	 owned	 PRC	 subsidiary	 of	 the	Company,	 received	 a	 copy	 of	
the	 indictment	 (the	 “Indictment”)	 in	 respect	 of	 an	 alleged	 bribery	 offence	 by	 an	 organisation	 served	 by	 the	
Second	Intermediate	People’s	Court	of	Beijing	Municipality.	

According	 to	 the	 Indictment,	 the	bribery	offence	by	an	organisation	which	 the	Subsidiary	was	alleged	 to	be	
involved	 in	occurred	 from	2006	 to	2008,	during	which	 time	Mr.	Wong	was	 the	Chairman	and	director	 of	
the	Company	and	the	 legal	representative	of	 the	Subsidiary.	The	Subsidiary	was	one	of	 the	subjects	alleged	
to	 be	 involved	 in	 the	 bribery	 offence	 by	 an	 organisation,	 and	 was	 suspected	 of	 committing	 the	 offence	
involving	 part	 of	 the	 aggregate	 amount	 of	 RMB4,560,000.	 Upon	 receipt	 of	 the	 Indictment,	 the	 Company	
has	 been	 highly	 concerned	about	 the	 case	 and	 has	 engaged	an	 experienced	 criminal	 defence	 attorney	 as	
the	Subsidiary’s	advocate.	The	Company	will	actively	defend	against	the	accusation	at	the	Subsidiary.

After	 considering	 the	 professional	 opinion	 from	 such	 criminal	 defence	 attorney,	 the	 Company	 is	 of	 the	
preliminary	 view	 that	 even	 under	 the	worst	 case	 scenario	 of	 the	 Subsidiary	 being	 finally	 judged	 as	 having	
committed	 the	bribery	offence	by	an	organisation,	 the	Subsidiary	would	only	be	subject	 to	a	 fine	according	
to	 the	 relevant	 laws	of	 the	 PRC,	 the	amount	of	which	would	not	 have	any	 substantive	adverse	effect	on	 the	
operation	and	the	financial	condition	of	the	Group.	The	Company	will	actively	contest	the	case	and	strive	for	
the	most	favourable	judgment	for	the	Company.

According	 to	 the	 Indictment,	 Mr.	 Wong	 was	 suspected	 of	 committing	 offences	 involving	 insider	 dealing,	
illegal	 operation	 and	 bribery	 by	 an	 organisation	 and	was	 subject	 to	 residential	 surveillance	 by	 the	 Beijing	
Municipal	 Public	 Security	 Bureau	 on	 18	 November	 2008	 for	 being	 suspected	 of	 committing	 an	 insider	
dealing	 offence.	 	 He	was	 subject	 to	 criminal	 detention	 by	 the	 Beijing	Municipal	 Public	 Security	 Bureau	 on	
23	January	2009,	and	was	arrested	on	2	March	2009	upon	approval	by	the	Second	Branch	of	the	Beijing	
Municipal	People’s	Procuratorate.	

Save	 as	 disclosed	 above,	 the	 Group	 did	 not	 have	 any	 significant	 events	 taking	 place	 subsequent	 to	 31	
December	2009.

44. APPROVAl OF tHE FiNANCiAl StAtEMENtS
The	 financial	 statements	were	approved	and	authorised	 for	 issue	by	 the	board	of	directors	of	 the	Company	
on	7	April	2010.
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